Report No. FHWA-SC-18-04

Characterization of Asphalt Concrete Dynamic Modulus in South Carolina

FINAL REPORT

<u>Sponsoring Agency:</u> South Carolina Department of Transportation <u>In Cooperation with:</u> U.S. Department of Transportation Federal Highway Administration



<u>Project Investigators:</u> Serji Amirkhanian, Ph.D. Feipeng Xiao, P.E., Ph.D. Mary Corley

Tri County Technical College P. O. Box 587 | 7900 Hwy 76 | Pendleton SC 29670



March 2018

Technical Report Documentation Page

1. Report No. FHWA-SC-18-04	2. Government	Accession No.	3. Recipient's Catalog No.
4. Title and Subtitle Characterization of Asphalt Concrete Dynamic Modulus in South		us in South	5. Report Date March 2018
Carolina			6. Performing Organization Code
7. Author(s) Serji Amirkhanian, Ph.D., Feipeng X	Kiao, P.E., Ph.D. a	nd Mary Corley	8. Performing Organization Report No. TCTC 18-02
9. Performing Organization Name and Address Tri-County Technical College		0	10. Work Unit No. (TRAIS)
	,	-	11. Contract or Grant No. SPR 720
12. Sponsoring Agency Name and A South Carolina Department of Trans 1406 Shop Rd., Columbia, SC 29201	Address portation l		13. Type of Report and PeriodCoveredApr. 2013 – Mar. 2018
			14. Sponsoring Agency Code
15. Supplementary Notes			
16. Abstract Many states around the country still on empirical relationships between p pavement layers. These empirical re Association of State Highway Offici and most expensive test conducted to known thickness under various loadi AASHTO Design Guide, the need for procedure were recognized. In 2004 Mechanistic-Empirical Pavement De public for review and evaluation. For new mechanistic-empirical design guresearch project was performed to ch develop a catalog for dynamic modu Carolina.	use the 1972, 198 paving material pro- elationships were of als (AASHO) Roa o-date to investiga- ng conditions. He or and benefits of a t, the National Coo esign Guide (MEP or years, SCDOT of uide; however, this haracterize current lus value inputs to	6, or 1993 AASH operties and the st developed based of ad Test data, which the performance owever, during the a mechanistically- operative Highwa 2DG) was complete officials have con s would require en- aly-used South Ca o be used in the M	TO Design Guides, which rely tructural performance of on the 1950's American the was the most comprehensive eve of pavement structures of e implementation of 1986 -based pavement design y Research Program (NCHRP) ted and ultimately released to the sidered adopting AASHTO's extensive local calibration. This rolina HMA mixtures and IEPDG software in South
17. Key Words Asphalt Pavement, Pavement Desigr Empirical, Dynamic Modulus	n, Mechanistic-	18. Distribution No restrictions.	Statement
19. Security Classif. (of this report) Unclassified	20. Security (page) Unclas	Classif. (of this sified	21. No. Of Pages 58622. Price

Form DOT F 1700.7 (8–72) Reproduction of completed page authorized

Acknowledgements

The authors wish to extend their appreciation to the South Carolina Department of Transportation (SCDOT) and the Federal Highway Administration (FHWA) for sponsoring this research project. The assistance of Messrs. Thompson, Steagall, Zwanka, Hawkins, Selkinghaus, and Swygert of SCDOT and Mr. Garling of FHWA was instrumental in the completion of this project.

Disclaimer

The contents of this report reflect the views of the authors, who are responsible for the facts and accuracy of the presented data. The contents do not reflect the official views of Tri County Technical College, SCDOT, or FHWA. This report does not constitute a standard, specification, or regulation.

Executive Summary

Overview

Many states around the country still use the 1972, 1986, or 1993 AASHTO Design Guides, which rely on empirical relationships between paving material properties and the structural performance of pavement layers that were developed based on the 1950's AASHO Road test data. However, during the implementation of 1986 Design Guide, the need for and benefits of a mechanistically-based pavement design procedure were recognized. In 2004, the AASHTO Mechanistic-Empirical Pavement Design Guide (MEPDG) was completed and ultimately released to the public for review and evaluation.

For many years, South Carolina Department of Transportation (SCDOT) officials have considered adopting AASHTO's new mechanistic-empirical design guide; however, this would require extensive local calibrations. The major objective of this research was to characterize currently-used South Carolina (SC) asphalt mixtures and to develop a catalog for dynamic modulus value inputs to be used in the MEPDG software.

Literature Review

Dynamic modulus ($|E^*|$) is the ratio of stress to strain under vibratory conditions. The $|E^*|$, commonly used for flexible pavement design, is one of the most important parameters needed for the MEPDG. In addition, $|E^*|$ is also one of the key parameters employed to evaluate both rutting and fatigue cracking distress predictions in the MEPDG. Phase angle (δ) is the angle in degrees between a sinusoidal applied peak stress and the resulting peak strain in a controlled stress test and is useful in the prediction of permanent deformation.

The repeated load flow number (FN) test is a dynamic creep test where a haversine type of loading is applied with rest periods between loadings (AASHTO TP79-13). A higher load repetition results in a higher FN, which indicates that the asphalt pavement exhibits a better rutting resistance.

With the $|E^*|$ and FN being significant inputs required for flexible pavement design/evaluation in the MEPDG, numerous researchers have explored the various factors affecting these properties, which include aggregate gradation, asphalt binder stiffness, and mixture volumetrics.

Results

In this study, all SCDOT Surface mixture types (A, B, C, D, and E), all SCDOT Intermediate mixture types, (A, B, and C), and two SCDOT Base mixture types (A and B) were evaluated at multiple temperatures and frequencies for dynamic modulus, phase angle, and flow number. Variables included seven aggregate sources in various regions of SC, two asphalt binder sources, two RAP contents (0% RAP and job mix formula % RAP), two warm mix asphalt (WMA) technologies (foaming and a chemical additive), two liquid anti-stripping additives (LASA), and two aging conditions (unaged and longterm aged). Later in the project, a few samples from some newly-approved mixture types were also tested, including Intermediate Type B Special; Surface Type A with updated gradation requirements and corrected optimum asphalt content (COAC); and Surface Type B with COAC. Figures 1 and 2 show that aggregate source affected both |E*| values and FN values of various Surface Type A mixtures containing RAP.



Legend for Figures 1 and 2	2
I, II, III, IV, V, and $VI = Ag$	gregate source
A = Surface Type A mix	
1* = Mix design used Feb. 2 began)	2013 SC-M-402 gradation specifications (in effect when study
$2^* = Mix design used July 2$	2017 SC-M-402 gradations specifications + COAC
*Note: Mixtures not labeled effect when study began).	"1" or "2" used Feb. 2013 SC-M-402 gradation specifications (in

Conclusions

Mixtures containing the following variables exhibited higher $|E^*|$ and lower δ values (which predict greater resistance to rutting) than the corresponding mixtures to which they were compared: aggregate sources I and V, PG 76-22 asphalt binder grade, and RAP. Surface and Intermediate course mixture types designated for higher volume pavements also generally produced higher $|E^*|$ and lower δ compared to lower volume mixtures. Base mixture type, asphalt binder source, and WMA type only slightly affected $|E^*|$ and δ values, while LASA type and aging had little to no effect.

Mixtures containing the following variables exhibited higher FN values (which predict greater resistance to rutting) than the corresponding mixtures to which they were compared: aggregate sources I and V, PG 76-22 asphalt binder grade, and no WMA. Surface and Intermediate course mixture types designated for higher volume pavements also generally produced higher FN values compared to lower volume mixtures. Several variables had differing results depending upon the aggregate source and/or mixture type. Those variables included asphalt binder source, use of LASA, aging, and use of RAP. Base mixture type only slightly affected FN values, while WMA type and LASA type had little to no effect. Although several mixtures in this study did not meet the minimum flow number values recommended by AASHTO, the scope of this study did not allow for further investigation of the causes of those results. More in-depth studies of some of the individual variables from this study are recommended.

Tables were developed for every material combination tested in this project that contain the necessary input data for pavement design using these materials in the MEPDG software program.

Table of Contents

A	cknow	ledgements	ii
Di	sclain	neri	ii
Еу	ecutiv	ve Summaryi	v
	Over	viewi	v
	Litera	ature Reviewi	v
	Resu	lts	V
	Conc	lusions	/i
Τŧ	ble of	Contents	ii
Li	st of F	iguresx	ii
Li	st of T	Tables	1
1	Intr	oduction	1
	1.1	Problem Statement	1
	1.2	Mechanistic Empirical Design Concept	5
	1.3	Advantages of the System	7
2	Sco	pe of the Research Project	9
	2.1	Research Objectives	9
	2.2	Significance of Work	9
	2.3	Organization of the Report	0
3	Lite	erature Review	1
	3.1	Definitions of Dynamic Modulus and Flow Number 1	1
	3.2	Input of Dynamic Modulus and Flow Number1	2
	3.3	Tests of Dynamic Modulus and Flow Number	5
	3.4	Impacts on Dynamic Modulus and Flow Number 1	7
4	Ma	terials and Experimental Design2	1
	4.1	Materials, Sample Fabrication and Test Procedures	1
	4.1.	1 Materials	1
	4.1.	2 Sample Fabrication	2
	4.1.	3 Dynamic Modulus Test 2	8
	4.1.	4 Flow Test	1

	4.2	Experimental Design	. 32
	4.2.	1 Evaluation of Surface Course Mixtures	. 33
	4.2.2	2 Evaluation of Intermediate Course Mixtures	. 34
	4.2.2	3 Evaluation of Base Course Mixtures	. 36
	4.2.4	4 Evaluation of Binder Source	. 38
	4.2.:	5 Evaluation of Warm Mix Asphalt (WMA) Types	. 39
	4.2.0	5 Evaluation of Liquid Anti-Strip Additives (ASAs)	. 41
	4.2.2	7 Evaluation of Mixtures after a Long-Term Aging Procedure	. 43
	4.2.3	Calibration of Dynamic Modulus and Flow Numbers	. 46
5	Met	hodology for Development of Prediction Models	. 47
	5.1	Traditional Witczak model	. 47
	5.2	New Witczak model	. 48
	5.3	Hirsch model	. 49
	5.4	Other E* predictive models	. 50
	5.5	Flow number model	. 51
6	Res	ılts	. 53
	6.1	Dynamic Modulus and Phase Angle	. 56
	6.1.	Effect of Aggregate Source on Dynamic Modulus and Phase Angle of Different Types of Surface Mixtures	. 56
	6.1.2	2 Effect of Aggregate Source on Dynamic Modulus and Phase Angle of Different Types of Intermediate Mixtures	. 60
	6.1.	3 Effect of Aggregate Source on Dynamic Modulus and Phase Angle of Different Types of Base Mixtures (Types A and B)	. 64
	6.1.4	Effect of Aggregate Source on Dynamic Modulus and Phase Angle of Surface Mixtures (Types A and B) Made with Different Aggregate Type and Binder Source 2	s. 67
	6.1.	5 Effect of Aggregate Source on Dynamic Modulus and Phase Angle of Surface Type C Mixtures Made with WMA	. 70
	6.1.0	5 Effect of Aggregate Source on Dynamic Modulus and Phase Angle of Surface Type C Mixtures Made with Liquid ASA	. 73
	6.1.′	7 Effect of Aggregate Source on Dynamic Modulus and Phase Angle of A Surface Mixtures (Types A, B and C)	ged . 76

6.1.8	Effect of Mixture Type on Dynamic Modulus and Phase Angle of Surface Mixtures Made with Different Aggregate Types
6.1.9	Effect of Mixture Type on Dynamic Modulus and Phase Angle of Intermediate Mixtures Made with Different Aggregate Sources
6.1.10	Effect of Mixture Type on Dynamic Modulus and Phase Angle of Base Mixtures (Types A and B) Made with Different Aggregate Sources
6.1.11	Effect of Mixture Type on Dynamic Modulus and Phase Angle of Surface Mixtures (Types A and B) Made with Different Aggregate Types and Binder Source 2
6.1.12	Effects of Binder Source on Dynamic Modulus and Phase Angle of Various Surface Mixtures Made with Different Aggregate Types
6.1.13	Effect of WMA on Dynamic Modulus and Phase Angle of Surface Type C Mixtures Made with Different Aggregate Types
6.1.14	Effect of Liquid ASAs on Dynamic Modulus and Phase Angle of Surface Type C Mixtures Made with Different Aggregate Types 101
6.1.15	Effect of Aging on Dynamic Modulus and Phase Angle of Surface Mixtures (Types A, B and C) Made with Different Aggregate Types 106
6.1.16	Effects of RAP on Dynamic Modulus and Phase Angle 112
6.2 Flo	w Numbers of Various Mixtures
6.2.1	Effect of Aggregate Source on Flow Number of Different Types of Surface Mixtures
6.2.2	Effect of Aggregate Source on Flow Number of Different Types of Intermediate Mixtures
6.2.3	Effect of Aggregate Source on Flow Number of Different Types of Base Mixtures
6.2.4	Effect of Aggregate Source on Flow Number of Surface Mixtures (Types A and B) Made with Different Aggregate Types and Binder Source 2 160
6.2.5	Effect of Aggregate Source on Flow Number of Surface Type C Mixtures Made with WMA
6.2.6	Effect of Aggregate Source on Flow Number of Surface Type C Mixtures Made with Liquid ASA
6.2.7	Effect of Aggregate Source on Flow Number of Aged Surface Mixtures (Types A, B and C)
6.2.8	Effect of Mixture Type on Flow Number of Surface Mixtures Made with Different Aggregate Types

6.	2.9	Effect of Mixture Type on Flow Number of Intermediate Mixtures Made with Different Aggregate Sources
6.	2.10	Effect of Mixture Type on Flow Number of Base Mixtures (Types A and B) Made with Different Aggregate Sources
6.	2.11	Effect of Mixture Type on Flow Number of Surface Mixtures (Types A and B) Made with Different Aggregate Types and Binder Source 2
6.	2.12	Effect of Binder Source on Flow Number of Various Surface Mixtures Made with Different Aggregate Types
6.	2.13	Effect of WMA on Flow Number of Surface Type C Mixtures Made with Different Aggregate Types
6.	2.14	Effect of Liquid ASAs on Flow Number of Surface Type C Mixtures Made with Different Aggregate Types
6.	2.15	Effect of Aging on Flow Number of Surface Mixtures (Types A, B and C) Made with Different Aggregate Types
6.	2.16	Effects of RAP on Flow Number of Various Mixtures Made with Different Aggregate Types
6.3	Mas	ster Curves of Various Mixtures
6.	3.1	Analysis Method
6.	3.2	Sample Developed Master Curves
6.	3.3	Results of Master Curve Development
6.4	Mo	del Development
6.	4.1	Data summary and analysis
6.	4.2	Data processing of Witczak model 190
6.	4.3	Data processing of Hirsch model 201
6.	4.4	Data Processing of Kaloush Model 208
6.5	Cali	ibration of Predictive Dynamic Modulus Models
6.	5.1	Modification of Witczak Model
6.	5.2	Modification of Hirsch Model
6.	5.3	Modification of Kaloush Model
Sı	ummar	y, Conclusions, and Recommendations
7.1	Sun	nmary 216
7.2	Con	clusions
7.3	Rec	ommendations

7

8	References Cited or Reviewed
9	Appendix A - Dynamic Modulus and Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures in Terms of Aggregate Source
10	Appendix B - Dynamic Modulus and Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures in Terms of Mixture Type and Other Variables
11	Appendix C - Flow Numbers of Various Mixtures Tested
12	Appendix D - Master Curve Development for All Mixtures Designed and Tested for This Research Project
13	Appendix E - MEPEG Level 1, 2 and 3 Inputs for Mixtures

List of Figures

Figure 1-1	Loops 5 and 6 of AASHO Road Test	2
Figure 1-2	Axel Weights and Distributions Used on Various Loops of AASHO Road Te	st 3
Figure 1-3	Conceptual Flow Chart of 3 Stages of Design, Analysis and Process of the MEPDG.	4
Figure 1-4	Mechanistic-Empirical (M-E) Design Schematic	7
Figure 3-1	Permanent Deformation Responses of Asphalt Pavement Materials under Repeated Loading 1	2
Figure 3-2	Different Testing Machines Used to Measure the Dynamic Modulus of Hot Mix Asphalt (adapted from Bennert 2009)1	6
Figure 4-1	(a) Core Machine; (b) Cored Samples	25
Figure 4-2	(a) AMPT Test Machine; (b) Tested Sample in Chamber	31
Figure 4-3	Experimental Flow Chart for Surface Mixtures	34
Figure 4-4	Experimental Flow Chart for Intermediate Mixtures	36
Figure 4-5	Experimental Flow Chart for Base Mixtures	37
Figure 4-6	Experimental Flow Chart for Effect of Binder Source	39
Figure 4-7	Experimental Flow Chart for Effect of WMA Additives 4	1
Figure 4-8	Experimental Flow Chart for Effect of Liquid ASAs 4	13
Figure 4-9	Experimental Flow Chart for Effect of Long-Term Aging 4	15
Figure 4-1	0 Calibrations of Dynamic Modulus and Flow Number Models in Terms of Local Data Sets	16
Figure 6-1	Dynamic Modulus Values of Surface Type A Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F)	f
		58
Figure 6-2	Phase Angle Values of Surface Type A Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F)) 59
Figure 6-3	Dynamic Modulus Values of Intermediate Type A Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)	52
Figure 6-4	Phase Angle Values of Intermediate Type A Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)) 53
		-

Figure 6-5	Dynamic Modulus Values of Base Type A Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 6-6	Phase Angle Values of Base Type A Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 6-7	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type A Mixtures with RAP and PG 76-22 Asphalt Source 2 in Terms of Aggregate Source (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F)
Figure 6-8	Phase Angle Values of Various Surface Type A Mixtures with RAP and PG 76-22 Asphalt Source 2 in Terms of Aggregate Source (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F)
Figure 6-9	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures with RAP andWMA-Chemical Additive in Terms of Aggregate Source (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 6-1	 0 Phase Angle Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures with RAP and WMA-Chemical Additive in Terms of Aggregate Source (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40C (104°F)
Figure 6-1	1 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures with RAP and Liquid ASA1 in Terms of Aggregate Source (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 6-1	2 Phase Angle Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures with RAP and Liquid ASA1 in Terms of Aggregate Source (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 6-1	 3 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type A Mixtures with RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Aggregate Source (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F)
Figure 6-1	4 Phase Angle Values of Various Surface Type A Mixtures with RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Aggregate Source (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F)
Figure 6-1	5 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures for Aggregate Source I with RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface Type A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface Types B, C, D, and E)
Figure 6-1	6 Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures for Aggregate Source I with RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface Type A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface Types B, C, D, and E)

Figure 6-17	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures for Aggregate Source IV with RAP in Terms of Intermediate Mixture Type (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 6-18	Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures for Aggregate Source IV with RAP in Terms of Intermediate Mixture Type (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 6-19	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures for Aggregate Source IV with RAP in Terms of Base Mixture Type (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 6-20	Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures for Aggregate Source IV with RAP in Terms of Base Mixture Type (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 6-21	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures for Aggregate Source IV using Asphalt Source 2 with RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface Type A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface Type B)
Figure 6-22	Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures for Aggregate Source IV using Asphalt Source 2 with RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface Type A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface Type B)
Figure 6-23	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type A Mixtures for Aggregate Source IV Containing RAP in Terms of Binder Source (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 6-24	 Phase Angle Values of Various Surface Type A Mixtures for Aggregate Source IV Containing RAP in Terms of Binder Source (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 6-25	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures for Aggregate Source IV with RAP in Terms of WMA Technology Type (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 6-26	Phase Angle Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures for Aggregate Source IV with RAP in Terms of WMA Technology Type (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 6-27	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures for Aggregate Source IV with RAP in Terms of with/without WMA Technology (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 6-28	Phase Angle Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures for Aggregate Source IV with RAP in Terms of with/without WMA Technology (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 40°C (104°F)

Figure 6-29	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures for Aggregate Source IV with RAP in Terms of Liquid ASA Type (a) at 4°C
	(39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 40°C (104°F) 102
Figure 6-30	Phase Angle Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures for Aggregate Source IV with RAP in Terms of Liquid ASA Type (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 6-31	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures for Aggregate Source IV with RAP in Terms of with/without Liquid ASA (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 40°C (104°F) 104
Figure 6-32	Phase Angle Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures for Aggregate Source IV with RAP in Terms of with/without Liquid ASA (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 40°C (104°F) 105
Figure 6-33	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures for Aggregate Source IV with RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Surface Mixture Type (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface Type A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface Types B and C)
Figure 6-34	Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures for Aggregate Source IV with RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Surface Mixture Type (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface Type A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface Types B and C)
Figure 6-35	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface A Mixtures for Aggregate Source IV with RAP in Terms of Aged or Unaged status (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)
Figure 6-36	Phase Angle Values of Various Surface A Mixtures for Aggregate Source IV with RAP in Terms of Aged or Unaged status (a) at $4^{\circ}C$ ($39.2^{\circ}F$), (b) at $20^{\circ}C$ ($68^{\circ}F$), and (c) at $45^{\circ}C$ ($113^{\circ}F$)
Figure 6-37	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface A Mixtures with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)
Figure 6-38	Phase Angle Values of Various Surface A Mixtures with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)
Figure 6-39	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface B Mixtures with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)
Figure 6-40	Phase Angle Values of Various Surface B Mixtures with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)

Figure 6-41	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface C Mixtures with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)
Figure 6-42	Phase Angle Values of Various Surface C Mixtures with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)
Figure 6-43	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface D Mixtures with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)
Figure 6-44	Phase Angle Values of Various Surface D Mixtures with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)
Figure 6-45	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface E Mixtures with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)
Figure 6-46	Phase Angle Values of Various Surface E Mixtures with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)
Figure 6-47	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Intermediate Type A Mixtures with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)
Figure 6-48	Phase Angle Values of Various Intermediate Type A Mixtures with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)
Figure 6-49	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Intermediate Type B Mixtures with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)
Figure 6-50	Phase Angle Values of Various Intermediate Type B Mixtures with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)
Figure 6-51	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Intermediate Type C Mixtures with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)
Figure 6-52	Phase Angle Values of Various Intermediate Type C Mixtures with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)
Figure 6-53	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Base Type A Mixtures with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)

Figure 6-54	Phase Angle Values of Various Base Type A Mixtures with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)
Figure 6-55	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Base Type B Mixtures with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)
Figure 6-56	⁶ Phase Angle Values of Various Base Type B Mixtures with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)
Figure 6-57	⁷ Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type A Mixtures from Binder Source 2 with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)
Figure 6-58	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type A Mixtures from Binder Source 2 with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)
Figure 6-59	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type B Mixtures from Binder Source 2 with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)
Figure 6-60	Phase Angle Values of Various Surface Type B Mixtures from Binder Source 2 with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)
Figure 6-61	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures Used Chemical Additive WMA Technology with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)
Figure 6-62	Phase Angle Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures Used Chemical Additive WMA Technology with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)
Figure 6-63	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures Used Foaming WMA Technology with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)
Figure 6-64	Phase Angle Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures Used Foaming WMA Technology with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F) 144
Figure 6-65	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures Used Liquid ASA1 with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)

Figure 6-66	Phase Angle Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures Used Liquid ASA1 with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)
Figure 6-67	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures Used Liquid ASA2 with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)
Figure 6-68	Phase Angle Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures Used Liquid ASA2 with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)
Figure 6-69	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Aged Surface Type A Mixtures with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)
Figure 6-70	Phase Angle Values of Various Aged Surface Type A Mixtures with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)
Figure 6-71	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Aged Surface Type B Mixtures with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)
Figure 6-72	Phase Angle Values of Various Aged Surface Type B Mixtures with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)
Figure 6-73	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Aged Surface Type C Mixtures with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)
Figure 6-74	Phase Angle Values of Various Aged Surface Type C Mixtures with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)
Figure 6-75	Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type A Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 6-76	Flow Numbers of Various Intermediate Type A Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 6-77	Flow Numbers of Various Base Type A Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 6-78	Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type A Mixtures with RAP and PG 76-22 Asphalt Source 2 in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F) 161
Figure 6-79	Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type C Mixtures with RAP and WMA- Chemical Additive in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F) 161

Figure 6-80	Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type C Mixtures with RAP and Liquid ASA 1 in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F) 162
Figure 6-81	Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type A Mixtures with RAP after Long- Term Aging in Terms of Aggregate Source at at 59°C (138.2°F) 163
Figure 6-82	Flow Numbers of Various Mixtures for Aggregate Source I with RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 6-83	Flow Numbers of Various Mixtures for Aggregate Source IV with RAP in Terms of Intermediate Mixture Type at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 6-84	Flow Numbers of Various Mixtures for Aggregate Source IV with RAP in Terms of Base Mixture Type at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 6-85	Flow Numbers Various Mixtures for Aggregate Source IV with RAP using Asphalt Source 2 in Terms of Surface Mixture Type at 59°C (138.2°F) 167
Figure 6-86	Flow Numbers of Various Surface Mixtures for Aggregate Source IV with RAP in Terms of Binder Source at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 6-87	Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type C Mixtures for Aggregate Source IV with RAP in Terms of WMA Technology Type at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 6-88	Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type C Mixtures for Various Aggregate Sources with RAP in Terms of with/without WMA Technology Type at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 6-89	Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type C Mixtures for Aggregate Source IV with RAP in Terms of Liquid ASA Type at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 6-90	Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type C Mixtures for Aggregate Source IV with RAP in Terms of with/without Liquid ASA at 59°C (138.2°F) 170
Figure 6-91	Flow Numbers of Various Mixtures for Aggregate Source IV with RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Surface Mixture Type at 59°C (138.2°F) 171
Figure 6-92	Flow Numbers of Various Mixtures for Aggregate Source IV and V with RAP after Long-Term Aging or Not in Terms of Surface Mixture Type at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 6-93	Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type A Mixtures with/without RAP at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 6-94	Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type B Mixtures with/without RAP at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 6-95	Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type C Mixtures with/without RAP at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 6-96	Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type D Mixtures with/without RAP at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 6-97	Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type E Mixtures with/without RAP at 59°C (138.2°F)

Figure 6-98 Flow Numbers of Various Intermediate Type A mixtures with/without RAP at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 6-99 Flow Numbers of Various Intermediate Type B mixtures with/without RAP at 59°C (138.2°F) 176
Figure 6-100 Flow Numbers of Various Intermediate Type C mixtures with/without RAP at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 6-101 Flow Numbers of Various Base Type A mixtures with/without RAP at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 6-102 Flow Numbers of Various Base Type B mixtures with/without RAP at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 6-103 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type A Mixtures from Binder Source 2 with/without RAP at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 6-104 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type B Mixtures from Binder Source 2 with/without RAP at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 6-105 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type C Mixtures from Chemical Additive WMA Technology with/without RAP at 59°C (138.2°F) 180
Figure 6-106 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type C Mixtures from Foaming WMA Technology with/without RAP at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 6-107 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type C Mixtures with Liquid ASA 1 with/without RAP at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 6-108 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type C Mixtures with Liquid ASA 2 with/without RAP at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 6-109 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type A Mixtures after A Long-Term Aging Procedure with/without RAP at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 6-110 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type B Mixtures after A Long-Term Aging Procedure with/without RAP at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 6-111 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type C Mixtures after A Long-Term Aging Procedure with/without RAP at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 6-112 Typical Master Curve of Dynamic Modulus for Surface A Mixture Made With Aggregate Source I
Figure 6-113 Flow Chart of Calculating the Effective Asphalt Content by Volume 191
Figure 6-114 Comparison between Predicted Values and Measured Values of Flow Number: (a) All Data Points; (b) Partial Points (less than 100)
Figure 6-115 Predicted and Measured Dynamic Modulus Values, (a) Witczak Model; (b) Modified Witczak Model
Figure 6-116 Predicted and Measured Dynamic Modulus Values, (a) Hirsch Model; (b) Modified Hirsch Model

Figure 9-1	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type A Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 9-2	Phase Angle Values of Various Surface Type A Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 9-3	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type B Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 9-4	Phase Angle Values of Various Surface Type B Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 9-5	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 9-6	Phase Angle Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 9-7	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type D Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 9-8	Phase Angle Values of Various Surface Type D Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 9-9	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type E Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 9-1	0 Phase Angle Values of Various Surface Type E Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 9-1	1 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type A Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F)
Figure 9-1	2 Phase Angle Values of Various Surface Type A Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F)
Figure 9-1	3 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type B Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)

Figure 9-14	Phase Angle Values of Various Surface Type B Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 9-15	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type C mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 9-16	Phase Angle Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 9-17	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type D Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 9-18	Phase Angle Values of Various Surface Type D Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 9-19	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type E Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 9-20	Phase Angle Values of Various Surface Type E Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 9-21	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Intermediate Type A Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 9-22	Phase Angle Values of Various Intermediate Type A Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 9-23	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Intermediate Type B Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 9-24	Phase Angle Values of Various Intermediate Type B Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 9-25	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Intermediate Type C Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 9-26	Phase Angle Values of Various Intermediate Type C Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)

Figure 9-27	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Intermediate Type A Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 9-28	Phase Angle Values of Various Intermediate Type A Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 9-29	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Intermediate Type B Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 9-30	Phase Angle Values of Various Intermediate Type B Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 9-31	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Intermediate Type C Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 9-32	Phase Angle Values of Various Intermediate Type C Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 9-33	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Base Type A Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 9-34	Phase Angle Values of Various Base Type A Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 9-35	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Base Type B Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 9-36	Phase Angle Values of Various Base Type B Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 9-37	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Base Type A Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 9-38	Phase Angle Values of Various Base Type A Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 9-39	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Base Type B Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)

Figure 9-40	Phase Angle Values of Various Base Type B Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 9-41	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type A Mixtures with RAP and Asphalt Source 2 in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 9-42	Phase Angle Values of Various Surface Type A Mixtures with RAP and Asphalt Source 2 in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 9-43	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type B Mixtures with RAP and Asphalt Source 2 in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 9-44	Phase Angle Values of Various Surface Type B Mixtures with RAP and Asphalt Source 2 in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 9-45	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type A Mixtures using Asphalt Source 2 without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F)
Figure 9-46	Phase Angle Values of Various Surface Type A Mixtures using Asphalt Source 2 without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F)
Figure 9-47	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type B Mixtures using Asphalt Source 2 without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 9-48	Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Surface Type B using Asphalt Source 2 without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 9-49	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Surface Type C with RAP and WMA-Chemical Additive in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 9-50	Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Surface Type C with RAP and WMA-Chemical Additive in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 9-51	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Surface Type C with RAP and WMA-Foaming in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 9-52	Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Surface Type C with RAP and WMA-Foaming in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)

Figure 9-53	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Surface Type C using WMA-Chemical Additive without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4° C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 9-54	Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Surface Type C using WMA-Chemical Additive without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4° C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 9-55	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Surface Type C using WMA-Foaming without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 9-56	Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Surface Type C using WMA-Foaming without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at $4^{\circ}C$ ($39.2^{\circ}F$), (b) at $20^{\circ}C$ ($68^{\circ}F$), (c) at $40^{\circ}C$ ($104^{\circ}F$)
Figure 9-57	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Surface Type C with RAP and Liquid ASA1 in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 9-58	Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Surface Type C with RAP and Liquid ASA1 in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 9-59	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Surface Type C with RAP and Liquid ASA2 in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 9-60	Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Surface Type C with RAP and Liquid ASA2 in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 9-61	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Surface Type C using Liquid ASA1 without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 9-62	Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Surface Type C using Liquid ASA1 without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 9-63	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Surface Type C using Liquid ASA2 without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 9-64	Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Surface Type C using Liquid ASA2 without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 9-65	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Surface Type A with RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)

Figure 9-66	Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Surface Type A with RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at $4^{\circ}C$ (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F) (c) at 40°C (104°F) 293
Figure 9-67	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Surface Type B with RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 9-68	Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Surface Type B with RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 9-69	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Surface Type C with RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 9-70	Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Surface Type C with RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 9-71	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Surface Type A without RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F)
Figure 9-72	Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Surface Type A without RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F)
Figure 9-73	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Surface Type B without RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 9-74	Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Surface Type B without RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 9-75	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Surface Type C without RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 9-76	Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Surface Type C without RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 10-1	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate I with RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface B, C, D, and E)304
Figure 10-2	Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate I with RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface B, C, D, and E)

- Figure 10-3 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate II with RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface B, C, D, and E)....... 306
- Figure 10-5 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate III with RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface B, C, D, and E).. 308
- Figure 10-7 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate IV with RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface B, C, D, and E).. 310
- Figure 10-9 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate V with RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface B, C, D, and E)...312
- Figure 10-10 Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate V with RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface B, C, D, and E)..... 313
- Figure 10-12 Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate VI with RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface B, C, D, and E)..... 315
- Figure 10-14 Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate I without RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface B, C, D, and E)..... 317

Figure 10-15	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate III without RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface B, C, D, and E)
Figure 10-16	 Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate III without RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface B, C, D, and E) 319
Figure 10-17	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate IV without RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface B, C, D, and E)
Figure 10-18	Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate IV without RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface B, C, D, and E) 321
Figure 10-19	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate V without RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface B, C, D, and E)
Figure 10-20	Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate V without RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface B, C, D, and E) 323
Figure 10-21	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate VI without RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface B, C, D, and E)
Figure 10-22	Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate VI without RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface B, C, D, and E) 325
Figure 10-23	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate II with RAP in Terms of Intermediate Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 10-24	Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate II with RAP in Terms of Intermediate Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 10-25	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate IV with RAP in Terms of Intermediate Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)

Figure 1	0-26 Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate IV with RAP in Terms of Intermediate Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 1	0-27 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate V with RAP in Terms of Intermediate Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 1	0-28 Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate V with RAP in Terms of Intermediate Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 1	0-29 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate VII with RAP in Terms of Intermediate Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 1	0-30 Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate VII with RAP in Terms of Intermediate Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 1	0-31 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate IV without RAP in Terms of Intermediate Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 1	0-32 Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate IV without RAP in Terms of Intermediate Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 1	0-33 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate V without RAP in Terms of Intermediate Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 1	0-34 Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate V without RAP in Terms of Intermediate Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 1	0-35 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate IV with RAP in Terms of Base Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 1	0-36 Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate IV with RAP in Terms of Base Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 1	0-37 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate V with RAP in Terms of Base Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 1	0-38 Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate V with RAP in Terms of Base Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)

Figure 10-39	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate IV without RAP in Terms of Base Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 10-40	Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate IV without RAP in Terms of Base Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 10-41	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate V without RAP in Terms of Base Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 10-42	Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate V without RAP in Terms of Base Mixture Type, (a) at $4^{\circ}C$ (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at $40^{\circ}C$ (104°F)
Figure 10-43	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate IV with RAP and Asphalt Source 2 in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface A), 40C (104°F) (Surface B)
Figure 10-44	Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate IV with RAP and Asphalt Source 2 in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface B)
Figure 10-45	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate V with RAP and Asphalt Source 2 in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface A), 40C (104°F) (Surface B)
Figure 10-46	Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate V with RAP and Asphalt Source 2 in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface B)
Figure 10-47	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate IV using Asphalt Source 2 without RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113F) (Surface A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface B)
Figure 10-48	Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate IV using Asphalt Source 2 without RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface B)
Figure 10-49	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate V using Asphalt Source 2 without RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at

	4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface B)
Figure 10-50	Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate V using Asphalt Source 2 without RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface B)
Figure 10-51	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate IV with RAP in Terms of WMA Technology Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 10-52	Phase Angle Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate IV with RAP in Terms of WMA Technology Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 10-53	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate V with RAP in Terms of WMA Technology Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 10-54	Phase Angle Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate V with RAP in Terms of WMA Technology Type, (a) at $4^{\circ}C$ (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 10-55	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate IV without RAP in Terms of WMA Technology Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 10-56	Phase Angle Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate IV without RAP in Terms of WMA Technology Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 10-57	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate V without RAP in Terms of WMA Technology Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 10-58	Phase Angle Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate V without RAP in Terms of WMA Technology Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 10-59	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate IV with RAP in Terms of Liquid ASA Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 10-60	Phase Angle Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate IV with RAP in Terms of Liquid ASA Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 10-61	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate V with RAP in Terms of Liquid ASA Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)

Figure 10-62	Phase Angle Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate V with RAP in Terms of Liquid ASA Type, (a) at 4° C (39.2° F), (b) at 20° C (68° F) (c) at 40° C (104° F) 365
Figure 10-63	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate IV without RAP in Terms of Liquid ASA Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 10-64	Phase Angle Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate IV without RAP in Terms of Liquid ASA Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 10-65	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate V without RAP in Terms of Liquid ASA Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 10-66	Phase Angle Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate V without RAP in Terms of Liquid ASA Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)
Figure 10-67	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate IV with RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface B and C)
Figure 10-68	Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate IV with RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface B and C)
Figure 10-69	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate V with RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface B and C)
Figure 10-70	Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate V with RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface B and C)
Figure 10-71	Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate IV without RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface B and C)
Figure 10-72	Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate IV without RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface B and C)

Figure 10-73 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate V without RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface B, C)
Figure 10-74 Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate V without RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface B and C)
Figure 11-1 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type A Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 11-2 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type B Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 11-3 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type C Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 11-4 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type D Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 11-5 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type E Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 11-6 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type A Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 11-7 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type B Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 11-8 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type C Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 11-9 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type D Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 11-10 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type E Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 11-11 Flow Numbers of Various Intermediate Type A Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 11-12 Flow Numbers of Various Intermediate Type B Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 11-13 Flow Numbers of Various Intermediate Type C Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 11-14 Flow Numbers of Various Intermediate Type A Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 11-15 Flow Numbers of Various Intermediate Type B Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)

xxxiii

Figure 11-16 Flow Numbers of Various Intermediate Type C Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 11-17 Flow Numbers of Various Base Type A Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 11-18 Flow Numbers of Various Base Type B Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 11-19 Flow Numbers of Various Base Type A Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 11-20 Flow Numbers of Various Base Type B Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 11-21 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type A Mixtures with RAP and Asphalt Source 2 in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 11-22 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type B Mixtures with RAP and Asphalt Source 2 in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 11-23 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type A Mixtures using Asphalt Source 2 without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 11-24 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type B Mixtures using Asphalt Source 2 without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 11-25 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type C Mixtures with RAP and WMA- Chemical Additive in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F) 386
Figure 11-26 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type C Mixtures with RAP and WMA- Foaming in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 11-27 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type C Mixtures using WMA-Chemical Additive without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)387
Figure 11-28 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type C Mixtures using WMA-Foaming without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 11-29 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type C Mixtures with RAP and Liquid ASA1 in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 11-30 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type C Mixtures with RAP and Liquid ASA2 in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 11-31 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type C Mixtures using Liquid ASA1 without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 11-32 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type C Mixtures using Liquid ASA2 without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 11-33 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type A Mixtures with RAP after Long- Term Aging in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 11-34 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type B Mixtures with RAP after Long- Term Aging in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)
xxxiv

Figure 11-35 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type C Mixtures with RAP after Long- Term Aging in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 11-36 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type A Mixtures without RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F) 390
Figure 11-37 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type B Mixtures without RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F) 390
Figure 11-38 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type C mixtures without RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F) 390
Figure 11-39 Flow Numbers of Various Mixtures from Aggregate I with RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 11-40 Flow Numbers of Various Mixtures from Aggregate II with RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 11-41 Flow Numbers of Various Mixtures from Aggregate III with RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 11-42 Flow Numbers of Various Mixtures from Aggregate IV with RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 11-43 Flow Numbers of Various Mixtures from Aggregate V with RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 11-44 Flow Numbers of Various Mixtures from Aggregate VI with RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 11-45 Flow Numbers of Various Mixtures from Aggregate I without RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 11-46 Flow Numbers of Various Mixtures from Aggregate III without RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 11-47 Flow Numbers of Various Mixtures from Aggregate IV without RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 11-48 Flow Numbers of Various Mixtures from Aggregate V without RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 11-49 Flow Numbers of Various Mixtures from Aggregate VI without RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 11-50 Flow Numbers of Various Mixtures from Aggregate IV with RAP in Terms of Intermediate Mixture Type at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 11-51 Flow Numbers of Various Mixtures from Aggregate V with RAP in Terms of Intermediate Mixture Type at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 11-52 Flow Numbers of Various Mixtures from Aggregate IV without RAP in Terms of Intermediate Mixture Type at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 11-53 Flow Numbers of Various Mixtures from Aggregate V without RAP in Terms of Intermediate Mixture Type at 59°C (138.2°F)
XXXV
Figure 11-54 Flow Numbers of Various Mixtures from Aggregate IV with RAP in Terms of Base Mixture Type at 59°C (138.2°F)

Figure 11-55 Flow Numbers of Various Mixtures from Aggregate V with RAP in Terms of Base Mixture Type at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 11-56 Flow Numbers of Various Mixtures from Aggregate IV without RAP in Terms of Base Mixture Type at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 11-57 Flow Numbers of Various Mixtures from Aggregate V without RAP in Terms of Base Mixture Type at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 11-58 Flow Numbers of Various Mixtures from Aggregate IV with RAP and Asphalt Source 2 in Terms of Surface Mixture Type at 59°C (138.2°F). 397
Figure 11-59 Flow Numbers of Various Mixtures from Aggregate V with RAP and Asphalt Source 2 in Terms of Surface Mixture Type at 59°C (138.2°F). 397
Figure 11-60 Flow Numbers of Various Mixtures from Aggregate IV using Asphalt Source 2 without RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 11-61 Flow Numbers of Various Mixtures from Aggregate V using Asphalt Source 2 without RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 11-62 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate IV with RAP in Terms of WMA Technology Type at 59°C (138.2°F) 398
Figure 11-63 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate V with RAP in Terms of WMA Technology Type at 59°C (138.2°F) 399
Figure 11-64 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate IV without RAP in Terms of WMA Technology Type at 59°C (138.2°F) 399
Figure 11-65 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate V without RAP in Terms of WMA Technology Type at 59°C (138.2°F) 399
Figure 11-66 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate IV with RAP in Terms of Liquid ASA Type at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 11-67 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate V with RAP in Terms of Liquid ASA Type at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 11-68 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate IV without RAP in Terms of Liquid ASA Type at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 11-69 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate V without RAP in Terms of Liquid ASA Type at 59°C (138.2°F)
Figure 11-70 Flow Numbers of Various Mixtures from Aggregate IV with RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Surface Mixture Type at 59°C (138.2°F)401
Figure 11-71 Flow Numbers of Various Mixtures from Aggregate V with RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Surface Mixture Type at 59°C (138.2°F)401
xxxvi

Figure 11-72 Flow Numbers of Various Mixtures from Aggregate IV without RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Surface Mixture Type at 59°C (138.2°F)402
Figure 11-73 Flow Numbers of Various Mixtures from Aggregate V without RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Surface Mixture Type at 59°C (138.2°F)402
Figure 12-1 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves for Surface Type A Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source
Figure 12-2 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves for Surface Type B Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source
Figure 12-3 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves for Surface Type C Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source
Figure 12-4 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves for Surface Type D Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source
Figure 12-5 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves for Surface Type E Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source
Figure 12-6 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves for Surface Type A Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source
Figure 12-7 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves for Surface Type B Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source
Figure 12-8 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves for Surface Type C Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source
Figure 12-9 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves for Surface Type D Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source
Figure 12-10 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves for Surface Type E Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source
Figure 12-11 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Intermediate Type A Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source
Figure 12-12 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Intermediate Type B Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source
Figure 12-13 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Intermediate Type C Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source
Figure 12-14 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Intermediate Type A Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source
Figure 12-15 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Intermediate Type B Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source
Figure 12-16 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Intermediate Type C Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source
Figure 12-17 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Base Type A Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source
xxxvii

Figure 12-18 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Base Type B Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source
Figure 12-19 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Base Type A Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source
Figure 12-20 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Base Type B Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source
Figure 12-21 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Surface Type A Mixtures with RAP and Asphalt Source 2 in Terms of Aggregate Source
Figure 12-22 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Surface Type B Mixtures with RAP and Asphalt Source 2 in Terms of Aggregate Source
Figure 12-23 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Surface Type A Mixtures without RAP using Asphalt Source 2 in Terms of Aggregate Source
Figure 12-24 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Surface Type B Mixtures without RAP using Asphalt Source 2 in Terms of Aggregate Source
Figure 12-25 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Surface Type C Mixtures with RAP and WMA-Chemical Additive in Terms of Aggregate Source
Figure 12-26 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Surface Type C Mixtures with RAP and WMA-Foaming in Terms of Aggregate Source
Figure 12-27 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Surface Type C Mixtures without RAP using WMA-Chemical Additive in Terms of Aggregate Source
Figure 12-28 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Surface Type C Mixtures without RAP using WMA-Foaming in Terms of Aggregate Source
Figure 12-29 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Surface Type C Mixtures with RAP and Liquid ASA1 in Terms of Aggregate Source
Figure 12-30 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Surface Type C Mixtures with RAP and Liquid ASA2 in Terms of Aggregate Source
Figure 12-31 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Surface Type C Mixtures without RAP using Liquid ASA1 in Terms of Aggregate Source
Figure 12-32 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Surface Type C Mixtures without RAP using Liquid ASA2 in Terms of Aggregate Source
Figure 12-33 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Surface Type A Mixtures with RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Aggregate Source
Figure 12-34 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Surface Type B Mixtures with RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Aggregate Source
Figure 12-35 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Surface Type C Mixtures with RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Aggregate Source
Figure 12-36 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Surface Type A Mixtures without RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Aggregate Source
xxxviii

Figure 12-37 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Surface Type B mixtures without RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Aggregate Source
Figure 12-38 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Surface Type C Mixtures without RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Aggregate Source
Figure 12-39 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate I with RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type
Figure 12-40 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate II with RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type
Figure 12-41 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate III with RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type
Figure 12-42 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate IV with RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type
Figure 12-43 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate V with RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type
Figure 12-44 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate VI with RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type
Figure 12-45 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate I without RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type
Figure 12-46 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate III without RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type
Figure 12-47 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate IV without RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type
Figure 12-48 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate V without RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type
Figure 12-49 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate VI without RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type
Figure 12-50 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate II with RAP in Terms of Intermediate Mixture Type
Figure 12-51 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate IV with RAP in Terms of Intermediate Mixture Type
Figure 12-52 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate V with RAP in Terms of Intermediate Mixture Type
Figure 12-53 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate VII with RAP in Terms of Intermediate Mixture Type
Figure 12-54 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate IV without RAP in Terms of Intermediate Mixture Type
Figure 12-55 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate V without RAP in Terms of Intermediate Mixture Type
xxxix

Figure 12-56 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate IV with RAP in Terms of Base Mixture Type
Figure 12-57 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate V with RAP in Terms of Base Mixture Type
Figure 12-58 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate IV without RAP in Terms of Base Type
Figure 12-59 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate V without RAP in Terms of Base Mixture Type
Figure 12-60 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate IV with RAP and Asphalt Source 2 in Terms of Surface Mixture Type
Figure 12-61 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate V with RAP and Asphalt Source 2 in Terms of Surface Mixture Type
Figure 12-62 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate IV without RAP using Asphalt Source 2 in Terms of Surface Mixture Type
Figure 12-63 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate V without RAP using Asphalt Source 2 in Terms of Surface Mixture Type
Figure 12-64 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate IV with RAP in Terms of WMA Technology Type
Figure 12-65 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate V with RAP in Terms of WMA Technology Type
Figure 12-66 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate IV without RAP in Terms of WMA Technology Type
Figure 12-67 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate V without RAP in Terms of WMA Technology Type
Figure 12-68 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate IV with RAP in Terms of Liquid ASA Type
Figure 12-69 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate V with RAP in Terms of Liquid ASA Type
Figure 12-70 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate IV without RAP in Terms of Liquid ASA Type
Figure 12-71 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate V without RAP in Terms of Liquid ASA Type
Figure 12-72 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate IV with RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Surface Mixture Type
Figure 12-73 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate V with RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Surface Mixture Type
Figure 12-74 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate IV without RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Surface Mixture Type
xl

Figure 12-7	75 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate V without RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Surface Mixture Type
Figure 12-7	76 Master Phase Angle Curves for Surface Type A Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source
Figure 12-7	77 Master Phase Angle Curves for Surface Type B Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source
Figure 12-7	78 Master Phase Angle Curves for Surface Type C Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source
Figure 12-7	79 Master Phase Angle Curves for Surface Type D Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source
Figure 12-8	30 Master Phase Angle Curves for Surface Type E Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source
Figure 12-8	81 Master Phase Angle Curves for Surface Type A Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source
Figure 12-8	32 Master Phase Angle Curves for Surface Type B Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source
Figure 12-8	33 Master Phase Angle Curves for Surface Type C Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source
Figure 12-8	34 Master Phase Angle Curves for Surface Type D Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source
Figure 12-8	35 Master Phase Angle Curves for Surface Type E Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source
Figure 12-8	36 Master Phase Angle Curves for Intermediate Type A Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source
Figure 12-8	37 Master Phase Angle Curves for Intermediate Type B Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source
Figure 12-8	38 Master Phase Angle Curves for Intermediate Type C Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source
Figure 12-8	39 Master Phase Angle Curves for Intermediate Type A Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source
Figure 12-9	00 Master Phase Angle Curves for Intermediate Type B Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source
Figure 12-9	91 Master Phase Angle Curves for Intermediate Type C Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source
Figure 12-9	92 Master Phase Angle Curves for Base Type A Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source
Figure 12-9	93 Master Phase Angle Curves for Base Type B Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source

Figure 12-94 Maste	r Phase Angle Curves for Base Type A Mixtures without RAP in
Terms	s of Aggregate Source
Figure 12-95 Maste	r Phase Angle Curves for Base Type B Mixtures without RAP in
Terms	s of Aggregate Source
Figure 12-96 Maste	r Phase Angle Curves for Surface Type A Mixtures with RAP and
Aspha	alt Source 2 in Terms of Aggregate Source
Figure 12-97 Maste	r Phase Angle Curves for Surface Type B Mixtures with RAP and
Aspha	alt Source 2 in Terms of Aggregate Source
Figure 12-98 Maste	r Phase Angle Curves for Surface Type A Mixtures without RAP
using	Asphalt Source 2 in Terms of Aggregate Source 451
Figure 12-99 Maste	r Phase Angle Curves for Surface Type B Mixtures without RAP
using	Asphalt Source 2 in Terms of Aggregate Source 452
Figure 12-100 Mast	er Phase Angle Curves for Surface Type C Mixtures with RAP and
WM.	A-Chemical Additive in Terms of Aggregate Source
Figure 12-101 Mast	er Phase Angle Curves for Surface Type C Mixtures with RAP and
WM.	A-Foaming in Terms of Aggregate Source
Figure 12-102 Mast	er Phase Angle Curves for Surface Type C Mixtures without RAP
using	g WMA-Chemical Additive in Terms of Aggregate Source
Figure 12-103 Mast	er Phase Angle Curves for Surface Type C Mixtures without RAP
using	g WMA-Foaming in Terms of Aggregate Source
Figure 12-104 Mast	er Phase Angle Curves for Surface Type C Mixtures with RAP and
Liqu	id ASA1 in Terms of Aggregate Source
Figure 12-105 Mast	er Phase Angle Curves for Surface Type C Mixtures with RAP and
Liqu	id ASA2 in Terms of Aggregate Source 455
Figure 12-106 Mast	er Phase Angle Curves for Surface Type C Mixtures without RAP
using	g Liquid ASA1 in Terms of Aggregate Source
Figure 12-107 Mast	er Phase Angle Curves for Surface Type C Mixtures without RAP
using	g Liquid ASA2 in Terms of Aggregate Source
Figure 12-108 Mast	er Phase Angle Curves for Surface Type A Mixtures with RAP after
Long	g-Term Aging in Terms of Aggregate Source
Figure 12-109 Mast	er Phase Angle Curves for Surface Type B Mixtures with RAP after
Long	g-Term Aging in Terms of Aggregate Source
Figure 12-110 Mast	er Phase Angle Curves for Surface Type C Mixtures with RAP after
Long	g-Term Aging in Terms of Aggregate Source
Figure 12-111 Mast	er Phase Angle Curves for Surface Type A without RAP after Long-
Term	Aging in Terms of Aggregate Source
Figure 12-112 Mast	er Phase Angle Curves for Surface Type B Mixtures without RAP
after	Long-Term Aging in Terms of Aggregate Source
XIII	

Figure 12-113 M af	Iter ConstructionIter ConstructionIter ConstructionIter Long-Term Aging in Terms of Aggregate Source459
Figure 12-114 M Te	Laster Phase Angle Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate I with RAP inerms of Surface Mixture Type
Figure 12-115 M Te	Iaster Phase Angle Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate II with RAP inerms of Surface Mixture Type
Figure 12-116 M Te	Iaster Phase Angle Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate III with RAP inerms of Surface Mixture Type
Figure 12-117 M Te	Iaster Phase Angle Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate IV with RAP inerms of Surface Mixture Type
Figure 12-118 M Te	Iaster Phase Angle Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate V with RAP inerms of Surface Mixture Type
Figure 12-119 M Te	Iaster Phase Angle Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate VI with RAP inerms of Surface Mixture Type
Figure 12-120 M Te	Laster Phase Angle Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate I without RAP inerms of Surface Mixture Type
Figure 12-121 M in	In the second state of Mixtures from Aggregate III without RAPIn Terms of Surface Mixture Type
Figure 12-122 M in	Iterms of Surface Mixture Type
Figure 12-123 M in	Iaster Phase Angle Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate V without RAPTerms of Surface Mixture Type
Figure 12-124 M in	Iterms of Surface Mixture Type
Figure 12-125 M Te	Laster Phase Angle Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate II with RAP inerms of Intermediate Mixture Type
Figure 12-126 M Te	Laster Phase Angle Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate IV with RAP inerms of Intermediate Mixture Type
Figure 12-127 M Te	aster Phase Angle Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate V with RAP in erms of Intermediate Mixture Type
Figure 12-128 M Te	aster Phase Angle Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate VII with RAP in erms of Intermediate Mixture Type
Figure 12-129 M in	Instant AssertionInstant AssertionIns
Figure 12-130 M in	Iaster Phase Angle Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate V without RAPTerms of Intermediate Mixture Type
Figure 12-131 M	Iaster Phase Angle Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate IV with RAP inerms of Base Mixture Type468
xliii	

Figure 12-132	Master Phase Angle Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate V with RAP in Terms of Base Mixture Type
Figure 12-133	Master Phase Angle Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate IV without RAP in Terms of Base Mixture Type
Figure 12-134	Master Phase Angle Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate V without RAP in Terms of Base Mixture Type
Figure 12-135	Master Phase Angle Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate IV with RAP and Asphalt Source 2 in Terms of Surface Mixture Type
Figure 12-136	Master Phase Angle Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate V with RAP and Asphalt Source 2 in Terms of Surface Type
Figure 12-137	Master Phase Angle Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate IV without RAP using Asphalt Source 2 in Terms of Surface Mixture Type
Figure 12-138	Master Phase Angle Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate V without RAP using Asphalt Source 2 in Terms of Surface Mixture Type
Figure 12-139	Master Phase Angle Curves of Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate IV with RAP in Terms of WMA Technology Type
Figure 12-140	Master Phase Angle Curves of Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate V with RAP in Terms of WMA Technology Type
Figure 12-141	Master Phase Angle Curves of Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate IV without RAP in Terms of WMA Technology Type
Figure 12-142	Master Phase Angle Curves of Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate V without RAP in Terms of WMA Technology Type
Figure 12-143	Master Phase Angle Curves of Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate IV with RAP in Terms of Liquid ASA Type
Figure 12-144	Master Phase Angle Curves of Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate V with RAP in Terms of Liquid ASA Type
Figure 12-145	Master Phase Angle Curves of Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate IV without RAP in Terms of Liquid ASA Type
Figure 12-146	Master Phase Angle Curves of Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate V without RAP in Terms of Liquid ASA Type
Figure 12-147	Master Phase Angle Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate IV with RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Surface Mixture Type
Figure 12-148	Master Phase Angle Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate V with RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Surface Mixture Type
Figure 12-149	Master Phase Angle Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate IV without RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Surface Type
Figure 12-150	Master Phase Angle Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate V without RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Surface Type
xliv	-

Figure 1	3-1: N	Mixture Type: I A (Augusta Surface Type A with RAP)	479
Figure 1	3-2: N	Mixture Type: I B1 (Augusta Surface Type B, Mix Design 1 with RAP)	479
Figure 1	3-3: N	Mixture Type: I B2 (Augusta Surface Type B, Mix Design 2 with RAP)	479
Figure 1	3-4: N	Mixture Type: I C (Augusta Surface Type C with RAP)	479
Figure 1	3-5: N	Mixture Type: I D (Augusta Surface Type D with RAP)	479
Figure 1	3-6: N	Mixture Type: I E Augusta Surface Type E with RAP)	479
Figure 1	3-7: N	Mixture Type: I EO (Augusta Surface Type E, no RAP)	479
Figure 1	3-8: N	Mixture Type: II A1 (Blacksburg Surface Type A, Mix Design 1 with RA	AP) 479
Figure 1	3-9: N	Mixture Type: II A2 (Blacksburg Surface Type A, Mix Design 2 with RA	AP) 479
Figure 1	3-10:	Mixture Type: II B (Blacksburg Surface Type B with RAP)	479
Figure 1	3-11:	Mixture Type: II C (Blacksburg Surface Type C with RAP)	479
Figure 1	3-12:	Mixture Type: II D (Blacksburg Surface Type D with RAP)	479
Figure 1	3-13:	Mixture Type: II E (Blacksburg Surface Type E with RAP)	479
Figure 1	3-14:	Mixture Type: II IB (Blacksburg Intermediate Type B Special with RAI	P) 479
Figure 1	3-15:	Mixture Type: III A1 (Columbia Surface Type A, Mix Design 1 with RAP)	479
Figure 1	3-16:	Mixture Type: III A2 (Columbia Surface Type A, Mix Design 2 with RA	AP) 479
Figure 1	3-17:	Mixture Type: III B1 (Columbia Surface Type B, Mix Design 1 with RA	AP) 479
Figure 1	3-18:	Mixture Type: III B2 (Columbia Surface Type B, Mix Design 2 with RA	AP) 479
Figure 1	3-19:	Mixture Type: III C (Columbia Surface Type C with RAP)	479
Figure 1	3-20:	Mixture Type: III CO (Columbia Surface Type C, no RAP)	479
Figure 1	3-21:	Mixture Type: III D (Columbia Surface Type D with RAP)	479
Figure 1	3-22:	Mixture Type: III DO (Columbia Surface Type D, no RAP)	479
Figure 1	3-23:	Mixture Type: III E (Columbia Surface Type E with RAP)	479
Figure 1	3-24:	Mixture Type: III EO (Columbia Surface Type E, no RAP)	479
Figure 1	3-25:	Mixture Type: IV A (Jefferson Surface Type A with RAP)	479
Figure 1	3-26:	Mixture Type: IV AG (Jefferson Surface Type A with Long-Term Aging and RAP)	g 479
Figure 1	3-27:	Mixture Type: IV AN (Jefferson Surface Type A with Asphalt Source 2 and RAP)	479

Figure	13-28:	Mixture Type: IV AO (Jefferson Surface Type A, no RAP)
Figure	13-29:	Mixture Type: IV AOG (Jefferson Surface Type A with Long-Term Aging, no RAP)
Figure	13-30:	Mixture Type: IV AON (Jefferson Surface Type A with Asphalt Source 2, no RAP)
Figure	13-31:	Mixture Type: IV B (Jefferson Surface Type B with RAP)
Figure	13-32:	Mixture Type: IV BG (Jefferson Surface Type B with Long-Term Aging and RAP)
Figure	13-33:	Mixture Type: IV BN (Jefferson Surface Type B with Asphalt Source 2 and RAP)
Figure	13-34:	Mixture Type: IV BO (Jefferson Surface Type B, no RAP)
Figure	13-35:	Mixture Type: IV BOG (Jefferson Surface Type B with Long-Term Aging, no RAP)
Figure	13-36:	Mixture Type: IV BON (Jefferson Surface Type B with Asphalt Source 2, no RAP)
Figure	13-37:	Mixture Type: IV C (Jefferson Surface Type C with RAP)
Figure	13-38:	Mixture Type: IV CO (Jefferson Surface Type C, no RAP) 479
Figure	13-39:	Mixture Type: IV CA (Jefferson Surface Type C with LASA 2 (Adhere®) and RAP)
Figure	13-40:	Mixture Type: IV CE (Jefferson Surface Type C with Evotherm® WMA Chemical Additive and RAP)
Figure	13-41:	Mixture Type: IV CF (Jefferson Surface Type C with WMA Foaming Technology and RAP)
Figure	13-42:	Mixture Type: IV CG (Jefferson Surface Type C with Long-Term Aging and RAP)
Figure	13-43:	Mixture Type: IV CM (Jefferson Surface Type C with LASA 1 (Morlife®) and RAP)
Figure	13-44:	Mixture Type: IV COA (Jefferson Surface Type C with LASA 2 (Adhere®), no RAP)
Figure	13-45:	Mixture Type: IV COE (Jefferson Surface Type C using Evotherm® WMA Chemical Additive, no RAP)
Figure	13-46:	Mixture Type: IV COF (Jefferson Surface Type C using WMA Foaming Technology, no RAP)
Figure	13-47:	Mixture Type: IV COG (Jefferson Surface Type C with Long-Term Aging, no RAP)
Figure	13-48:	Mixture Type: IV COM (Jefferson Surface Type C with LASA 1 (Morlife®), no RAP)

Figure	13-49:	Mixture Type: IV DO (Jefferson Surface Type D, n	o RAP) 479
Figure	13-50:	Mixture Type: IV D (Jefferson Surface Type D with	h RAP) 479
Figure	13-51:	Mixture Type: IV EO (Jefferson Surface Type E, no	o RAP) 479
Figure	13-52:	Mixture Type: IV E (Jefferson Surface Type E with	n RAP) 479
Figure	13-53:	Mixture Type: IV IAO (Jefferson Intermediate Type	be A, no RAP) 479
Figure	13-54:	Mixture Type: IV IA (Jefferson Intermediate Type	A with RAP) 479
Figure	13-55:	Mixture Type: IV IBO (Jefferson Intermediate Typ	e B, no RAP) 479
Figure	13-56:	Mixture Type: IV IB (Jefferson Intermediate Type	B with RAP) 479
Figure	13-57:	Mixture Type: IV ICO (Jefferson Intermediate Typ	e C, no RAP) 479
Figure	13-58:	Mixture Type: IV IC (Jefferson Intermediate Type	C with RAP) 479
Figure	13-59:	Mixture Type: IV SAO (Jefferson Base Type A, no	RAP) 479
Figure	13-60:	Mixture Type: IV SA (Jefferson Base Type A with	RAP) 479
Figure	13-61:	Mixture Type: IV SBO (Jefferson Base Type B, no	RAP) 479
Figure	13-62:	Mixture Type: IV SB (Jefferson Base Type B with	RAP) 479
Figure	13-63:	Mixture Type: V A (Liberty Surface Type A with F	RAP) 479
Figure	13-64:	Mixture Type: V AO (Liberty Surface Type A, no I	RAP) 479
Figure	13-65:	Mixture Type: V AG (Liberty Surface Type A with	Long-Term Aging and
		RAP)	
Figure	13-66:	Mixture Type: V AN (Liberty Surface Type A with RAP)	Asphalt Source 2 and
Figure	13-67:	Mixture Type: V AOG (Liberty Surface Type A wi no RAP)	th Long-Term Aging, 479
Figure	13-68:	Mixture Type: V AON (Liberty Surface Type A wi	th Asphalt Source 2, no
Figure	13-69:	Mixture Type: V BG (Liberty Surface Type B with RAP)	Long-Term Aging and
Figure	13-70:	Mixture Type: V BO (Liberty Surface Type B, no F	RAP) 479
Figure	13-71:	Mixture Type: V BN (Liberty Surface Type B with RAP)	Asphalt Source 2 and
Figure	13-72:	Mixture Type: V BOG (Liberty Surface Type B with no RAP)	th Long-Term Aging,
Figure	13-73:	Mixture Type: V BON (Liberty Surface Type B with RAP)	th Asphalt Source 2, no
Figure	13-74:	Mixture Type: V B (Liberty Surface Type B with R	AP) 479
Figure	13-75:	Mixture Type: V CA (Liberty Surface Type C with and RAP)	LASA 2 (Adhere®)

Figure 13-76	: Mixture Type: V CE (Liberty Surface Type C with Evotherm® WMA Chemical Additive and RAP)	'9
Figure 13-77	: Mixture Type: V CF (Liberty Surface Type C with WMA Foaming Technology and RAP)	'9
Figure 13-78	: Mixture Type: V CG (Liberty Surface Type C with Long-Term Aging and RAP)	l '9
Figure 13-79	: Mixture Type: V CM (Liberty Surface Type C with LASA 1 (Morlife®) and RAP)	'9
Figure 13-80	: Mixture Type: V CO (Liberty Surface Type C, no RAP) 47	9
Figure 13-81	: Mixture Type: V COA (Liberty Surface Type C with LASA 2 (Adhere®), no RAP)	'9
Figure 13-82	: Mixture Type: V COE (Liberty Surface Type C using Evotherm® WMA Chemical Additive, no RAP)	'9
Figure 13-83	: Mixture Type: V COF (Liberty Surface Type C using WMA Foaming Technology, no RAP)	'9
Figure 13-84	: Mixture Type: V COG (Liberty Surface Type C with Long-Term Aging, no RAP)	'9
Figure 13-85	: Mixture Type: V COM (Liberty Surface Type C with LASA 1 (Morlife®) no RAP)	, '9
Figure 13-86	: Mixture Type: V C (Liberty Surface Type C with RAP) 47	9
Figure 13-87	: Mixture Type: V DO (Liberty Surface Type D, no RAP) 47	9
Figure 13-88	: Mixture Type: V D (Liberty Surface Type D with RAP) 47	9
Figure 13-89	: Mixture Type: V EO (Liberty Surface Type E, no RAP) 47	9
Figure 13-90	: Mixture Type: V E (Liberty Surface Type E with RAP) 47	9
Figure 13-91	: Mixture Type: V IAO (Liberty Intermediate Type A, no RAP) 47	9
Figure 13-92	: Mixture Type: V IA (Liberty Intermediate Type A with RAP) 47	9
Figure 13-93	: Mixture Type: V IBO (Liberty Intermediate Type B, no RAP) 47	9
Figure 13-94	: Mixture Type: V IB (Liberty Intermediate Type B with RAP) 47	9
Figure 13-95	: Mixture Type: V ICO (Liberty Intermediate Type C, no RAP) 47	9
Figure 13-96	: Mixture Type: V IC (Liberty Intermediate Type C with RAP) 47	9
Figure 13-97	: Mixture Type: V SAO (Liberty Base Type A, no RAP) 47	9
Figure 13-98	: Mixture Type: V SA (Liberty Base Type A with RAP) 47	9
Figure 13-99	: Mixture Type: V SBO (Liberty Base Type B, no RAP) 47	9
Figure 13-10	0: Mixture Type: V SB (Liberty Base Type B with RAP) 47	9
Figure 13-10	1: Mixture Type: VI A (Rockingham Surface Type A with RAP)	9
Figure 13-10	2: Mixture Type: VI AO (Rockingham Surface Type A, no RAP) 47	9
xlviii		

Figure 13-103:	Mixture Type:	VI BO (Rockingham Surface Type B, no RAP	') 479
Figure 13-104:	Mixture Type:	VI B (Rockingham Surface Type B with RAP)	479
Figure 13-105:	Mixture Type:	VI CO (Rockingham Surface Type C, no RAP)) 479
Figure 13-106:	Mixture Type:	VI C (Rockingham Surface Type C with RAP)	479
Figure 13-107:	Mixture Type:	VI D (Rockingham Surface Type D with RAP)	479
Figure 13-108:	Mixture Type:	VII IB (Sandy Flats Intermediate B Special wi	th RAP)479

List of Tables

Table 1-1 AASHO Road Test Environmental Condition 1
Table 4-1 Superpave Mix Designs Selected for the Study 24
Table 4-2 Labels of Various Mixtures Used in This Study26
Table 4-3 Test Frequencies and Tested Temperatures 30
Table 4-4 Criteria for Flow Number of Various Mixture Types32
Table 6-1 Labels of Various Mixtures Used in This Study53
Table 6-2 Shift Factor Values of αT under Various Testing Temperatures
Table 6-3 Classification System of the Measured Value of Dynamic Modulus
Table 6-4 G* Values and Phase Angles of PG 76-22 at 4°C (39.2°F) 192
Table 6-5 G* Values and Phase Angles of PG 76-22 at 20°C (68°F) 192
Table 6-6 G* Values and Phase Angles of PG 76-22 at 45°C (113°F) 193
Table 6-7 G* Values and Phase Angles of PG 64-22 at 4°C (39.2°F) 193
Table 6-8 G* Values and Phase Angles of PG 64-22 at 20°C (68°F) 194
Table 6-9 G* Values and Phase Angles of PG 64-22 at 40°C (104°F) 194
Table 6-10 Typical Measured and Predicted Values of Dynamic Modulus of IA at 4°C
(39.2°F) based on Witczak model 195
Table 6-11 Typical Measured and Predicted Values of Dynamic Modulus of IA at 20°C
(68°F) based on Witczak model
Table 6-12 Typical Measured and Predicted Values of Dynamic Modulus of IA at 45°C(113°F) Based on Witczak model
Table 6-13 Typical Measured and Predicted Values of Dynamic Modulus of IA at 4°C (39.2°F) Based on Hirsch Model 202
Table 6-14 Typical Measured and Predicted Values of Dynamic Modulus of IA at 20°C
(68°F) Based on Hirsch Model
Table 6-15 Typical Measured and Predicted Values of Dynamic Modulus of IA at 40°C (104%E) Based on Himseh Madel
(104 F) Based on Hirsch Model
Table 6-16 Viscosity Values of Two Binders
(138.2°F) Based on Kaloush Model
Table 6-18 Criteria for Goodness of Fit Statistical Parameters 210
Table 6-19 Comparison of Dynamic Modulus Prediction Models 211
Table 6-20 Comparisons between the Initial and Modified Witczak Models 211
Table 6-21 Comparisons between the Initial and Modified Hirsch Models 213

1 Introduction

1.1 Problem Statement

In the United States, pavement design dates back to 1920s when several road tests were conducted to obtain some information regarding the performance of the pavements and the materials. However, in the late 1950s and early 1960s in Ottawa, Illinois, a Road Test was conducted by the American Association of State Highway Officials (AASHO). This test was the most comprehensive and most expensive test conducted to-date (\$27 million, 1960 dollars) to investigate the performance of pavement structures of known thickness under various loading conditions (AASHO, 1961). Some of the specifics of this test section, which eventually became part of I-80, are shown in Figure 1-1 and Figure 1-2 (Pavement Interactive). The Test Road's location represented a typical northern climate. Table 1-1 shows the environmental conditions associated with this project (Pavement Interactive). Many engineering properties were measured including, but not limited to: roughness, deflection, strain, and pavement serviceability index (PSI).

Average Mean Temperature (July)	24.5°C (76°F)
Average Mean Temperature (January)	-2.8°C (27°F)
Annual Average Rainfall	837 mm (34 inches)
Average Depth of Frost (for fine-grained soil)	711 mm (28 inches)

Table 1-1 AASHO Road Test Environmental Condition

This Road Test resulted in many new procedures, equations and concepts such as Pavement Serviceability, Equivalent Single Axle Load (ESAL), and Structural Number (SN). In addition, newly-developed design procedures with equations relating these concepts together ultimately became the AASHO-recommended design procedure (Huang, 1993). The Road Test data provided empirical relationships from which equations were developed between many factors (e.g., asphalt concrete slab thickness, load, axle type, and frequency of load). In 1961, based on the Road Test results, the AASHO Committee on Design published an interim Pavement Design Guide. The American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO) then published updated interim versions of the Pavement Design Guide in 1972 and 1981. However, no major changes were made to the flexible pavement design procedure in the interim guides (Huang, 1993; AASHTO, 1972 and 1981). The subcommittee of AASHTO on pavement design and other experts revised and expanded the guide during 1984 and 1985 and issued a new interim AASHTO Design Guide in 1986. This work was conducted under National Cooperative Highway Research Program (NCHRP) Project 20-7/24. The 1986 AASHTO Design Guide represented major changes to the original pavement performance model developed from the AASHO Road Test (AASHTO, 1986). During the next several years, many changes and enhancements were made in order to expand the model to be applicable to different climates, materials, and soils found around the country. Another revised version of the AASHTO Design Guide was published in 1993 (AASHTO, 1993).



Figure 1-1 Loops 5 and 6 of AASHO Road Test



Figure 1-2 Axel Weights and Distributions Used on Various Loops of AASHO Road Test

Many states around the country still use the 1972, 1986, or 1993 AASHTO Design Guides, which rely on empirical relationships between paving material properties and the structural performance of pavement layers that were developed based on the 1950's AASHO Road Test data. However, during the implementation of 1986 Design Guide, the need for and benefits of a mechanistically-based pavement design procedure were recognized. Therefore, the AASHTO Joint Task Force on Pavements (JTFP), the National Cooperative Highway Research Program (NCHRP), and the Federal Highway Association (FHWA) sponsored the development of an AASHTO M-E pavement design procedure. NCHRP Project 1-37A produced a guide that utilized existing mechanisticbased models and databases reflecting current state-of-the-art pavement design procedures. In 2004, the Mechanistic-Empirical Pavement Design Guide (MEPDG) was completed and ultimately released to the public for review and evaluation. Many states across the country, including South Carolina (SC), have begun implementation activities. Figure 1-3 shows a conceptual flow chart of three stages of design, analysis, and process of the MEPDG (Von Quintus and Moulthrop, 2007).



Figure 1-3 Conceptual Flow Chart of 3 Stages of Design, Analysis and Process of the MEPDG

Currently, the South Carolina Department of Transportation (SCDOT) engineers utilize AASHTO regression equation methodology (1972 and later with some modifications) to design flexible and rigid pavements. The SCDOT considered the extensive revisions made in 1986 and 1993; however, many practical problems in these revisions led the Department to continue with the 1972 procedures. For many years, SCDOT officials have considered adopting AASHTO's new mechanistic-empirical design guide; however, this will require extensive local calibration before it can reliably provide better results. SCDOT has estimated that this calibration period will take five to seven years, which is consistent with the calibration of the 1972 procedure. The calibration for the current design was conducted from 1964 to 1972 (SCDOT, 2008).

The input values for the 1972 Design Guide currently used by SCDOT include the following: Soil Support Value (SSV), Equivalent 18,000-lb Single Axle Loads (ESALs), Regional Factor (R), Terminal Serviceability (pt), and Coefficients of Relative Strength for various paving materials (ai). Many of these variables and values were obtained through many years of research and testing. Some of these variables may not be utilized in the new Design Guide.

1.2 Mechanistic Empirical Design Concept

The AASHTO pavement design procedures and concepts have served many highway agencies very well for many years even though many researchers reported on the shortcomings of the existing design procedures. Since the 1960s, many attempts have been made by several researchers around the country to shift from empirical design equations to a more scientific mechanistic-empirical (M-E) design scheme (Figure 1-4). In this concept, information on traffic and climate along with the mechanical properties of the pavement structure are utilized to more accurately analyze the pavement structure and predict its life.

Even though the M-E design somewhat relies on observed performance and empirical relationships, the design process is much more scientific in predicting the life of the pavement. In addition, this new system can incorporate new materials, different traffic distributions, and changing conditions of the pavement. This system also utilizes an analysis procedure that is used in an iterative manner. The design procedure is used to select the proper materials and layer thicknesses to provide the required and desired structural capacity of the pavement. Several considerations should be made, including the main load-related structural distresses: fatigue cracking and structural rutting.

The M-E design and analysis process, as shown in Figure 1-4, integrates several factors (e.g., the environmental conditions and material properties of the HMA) into the pavement structure. The next step is developing models of the structure using a

mechanical analysis program. Then, the pavement responses are calculated given the axle load and tire configuration. The pavement responses are then correlated to a cycle to failure (N) for each condition through empirically-derived transfer functions. The next step is calculating a damage factor for each particular condition by using the expected traffic or load cycles for the given design life (n). Using equation 1 (Miner's hypothesis), the damage for each condition is added together, where the failure criteria is reached when the ratio approaches unity:

 $D = \Sigma(ni/Ni)$

(Equation 1-1)

Where:

- n_i = Number of load applications at condition, *i*
- N_i = Number of load applications at failure for condition, *i*



Figure 1-4 Mechanistic-Empirical (M-E) Design Schematic

1.3 Advantages of the System

There are many advantages of a mechanistic-empirical pavement design method compared to the traditional empirical design concept including:

- It can be used for both existing pavement rehabilitation and new pavement construction
- It accommodates changing the types of loads on pavements
- It can better characterize materials since it allows for:
 - o Better utilization of available materials
 - o Accommodation of new materials
 - o A better characterization of existing layer properties

- o It uses material properties that relate better to actual pavement performance
- It provides better and more reliable performance predictions
- It considers the environmental and aging effects on materials

2 Scope of the Research Project

2.1 <u>Research Objectives</u>

The objective of this research was to characterize currently-used SC hot mix asphalt (HMA) mixtures and to develop a catalog for dynamic modulus value inputs to be used in the MEPDG software. The specific objectives for this proposed research project included:

- Determining the dynamic modulus (|E*|) and phase angle (δ) at various temperatures and frequencies, in both axial and indirect tension (IDT) modes for many mixtures used by SCDOT;
- Comparing the dynamic modulus test results from the axial and IDT modes;
- Determining the flow number (FN) values;
- Evaluating the performance of mixtures from master curves of |E*|;
- Validating the design models in |E*| prediction for local mixtures;
- Investigating the different parameters sensitive to variations in |E*|, as computed by the MEPDG software;
- Calibrating various prediction models in the MEPDG; and
- Limited evaluation of field cores using AMPT, if possible.

2.2 Significance of Work

For many years, SCDOT has used the AASHTO method of pavement design that was based on empirical data and was established many years ago. This design methodology and guidelines were utilized and are being used by the majority of the states around the country. However, many researchers and the federal government have completed research projects with the final result being a newly-developed pavement design program referred to as MEPDG. The proposed research findings, when implemented, will have a major impact on all aspects of SCDOT's activities. The findings will help all designers and engineers involved with flexible pavements to make the proper decisions based on scientific data obtained from this research work. The results of this research project will be used to establish a systematic method of rehabilitation techniques for pavements in SC. It is anticipated that the future pavement designs conducted by the Agency will be more complicated and comprehensive. However, this will provide longer-lasting pavements, which will save much-needed resources for the state (i.e., limited funding).

Many agencies, including SCDOT, are in the process of establishing a methodology to implement the proposed MEPDG program. Therefore, a thorough understanding of the properties and performance of all materials used in HMA mixtures in SC is necessary in

order to implement the proposed system. This concept will consider all factors including the economic factors affecting SC. Since limited research has been conducted in this area in SC, this research project was conducted to answer many of the concerns and to enable the Agency to establish an effective program. As a result, it was necessary to develop technical guidance for the MEPDG to help engineers and administrators understand the benefits and the feasibility of utilizing this program to save money for SCDOT.

2.3 Organization of the Report

The contents of this report have been divided into several sections (chapters). Chapter 3 contains the literature review for many topics studied in this research project. Chapter 4 describes the materials and experimental design used for this work. Chapter 5 describes the concept of various models used in the development of the final system. Chapter 6 contains the results of the research activities. Chapter 7 contains the conclusions and the recommendations for this research study. Chapter 8 includes a partial list of references studied during this investigation. Several appendices contain the laboratory or field testing results.

3 Literature Review

A comprehensive literature review was conducted to investigate the state-of-the-art programs around the country regarding this issue. Several State DOTs' experiences were reviewed and summarized in this report.

3.1 Definitions of Dynamic Modulus and Flow Number

Dynamic modulus ($|E^*|$) is the ratio of stress to strain under vibratory conditions. It is a property of viscoelastic materials, different from complex modulus (E^*), which defines the relationship between stress and strain for linear viscoelastic materials. In addition, the normal value of the complex modulus can be calculated by dividing the maximum (peak to peak) stress by the recoverable (peak to peak) axial strain from a material subjected to a sinusoidal loading (AASHTO T 342). Viscoelastic materials display characteristics somewhere in between that of purely viscous and purely elastic materials, exhibiting some phase lag in strain. The phase angle (δ) is the angle in degrees between a sinusoidal applied peak stress and the resulting peak strain in a controlled stress test (AASHTO T 342). The dynamic modulus test is one of the oldest mechanistic tests used to measure the fundamental properties of hot mix asphalt (HMA) mixtures (Witczak et al. 2002).

Dynamic modulus, commonly used for flexible pavement design, is one of the most important parameters needed for the Mechanistic Empirical Pavement Design Guide (MEPDG). In addition, the dynamic modulus is also one of the key parameters employed to evaluate both rutting and fatigue cracking distress predictions in the MEPDG. The dynamic modulus is the basic protocol for characterizing asphalt concrete mixtures used in several publications such as "The Asphalt Institute Airfield Design Procedure" (MS-11), "The Asphalt Institute Highway Design Procedure" (MS-11), and several technical manuals developed for use with designs for U.S. Air Force, Army, and Navy military airfield and highway installations (Harman, D. 2001).

One of the most significant advantages for using $|E^*|$ is that many researchers have conducted multiple testing programs and accumulated a wealth of knowledge for the output variables over the last 30 years. This continuously-expanding database was used as the basis for the development of a series of predictive models by Witczak (1996). The most recent versions of the predictive models are based on a database of 2,750 test data points from more than 200 different asphalt concrete mixtures, including a wide range of modified asphalts (Harman D. 2001).

The repeated load flow number (FN) test is a dynamic creep test where a haversine type of loading is applied with rest periods between loadings (AASHTO TP79-13). The

typical results between the measured permanent strain and the load cycle can be divided into three major zones, as shown in Figure 3-1. In the primary phase, the strain rate (slope of the permanent strain curve) decreases; in the secondary phase, the permanent strain rate is constant; and in the tertiary phase, the permanent strain rate dramatically increases. At low stress levels, the material may mainly exhibit primary and/or secondary permanent strain. In this case, the permanent strain rate may approach a value equal to zero as the total strain reaches a certain value. This also suggests that at this very low stress level, the tertiary flow region may never appear within a reasonable amount of time. At higher stress levels, the occurrence of the constant secondary permanent strain rate phase will depend on the stress level applied. A higher load repetition results in a higher flow number, and thus the asphalt pavement exhibits a better rutting resistance (Amirkhanian et al. 2014).



Figure 3-1 Permanent Deformation Responses of Asphalt Pavement Materials under Repeated Loading

3.2 Input of Dynamic Modulus and Flow Number

Before |E*| was adopted by the American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials (AASHTO) for the AASHTO 2002 Design Guide, at least 15 states evaluated $|E^*|$ to make sure that it was practical for use by the states and that it produced reliable and usable results.

The AASHO Committee on Design first published an interim design guide in 1961 based on the results obtained from the AASHO Road Test. The updated AASHO Design Guides were published in 1972 and 1981. The subcommittee on pavement design and a team of consultants revised and expanded the guide based on NCHRP Project 20-7/24 and then issued the AASHTO Design Guide in 1986, which represented a major extension of the original pavement performance model developed from the results of the AASHO Road Test (AASHTO 1981, 1986). Several extensions and enhancements of the 1986 design guide were made in an attempt to expand the applicability of the model to different climates, designs, materials, and soils that exist across the United States. In 1993, a revised version of the AASHTO Design Guide was published (AASHTO 1993, Mohammad et al. 2014).

Although many states in the United States are still using the traditional empirical-based pavement design procedures (AASHTO 1993) for flexible pavement design, some states have realized the advantages of the new MEPDG and are initiating the preparation efforts for the future implementation (Hall 2010 and Flintsch et al. 2008). In the 2002 Guide for Mechanistic-Empirical Design of New and Rehabilitated Pavement Structures, there are significant changes in relating material properties, traffic information, and the climatic impact to pavement distress models and long-term performance. Therefore, a thorough characterization of asphalt materials by each Agency, as well as obtaining appropriate input of fundamental material properties, is critical to the design of new and rehabilitated flexible pavements using the MEPDG.

The MEPDG is a new product resulting from the efforts initiated by the AASHTO Joint Task Force on Pavements and NCHRP to enhance and improve existing design procedures (NCHRP 1-37A). The models were calibrated using data from the long term pavement performance (LTPP) database for conditions representative of the entire U.S. The dynamic modulus is obtained from laboratory testing of asphalt mixtures or prediction equations. The computer software that accompanies the MEPDG provides general default parameters for the dynamic modulus. However, caution has already been issued by the National Cooperative Highway Research Program (NCHRP) researchers as to the appropriateness of these parameters for regional areas, as it was the case with the first Road Test parameters.

With the development and release of the Mechanistic Empirical Pavement Design Guide, MEPDG (NCHRP 1-37A), greater emphasis has been placed on hot mix asphalt (HMA) characterization, and in particular, the modulus or stiffness properties. The MEPDG uses HMA stiffness for various environmental conditions, traffic speeds, and other variables to calculate pavement strains, which are then used to predict pavement distresses. Currently, AASHTO T 342: Standard Method of Test for Determining Dynamic Modulus of Hot Mix Asphalt is recommended to determine the stiffness properties (Dynamic Modulus or Complex Modulus, |E*|) of HMA.

A master stiffness curve can reflect the dynamic modulus ($|E^*|$) values of one mixture. The $|E^*|$ master stiffness curve is a single curve that represents the asphalt material's stiffness relationship to loading frequency and temperature. This procedure is called Level 1 for the MEPDG and provides the most accurate distress predictions during the pavement design (Shen and Yu 2012). The dynamic modulus used in Level 1 is obtained by laboratory testing of asphalt mixtures, while prediction models are used to obtain the dynamic modulus in Level 2.

The measured |E*| values were also compared to that of the Witczak predictive equation and the Hirsch model. The Witczak predictive equation has been selected by the NCHRP researchers for the Level II and III design in the MEPDG. However, many researchers feel that perhaps the Hirsch model provides more accurate results. The Witczak predictive equation is based on the mix gradation, the asphalt binder viscosity properties, and the volumetric properties of the hot mix asphalt, while the Hirsch model is based on the asphalt binder stiffness (G*), the voids in mineral aggregate (VMA), and the voids filled with asphalt (VFA). The accuracy of the predictive equations should be compared to the measured laboratory results (Witczak 1996, 2002). Bhasin et al. (2005) indicated that caution must be exercised in interpreting rut susceptibility of mixtures based on dynamic modulus test parameters, especially when evaluating mixtures containing polymer-modified asphalts.

The parameter inputs of the MEPDG were developed based on a hierarchical approach (Mohammad et al. 2014). This hierarchical approach allows users to enter in project/material-specific information based on actual measured parameters (Level 1) or parameters based on Default and model predictions (Levels 2 and 3). For the most representative pavement distress predictions, it is recommended that state agencies and pavement designers try to utilize the Level 1 inputs. However, due to time constraints and lack of laboratory equipment and personnel as well as requiring a pavement design recommendation almost a year prior to the bidding of a project, many state agencies are relegated to using the Level 2 and/or Level 3 material inputs.

Ideally, the large increase in permanent strain generally occurs at a constant volume within the tertiary zone. The flow number is therefore defined as the postulated cycle when shear deformation under constant volume starts, indicating the start of tertiary flow in the mixture. Practically, the flow number can be determined as the load cycle at which the rate of the change of permanent strain reaches the minimum value. Factors affecting rutting vary since rutting is a complex phenomenon between aggregate, asphalt, and the

aggregate-asphalt interface. Additionally, the properties of those components change with the change of time, loading, and temperature (Witczak 2007).

Several testing methods have been proposed by Witczak et al. (2007) for evaluating rutting resistance, including the dynamic modulus (|E*|) test, flow number (Fn) test, and flow time (Ft) test. Particularly, the flow number test was found to correlate with field rut depth as verified by field projects at MNRoad, Westrack, and the FHWA Pavement Testing Facility in the NCHRP Project 9-19 (Witczak 2007). During the NCHRP Project 9-19, the relationship between the reduced flow number and field rut depth at a specific traffic level were studied. Many prediction models were recently developed by some researchers (Kaloush 2001, Witczak, et al. 2002, Kvasnak et al. 2007, Christensen 2009). These models demonstrated the strong correlation between the flow number and the field rutting performance of the pavements. The flow number test is thus recommended to be used for evaluating the rutting potential of asphalt mixtures.

Baus and Stires reported that the SCDOT designed flexible and rigid pavement structures using AASHTO regression equation methodology (1972 and later with some modifications) and that implementation of the MEPDG procedures at the SCDOT would require significant time and resources. Effective use of new MEPDG procedures would require material and traffic databases beyond Level 3 and MEPDG default information currently available at the SCDOT. A better understanding of MEPDG climatic models was also needed. Immediate adoption of the MEPDG using only Level 3 and default inputs with current prediction models calibrated with limited national database information was not advised (Baus and Stires, 2010).

3.3 Tests of Dynamic Modulus and Flow Number

The dynamic modulus can be measured on most servo-hydraulic testing machines capable of producing a controlled, sinusoidal (haversine) compressive load. The testing machine should have the capability of applying a load over a range of frequencies from 0.1 to 25 Hz and a stress level up to 2,800 kPa (400 psi). For sinusoidal loads, the standard error of the applied load shall be less than 5% (AASHTO T342). An environmental chamber is also required to condition the test specimens at different temperatures. The environmental chamber shall be capable of controlling the temperature of the specimen over a temperature range from -10° C to 60° C (14° F to 140° F) with an accuracy of $\pm 0.5^{\circ}$ C (1° F). The system shall be fully computer controlled, capable of measuring and recording the time history of the applied load and the axial deformations, and have a resolution of 0.5 percent. Figure 3-2 shows some of the different types of testing machines utilized for measuring the dynamic modulus of HMA specimens.



Figure 3-2 Different Testing Machines Used to Measure the Dynamic Modulus of Hot Mix Asphalt (adapted from Bennert 2009)

Dynamic modulus testing is performed on test specimens cored from 150-mm (6 in) gyratory-compacted mixtures. The average diameter of the test specimens must be between 100 and 104 mm (3.94 and 4.1 in) with a standard deviation of 1.0 mm (0.04 in). The average height of the test specimen must be between 147.5 and 152.5 mm (5.81 and 6.00 in). In addition, the laboratory prepared specimens must be conditioned for 4-hour according to AASHTO R 30 (AASHTO T 342). The number of replicates required depends on the number of strain measurements made per specimen and the desired accuracy of the average dynamic modulus.

The specimen can be tested at a temperature setting in accordance with the demand of research. However, the test series for the development of master curves for pavement response and performance analysis is conducted at -10, 4.4, 21.1, 37.8, and 54°C (14, 40, 70, 100, and 130°F) at loading frequencies of 0.1, 0.5, 1.0, 5, 10, and 25 Hz at each temperature. Each specimen is tested for each of the 30 combinations of temperature and frequency of loading, starting with the lowest temperature and then proceeding to the highest temperature and the highest frequency to the lowest. Dynamic modulus testing may be performed in either axial mode or indirect tension (IDT) mode. Research has shown that there is a strong correlation between dynamic modulus values obtained through axial and IDT testing (Mohammad et al. 2014; Kim et al. 2004).

The flow number test (FN) is a repeated-load permanent deformation test that was found to correlate with field rut depths and is recommended by the NCHRP Reports 465 and

580 as a testing method to evaluate the rutting potential of asphalt mixtures (Witczak 2002; Witczak 2007). Tests are performed by applying a uniaxial compressive load to a cored cylindrical specimen which has the same geometry as a dynamic modulus sample. In the flow number test, the compressive load is applied in haversine form with a loading time of 0.1 seconds and a rest duration of 0.9 seconds for a maximum of 10,000 cycles or until a deformation of 50,000 microstrains is reached. A deviatorical stress of 600 kPa is applied to the specimen until the flow point is reached. The flow point represents failure of the specimen, as evidenced by an increasing rate of total permanent strain during the test. Flow number tests are run at the average 7-day maximum pavement temperature 20 mm from the surface at 50 % reliability as determined using LTPPBind version 3.1. Flow number testing is performed at a 0 kPa confining pressure state. Because the dynamic modulus test is considered non-destructive, the samples can be reused in the unconfined flow number evaluation (AASHTO TP79-13; Shen and Yu 2012).

3.4 Impacts on Dynamic Modulus and Flow Number

With the dynamic modulus being one of the prime material inputs required for flexible pavement design/evaluation in the MEPDG, numerous researchers have explored the various factors affecting the dynamic modulus properties, which include aggregate gradation, asphalt binder stiffness, and mixture volumetrics (AASHTO TP62-07; Bonaquist 2008; Bonaquist and Christensen 2005; Christensen et al. 2003; AASHTO T322-07). These studies have also led to different methodologies to predict the dynamic modulus based on these material properties (NCHRP 1-37A; AASHTO T342; King 2004; Shah et al. 2005; Tran and Hall 2006; Birgisson and Roque 2005).

Baus and Stires indicated that the use of MEPDG procedures in SC would require local calibration of each pavement distress prediction. For new flexible pavement structures, this includes: rutting (asphaltic concrete layers; unbound base, subbase, and subgrade layers; and total rut depth), fatigue cracking (surface-down longitudinal cracking and bottom-up alligator cracking), transverse (thermal) cracking, and IRI prediction. The current MEPDG prediction model for surface-down (longitudinal cracking) was known to be unreliable (Baus and Stires, 2010).

Dougan et al. (2003) found that for a single test speed, temperature, and type of aggregate, different $|E^*|$ values were produced when the type binder was changed. The variation is, in part, due to the stress levels used. As $|E^*|$ is inversely related to strain, the 50 to 150 micron strain range permits a wide range of stress levels and a wide range of $|E^*|$ results.

Cross et al. (2007) reported that:

- The presence of 25% RAP in a mixture had a significant effect on measured dynamic modulus.
- The nominal aggregate size did not have a significant effect on measured dynamic modulus.
- PG binder grade, test temperature, and test frequency had a significant effect on measured dynamic modulus.
- Aggregate type did not have a significant effect on measured dynamic modulus.
- The region of the state where the mix was produced and placed did not have a significant effect on measured dynamic modulus.

Yu (2012) indicated that adding shingles to asphalt mixtures requires an increase in δ and b values and a decrease in the α value in the 1999 and 2006 Witczak models for improved prediction of $|E^*|$ values. The 2006 Witczak Model tends to overestimate $|E^*|$ values for mixes containing RAS. The master curves constructed on that model predicted $|E^*|$ values that closely conformed to the master curves constructed on the laboratory tested $|E^*|$ values at low temperatures, while the master curves diverged at higher temperatures. Birgisson et al. (2005) indicated in their study that different binder viscosity measuring methods on the 1999 Witczak Model led to underestimating $|E^*|$ values.

Shen and Yu (2012) considered that both a modified Hirsch model and a modified flow number prediction model were recommended for future usage to evaluate conventional dense-graded asphalt mixtures for Washington State. Their findings are as follows:

- Air voids had significant impact on both dynamic modulus and flow numbers. The higher the air voids were, the lower the dynamic modulus and flow number values were. The impact of air voids on dynamic modulus was more clear at high $|E^*|$ levels (low temperature and high frequency).
- Binder properties, especially the high PG grade, had a significant influence on the dynamic modulus at low |E*| levels (high temperature and low frequency) and flow numbers.
- Aggregate gradation had some impact on the dynamic modulus and flow number of asphalt mixtures. However, the trend of gradation impact was not clear.
- The properties of asphalt mastic had a significant impact on the dynamic modulus
 of asphalt mixtures. When introducing such a property into the modified Hirsch
 model, the prediction results of |E*| were greatly improved. Based on this finding,
 a modified Hirsch model was proposed for predicting the dynamic modulus of
 Washington mixes.
- A flow number prediction model was locally calibrated for Washington State. It correlates the flow number with the volumetric properties, binder type, and test temperature of the mix. Reasonable prediction results have been achieved for conventional mixes (PG 70-28, PG 64-28 and PG 64-22 binder mixes). However, it has not proven applicable for highly polymer-modified mixes, such as PG76-28.

Mohammad et al. (2014) indicated that dynamic modulus was sensitive to the design traffic level, nominal maximum aggregate size, and the high temperature performance grade of the binder. Mixtures designed for higher traffic levels with larger aggregate and higher grade binder tended to have higher dynamic modulus values at high temperature. The MEPDG simulations carried out using the "nationally-calibrated" default calibration factors overestimated the rut predictions by a significant amount. In addition, both the Witczak and Hirsch models predicted dynamic modulus with reasonable accuracy. Dynamic modulus test results obtained from axial and IDT modes showed no statistical differences for the majority of the mixtures tested.

The research completed by Amirkhanian et al. (2014) indicated that the increased frequency resulted in an increase of $|E^*|$ value regardless of polymer type, such as ground tire rubber (GTR), SBS, plastomer, elastomers, etc. The dynamic modulus and flow numbers of various mixtures containing various modified binders, two different aggregate sources, and three ASAs were investigated using the Asphalt Material Performance Tester (AMPT), and the conclusions are shown below:

- With the exception of one case (aggregate II, lime, and lab-blended GTR), all other flow numbers were greater than 50, which is the AASHTO criteria set for a traffic loading of 3 million to less than 10 million ESALs.
- The flow numbers of samples made with aggregate source I, different antistripping additives (ASAs), and SBS produced flow numbers that were greater than 190, which is the AASHTO requirement for a traffic loading of 10 million to less than 30 million ESALs.
- The samples made with aggregate source II, different ASAs, and SBS produced only one case of a flow number greater than 190.
- In general, there was no clear trend regarding the flow numbers. For example, samples made with aggregate source I, terminally-blended GTR, and all ASAs produced flow numbers that were all greater than 190; however, none of the flow numbers for aggregate source II for those same mixtures produced any values greater than 110. In most cases, the flow numbers for aggregate source I were greater than those of aggregate source II.
- In the laboratory results from several plant-produced mixtures, flow number results indicated that the mixture containing a liquid ASA might have the weakest resistance to permanent deformation. Additionally, APA rut depth results showed similar trends to the flow number test results in their research.
- The increase of frequency resulted in an increase of dynamic modulus and a reduction of phase angle at the testing temperatures of 4°C (39.2°F) and 20°C (68°F), but it resulted in an increase of phase angle at 45°C (113°F) regardless of mixture type, aggregate source, and ASA type.
- The dynamic modulus values were comparable for the various mixtures. There were some differences in phase angles when tested at a higher temperature.

• Flow numbers were slightly different in general when using different aggregate sources, liquid ASAs or Surface Course mixture types (Amirkhanian et al. 2014).
4 Materials and Experimental Design

4.1 Materials, Sample Fabrication and Test Procedures

4.1.1 Materials

In this study, seven aggregate sources were selected from different quarries in various regions of SC, where aggregate suppliers provided the materials to asphalt contractors to produce the asphalt mixtures. These aggregate sources are all on the SC qualified products list (QPL) and meet the requirements of specifications set by SCDOT. The aggregate sources included quarries in Augusta, Blacksburg, Columbia, Jefferson, Liberty, Rockingham, and Sandy Flats, which were referred to as I, II, III, IV, V, VI, and VII, respectively, in this report. The main mechanical properties of these aggregate sources can be found on SCDOT's website (http://info2.scdot.org/Materials/QualProd/2%20QPL.pdf).

In addition, two asphalt binder sources, Associated Asphalt and Axeon, were selected to yield the asphalt mixtures. The appropriate binder grades (either PG 64-22 or PG 76-22) specified for the particular mix types according to SCDOT specifications were used for each of these sources. PG 76-22 binder is utilized in SC for heavy traffic pavement (Surface Type A), while PG 64-22 binder is used to produce mixtures for Surface Types B, C, D, and E; Intermediate Types A, B, and C; and Base Types A and B.

The utilization of reclaimed asphalt pavement (RAP) was based on currently-approved field Superpave mix designs, or job mix formulas (JMFs). These field mix designs had been designed by contractors with their selected RAP contents (meeting SCDOT specifications) and were approved by SCDOT for use in SC at the time of this project. The RAP materials used to produce the mixtures in the laboratory for this study were collected from the same asphalt plants where the aggregates were obtained. These RAP materials were typically categorized into three types including, +No. 4 RAP, -No. 4 RAP, and non-fractionated RAP. In addition, the aged binder percentage of each RAP source was obtained using an ignition oven at the asphalt plant from which each RAP source was obtained.

In this research, a warm mix asphalt (WMA) chemical additive, Evotherm®, was utilized to yield Surface Type C mixtures made with aggregate sources IV and V at relatively low mixing and compaction temperatures. Meanwhile, WMA foaming technology was also employed to produce Surface Type C mixtures for the same aggregate sources. These two WMA technologies were both on the SCDOT-approved QPL and were selected for this

project because they were the most commonly-used WMA technologies in SC at the time of this project.

Two SCDOT-approved liquid anti-stripping additives (ASA), Adhere® and Morlife®, were used to produce mixtures using aggregates IV and V to make samples for Surface Type C mixtures, both with and without RAP. At the time of this study, SCDOT did not allow for the use of liquid ASAs in the highest traffic volume mixes like Surface Types A and B, but these two liquid ASAs were allowed for use in other mix types intended for lower traffic volumes. At the time of this project, Surface Type C (intended for use on high-volume secondary routes) was the highest traffic volume mix that also allowed for the use of liquid ASAs according the SCDOT requirements.

In addition, Surface Types A, B, and C containing aggregate sources IV and V both with and without RAP were used to investigate the aging resistance of asphalt mixtures based on a long-term aging procedure (AASHTO R30). These samples were fabricated in the same way as the samples without the aging process.

The Steering and Implementation Committee requested that an additional mixture type, Intermediate Type B Special, be added for analysis in the project. This mixture type utilizes PG 64-22 binder and the same chemical WMA additive (Evotherm®) that was used in the Surface Type C mixtures in this project. Mix designs were available for two aggregate sources (i.e., II and VII) for the Intermediate Type B Special mix type. It should be noted that the aggregate source VII was solely used in this project for the Intermediate Type B Special mixtures.

To characterize the dynamic modulus value and phase angle as well as flow number of various mixtures in SC, many Superpave mix designs were selected by the Steering Committee to investigate these properties. For this research project, seventy six (76) Superpave mix designs (job mix formulas or JMFs) were utilized involving the following materials: seven aggregate sources; various mix types (e.g., Surface, Intermediate and Base); RAP and non-RAP mixtures; 2 liquid ASAs; and 2 WMA technologies. In this study, most of the mix designs included RAP in order to reflect what was being utilized in actual paving projects in SC at the time of the project. These Superpave mix designs were collected from various contractors and had recently been used in paving many highways around SC. The Superpave mix designs used in this research project are shown in Table 4-1.

4.1.2 Sample Fabrication

In this research, all dynamic modulus samples were fabricated by Superpave gyratory compactor according to the job mix formula. The combined gradation of the aggregate

and RAP source for each job mix formula (JMF) met the requirements of the lower and upper gradation specification ranges set by SCDOT. The optimum asphalt binder content of each mixture was in the range of 4.5-6.5% with an air void range of 3.5-4.5%, and all JMFs met SCDOT requirements for optimum binder content and air voids. However, Superpave mix designs of some Surface Course types (i.e., Types D and E) were not available from SCDOT. Thus, based on experience and input from SCDOT officials, an optimum asphalt binder content of 6.0% was selected for these mixtures. However, the stability was tested for these samples at three asphalt binder contents to verify the mixture properties prior to dynamic modulus and flow number testing.

The specimens of all mixtures were compacted (150 mm in diameter and 170 mm in height) in the laboratory according to the JMF. The stored asphalt mixtures were subjected to short-term aging in an oven at compaction temperature for 2 hours before completing the compaction process. These compacted samples were later cored and sawed from the center into the dimensions of 100 mm in diameter and 150 mm in height, as shown in Figure 4-1. The bulk specific gravities and air void contents for each test specimen were measured in accordance with AASHTO T-269.

RAP	Mix type	Aggre	egate Sc	ource				
IV II	with type	Ι	II	III	IV	V	VI	VII
	Surface A	\checkmark	$\sqrt{\sqrt{1}}$	$\sqrt{\sqrt{1}}$	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	-
	Surface B	$\sqrt{}$	\checkmark		V	\checkmark	\checkmark	-
	Surface C	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	-
	Surface D	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	-
With RAP	Surface E	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	-
	Intermediate A	-	-	-	\checkmark	\checkmark	-	-
	Intermediate B	-	-	-	\checkmark	\checkmark	-	-
	Intermediate B Special	-	\checkmark	-	-	-	-	\checkmark
	Intermediate C	-	-	-	\checkmark	\checkmark	-	-
	Base A	-	-	-	\checkmark	\checkmark	-	-
	Base B	-	-	-	\checkmark	\checkmark	-	-
	Surface A	-	-	-	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	-
	Surface B	-	-	-	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	-
	Surface C	-	-	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	-
	Surface D	-	-	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	-
No RAP	Surface E	\checkmark	-	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark	-
	Intermediate A	-	-	-	\checkmark	\checkmark	-	-
	Intermediate B	-	-	-	\checkmark	\checkmark	-	-
	Intermediate C	-	-	-	\checkmark	\checkmark	-	-
	Base A	-	-	-	\checkmark	\checkmark	-	-
	Base B	-	-	-	\checkmark	\checkmark	-	-

Table 4-1 Superpave Mix Designs Selected for the Study

Notes: I~*VII: aggregate source;* $A \sim E$ *: mix type;* $\sqrt{}$ *: Superpave mix design utilized, Two mix designs were referred to as 1 and 2; -: Not utilized or mix design not available*



(a) (b) Figure 4-1 (a) Core Machine; (b) Cored Samples

It should be noted that when the samples from Surface Types D and E were compacted, they were difficult to eject from the mold immediately after compaction without damaging the samples due to their fine gradations. Thus, the samples were left to be cooled in the mold for a short time before they were ejected.

In addition, when liquid ASAs were used to produce samples, these liquid ASAs were first homogeneously blended with the asphalt binder at the dosage recommended by the suppliers. A similar method was used for the WMA mixtures. Additionally, in terms of long-term aging impact, some samples from aggregate sources IV and V were aged in an oven for 5 days at 85°C in accordance with AASHTO R30. Three samples for each mixture in this study were prepared for the dynamic modulus and flow number tests according to the specifications described in AASHTO TP 79. Table 4-2 shows the labels of each mixture used in this research project.

RAP	Mixture	Other	Aggre	Aggregate Source							
IX II	type	Variable	Ι	II	III	IV	V	VI	VII		
	Surface A		IA	II A1, II A2	III A1, III A2	IV A	V A	VI A	-		
	Surface B		I B1, I B2	II B	III B1 III B2	IV B	V B	VI B	-		
	Surface C		IC	II C	III C	IV C	V C	VIC	-		
	Surface D		ID	II D	III D	IV D	V D	VI D	-		
	Surface E		ΙE	II E	III E	IV E	VE	VIE	-		
	Intermediate A		-	-	-	IV IA	V IA	-	-		
	Intermediate B		-	-	-	IV IB	V IB	-	-		
With	Intermediate B Special		-	II IB	-	-	-	-	VII IB		
KAP	Intermediate C		-	-	-	IV IC	V IC	-	-		
	Base A		-	-	-	IV SA	V SA	-	-		
	Base B		-	-	-	IV SB	V SB	-	-		
	Surface A	PG 76-22 binder source 2	-	-	-	IV AN	V AN	-	-		
	Surface B	PG 64-22 binder source 2	-	-	-	IV BN	V BN	-	-		
	Surface C	WMA Chemical Additive	-	-	-	IV CE	V CE	-	-		
	Surface C	WMA Foaming	-	-	-	IV CF	V CF	-	-		

Table 4-2 Labels of Various Mixtures Used in This Study

RAP	Mixture Type	Other Variable	Aggre	Aggregate Source							
	Туре	Variable	Ι	II	III	IV	V	VI	VII		
	Surface C	Liquid ASA1	-	-	-	IV CM	V CM	-	-		
	Surface C	Liquid ASA2	-	-	-	IV CA	V CA	-	-		
With RAP	Surface A - aging	PG 76-22 binder source 1	-	-	-	IV AG	V AG	-	-		
	Surface B - aging	PG 64-22 binder source 1	-	-	-	IV BG	V BG	-	-		
	Surface C - aging	PG 64-22 binder source 1	-	-	-	IV CG	V CG	-	-		
	Surface A		-	-	-	IV AO	V AO	VI AO	-		
	Surface B		-	-	-	IV BO	V BO	VI BO	-		
	Surface C		-	-	III CO	IF CO	V CO	VI CO	-		
	Surface D		-	-	III DO	IV DO	V DO	VI DO	-		
No	Surface E		I EO	-	III EO	IV EO	V EO	VI EO	-		
RAP	Intermediate A		-	-	-	IV IAO	V IAO	-	-		
	Intermediate B		-	-	-	IV IBO	V IBO	-	-		
	Intermediate C		-	-	-	IV ICO	V ICO	-	-		
	Base A		-	-	-	IV SAO	V SAO	-	-		
	Base B		-	-	-	IV SBO	V SBO	-	-		

RAP	Mixture	Other Variable	Aggre	gate Sou	rce				
iu ii	Туре		Ι	II	III	IV	V	VI	VII
	Surface A	PG 76-22 binder source 2	-	-	-	IV AON	V AON	-	-
	Surface B	PG 64-22 binder source 2	-	-	-	IV BON	V BON	-	-
	Surface C	WMA Chemical Additive	-	-	-	IV COE	V COE	-	_
	Surface C	WMA Foaming	-	-	-	IV COF	V COF	-	-
No RAP	Surface C	Liquid ASA1	-	-	-	IV COM	V COM	-	-
	Surface C	Liquid ASA2	-	-	-	IV COA	V COA	-	-
	Surface A - aging	PG 76-22 binder source 1	-	-	-	IV AOG	V AOG	-	-
	Surface B - aging	PG 64-22 binder source 1	-	-	-	IV BOG	V BOG	-	-
	Surface C - aging	PG 64-22 binder source 1	-	-	-	IV COG	V COG	-	-

Notes: All mixtures used binder from source 1 except that those were defined in this Table. In addition, all Surface Type A mixtures used PG 76-22 binder. All other mixtures used PG 64-22 binder.

4.1.3 Dynamic Modulus Test

Each dynamic modulus test specimen was cored to a dimension of 100 mm (4.0 in) in diameter and 150 mm (6.0 in) in height. The procedures for dynamic modulus tests outlined in NCHRP report 614 (Bonaquist, 2008) and AASHTO TP62 were used. The preparation is described below:

- Selected and marked six targets within the surface of the specimen and used epoxy for placing LVDTs, which were used to measure the strains of three sides of samples;
- Conditioned the specimen to the set testing temperature;
- Placed one rubber membrane on each end of the specimen, and placed the spherical stainless steel ball at the center of the top platens after proper conditioning;
- Placed the specimen and the platens inside the environmental chamber on the loading pedestal;
- Placed LVDTs on the specimen, and adjusted them to allow the full range of the LVDTs to be available for the measurement of deformation; and
- Set the chamber temperature to the specific value, and allowed the specimen to be conditioned for the required time in the chamber.

As shown in Table 4-3, each dynamic modulus sample was tested under various frequencies and four temperatures (4°C (39.2°F), 20°C (68°F), and 40°C (104°F) for the PG 64-22 mixtures; 45°C(113°F) for the PG 76-22 mixtures). Based on recommendations from the SCDOT Steering Committee, three replicates were tested for each mixture included in this study.

	Test temperature										
Frequency (Hz)	4C (39.2F)	20C (68F)	40C (104F)	45C (113F)*							
25			-	-							
20		\checkmark	-	-							
10		\checkmark	\checkmark	\checkmark							
5			\checkmark	\checkmark							
2			\checkmark	\checkmark							
1			\checkmark	\checkmark							
0.5			\checkmark	\checkmark							
0.2			\checkmark	\checkmark							
0.1				\checkmark							
0.01	-	-	\checkmark	\checkmark							

Table 4-3 Test Frequencies and Tested Temperatures

Notes: * Tested temperature for PG 76-22 mixtures only.

The IPC Asphalt Mixture Performance Tester (AMPT), also called Simple Performance Tester, was utilized to test all specimens to get the dynamic modulus values, flow number values, and flow times. The test equipment and a typical sample testing apparatus are shown in Figure 4-2.



Figure 4-2 (a) AMPT Test Machine; (b) Tested Sample in Chamber

4.1.4 Flow Test

It is well known that the flow number test (FN) is a repeated-load permanent deformation test, which was found to be able to correlate with the field rut depths and is recommended by the NCHRP Report 465 (Witczak 2002) and NCHRP Report 580 (Witczak 2007) as a testing method to evaluate the rutting potential of the mixtures. This test was performed for all mixtures after the dynamic modulus tests were completed. According to LTPPBind version 3.1, the test temperature for flow number in SC was set at 59°C (138.2°F). Thus, all flow number test results were based on the temperature at 59°C (138.2°F), which is not same as the asphalt pavement analyzer (APA) test or the Hamburg Wheel test.

AASHTO TP 79 indicates that the compressive load of the flow number test is applied in haversine form with a loading time of 0.1 seconds and a rest duration of 0.9 seconds for a maximum of 10,000 cycles or until a deformation of 50,000 microstrains is reached. Typically, a deviator stress of 600 kPa is applied to the specimen until the flow point is reached. Flow number testing was performed at 600 kPa confining pressure state. The recommended flow numbers for various mixtures in AASHO TP 79 are shown in Table 4-4.

Traffic Level, million ESALs	HMA Minimum Average Flow Number	WMA Minimum Average Flow Number
< 3		
3 to < 10	50	30
10 to < 30	190	105
≥ 30	740	415

Table 4-4 Criteria for Flow Number of Various Mixture Types

4.2 Experimental Design

The objectives of this research were achieved through a coordinated series of laboratory experiments to assess the dynamic modulus and flow number (FN) characteristics of mixtures used in SC pavements for the regional calibrations of the MEPDG system. The project work plan was finalized with input from SCDOT officials. The recommended changes to the evaluation procedures for the asphalt mixtures and additives tested are provided to SCDOT in this final report. The experimental design for various phases of this research project included the following items:

- Dynamic modulus (|E*|) and flow number (FN) values of all of the types of asphalt Surface Course mixtures used in SC that are considered to have structural value were evaluated. In this phase, different aggregate sources, RAP percentages (based on the current implementation in the field), and the required binder grades from SCDOT specifications (PG 76-22 and PG 64-22) were used to evaluate the mixes. The optimum asphalt binder contents determined by Superpave mix design procedures were obtained through approved job mix formula (JMF) data provided by the project Steering Committee.
- |E*| and FN values of all types of asphalt Intermediate Course mixtures used in SC were evaluated. In this phase, various aggregate types and RAP percentages were utilized. The optimum binder contents used in this project and any adjustments made to the mixes (e.g., RAP percentages) were either obtained from JMF data provided by the Steering Committee or decided based on input from the Steering Committee.
- |E*| and FN values of two types of asphalt Base Course mixtures used in SC were evaluated. In this phase of the research, various aggregate types and RAP percentages used in the field were evaluated.
- Research on the impact of binder sources (two different grades and sources) on $|E^*|$ and FN values of mixtures were conducted.
- Investigations of |E*| and FN values of mixtures using two typical warm mix asphalt technologies (chemical additive and foaming) containing various aggregate types and RAP percentages were completed.

- Assessments of |E*| and FN values of mixtures containing two typical liquid antistripping agents (ASAs) (Morlife® and Adhere®) were completed.
- Studies were conducted of |E*| and FN values of mixtures after conditioning through a long-term aging procedure (AASTHO R30).
- Calibration and development of dynamic modulus and flow number predictive models (including Witczak and Hirsch models) from MEPDG based on the data obtained from this study were finalized.

4.2.1 Evaluation of Surface Course Mixtures

This phase of the study included the evaluation of the six Surface Course mixture types used in SC that are considered to have structural value. Six aggregate sources (Liberty, Rock Hill, Jefferson, Columbia, Augusta, and Blacksburg) were selected from varying regions of SC, and two RAP contents were used (0% and the % RAP in each job mix formula provided by SCDOT). Binder source 1 was used for this phase of the project. According to SCDOT specifications, PG 76-22 binder was used for the Surface Type A mixtures, and PG 64-22 binder was used for the Surface Types B through E. The dynamic modulus and flow number tests were performed in accordance with AASHTO TP 62/AASHTO TP 79. A detailed flowchart of the experimental design for this portion of the research work is shown in Figure 4-3. The number of samples for each test and the entire experimental testing system were discussed and approved by the Steering Committee before initiating the work.





Figure 4-3 Experimental Flow Chart for Surface Mixtures

4.2.2 Evaluation of Intermediate Course Mixtures

This research also included the evaluation of all Intermediate Course mixture types used in SC. Two aggregate sources (IV and V) were selected from different regions of SC, and two RAP contents were used (0% and the % RAP in each approved job mix formula). Binder source 1 was also used for this phase of the project, and only PG 64-22 binder was used for the Intermediate Course mixtures per SCDOT specifications. In addition, two additional aggregate sources (II and VII) were used to produce samples for one new mixture type (Intermediate Type B Special) based on recommendations from the Steering Committee. These mixtures contained PG 64-22 binder like the regular Intermediate mixture types; however, they also contained Evotherm® WMA additive. In addition, these Intermediate Type B Special samples all contained the % RAP from their respective mix designs. The dynamic modulus and flow number tests were performed in accordance with AASHTO TP 62/AASHTO PP 62/AASHTO TP 79. A detailed flowchart of the experimental design is shown in Figure 4-4. The number of samples for each test and the entire experimental testing system were discussed and approved by the Steering Committee.



Notes: 1~ RAP Contents Based on RAP in Each Job Mix Formula; 2~ 4°C (39.2°F), 20°C (68°F) and 40°C (104°F) (45°C (113°F) for PG 76-22 mixture)

Figure 4-4 Experimental Flow Chart for Intermediate Mixtures

4.2.3 Evaluation of Base Course Mixtures

This study also included the evaluation of two Base Course mixture types used in SC. The types of mixtures selected (Base Types A and B) are used for interstate, primary, and secondary routes in SC. Two aggregate sources (IV and V) were selected from different regions of SC, and two RAP contents were used (0% and the % RAP in each approved job mix formula). Binder source 1 was also used for this phase of the project, and only PG 64-22 binder was used for the Base Course mixtures per SCDOT specifications. The dynamic modulus and flow number tests were performed in accordance with AASHTO TP 62/AASHTO PP 62/AASHTO TP 79. A detailed flowchart of the full range of testing is shown in Figure 4-5. The number of samples for each test and the entire experimental testing system were discussed and approved by the Steering Committee.



Notes: 1~ RAP Contents Based on RAP in Each Job Mix Formula; 2~ 4°C (39.2°F), 20°C (68°F) and 40°C (104°F) (45°C (113°F) for PG 76-22 mixture)



4.2.4 Evaluation of Binder Source

The research plan also included the evaluation of two binder sources used in SC. For this phase of the project, Surface Types A and B were selected. Both mixture types were made using two aggregate sources (IV and V) from different regions of SC and the % RAP specified in each approved job mix formula. All mixture types, RAP contents, and material sources were selected based on guidance from SCDOT. PG 76-22 binder was used for Surface Type A and PG 64-22 binder was used for Surface Type B according to SCDOT specifications. Both binders in this portion came from binder source 2 (Axeon). The results were then compared to samples made earlier in the project with the same aggregate sources (IV and V) and binder source 1 (Associated Asphalt). The dynamic modulus and flow number tests were performed in accordance with AASHTO TP 62/AASHTO PP 62/AASHTO TP 79. A detailed flowchart of the full potential range of testing is shown in Figure 4-6. The number of samples for each test and the entire experimental testing system were discussed and approved by the Steering Committee.



Notes: 1~ RAP Contents Based on RAP in Each Job Mix Formula; 2~ 4°C (39.2°F), 20°C (68°F) and 40°C (104°F) (45°C (113°F) for PG 76-22 mixture)

Figure 4-6 Experimental Flow Chart for Effect of Binder Source

4.2.5 Evaluation of Warm Mix Asphalt (WMA) Types

This study also included the evaluation of two types of warm mix asphalt (WMA) used in SC. One mixture type (Surface Type C), one binder source (source 1) and two aggregate sources (IV and V) were selected for this phase, and the % RAP in each approved job mix formula was utilized. The mixture type, RAP contents, and material sources were selected based on guidance from SCDOT. PG 64-22 binder was used for the Surface

Type C mixtures according to SCDOT's specifications, and two WMA types were used (chemical additive and the foaming process) in the samples. All samples from the foaming WMA process were compacted in the lab following the job mix formula (JMF). The dynamic modulus and flow number tests were performed in accordance with AASHTO TP 62/AASHTO PP 62/AASHTO TP 79. A detailed flowchart of the full range of testing is shown in Figure 4-7. The number of samples for each test and the entire experimental testing system were discussed and approved by the Steering Committee.





Figure 4-7 Experimental Flow Chart for Effect of WMA Additives

4.2.6 Evaluation of Liquid Anti-Strip Additives (ASAs)

This experimental design also included evaluation of two types of liquid anti-strip additives (ASAs) used in SC. One mixture type (Surface Type C), one binder source (source 1) and two aggregate sources (IV and V) were selected, and the % RAP in each approved job mix formula was utilized. The mixture type, RAP contents, and material

sources were selected based on guidance from SCDOT. PG 64-22 binder was used for the Surface Type C mixtures according to SCDOT's specifications, and two liquid ASAs (Adhere® and Morlife®) were used. The two liquid ASAs were selected based on input from SCDOT officials. The dynamic modulus and flow number tests were performed in accordance with AASHTO TP 62/AASHTO PP 62/AASHTO TP 79. A detailed flowchart of the full range of testing is shown in Figure 4-8. The number of samples for each test and the entire experimental testing system were discussed and approved by the Steering Committee.





Figure 4-8 Experimental Flow Chart for Effect of Liquid ASAs

4.2.7 Evaluation of Mixtures after a Long-Term Aging Procedure

Another phase of the research plan included the evaluation of the effect of long-term aging for three types of Surface Course mixes commonly used in SC (Surface Types A, B, and C). One binder source (source 1) and two aggregate sources (IV and V) were selected, and two RAP contents were used (0% and the % RAP from each job mix

formula). All mixture types, RAP contents, and material sources were selected based on guidance from SCDOT. PG 76-22 binder was used for the Surface Type A mixtures, and PG 64-22 binder was used for the Surface Types B and C, according to SCDOT requirements. The dynamic modulus and flow number tests were performed in accordance with AASHTO TP 62/AASHTO PP 62/AASHTO TP 79. A detailed flowchart of the full range of testing is shown in Figure 4-9. The number of samples for each test and the entire experimental testing system were discussed and approved by the Steering Committee.





Figure 4-9 Experimental Flow Chart for Effect of Long-Term Aging

4.2.8 Calibration of Dynamic Modulus and Flow Numbers

This research study also included the calibration of dynamic modulus and flow numbers based on the test results obtained in this study, as shown in Figure 4-10. The modified models from dynamic modulus and flow numbers were employed as the local MEPDG parameter models, which were used for level 2 and level 3 of the pavement design guidelines.



Figure 4-10 Calibrations of Dynamic Modulus and Flow Number Models in Terms of Local Data Sets

5 Methodology for Development of Prediction Models

In general, there are several models that have been developed for predicting the dynamic modulus values and other properties of various asphalt mixtures. The following is a brief description of various methodologies used to develop different models for asphalt mixes. Due to many factors, each state must establish and develop their own models that satisfies the local conditions. Several important factors that must be considered, but not limited to this list, are mentioned below:

- Layer type (e.g., surface)
- Asphalt binder properties (e.g., viscosity)
- Aggregate properties (e.g., gradation)
- Mix properties (e.g., rutting)

5.1 Traditional Witczak model

This Witczak $|E^*|$ predictive model was typically utilized to predict the dynamic modulus value of conventional asphalt mixtures as well as the modified asphalt mixtures (Witczak and Fonseca 1996; Witczak, et al, 2002; Shen and Yu 2011). MEPDG is using this model in terms of asphalt mixture properties and also some characteristics of aggregate and binder. The initial Witczak $|E^*|$ predictive model was conducted in 1996, which was developed based on a database of 2750 dynamic modulus data points collected from 205 various asphalt mixtures in the last 30 years. The data were obtained from several laboratories, including Asphalt Institute, University of Maryland, and the Federal Highway Administration. This developed predictive model (Witczak $|E^*|$) is shown below:

 $\log|E^*| = 3.750063 + 0.02932\rho_{200} - 0.001767(\rho_{200})^2 - 0.002841\rho_4 - 0.058097V_a - 0.802208\left(\frac{V_{beff}}{V_{beff}+V_a}\right) + \frac{3.871977 - 0.0021\rho_4 + 0.003958\rho_{38} - 0.000017(\rho_{38})^2 + 0.00547\rho_{34}}{1 + e^{(-0.603313 - 0.313351\log(f) - 0.393532\log(\eta))}}$

(Equation 5-1)

Where,

- $/E^*/:$ dynamic modulus, psi;
- η : bitumen viscosity, 10⁶ Poise;
- *f* : loading frequency, Hz;
- *V_a*: air void content, %;
- *V_{beff}*: effective bitumen content, % by volume;
- ρ_{34} : cumulative % retained on the 19-mm (3/4) sieve;

- ρ_{38} : cumulative % retained on the 9.5-mm (3/8) sieve;
- ρ_4 : cumulative % retained on the 4.76-mm (No. 4) sieve; and
- ρ_{200} : % passing the 0.075-mm (No. 200) sieve.

The initial Witczak $|E^*|$ predictive model used the viscosity of the asphalt binder (η) as a critical input parameter (Shen and Yu 2011). The two main parameters in the equation shown below, A and VTS, are the regression intercept and the regression slope, respectively. These two values can be determined from ASTM D2493-85 "Standard Viscosity-Temperature Chart for Asphalt," as shown in the following equation.

$$\log \log \eta = A + VTS \log T_R \qquad (Equation 5-2)$$

Where,

- η : bitumen viscosity, cP;
- T_R : temperature, Rankine;
- A: regression intercept; and
- *VTS*: regression slope of viscosity temperature susceptibility.

5.2 <u>New Witczak model</u>

A new Witczak model was conducted by Bari and Witczak in 2006, based on a more comprehensive study, and included a larger database with 7400 data points from 346 HMA mixtures (Bari and Witczak 2006). The new model was selected from a number of candidate models based on the tests on rationality, accuracy, precision, bias, trend, sensitivity, and overall performance. In this model, some new parameters were incorporated, such as the binder's dynamic shear modulus (G*) and phase angle (δ), which were used to replace the binder viscosity (η) and loading frequency (f) of initial Witczak model. The new Witczak model is shown in the following equation.

$$\begin{split} \log |E^*| &= -0.349 + 0.754 \left(|G_b^*|^{-0.0052} \right) \left(6.65 - 0.032 \rho_{200} + 0.0027 \rho_{200}^2 - 0.011 \rho_4 - 0.0001 \rho_4^2 + 0.006 \rho_{38} - 0.00014 \rho_{38}^2 - 0.08 V_a - 1.06 \left(\frac{V_{beff}}{V_a + V_{beff}} \right) \right) + \frac{2.558 + 0.032 V_a + 0.713 \left(\frac{V_{beff}}{V_a + V_{beff}} \right) + 0.0124 \rho_{38} + 0.0001 \rho_{38}^2 - 0.0098 \rho_{34}}{1 + e^{(-0.7814 - 0.5785 \log |G_b^*| + 0.8834 \log \delta_b)}} \end{split}$$

(Equation 5-3)

Where,

- |*E**/: dynamic modulus, psi;
- ρ_{200} : % (by weight of total aggregate) passing the 0.075-mm (No. 200) sieve;
- ρ_4 : cumulative % (by weight) retained on the 4.76-mm (No. 4) sieve;
- ρ_{34} : cumulative % (by weight) retained on the 19-mm (3/4-in.) sieve;
- ρ_{38} : cumulative % (by weight) retained on the 9.5-mm (3/8-in.) sieve;
- *V_a*: air void content (by volume of the mix), %;
- *V_{beff}*: effective binder content (by volume of the mix), %;
- $/G_b^*/:$ dynamic shear modulus of binder, psi; and
- δ_b : phase angle of binder associated with $|Gb^*|$, degree.

5.3 Hirsch model

It is considered that Hirsch model is a rational, though semi-empirical method for predicting asphalt concrete modulus. The original Hirsch model was developed by T.J. Hirsch to calculate the modulus of elasticity of cement concrete or mortar in terms of one empirical constant, the aggregate modulus and cement mastic modulus, and mix proportions. Hirsch assumed that the response of the constituent materials (cement matrix, aggregate, and the composite concrete) behaved in a linear elastic manner. Christensen et al. (2004) developed a relatively simple version of the Hirsch model to predict the dynamic modulus of hot mix asphalt. Comparing to the Witczak models, Hirsch model is considered relatively simpler which relates the dynamic modulus of the asphalt concrete ($|E^*|$) with binder modulus (G*), percent voids in the mineral aggregate (% VMA), and percent voids filled with asphalt (% VFA). The functional form of the Hirsch model prediction equation is shown below.

$$\begin{split} |E^*| &= P_c \left[4,200,000 \left(1 - \frac{VMA}{100} \right) + 3|G^*|_{binder} \left(\frac{VFA \times VMA}{10,000} \right) \right] \\ &+ (1 - P_c) \left[\frac{1 - \frac{VMA}{100}}{4,200,000} + \frac{VMA}{VFA \times 3|G^*|_{binder}} \right]^{-1} \end{split}$$

(Equation 5-4)

Where,

- $/E^*/:$ dynamic modulus, psi, (same temperature and loading frequency as G*);
- */G*/binder*: binder dynamic modulus, psi;
- *VMA*: voids in the mineral aggregate, %;
- VFA: voids filled with asphalt, %; and
- *P_c*: aggregate contact factor.

Where P_c, the aggregate contact factor, is calculated based on the following formula.

$$P_{c} = \frac{\left(20 + \frac{VFA \times 3|G^{*}|_{binder}}{VMA}\right)^{0.58}}{650 + \left(\frac{VFA \times 3|G^{*}|_{binder}}{VMA}\right)^{0.58}}$$
(Equation 5-5)

5.4 Other |E*| predictive models

Abdo et al. (2009) developed a model to predict $|E^*|$ based on the properties of the asphalt mixture constituents. The model parameters were determined by dimensional analysis and new mix design parameters. The developed model is shown below:

$$|E^*| = 1.08 \left(\frac{G^* \times GS \times \% G_{mm}}{P_b(1 - P_b)}\right)^{0.55}$$
 (Equation 5-6)

Where,

- */E*/:* Dynamic Modulus for Asphalt Mix, MPa;
- *G**: Dynamic Shear Modulus for RTFO Aged Binder, MPa;
- *P*_b: Percent Binder Content;
- *GS:* Gyratory Stability, kNm;
- G_{mb} : Bulk Specific Gravity of Mix, Gmb = Gmm (1-AV%);
- *G_{mm}*: Maximum Specific Gravity of Mix; and
- %*AV:* Percent Air Voids.

In Florida, Yang et al (2011) developed a predicting model to characterize dynamic modulus for 20 selected Superpave asphalt mixtures. This developed model included the variables related to aggregate gradation, mixture volumetrics, and percent weight of asphalt content, loading frequencies, and temperatures. The developed model is shown below.

 $log|E^*| = 2.312 + 0.01\rho_{200} + 0.01\rho_8 - 0.013\rho_4 - 0.002\rho_{\frac{3}{6}} + 0.024P_b - 0.043VFA + \frac{[-1.34 - 0.019\rho_8 + 0.022\rho_4 + 0.004\rho_{\frac{3}{6}} - 0.055P_b + 0.052VFA]}{1 + e^{(-8.267 - 0.722\log f + 5.397\log T)}}$

(Equation 5-7)

Where,

- $/E^*/:$ dynamic modulus, in 10⁵ psi;
- *T*: test temperature, in °C;
- *f*: load frequency, in Hz;
- *VFA*: voids filled with asphalt, % by volume;

- *P*_b: Percent weight of asphalt, % by weight;
- $\rho_{\frac{3}{2}}$: cumulative percent retained on $\frac{3}{8}$ in (9.5mm) sieve, % by weight;
- $\rho_{4:}$ cumulative percent retained on No. 4 (4.75mm) sieve, % by weight;
- ρ_8 : cumulative percent retained on No. 8 (2.36mm) sieve, % by weight; and
- ρ_{200} : percent passing on No. 200 (0.075mm) sieve, % by weight.

5.5 Flow number model

Over the past few years, there have been significant efforts in establishing a testing method to evaluate the rutting performance of various asphalt mixtures. Some researchers considered that the flow number was an effective tool as a rutting performance indicator.

The flow number test defined by AASHTO TP 79 provides the three phases of flow (primary, secondary, and tertiary) within an asphalt mix with particular emphasis on tertiary flow of an asphalt mixture. Flow number is obtained from the repeated load permanent deformation test to evaluate the resistance of an asphalt mixture to tertiary flow and it can be obtained based on the AMPT tests. In order to predict the flow number of an asphalt mixture, some researchers have been proposing different prediction models to provide guidance on the understanding of flow characteristics.

Kaloush (2001) developed a model to predict the flow number (FN) of an HMA mixture based on mixtures' volumetric properties, binder type, and test temperature over the last decade. The model used 135 unconfined laboratory FN tests and is presented as follows:

$$FN = (432367000)T^{-2.215}Visc^{0.312}V_{beff}^{-2.6604}V_a^{-0.1525}$$
(Equation 5-8)

Where,

- *FN*: Flow Number;
- *T*: Test Temperature, °F;
- *Visc*: Binder Viscosity at 70°F, 106 poise;
- *V_{beff}*: Effective Asphalt Content, % volume; and
- *Va*: Air Voids, %.

Kvasnak et al (2007) conducted a Flow Number predictive equation, as shown below, based on 17 dense graded mixtures from the State of Wisconsin. In this model, the number of gyrations (Gyr) was found to be the most significant factor. However, it was recommended that the model should only be applied within the data ranges used for the dense graded HMA mixes.

$log FN = 2.866 + 0.00613Gyr + 3.86Visc - 0.072VMA + 0.0282\rho_4 - 0.051\rho_{16} + 0.075\rho_{200}$

(Equation 5-9)

In addition, Rodezno, M. C. and Kaloush, et al (2010) proposed an equation to predict flow number for the mixtures. In this final model, the variables included the viscosity at testing temperature (V₁), the air voids level, the temperature, three variables related with the gradation of the mix ($%P_{200}$, $%R_{04}$ and $%R_{34}$), and the shear and normal stresses (p and q) that contribute to the model in the arithmetic and logarithmic terms. The presence of the p and q variables indicates the importance of the combination of stress levels applied to the samples. The equation is shown below.

 $\log FN = 2.174 + 0.649 \log V_1 + 0.101 P_{200} + 18.465 \log p + 0.0140 R_{04} - 0.084 V_a$ - 18.901 log q - 0.872 R_{34} + 0.182 q - 0.193 p - 0.871 log T

(Equation 5-10)

Christensen (2008) applied various statistical techniques to conduct the relationships between the flow number with complex modulus, air void content and applied stress level, and developed a model based on data regression:

 $N_f = 4.96 \times 10^{-8} \beta_i |E^*|^{2.478} \sigma^{-0.089VTM - 0.187|E^*|}$ (Equation 5-11)

Where,

- N_f : flow number;
- β : indicator variable, adjusting regression constant for ith projects/sections;
- */E*/*: complex modulus (lb/in²) at 10 Hz and same temperature as flow number test;
- VTM: air voids in flow number test specimen, volume %; and
- σ : deviator stress for flow number stress, lb/in².

6 Results

Dynamic modulus testing and flow number testing were conducted for each asphalt mixture at three temperatures and at various frequencies as shown in previous chapters. In terms of various types of mixtures, all results were categorized into several sections as described in experimental design section of this report.

Several factors such as aggregate source, binder source, mixture type, warm mix asphalt (WMA) type, and liquid anti-strip additive (LASA) type were used to characterize the dynamic modulus, phase angle, and flow number of the mixtures. These factors were analyzed within several parameters such as temperature and frequency. In addition, some mixtures were produced without RAP, and the results were analyzed against mixes containing RAP. It was found that the general dynamic modulus and phase angles of these mixtures had similar trends to those mixtures with RAP. Therefore, these trends were not analyzed in detail in this chapter, but all figures are presented in Appendices A and B. Table 6-1 shows the abbreviations for all of the mixtures used for this report.

RAP	Mixture type	Other Variable		Aggregate Source								
iu ii	type		Ι	II	III	IV	V	VI	VII			
	Surface A		ΙA	II A1, II A2	III A1, III A2	IV A	V A	VI A	_			
	Surface B		I B1, I B2	II B	III B1, III B2	IV B	V B	VI B	-			
With	Surface C		IC	II C	III C	IV C	V C	VI C	-			
RAP	Surface D		ID	II D	III D	IV D	V D	VI D	-			
	Surface E		ΙE	II E	III E	IV E	VE	VI E	-			
	Intermediate A		-	-	-	IV IA	V IA	-	-			
	Intermediate B		-	-	-	IV IB	V IB	-	-			

Table 6-1 Labels of Various Mixtures Used in This Study

DAD	Mixture	Other	Aggregate Source							
KAI	Туре	Variable	Ι	II	III	IV	V	VI	VII	
	Intermediate B Special		-	II IB	-	-	_	_	VII IB	
	Intermediate C		-	-	-	IV IC	V IC	-	-	
	Base A		-	-	-	IV SA	V SA	-	-	
	Base B		-	-	-	IV SB	V SB	-	-	
With	Surface A	PG 76-22 binder source 2	-	_	_	IV AN	V AN	_	_	
	Surface B	PG 64-22 binder source 2	-	-	-	IV BN	V BN	-	-	
	Surface C	WMA Chemical Additive	-	-	-	IV CE	V CE	-	-	
RAP	Surface C	WMA Foaming	-	-	-	IV CF	V CF	-	-	
	Surface C	Liquid ASA1	-	-	-	IV CM	V CM	-	-	
	Surface C	Liquid ASA2	-	-	-	IV CA	V CA	-	-	
	Surface A - aging	PG 76-22 binder source 1	-	-	-	IV AG	V AG	_	_	
	Surface B - aging	PG 64-22 binder source 1	-	-	-	IV BG	V BG	-	-	
	Surface C - aging	PG 64-22 binder source 1	-	-	-	IV CG	V CG	_	_	

RAP	Mixture	Other	Aggregate Source							
iu ii	Туре	Variable	Ι	II	III	IV	V	VI	VII	
	Surface A		-	-	-	IV AO	V AO	VI AO	-	
	Surface B		-	-	-	IV BO	V BO	VI BO	_	
	Surface C		-	-	III CO	IF CO	V CO	VI CO	-	
	Surface D		-	-	III DO	IV DO	V DO	VI DO	-	
	Surface E		I EO	-	III EO	IV EO	V EO	VI EO	-	
	Intermediate A		-	-	-	IV IAO	V IAO	-	-	
	Intermediate B		-	-	-	IV IBO	V IBO	-	-	
	Intermediate C		-	-	-	IV ICO	V ICO	-	-	
No	Base A		-	-	-	IV SAO	V SAO	-	-	
RAP	Base B		-	-	-	IV SBO	V SBO	-	-	
	Surface A	PG 76-22 binder source 2	-	-	-	IV AON	V AON	-	-	
	Surface B	PG 64-22 binder source 2	-	-	-	IV BON	V BON	-	-	
	Surface C	WMA Chemical Additive	-	-	-	IV COE	V COE	-	-	
	Surface C	WMA Foaming	-	-	-	IV COF	V COF	-	-	
	Surface C	Liquid ASA1	-	-	-	IV COM	V COM	-	-	

RAP	Mixture	Other Variable		Aggregate Source							
	Туре		Ι	II	III	IV	V	VI	VII		
No RAP	Surface C	Liquid ASA2	-	-	-	IV COA	V COA	-	-		
	Surface A - aging	PG 76-22 binder source 1	-	-	-	IV AOG	V AOG	-	-		
	Surface B - aging	PG 64-22 binder source 1	-	-	-	IV BOG	V BOG	-	-		
	Surface C - aging	PG 64-22 binder source 1	-	-	-	IV COG	V COG	-	-		

Notes: All mixtures used binder from source 1 except that those were defined in this Table. In addition, all Surface Type A mixtures used PG 76-22 binder. All other mixtures used PG 64-22 binder.

6.1 Dynamic Modulus and Phase Angle

6.1.1 Effect of Aggregate Source on Dynamic Modulus and Phase Angle of Different Types of Surface Mixtures

Figure 6-1 shows the dynamic modulus values of various Surface Type A mixtures containing RAP in terms of six aggregate sources tested at three temperatures. In addition, there were two different Surface Type A mix designs utilized for aggregate sources II and III. The second mix design for each of those aggregate sources (II A2 and III A2) utilized the updated finer SCDOT gradation requirements from SCDOT (SC-M-402, July 2017 version) as well as incorporating the newly-adopted corrected optimum asphalt content (COAC) allowed by SCDOT. It can be seen that the dynamic modulus values increased with the increase of frequency. As shown in Figure 6-1, the order of dynamic modulus values from high to low for Surface Type A mixtures with respect to aggregate source was IV A, I A, I A, III A2, III A1, II A1, and II A2.

The new Surface Type A mix designs containing the finer gradation and the COAC did not appear to affect the dynamic modulus values as much as aggregate source did. However, dynamic modulus values for the new mix design with aggregate source II did
appear to be slightly lower than the values for the old mix design with that aggregate source. The scope of this project did not allow further investigation of this effect.

Mixture V A exhibited different trends at different temperatures. Mixture V A generally had a lower dynamic modulus than other mixtures at 4°C (39.2°F), while it had a higher dynamic modulus than other mixtures at 45°C (113°F). It can be concluded that temperature had a larger impact on the dynamic modulus of mixtures using aggregate V than that of other mixtures. In addition, it can be observed in Figure 6-1 that with the increase of temperature, the dynamic modulus values of mixtures decreased. The dynamic modulus values of mixtures ranged from 10,000 to 20,000 MPa at 4°C (39.2°F), but only ranged from 2,000 to 10,000 MPa at 20°C (68°F), and from 100 to 1,000 MPa at 45°C (113°F).

Similar trends of dynamic modulus values were found for the Surface Type B, C, D, and E mixtures in this study. These findings and the corresponding figures are presented in Appendix A.

Figure 6-2 shows the phase angle values of various Surface Type A mixtures containing RAP in terms of six aggregate sources tested at three temperatures. As shown in Figure 6-2, the order of phase angle values from high to low for Surface Type A mixtures was II A2, II A1, III A2, VI A, IV A, III A1, and I A. Similar to the dynamic modulus results, mixture V A exhibited different trends at different temperatures. V A had lower phase angle values than other mixtures both at 4°C (39.2°F) and 20°C (68°F), while it had midrange phase angle values at 45°C (113°F) and low frequency.

The new Surface Type A mix designs containing the finer gradation and the COAC did not appear to affect the phase angle values as much as aggregate source did. However, phase angle values for the new mix design with aggregate source II did appear to be slightly higher than the values for the old mix design with that aggregate source. The scope of this project did not allow further investigation of this effect.

In Figure 6-2, the phase angle values showed different trends at different temperatures. The phase angle values of mixtures decreased with the increase of frequency at 4°C (39.2°F) and 20°C (68°F). However, with the increase of frequency, the phase angle values of mixtures initially increased and then approximately remained unchanged at 40°C (104°F). The phase angle values of mix V A initially increased and then decreased at 45°C (113°F). Moreover, it can be observed that the phase angle values of mixtures increased with the increase of temperature.

Similar trends of phase angle values were found for the Surface Type B, C, D, and E mixtures in this research. The findings and the corresponding figures have been presented in Appendix A.









Figure 6-1 Dynamic Modulus Values of Surface Type A Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F)







Figure 6-2 Phase Angle Values of Surface Type A Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F)

6.1.2 Effect of Aggregate Source on Dynamic Modulus and Phase Angle of Different Types of Intermediate Mixtures

Figure 6-3 shows the dynamic modulus values of various Intermediate Type A mixtures containing RAP in terms of two aggregate sources (IV and V) tested at three temperatures. It can be seen that the dynamic modulus values increased with the increase of frequency. In Figure 6-3, the mixtures containing aggregate IV had slightly higher dynamic modulus values than the mixtures containing aggregate V in most cases. However, mixture V IA had higher dynamic modulus values than mixture IV IA at 40°C (104°F) at a low frequency. In addition, it can be observed in Figure 6-3 that with the increase of temperature, the dynamic modulus values of mixtures decreased.

Similar trends of dynamic modulus values were found for the Intermediate Type B and C mixtures tested in this study. The findings and the corresponding figures are presented in Appendix A.

In addition to the Intermediate Type A, B, and C mixtures made with aggregate sources IV and V, several Intermediate Type B Special mixtures were made with two additional aggregate sources, II and VII. These mixtures were added towards the end of the project, and aggregate sources were selected by the Steering Committee based on materials used in field pilot projects. The dynamic modulus values of the Intermediate Type B Special mixtures were similar to those of the other Intermediate Type B mixtures, regardless of aggregate source, test temperature, and frequency (Appendix A, Figure 9-23). As with all of the other Intermediate Type B mixtures, increased loading frequency resulted in higher dynamic modulus values, and increased test temperatures resulted in lower dynamic modulus values.

Figure 6-4 shows the phase angle values of various Intermediate Type A mixtures containing RAP in terms of two aggregate sources tested (IV and V) at three different temperatures. Figure 6-4 shows that mixtures IV IA and V IA have similar phase angle values. In Figure 6-4, the phase angle values of mixtures showed different trends at different temperatures. The phase angle values of the mixtures decreased with the increase of frequency at 4°C (39.2°F) and 20°C (68°F). However, with the increase of frequency, the phase angle values of mixtures initially increased and then approximately remained unchanged at 40°C (104°F). The phase angle values of mixture V IA initially increased and then decreased at 40°C (104°F). Moreover, it can be observed that the phase angle values of mixtures generally increased with the increase of temperature.

Similar trends of phase angle values were found for the Intermediate Type B and C mixtures tested in this study. The findings and the corresponding figures are presented in Appendix A.

In addition to the Intermediate Type A, B, and C mixtures made with aggregate sources IV and V, several Intermediate Type B Special mixtures were made with two additional aggregate sources, II and VII. These mixtures were added towards the end of the project, and aggregate sources were selected by the Steering Committee based on materials used in field pilot projects. The phase angle values of the Intermediate Type B Special mixtures were similar to those of the other Intermediate Type B mixtures, regardless of aggregate source, test temperature, and frequency (Appendix A, Figure 9-24). As with all of the other Intermediate Type B mixtures decreased with the increase of frequency at 4°C (39.2°F) and 20°C (68°F). However, with the increase of frequency, the phase angle values of mixtures initially increased and then approximately remained unchanged at 40°C (104°F).











Figure 6-3 Dynamic Modulus Values of Intermediate Type A Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)









(c)

Figure 6-4 Phase Angle Values of Intermediate Type A Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)

6.1.3 Effect of Aggregate Source on Dynamic Modulus and Phase Angle of Different Types of Base Mixtures (Types A and B)

Figure 6-5 shows the dynamic modulus values of various Base Type A mixtures containing RAP in terms of two aggregate sources (IV and V) studied at three temperatures. It can be seen that the dynamic modulus values increased with the increase of frequency. In Figure 6-5, mixtures containing aggregate IV had slightly higher dynamic modulus values than the mixtures made with aggregate V in most cases. However, mixture V SA had higher dynamic modulus values than IV SA at 40°C (104°F) at a low frequency. In addition, it can be observed in Figure 6-5 that with the increase of temperature, the dynamic modulus values of mixtures decreased.

Similar trends of dynamic modulus values were found for the Base Type B mixtures tested in this study. The findings and the corresponding figures are presented in Appendix A.

Figure 6-6 shows the phase angle values of various Base Type A mixtures containing RAP in terms of two aggregate sources (IV and V) tested at three different temperatures. As shown in Figure 6-6, the phase angle values of mixture IV SA were slightly higher than those of mixture V SA in most cases. However, mixture V SA had higher phase angle values than IV SA at 40°C (104°F) at a low frequency. The phase angle values of mixtures decreased with the increase of frequency at 4°C (39.2°F) and 20°C (68°F). However, with the increase of frequency, the phase angle values of mixtures initially increased but then decreased at 40°C (104°F). Moreover, it can be observed that the phase angle values of mixtures increased with the increase in temperature.

Similar trends of phase angle values were found for the Base Type B mixtures tested in this study. The figures and corresponding findings are presented in Appendix A.









Figure 6-5 Dynamic Modulus Values of Base Type A Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)











Figure 6-6 Phase Angle Values of Base Type A Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)

6.1.4 Effect of Aggregate Source on Dynamic Modulus and Phase Angle of Surface Mixtures (Types A and B) Made with Different Aggregate Types and Binder Source 2

Figure 6-7 shows the dynamic modulus values of various Surface Type A mixtures containing RAP using PG 76-22 asphalt source 2 (Axeon) in terms of two aggregate sources (IV and V) tested at three temperatures. It can be seen that the dynamic modulus values increased with the increase of frequency. In Figure 6-7 mixtures made with aggregate IV had slightly higher dynamic modulus values in most cases than mixtures containing aggregate V. However, mixture V AN had similar dynamic modulus values compared to mixture IV AN at 40°C (104°F) at a low frequency. In addition, it can be observed from Figure 6-7 that the dynamic modulus of mixtures decreased with the increase of temperature.

Similar trends of dynamic modulus values were found for the Surface Type B mixtures made with PG 64-22 from asphalt binder source 2 tested in this study. The findings of this portion of the research work are presented in Appendix A.

Figure 6-8 shows the phase angle values of various Surface Type A mixtures containing RAP using PG 76-22 asphalt from source 2 in terms of two aggregate sources (IV and V) tested at three temperatures. In Figure 6-8, the phase angle values of mixture IVAN were slightly higher than that of mixture V AN in most cases. However, mixture V SA had higher phase angle values than mixture IV SA at 40°C (104°F) at a low frequency. The phase angle values of mixtures decreased with the increase of frequency at 4°C (39.2°F) and 20°C (68°F). However, with the increase of frequency, the phase angle values of mixtures increased at 40°C (104°F). Moreover, it can be observed that the phase angle values of mixtures increased with the increase of temperature.

Similar trends of phase angle values were found for the Surface Type B mixtures containing PG 64-22 from asphalt binder source 2 tested in this study. The findings are shown in figures presented in Appendix A.











Figure 6-7 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type A Mixtures with RAP and PG 76-22 Asphalt Source 2 in Terms of Aggregate Source (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F)









Figure 6-8 Phase Angle Values of Various Surface Type A Mixtures with RAP and PG 76-22 Asphalt Source 2 in Terms of Aggregate Source (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F)

6.1.5 Effect of Aggregate Source on Dynamic Modulus and Phase Angle of Surface Type C Mixtures Made with WMA

Figure 6-9 shows the dynamic modulus values of various Surface Type C mixtures containing RAP and a WMA chemical additive in terms of two aggregate sources (IV and V) tested at three temperatures. It can be seen that the dynamic modulus values increased with the increase of frequency. In Figure 6-9, the mixtures made with aggregate IV had slightly higher dynamic modulus values than the mixtures containing aggregate V. In addition, it can be observed in Figure 6-9 that with the increase of the temperature, the dynamic modulus of mixtures decreased.

Similar trends of dynamic modulus values were found for the WMA mixtures made using the foaming technology tested in this study. The figures shown in Appendix A represent the findings.

Figure 6-10 shows the phase angle values of various Surface Type C mixtures containing RAP and a WMA chemical additive in terms of two aggregate sources (IV and V) tested at three temperatures. In Figure 6-10, the phase angle values of mixture IV AN were slightly higher than that of mixture V AN at 40°C (104°F), while the phase angle values of mixture V AN were higher than mixture IV AN at both 4°C (39.2°F) and 20°C (68°F). The phase angle values of mixtures decreased with the increase of frequency at 4°C (39.2°F) and 20°C (68°F). However, with the increase of frequency, the phase angle values of mixtures initially increased and then remained somewhat unchanged at 40°C (104°F). Moreover, it can be observed that the phase angle values of mixtures increased with the increase of temperatures increased with the increase of mixtures increased with the increase of temperature.

Similar trends of phase angle values were found for the WMA mixtures made using the foaming technology tested in this study. The figures for the testing for this portion of the research work are presented in Appendix A.









Figure 6-9 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures with RAP andWMA-Chemical Additive in Terms of Aggregate Source (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)







Figure 6-10 Phase Angle Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures with RAP and WMA-Chemical Additive in Terms of Aggregate Source (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40C (104°F)

6.1.6 Effect of Aggregate Source on Dynamic Modulus and Phase Angle of Surface Type C Mixtures Made with Liquid ASA

Figure 6-11 shows the dynamic modulus of various Surface Type C mixtures containing RAP and liquid ASA 1 (Adhere®) in terms of two aggregate sources (IV and V) tested at three different temperatures. It can be seen that the dynamic modulus increased with the increase of frequency. As shown in Figure 6-11, in most cases, mixtures made from aggregate V had slightly higher dynamic modulus values than mixtures containing aggregate IV. However, mix IV CA had higher dynamic modulus values than V CA at 4°C (39.2°F) and a high frequency. In addition, it can be observed in Figure 6-11 that with the increase of temperature, the dynamic modulus values decreased.

Similar trends of dynamic modulus values were found for the mixtures containing liquid ASA 2 (Morlife®) in this study. The test results are shown in figures presented in Appendix A.

Figure 6-12 shows the phase angle values of various Surface Type C mixtures containing RAP and liquid ASA 1 (Adhere®) in terms of two aggregate sources tested at three temperatures. In Figure 6-12, the phase angle values of mix IV CA were slightly higher than that of mix V CA. The phase angle values of mixtures decreased with the increase of frequency at 4°C (39.2°F) and 20°C (68°F). However, with the increase of frequency, the phase angle values of mixtures initially increased and then decreased at 40°C (104°F). Moreover, it can be observed that the phase angle values of mixtures increased with the increase of temperature.

Similar trends of phase angle values were found for the mixtures made with liquid ASA 2 (Morlife®) in this study. The figures shown in Appendix A correspond to the findings of the testing.









Figure 6-11 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures with RAP and Liquid ASA1 in Terms of Aggregate Source (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)









(c)

Figure 6-12 Phase Angle Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures with RAP and Liquid ASA1 in Terms of Aggregate Source (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)

6.1.7 Effect of Aggregate Source on Dynamic Modulus and Phase Angle of Aged Surface Mixtures (Types A, B and C)

Figure 6-13 shows the dynamic modulus of various Surface Type A mixtures containing RAP after long-term aging in terms of two aggregate sources (IV and V) tested at three temperatures. It can be seen that the dynamic modulus increased with the increase of frequency. In Figure 6-13, mixtures made with aggregate IV had slightly higher dynamic modulus values than mixtures containing aggregate V at 4°C (39.2°F) and 20°C (68°F). However, mix V CA had higher dynamic modulus values than mix IV CA at 40°C (104°F). In addition, it can be observed in Figure 6-13 that with the increase of temperature, the dynamic modulus of mixtures decreased.

Similar trends of dynamic modulus values were found for the aged Surface Type B and C mixtures tested in this study. The results of the testing are shown in figures presented in Appendix A.

Figure 6-14 shows the phase angle values of various Surface Type A mixtures containing RAP after long-term aging in terms of two aggregate sources (IV and V) tested at three temperatures. In Figure 6-14, the phase angle values of mix IV AG were slightly higher than that of mix V AG. The phase angle values of mixtures decreased with the increase of frequency at 4°C (39.2°F) and 20°C (68°F). However, with the increase of frequency, the phase angle values of mixtures initially increased and then remained approximately unchanged at 40°C (104°F). Moreover, it can be observed that the phase angle values of mixtures initiales of mixtures increased with the increase of mixtures increased with the increase of temperature.

Similar trends of phase angle values were found for the aged Surface Type B and C mixtures tested in this study. The findings are presented using figures shown in Appendix A.











Figure 6-13 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type A Mixtures with RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Aggregate Source (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F)











(c)

Figure 6-14 Phase Angle Values of Various Surface Type A Mixtures with RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Aggregate Source (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F)

6.1.8 Effect of Mixture Type on Dynamic Modulus and Phase Angle of Surface Mixtures Made with Different Aggregate Types

Figure 6-15 shows the dynamic modulus of various mixtures containing aggregate source I and RAP in terms of five Surface Course mixture types (Surface Types A, B, C, D, and E) tested at different temperatures. In addition, there were two different Surface Type B mix designs utilized for aggregate source I. The second mix design for that aggregate source (I B2) incorporated the newly-adopted corrected optimum asphalt content (COAC) allowed by SCDOT. This new mix design was added toward the end of the project. It can be seen that the dynamic modulus increased with the increase of frequency. Figure 6-15 shows that mixture I B1 had the highest dynamic modulus values at all temperatures, while mixture I D had the lowest dynamic modulus values. Mixtures I B2, I C, and I E had mid-range dynamic modulus values that were similar at 4°C (39.2°F) and 20°C (68°F). However, mixes I E and I B2 had higher dynamic modulus values than mix I A at 40°C (104°F). In addition, it can be observed from Figure 6-15 that with the increase of temperature, there was a decrease in the dynamic modulus of the mixtures.

Similar trends of dynamic modulus values were found for the mixtures made with aggregate sources II, III, IV, V, and VI. The findings are shown in Appendix B.

The new Surface Type B mix design containing the COAC appeared to significantly affect the dynamic modulus values. The dynamic modulus values for the new mix design with aggregate source II were lower than the values for the old mix design with that same aggregate source regardless of test temperature and frequency. However, because only one aggregate source for Surface Type B using the new COAC was tested, it is difficult to draw firm conclusions. The scope of this project did not allow further investigation of this effect.

Figure 6-16 shows the phase angle values of various mixtures containing aggregate source I and RAP in terms of five Surface Course mixture types (Surface Types A, B, C, D, and E) tested at different temperatures. In Figure 6-16, mixtures I D and I C generally had higher phase angle values than others at all temperatures, while mixes I A and I E generally had lower phase angle values. However, mixture I A had comparatively-higher phase angle values at 40°C (104°F) and high frequency, and mix I E had comparatively-high phase angle values at 40°C (104°F) and low frequency. It can be observed that the phase angle values of mixtures showed different trends at different temperatures. The phase angle values of mixtures decreased with the increase of frequency at 4°C (39.2F) and 20°C (68°F). However, with increasing frequency, the phase angle values of mixtures initially increased and then remained approximately unchanged at 40°C (104°F). The phase angle values of mixes I B2 and I E initially increased and then decreased at 45°C (113°F). Moreover, it can be observed that the phase angle values of mixes I B2 and I E initially increased and then decreased with the increase of mixtures increased at 45°C (113°F). Moreover, it can be observed that the phase angle values of mixtures increased with the increase of temperature.

Similar trends of phase angle values were found for the mixtures made with aggregate sources II, III, IV, V, and VI tested in this study. The figures shown in Appendix B represent the findings.

The new mix design containing the COAC appeared to have varied effect on the phase angle values depending on test temperature. The new Surface Type B mix design with aggregate source II exhibited phase angle values that were lower than the old mix design with that same aggregate source at 4°C (39.2°F), similar to the old mix design at 20°C (68°F), and higher than the old mix design at 45°C (113°F). Because of these varied results combined with the fact that only one aggregate source for Surface Type B using the new COAC was tested, it is difficult to draw any conclusions regarding the effect on phase angle. The scope of this project did not allow further investigation of this effect.



Figure 6-15 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures for Aggregate Source I with RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface Type A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface Types B, C, D, and E)



Figure 6-16 Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures for Aggregate Source I with RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface Type A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface Types B, C, D, and E)

6.1.9 Effect of Mixture Type on Dynamic Modulus and Phase Angle of Intermediate Mixtures Made with Different Aggregate Sources

Figure 6-17 shows the dynamic modulus of various mixtures containing aggregate source IV and RAP in terms of three Intermediate Course mixture types (Intermediate Types A, B, and C) tested at different temperatures. It can be seen that the dynamic modulus increased with the increase of frequency. As shown in Figure 6-17, mixture IV IB had the highest dynamic modulus values at all temperatures, while mixture IV IC had the lowest dynamic modulus values. In addition, it can be observed in Figure 6-17 that with the increase of temperature, the dynamic modulus of mixtures decreased.

Similar trends of dynamic modulus values were found for the mixtures from aggregate source V tested in this study. The findings are presented in Appendix B.

In addition to the Intermediate Type A, B, and C mixtures made with aggregate sources IV and V, several Intermediate Type B Special mixtures were made with two additional aggregate sources, II and VII. These mixtures were added towards the end of the project, and aggregate sources were selected by the Steering Committee based on materials used in field pilot projects. As shown in Appendix B, the dynamic modulus values of the Intermediate Type B Special mixtures were similar to those of the other Intermediate Type A, B, and C mixtures, regardless of test temperature and frequency. As with all of the other Intermediate Course mixtures types, increased loading frequency resulted in higher dynamic modulus values, and increased test temperatures resulted in lower dynamic modulus values.

Figure 6-18 shows the phase angle values of various mixtures from aggregate source IV with RAP in terms of three Intermediate Course mixture types (Intermediate Types A, B, and C) tested at different temperatures. As shown in Figure 6-18, mixture IV IC had the highest phase angle values in most cases, while mixture IV IB had the lowest phase angle values in most cases. However, mixture IV B had the highest phase angle values at 40°C (104°F) and low frequency. It can be observed that the phase angle values of mixtures showed different trends at different temperatures. The phase angle values of mixtures decreased with the increase of frequency at 4°C (39.2°F) and 20°C (68°F). However, with the increase of frequency, the phase angle values of mixtures initially increased and then remained nearly unchanged at 40°C (104°F). Moreover, it can be observed that the phase angle values of mixtures increased with the increase of temperature.

Similar trends of phase angle values were found for the mixtures from aggregate source V tested in this study. The figures presented in Appendix B represent the findings of this portion of the research project.

In addition to the Intermediate Type A, B, and C mixtures made with aggregate sources IV and V, several Intermediate Type B Special mixtures were made with two additional aggregate sources, II and VII. These mixtures were added towards the end of the project, and aggregate sources were selected by the Steering Committee based on materials used in field pilot projects. As shown in Appendix B, the phase angle values of the Intermediate Type B Special mixtures were similar to those of the other Intermediate Type A, B, and C mixtures, regardless of test

temperature, and frequency. As with all of the other Intermediate Course mixtures, phase angle values decreased with the increase of frequency at $4^{\circ}C$ (39.2°F) and 20°C (68°F). However, with the increase of frequency, the phase angle values of mixtures initially increased and then approximately remained unchanged at 40°C (104°F).



Figure 6-17 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures for Aggregate Source IV with RAP in Terms of Intermediate Mixture Type (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)



Figure 6-18 Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures for Aggregate Source IV with RAP in Terms of Intermediate Mixture Type (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)

6.1.10 Effect of Mixture Type on Dynamic Modulus and Phase Angle of Base Mixtures (Types A and B) Made with Different Aggregate Sources

Figure 6-19 shows the dynamic modulus of various mixtures for aggregate source IV containing RAP in terms of two Base Course mixture types (Base Types A and B) tested at different temperatures. It can be seen that the dynamic modulus increased with the increase of frequency. As shown in Figure 6-19, mixture IV SA had slightly higher dynamic modulus values than mixture IV SB. In addition, it can be observed in Figure 6-19 that with the increase of temperature, the dynamic modulus of mixtures decreased.

Similar trends of dynamic modulus values were found for the mixtures made with aggregate source V tested in this study. The figures presented in Appendix B show the findings of this portion of the research project.

Figure 6-20 shows the phase angle values of various mixtures made with aggregate source IV and RAP in terms of two Base Course mixture types (Base Types A and B) tested at different temperatures. As shown in Figure 6-20, mixtures IV SA and IV SB had similar phase angle values. It can be observed that the phase angle values of mixtures showed different trends at different temperatures. The phase angle values of mixtures decreased with the increase of frequency at 4°C (39.2°F) and 20°C (68°F). However, with the increase of frequency, the phase angle values of mixtures initially increased and then remained approximately unchanged at 40°C (104°F). Moreover, it can be observed that the phase angle values of mixtures increased with the increase of temperature.

Similar trends of phase angle values were found for the mixtures made with aggregate source V tested in this study. The research findings for this portion of the research work has been presented in Appendix B.



Figure 6-19 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures for Aggregate Source IV with RAP in Terms of Base Mixture Type (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)



Figure 6-20 Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures for Aggregate Source IV with RAP in Terms of Base Mixture Type (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)

6.1.11 Effect of Mixture Type on Dynamic Modulus and Phase Angle of Surface Mixtures (Types A and B) Made with Different Aggregate Types and Binder Source 2

Figure 6-21 shows the dynamic modulus of various mixtures for aggregate source IV and containing asphalt source 2 (Axeon) and RAP in terms of two Surface Course mixture types (Surface Types A and B) tested at different temperatures. It can be seen that the dynamic modulus increased with the increase of frequency. As shown in Figure 6-21, mixture IV AN had slightly higher dynamic modulus values than mixture IV BN at 4°C (39.2°F) and 20°C (68°F). However, mixture IV BN had higher dynamic modulus values than mix IV AN at 40°C (104°F) and high frequency. In addition, it can be observed in Figure 6-21 that with the increase of temperature, the dynamic modulus of mixtures decreased.

Similar trends of dynamic modulus values were found for the mixtures made with aggregate source V tested in this study. The figures presented in Appendix B show the findings of this portion of the research work.

Figure 6-22 shows the phase angle values of various mixtures for aggregate source IV and containing asphalt source 2 (Axeon) and RAP in terms of two Surface Course mixture types (Surface Types A and B) tested at different temperatures. As shown in Figure 6-22, mixtures IV AN and IV BN had similar phase angle values at 20°C (68°F). Mixture IV AN had higher phase angle values at 4°C (39.2°F), while mixture IV BN had higher phase angle values at 40°C (104°F). It can be observed that the phase angle values of mixtures showed different trends at different temperatures. The phase angle values of mixtures decreased with the increase of frequency at 4°C (39.2°F) and 20°C (68°F). However, with the increase of frequency, the phase angle values of mixtures decreased with the increase of frequency at 4°C (39.2°F) and 20°C (68°F). However, with the increase of frequency, the phase angle values of mixtures initially increased and then remained approximately unchanged at 40°C (104°F). Moreover, it can be observed that the phase angle values of mixtures increased with the increase of temperature.

Similar trends of phase angle values were found for the mixtures made with aggregate source V tested in this study. The figures shown in Appendix B represent the results.



Figure 6-21 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures for Aggregate Source IV using Asphalt Source 2 with RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface Type A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface Type B)



Figure 6-22 Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures for Aggregate Source IV using Asphalt Source 2 with RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface Type A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface Type B)
6.1.12 Effects of Binder Source on Dynamic Modulus and Phase Angle of Various Surface Mixtures Made with Different Aggregate Types

Figure 6-23 shows the dynamic modulus values of various Surface Type A mixtures containing aggregate source IV and RAP, tested at different temperatures, and compared in terms of binder source. It was found that the dynamic modulus values of mixtures from these two binders were different. The dynamic modulus values of mixtures from binder source 2 were generally lower regardless of loading frequency and test temperature. This effect became more pronounced with the increase of temperature. In addition, it can be observed that with the increase of temperature, the dynamic modulus values of mixtures decreased regardless of binder source.

Figure 6-24 shows the phase angle values of various Surface Type A mixtures containing aggregate source IV and RAP, tested at different temperatures, and compared in terms of binder source. The results indicated that in some cases, the binder source had an influence on the phase angle. For instance, as shown in Figure 6-24, mixture IV A had relatively lower phase angle values compared to mixture IV AN when tested at both 4°C (39.2°F) and 20°C (68°F), while their phase angle values were very similar when tested at 40°C (104°F). In addition, it can be observed that the phase angle values of mixtures showed different trends at various temperatures. The phase angle values of mixtures decreased with increasing frequency at 4°C (39.2°F) and 20°C (68°F). However, at 40°C (104°F), with the increase of frequency, the phase angle values of mixtures initially increased and then remained unchanged. Moreover, it can be observed that the phase angle values increased with an increase in temperature.

Similar trends of dynamic modulus and phase angle values were found for the Surface Type A mixtures made with aggregate source V as well as for the Surface Type B mixtures made with aggregate sources IV and V. The data results are available in other figures in terms of aggregate source and mixture type in Appendices A and B.



Figure 6-23 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type A Mixtures for Aggregate Source IV Containing RAP in Terms of Binder Source (a) at 4° C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 40° C (104°F)



Figure 6-24 Phase Angle Values of Various Surface Type A Mixtures for Aggregate Source IV Containing RAP in Terms of Binder Source (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 40°C (104°F)

6.1.13 Effect of WMA on Dynamic Modulus and Phase Angle of Surface Type C Mixtures Made with Different Aggregate Types

Figure 6-25 shows the dynamic modulus of various Surface Type C mixtures for aggregate source IV containing RAP in terms of two WMA technology types (chemical additive and the foaming process) tested at different temperatures. It can be seen that the dynamic modulus increased with the increase of frequency. As shown in Figure 6-25, mixture IV CE had slightly higher dynamic modulus values than mixture IV CF at 4°C (39.2°F) and 20°C (68°F). However, mixture IV CE had similar dynamic modulus values compared to mixture IV CF at 40°C (104°F). In addition, it can be observed in Figure 6-25 that with the increase of temperature the dynamic modulus of mixtures decreased.

Similar trends of dynamic modulus values were found for the mixtures made with aggregate source V and tested in this study. The figures in Appendix B show the findings of the testing for this portion of the research project.

Figure 6-26 shows the phase angle values of various Surface Type C mixtures made with aggregate source IV and RAP in terms of two WMA technology types (a chemical additive and the foaming process) tested at different temperatures. As shown in Figure 6-26, mixtures IV CE and IV CF had similar phase angle values. It can be observed that the phase angle values of mixtures showed different trends at different temperatures. The phase angle values of mixtures decreased with the increase of frequency at 4°C (39.2°F) and 20°C (68°F). However, with the increase of frequency, the phase angle values of mixtures initially increased and then remained approximately unchanged at 40°C (104°F). Moreover, it can be observed that the phase angle values of with the increase of temperature.

Similar trends of phase angle values were found for the mixtures containing aggregate source V tested in this study. The figures presented in Appendix B show the results of the findings.

Figure 6-27 shows the dynamic modulus values of various Surface Type C mixtures containing aggregate source IV and RAP, tested at different temperatures, and compared in terms of with or without WMA chemical additive. The dynamic modulus values of the mixtures made with a WMA chemical additive were lower than the mixtures without WMA regardless of test temperature and loading frequency. Similar trends were found for the mixtures with aggregate source V as well as those with WMA foaming technology and aggregate sources IV and V.

Figure 6-28 shows the phase angle values of various Surface Type C mixtures containing aggregate source IV and RAP, tested at different temperatures, and compared in terms of with or without WMA chemical additive. The phase angle values of the mixtures using a WMA chemical additive were higher than those mixtures made without WMA regardless of test temperature and loading frequency.

Similar trends of phase angle values were found for the mixtures with aggregate source V as well as those with WMA foaming technology and aggregate sources IV and V. The data results are available in other figures in terms of aggregate source and mixture type in Appendices A and B.



Figure 6-25 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures for Aggregate Source IV with RAP in Terms of WMA Technology Type (a) at 4° C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 40° C (104°F)



Figure 6-26 Phase Angle Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures for Aggregate Source IV with RAP in Terms of WMA Technology Type (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 40°C (104°F)



Figure 6-27 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures for Aggregate Source IV with RAP in Terms of with/without WMA Technology (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 40°C (104°F)



Figure 6-28 Phase Angle Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures for Aggregate Source IV with RAP in Terms of with/without WMA Technology (a) at 4° C (39.2° F), (b) at 20° C (68° F), and (c) at 40° C (104° F)

6.1.14 Effect of Liquid ASAs on Dynamic Modulus and Phase Angle of Surface Type C Mixtures Made with Different Aggregate Types

Figure 6-29 shows the dynamic modulus of various Surface Type C mixtures made with aggregate source IV and RAP in terms of two liquid ASA types (Adhere® and Morlife®) tested at different temperatures. It can be seen that the dynamic modulus increased with the increase of frequency. As shown in Figure 6-29, mixture IV CA had similar dynamic modulus values compared to mixture IV CM. In addition, it can be observed in Figure 6-29 that with the increase of temperature, the dynamic modulus of mixtures decreased.

Similar trends of phase angle values were found for the mixtures made with aggregate source V tested in this study. The findings are presented in Appendix B.

Figure 6-30 shows the phase angle values of various Surface Type C mixtures made with aggregate source IV and RAP in terms of two liquid ASA types (Adhere® and Morlife®) tested at different temperatures. As shown in Figure 6-30, mixture IV CA had slightly higher phase angle values than mixture IV CM. It can be observed that the phase angle values of mixtures showed different trends at different temperatures. The phase angle values of mixtures decreased with the increase of frequency at 4°C (39.2°F) and 20°C (68°F). However, with the increase of frequency, the phase angle values of mixtures initially increased and then remained approximately unchanged at 40°C (104°F). Moreover, it can be observed that the phase angle values of mixtures of temperatures.

Similar trends of phase angle values were found for the mixtures made with aggregate source V in this study. The results of this portion of the research project are presented in the Appendix B.

Figure 6-31 shows the dynamic modulus values of various Surface Type C mixtures containing aggregate source IV and RAP, tested at different temperatures, and compared in terms of with or without liquid ASA (Morlife®). It can be seen that the dynamic modulus values increased with the increase of frequency. Mixture IV C had similar dynamic modulus values compared to mixture IV CM. Therefore, for the materials tested for this research project, it can be concluded that liquid ASA generally did not have an effect on the dynamic modulus values. Similar trends of dynamic modulus values were found for the mixtures made with aggregate source V as well as the mixtures made with the other liquid ASA (Adhere®) and aggregate sources IV and V.

Figure 6-32 shows the phase angle values of various Surface Type C mixtures containing aggregate source IV and RAP, tested at different temperatures, and compared in terms of with or without liquid ASA (Morlife®). It can be noted that mixture IV C had similar phase angle values compared to mixture IV CM. Therefore, it can be concluded that liquid ASA generally had no effects on the phase angle of Surface Type C mixtures.

Similar trends of phase angle values were found for the mixtures made with aggregate source V and the other liquid ASA (Adhere®) tested in this study. The data results are available in other figures in terms of aggregate source and mixture type in Appendices A and B.



Figure 6-29 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures for Aggregate Source IV with RAP in Terms of Liquid ASA Type (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 40°C (104°F)



Figure 6-30 Phase Angle Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures for Aggregate Source IV with RAP in Terms of Liquid ASA Type (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 40°C (104°F)



Figure 6-31 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures for Aggregate Source IV with RAP in Terms of with/without Liquid ASA (a) at 4° C (39.2° F), (b) at 20° C (68° F), and (c) at 40° C (104° F)



Figure 6-32 Phase Angle Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures for Aggregate Source IV with RAP in Terms of with/without Liquid ASA (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 40°C (104°F)

6.1.15 Effect of Aging on Dynamic Modulus and Phase Angle of Surface Mixtures (Types A, B and C) Made with Different Aggregate Types

Figure 6-33 shows the dynamic modulus of various mixtures made with aggregate source IV and RAP after long-term aging in terms of three Surface Course mixture types (Surface Types A, B, and C) tested at different temperatures. It can be seen that the dynamic modulus increased with the increase of frequency. As shown in Figure 6-33, mixture IV BG had the highest dynamic modulus values at 4°C (39.2°F), while mixtures IV AG and IV CG had the highest dynamic modulus at 20°C (68°F) and 40°C (104°F), respectively. It can be concluded that temperature had significant influence on the dynamic modulus of mixtures after long-term aging. In addition, it can be observed in Figure 6-33 that with the increase of temperature the dynamic modulus of mixtures decreased.

Similar trends of dynamic modulus values were found for the mixtures made with aggregate source V tested in this study. The figures shown in the Appendix B show the results of this part of the research work.

Figure 6-34 shows the phase angle values of various mixtures made with aggregate source IV and RAP after long-term aging in terms of Surface Course mixture type (Surface Types A, B, and C) tested at different temperatures. As shown in Figure 6-34, mixture IV BG had the highest phase angle values at 4°C (39.2°F) and 20°C (68°F), while mixture IV AG had the lowest phase angle values. Mixture IV CG had the highest phase angle values at 40°C (104°F) and low frequency, and the lowest values at 40°C (104°F) and high frequency. It can be observed that the phase angle values of mixtures showed different trends at different temperatures. The phase angle values of mixtures decreased with the increase of frequency at 4°C (39.2°F) and 20°C (68°F). However, with the increase of frequency, the phase angle values of mixtures initially increased and then remained approximately unchanged at 40°C (104°F). Moreover, it can be observed that the phase angle values of mixtures increased with the increase of temperature.

Similar trends of phase angle values were found for the mixtures made with aggregate source V tested in this study. The figures presented in the Appendix B show the results of the testing for this portion of the research project.

Figure 6-35 shows the dynamic modulus values of Surface Type A mixtures containing aggregate source IV and RAP, tested at various temperatures, and in terms of aged or unaged condition. It can be seen that the dynamic modulus increased with the increase of frequency. It can be noted that mixture IV A and mixture IV AG had similar dynamic modulus values at the test temperatures. It can be concluded that the long-term aging process generally did not affect the dynamic modulus of mixtures. Similar trends of dynamic modulus values were found for the aged and unaged mixtures made with aggregate source V and Surface Types B and C.

Figure 6-36 shows the phase angle values of Surface Type A mixtures containing aggregate source IV and RAP, tested at various temperatures, and in both aged and unaged conditions. It can be noted that mixtures IV A and IV AG had similar phase angle values at the different test temperatures. It can be concluded that the long-term aging process generally did not affect the phase angle values of mixtures tested for this portion of the research work.

Similar trends of phase angle values were found for the aged and unaged mixtures made with aggregate source V and Surface Types B and C. The data results are available in other figures in terms of aggregate source and mixture type in Appendices A and B.



Figure 6-33 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures for Aggregate Source IV with RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Surface Mixture Type (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface Type A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface Types B and C)



Figure 6-34 Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures for Aggregate Source IV with RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Surface Mixture Type (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface Type A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface Types B and C)



Figure 6-35 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface A Mixtures for Aggregate Source IV with RAP in Terms of Aged or Unaged status (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)



Figure 6-36 Phase Angle Values of Various Surface A Mixtures for Aggregate Source IV with RAP in Terms of Aged or Unaged status (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)

6.1.16 Effects of RAP on Dynamic Modulus and Phase Angle

6.1.16.1 Effects of RAP on Dynamic Modulus and Phase Angle of Various Surface Mixtures Made with Different Aggregate Types

Figure 6-37 shows the dynamic modulus values of Surface Type A mixtures made with various aggregate sources both with and without RAP and tested at various temperatures. The dynamic modulus values of Surface Type A mixtures containing RAP were higher than the values of Surface Type A Mixtures without RAP regardless of aggregate source, loading frequency and test temperature. It can be seen that the differences in dynamic modulus were more pronounced at a lower frequency.

Similar dynamic modulus results for Surface Types B, C, D, and E are shown in Figure 6-39, Figure 6-41, Figure 6-43, and Figure 6-45, respectively. The only exception was Surface Type C made with aggregate source V, which exhibited lower dynamic modulus values with RAP than without RAP.

Figure 6-38 shows the phase angle values of Surface Type A mixtures made with various aggregate sources both with and without RAP and tested at various temperatures. The phase angle values of Surface Type A mixtures made with RAP were generally lower than the values of Surface Type A mixtures without RAP regardless of aggregate source, loading frequency and test temperature. However, the differences in phase angle values of these mixtures were less pronounced when the test temperature increased to $45^{\circ}C$ ($113^{\circ}F$).

Similar phase angle results for Surface Types B, C, and E are shown in Figure 6-40, Figure 6-42, and Figure 6-46, respectively. The only exception was Surface Type C made with aggregate source V, which exhibited higher phase angle values with RAP than without.

However, Surface Type D mixtures with and without RAP behaved in a different manner than the other Surface mixture types with respect to phase angle. As shown Figure 6-44, the phase angle values of Surface Type D mixtures made with RAP were generally similar to the values of Surface Type D mixtures without RAP regardless of aggregate source, loading frequency, and test temperature.





(b)



Figure 6-37 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface A Mixtures with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)







(b)



Figure 6-38 Phase Angle Values of Various Surface A Mixtures with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)









Figure 6-39 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface B Mixtures with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)



Figure 6-40 Phase Angle Values of Various Surface B Mixtures with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)









Figure 6-41 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface C Mixtures with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)











Figure 6-42 Phase Angle Values of Various Surface C Mixtures with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)









Figure 6-43 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface D Mixtures with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)



Figure 6-44 Phase Angle Values of Various Surface D Mixtures with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)







(b)



Figure 6-45 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface E Mixtures with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)



Figure 6-46 Phase Angle Values of Various Surface E Mixtures with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)

6.1.16.2 Effects of RAP on Dynamic Modulus and Phase Angle of Various Intermediate Mixtures Made with Different Aggregate Types

Figure 6-47 indicates that the dynamic modulus values of Intermediate Type A mixtures containing RAP were generally slightly higher than those values of Intermediate Type A mixtures made without RAP regardless of loading frequency, and test temperature. It can be seen that the differences in dynamic modulus values with and without RAP were more obvious with aggregate source IV.

Similar dynamic modulus results for Intermediate Type B and C mixtures are shown in Figure 6-49 and Figure 6-51, respectively. Similar to Intermediate Type A mixtures, Intermediate Type B mixtures made with aggregate source IV exhibited more obvious differences in dynamic modulus values with and without RAP than aggregate source V. In addition, for both Intermediate Type B and Type C mixtures, the differences in dynamic modulus values with and without RAP were more obvious at a lower frequency.

Figure 6-48 shows that the phase angle values of Intermediate Type A mixtures made with RAP were generally similar to those values of Intermediate Type A mixtures containing no RAP regardless of aggregate source, loading frequency, and test temperature. The phase angle values of these mixtures with and without RAP were closest together when the test temperature was set at 45° C (113°F).

With respect to phase angle, Intermediate Type B and C mixtures with and without RAP exhibited slightly different behavior than the Intermediate Type A mixtures. As shown in Figure 6-50 and Figure 6-52, the phase angle values for Intermediate Type B and C mixtures with RAP were slightly lower than those without RAP regardless of aggregate source and loading frequency at the test temperatures of 4°C (39.2°F) and 20°C (68°F). These differences were more pronounced with aggregate source IV in Intermediate Type B mixtures and with aggregate source V in Intermediate Type C mixtures. However, similar to the Intermediate Type A mixtures, both Intermediate Type B and C mixtures with RAP exhibited similar phase angle values to the corresponding mixtures without RAP when the test temperature was set at 45°C (113°F).











Figure 6-47 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Intermediate Type A Mixtures with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)







Figure 6-48 Phase Angle Values of Various Intermediate Type A Mixtures with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)









Figure 6-49 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Intermediate Type B Mixtures with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)





Figure 6-50 Phase Angle Values of Various Intermediate Type B Mixtures with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)





(b)



Figure 6-51 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Intermediate Type C Mixtures with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)






Figure 6-52 Phase Angle Values of Various Intermediate Type C Mixtures with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)

6.1.16.3 Effects of RAP on Dynamic Modulus and Phase Angle of Various Base Mixtures Made with Different Aggregate Types

Figure 6-53 and Figure 6-55 show the dynamic modulus values of Base Type A and B mixtures, respectively, both with and without RAP. The dynamic modulus values of the mixtures containing RAP were generally higher than those without RAP for both Base Type A and B mixtures regardless of aggregate source, loading frequency, and testing temperature. The only exception was Base Type A when tested at 4° C (39.2° F), which exhibited similar dynamic modulus values both with and without RAP.

Figure 6-54 and Figure 6-56 show that the phase angle values of Base Type A and B mixtures made with RAP were generally lower than those without RAP regardless of aggregate source and test temperature. However, the phase angle values of both Base Type A and B mixtures with and without RAP were similar when the test temperature was increased to 45°C (113°F).









Figure 6-53 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Base Type A Mixtures with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)









Figure 6-54 Phase Angle Values of Various Base Type A Mixtures with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)









Figure 6-55 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Base Type B Mixtures with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)











Figure 6-56 Phase Angle Values of Various Base Type B Mixtures with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)

6.1.16.4 Effects of RAP on Dynamic Modulus and Phase Angle of Surface Mixtures (Types A and B) Made with Binder Source 2 and Different Aggregate Types

Figure 6-57 indicates that the dynamic modulus values of Surface Type A mixtures made with RAP and Binder Source 2 were generally similar to those values of Surface Type A mixtures containing no RAP regardless of aggregate source, loading frequency, and test temperature. Only when tested at 45° C (113°F) did aggregate source V mixtures with RAP exhibit higher dynamic modulus values that the aggregate source V mixtures without RAP.

In addition, Figure 6-58 shows that the phase angle values of Surface Type A mixtures made with binder source 2 with and without RAP varied depending on aggregate source. Aggregate source IV mixtures generally exhibited higher phase angle values with RAP, while aggregate source V mixtures generally exhibited lower phase angle values with RAP. The phase angle values of all Surface Type A mixtures containing binder source 2 both with and without RAP were closer together when the test temperature was at 45°C (113°F), especially as the frequency increased.

Figure 6-59 indicates that the dynamic modulus values of Surface Type B mixtures made with RAP and binder source 2 with and without RAP varied depending on aggregate source. Aggregate source IV mixtures with binder source 2 exhibited similar dynamic modulus values with and without RAP, while aggregate source V mixtures with binder source 2 exhibited higher dynamic modulus values with RAP than without. It can be noted that the differences in dynamic modulus were more obvious at a lower frequency.

In addition, Figure 6-60 shows that the phase angle values of Surface Type B mixtures made with RAP and binder source 2 with and without RAP also varied depending on aggregate source. Aggregate source IV mixtures with binder source 2 exhibited similar phase angle values with and without RAP, while aggregate source V mixtures with binder source 2 exhibited lower phase angle values with RAP than without. The phase angle values of these mixtures with and without RAP were closer together when the test temperature was increased to 45°C (113°F) regardless of aggregate source and frequency.









Figure 6-57 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type A Mixtures from Binder Source 2 with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)









Figure 6-58 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type A Mixtures from Binder Source 2 with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)





(b)



Figure 6-59 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type B Mixtures from Binder Source 2 with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)





Figure 6-60 Phase Angle Values of Various Surface Type B Mixtures from Binder Source 2 with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)

1

6.1.16.5 Effects of RAP on Dynamic Modulus and Phase Angle of Surface Type C Mixtures Made with WMA and Different Aggregate Types

Figure 6-61 indicates that the dynamic modulus values of Surface Type C mixtures made with RAP and WMA chemical additive technology varied depending on aggregate source. Mixtures with aggregate source IV generally exhibited higher dynamic modulus values with RAP than without RAP, while mixtures with aggregate source V exhibited lower dynamic modulus values with RAP than without RAP regardless of loading frequency, and test temperature.

In addition, Figure 6-62 shows that the phase angle values of Surface Type C mixtures made with RAP and WMA chemical additive technology varied depending on aggregate source. Mixtures with aggregate source IV generally exhibited lower phase angle values with RAP than without RAP, while mixtures with aggregate source V generally exhibited higher phase angle values with RAP than without RAP. However, phase angle values of these mixtures with and without RAP were similar at higher frequencies when the test temperature was 45°C (113°F).

Figure 6-63 indicates that the dynamic modulus values of Surface Type C mixtures containing RAP and foaming WMA technology were generally higher than those values of Surface Type C Mixtures made without RAP regardless of aggregate source, loading frequency, and test temperature. It can be noted that the differences in dynamic modulus were more obvious at a lower frequency.

In addition, Figure 6-64 shows that the phase angle values of Surface Type C mixtures made with RAP and foaming WMA technology were generally lower than those values of Surface Type C Mixtures made without RAP regardless of aggregate source, loading frequency, and test temperature. The phase angle values of these mixtures with/without RAP were closer together at the test temperature of 45° C (113° F).









Figure 6-61 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures Used Chemical Additive WMA Technology with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)







(b)



Figure 6-62 Phase Angle Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures Used Chemical Additive WMA Technology with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)









Figure 6-63 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures Used Foaming WMA Technology with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)









Figure 6-64 Phase Angle Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures Used Foaming WMA Technology with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)

6.1.16.6 Effects of RAP on Dynamic Modulus and Phase Angle of Surface Type C Mixtures Made with LASA and Different Aggregate Types

Figure 6-65 indicates that the dynamic modulus values of Surface Type C mixtures made with RAP and liquid ASA1 were generally higher than those without RAP regardless of aggregate source, loading frequency, and test temperature. It can be noted that the differences in dynamic modulus were more obvious at a lower frequency.

In addition, Figure 6-66 shows that the phase angle values of Surface Type C mixtures containing RAP and liquid ASA1 were generally lower than those without RAP regardless of aggregate source, loading frequency, and test temperature. These difference were less obvious when the test temperature was set to 45°C (113°F).

Figure 6-67 indicates that the dynamic modulus values of Surface Type C mixtures made with RAP and liquid ASA2 were generally higher than those without RAP regardless of aggregate source, loading frequency, and test temperature. It can be noted that the differences in dynamic modulus were more obvious at a lower frequency.

In addition, Figure 6-68 shows that the phase angle values of Surface Type C mixtures made with RAP and liquid ASA2 were generally lower than those without RAP regardless of aggregate source, loading frequency, and test temperature. These difference were less obvious when the test temperature was set to 45°C (113°F).









Figure 6-65 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures Used Liquid ASA1 with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)







Figure 6-66 Phase Angle Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures Used Liquid ASA1 with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)







Figure 6-67 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures Used Liquid ASA2 with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)





Figure 6-68 Phase Angle Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures Used Liquid ASA2 with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)

6.1.16.7 Effects of RAP on Dynamic Modulus and Phase Angle of Aged Surface Mixtures (Types A, B, and C) Made with Different Aggregate Types

Figure 6-69 indicates that the dynamic modulus values of aged Surface Type A mixtures made with RAP varied depending on aggregate source. Aged mixtures from aggregate source IV containing RAP generally exhibited higher dynamic modulus values that those without RAP, while aged mixtures from aggregate source V containing RAP mostly exhibited similar dynamic modulus values compared to the corresponding mixtures without RAP. It can be noted that the differences in dynamic modulus values were more obvious at a lower frequency.

In addition, Figure 6-70 shows that the phase angle values of aged Surface Type A mixtures made with RAP also varied depending on aggregate source. Aged mixtures from aggregate source IV containing RAP generally exhibited lower phase angle values than those without RAP, while aged mixtures from aggregate source V containing RAP mostly exhibited similar phase angle values compared to the corresponding mixtures without RAP. However, the phase angle values of aged mixtures from both aggregate sources with and without RAP were similar when the test temperature was set at 45°C (113°F).

Figure 6-71 indicates that the dynamic modulus values of aged Surface Type B mixtures made with RAP were generally higher than without RAP regardless of aggregate source, loading frequency, and test temperature. Additionally, Figure 6-72 shows that the phase angle values of aged Surface Type B mixtures made with RAP were generally lower than without RAP regardless of aggregate source, loading frequency, and test temperature. However, these differences in phase angle values were much less obvious when the test temperature was set at 45°C (113°F).

Aged Surface Type C mixtures with and without RAP exhibited similar trends to Surface Type B mixtures (Figure 6-73 and Figure 6-74).









Figure 6-69 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Aged Surface Type A Mixtures with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)





(b)



Figure 6-70 Phase Angle Values of Various Aged Surface Type A Mixtures with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)









Figure 6-71 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Aged Surface Type B Mixtures with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)



Figure 6-72 Phase Angle Values of Various Aged Surface Type B Mixtures with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at $4^{\circ}C$ (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at $45^{\circ}C$ (113°F)









Figure 6-73 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Aged Surface Type C Mixtures with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)



Figure 6-74 Phase Angle Values of Various Aged Surface Type C Mixtures with/without RAP in Terms of Different Aggregate Types, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), and (c) at 45°C (113°F)

6.2 Flow Numbers of Various Mixtures

6.2.1 Effect of Aggregate Source on Flow Number of Different Types of Surface Mixtures

Figure 6-75 shows the flow numbers of various Surface Type A mixtures containing RAP in terms of six various aggregate sources tested at 59°C (138.2°F). In addition, there were two different Surface Type A mix designs utilized for aggregate sources II and III. The second mix design for each of those aggregate sources (II A2 and III A2) utilized the updated finer SCDOT gradation requirements from SCDOT (SC-M-402, July 2017 version) as well as incorporating the newly-adopted corrected optimum asphalt content (COAC). As shown in Figure 6-75, mixtures I A and V A had much higher flow numbers than other mixtures, while mixtures II A2 and VI A had lower flow numbers than other mixtures. Thus, this limited data indicates that the flow number of Surface Course mixtures is generally affected by the aggregate source.

The flow numbers of Surface Type B, C, D, and E mixtures generally had similar trends. These findings and the results are shown in other figures presented in Appendix C.

The effect of the new Surface Type A mix designs containing the finer gradation and the COAC varied with aggregate source. The new mix design with aggregate source II exhibited lower flow numbers than the old mix design with that same aggregate source, while the new mix design with aggregate source III exhibited higher flow numbers than the old mix design with that same aggregate source. The scope of this project did not allow further investigation of this effect.



Figure 6-75 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type A Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)

6.2.2 Effect of Aggregate Source on Flow Number of Different Types of Intermediate Mixtures

Figure 6-76 shows the flow numbers of various Intermediate Type A mixtures containing RAP in terms of various aggregate sources tested at 59°C (138.2°F). As shown in Figure 6-76, mixtures IV IA and V IA had similar flow numbers. Therefore, it could be concluded that with this limited data, the aggregate source generally did not have an influence on the flow numbers of Intermediate Course mixtures. All Intermediate Type A and B mixtures tested in this project exhibited flow number values below AASHTO minimum recommendation of 190 for higher volume pavements. Although the utilization of RAP resulted in somewhat higher flow number values, they still did not reach the minimum recommended value. The scope of this study did not allow for further investigation into the cause of this result.

The flow numbers of other Intermediate Type B and C mixtures generally had similar trends. These results are shown in other figures presented in Appendix C.

In addition to the Intermediate Type A, B, and C mixtures made with aggregate sources IV and V, several Intermediate Type B Special mixtures were made with two additional aggregate sources, II and VII. These mixtures were added towards the end of the project, and aggregate sources were selected by the Steering Committee based on materials used in field pilot projects. The flow number values shown in Figure 11-12 of Appendix C indicate that the Intermediate Type B Special samples containing aggregate source VII generally had only slightly higher values than those containing aggregate source II. Additionally, both Intermediate Type B Special mixtures exhibited higher flow number

values than both of the other Intermediate Type B mixtures. However, because the Intermediate Type B Special mixtures contained different aggregate sources (II and VII) than the other Intermediate Type B mixtures (IV and V), it is difficult to conclude whether the differences in flow numbers are due to the effect of aggregate source or mixture type. Intermediate Type B Special mixtures contain a WMA chemical additive and have lower target air void values and higher target asphalt binder content values than Intermediate Type B mixtures.



Figure 6-76 Flow Numbers of Various Intermediate Type A Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)

6.2.3 Effect of Aggregate Source on Flow Number of Different Types of Base Mixtures

Figure 6-77 shows the flow numbers of various Base Type A mixtures containing RAP in terms of various aggregate sources tested at 59°C (138.2°F). As shown in Figure 6-77, mixtures IV SA and V SA had similar flow numbers. Therefore, it could be concluded that for the materials used in this study, the aggregate source generally did not have an influence on the flow numbers of Base Course mixtures.

The flow numbers of other Base Type B mixtures generally had similar trends compared to Base Type A. The results are shown in other figures and are presented in Appendix C.



Figure 6-77 Flow Numbers of Various Base Type A Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)

6.2.4 Effect of Aggregate Source on Flow Number of Surface Mixtures (Types A and B) Made with Different Aggregate Types and Binder Source 2

Figure 6-78 shows the flow numbers of various Surface Type A mixtures using PG 76-22 from asphalt source 2 (Axeon) and RAP in terms of two aggregate sources (IV and V) tested at 59°C (138.2°F). As shown in Figure 6-78, mixture IV AN had a higher flow number than mix V AN. Therefore, with the limited data used for this research project, the aggregate source generally did have an influence on the flow numbers.

The flow numbers of the Surface Type B mixtures containing PG 64-22 from asphalt binder source 2 generally had similar trends. The results from those mixtures are shown in figures presented in Appendix C.



Figure 6-78 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type A Mixtures with RAP and PG 76-22 Asphalt Source 2 in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)

6.2.5 Effect of Aggregate Source on Flow Number of Surface Type C Mixtures Made with WMA

Figure 6-79 shows the flow numbers of various Surface Type C mixtures made with WMA type 1 (chemical additive) and RAP in terms of two aggregate sources (IV and V) tested at 59°C (138.2°F). As shown in Figure 6-79, mixtures IV CE and V CF both had very low flow numbers. Therefore, the WMA mixtures used in this study generally did not meet the requirements from AASHTO TP 79, similar to the mixtures using the foaming technology selected for this study. These results are shown in other figures presented in Appendix C.





6.2.6 Effect of Aggregate Source on Flow Number of Surface Type C Mixtures Made with Liquid ASA

Figure 6-80 shows the flow numbers of various Surface Type C mixtures containing liquid ASA 1 (Adhere®) and RAP and made with various aggregate sources tested at 59°C (138.2°F). As shown in Figure 6-80, mix V CA had a much higher flow number than mixture IV CA. Therefore, according to the limited data in this study, the aggregate source generally did have an influence on flow number.

The flow numbers of other mixtures containing liquid ASA 2 (Morlife®) generally had similar trends compared to liquid ASA 1. These results are shown in other figures presented in Appendix C.



Figure 6-80 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type C Mixtures with RAP and Liquid ASA 1 in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)

6.2.7 Effect of Aggregate Source on Flow Number of Aged Surface Mixtures (Types A, B and C)

Figure 6-81 shows the flow numbers of various Surface Type A mixtures after long-term aging in terms of two aggregate sources (IV and V) tested at 59°C (138.2°F). As shown in Figure 6-81, mixture V AG had a much higher flow number than mixture IV AG. Therefore, based on this limited data, it can be concluded that the aggregate source generally did have an influence on flow number.

The flow numbers of the Surface Type B and C mixtures after long-term aging generally exhibited similar trends. These results are shown in the figures presented in Appendix C.



Figure 6-81 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type A Mixtures with RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Aggregate Source at at 59°C (138.2°F)

6.2.8 Effect of Mixture Type on Flow Number of Surface Mixtures Made with Different Aggregate Types

Figure 6-82 shows the flow numbers of various mixtures containing aggregate source I and RAP in terms of Surface Course mixture type (Surface Types A, B, C, D, and E) tested at 59°C (138.2°F). In addition, there were two different Surface Type B mix designs utilized for aggregate source I. The second mix design for that aggregate source (I B2) incorporated the newly-adopted corrected optimum asphalt content (COAC) allowed by SCDOT. This new mix design was added toward the end of the project. As shown in Figure 6-82, mixtures I A and I B had much higher flow numbers than other mixtures, while I B2 and I D had lower flow numbers than other mixtures. Therefore, considering the materials used for this portion of the research project, one can conclude that the Surface Course mixture type generally did affect the flow number of various mixtures. As expected, the designated layers for heavy traffic generally had higher flow numbers.

In addition, similar trends for flow numbers were found with respect to various aggregate sources. The results are shown in figures presented in Appendix C.

The new Surface Type B mix design containing the COAC appeared to significantly affect the flow number values. The flow number values for the new mix design with aggregate source II were much lower than the values for the old mix design with the same aggregate source. However, because only one aggregate source for Surface Type B using the new COAC was tested, it is difficult to draw firm conclusions. The scope of this project did not allow further investigation of this effect.



Figure 6-82 Flow Numbers of Various Mixtures for Aggregate Source I with RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type at 59°C (138.2°F)

6.2.9 Effect of Mixture Type on Flow Number of Intermediate Mixtures Made with Different Aggregate Sources

Figure 6-83 shows the flow numbers of various mixtures containing aggregate source IV and RAP in terms of Intermediate Course mixture type (Intermediate Types A, B, and C) tested at 59°C (138.2°F). As shown in Figure 6-83, these mixtures had low flow numbers. In addition, mixture IV IB had the highest flow numbers, while mixture IV IC had the lowest flow numbers. However, the figures in Appendix C show that for the other mixtures tested, the Intermediate Type A mixtures generally exhibited the highest flow number values and the Intermediate Type C mixtures exhibited the lowest flow number values. It should also be noted that all Intermediate Type A and B mixtures tested in this project exhibited flow number values below AASHTO minimum recommendation of 190 for higher volume pavements. Although the utilization of RAP resulted in somewhat higher flow number values, they still did not reach the minimum recommended value. The scope of this study did not allow for further investigation into the cause of this result.

In addition to the Intermediate Type A, B, and C mixtures made with aggregate sources IV and V, several Intermediate Type B Special mixtures were made with two additional aggregate sources, II and VII. These mixtures were added towards the end of the project, and aggregate sources were selected by the Steering Committee based on materials used in field pilot projects. The flow number values shown in Appendix C indicate that the Intermediate Type B Special samples containing aggregate source VII generally had only slightly higher values than those containing aggregate source II. Additionally, both Intermediate Type B Special mixtures exhibited higher flow number values than all of the other Intermediate Type A, B, and C mixtures. However, because the Intermediate Type 164
B Special mixtures contained different aggregate sources (II and VII) than all of the other Intermediate Type A, B, and C mixtures (IV and V), it is difficult to know whether the differences in flow numbers are due to the effect of aggregate source or mixture type. Intermediate Type B Special mixtures contain a WMA chemical additive and have lower target air void values and higher target asphalt binder content values than Intermediate Type B mixtures. The scope of this study did not allow for further investigation of the causes of these differences in flow number values.



Figure 6-83 Flow Numbers of Various Mixtures for Aggregate Source IV with RAP in Terms of Intermediate Mixture Type at 59°C (138.2°F)

6.2.10 Effect of Mixture Type on Flow Number of Base Mixtures (Types A and B) Made with Different Aggregate Sources

Figure 6-84 shows the flow numbers of various mixtures made with aggregate source IV and RAP in terms of Base Course mixture type (Base Types A and B) tested at 59°C (138.2°F). As shown in Figure 6-84, these mixtures had low flow numbers. In addition, mix IV SA had a higher flow number than mixture IV SB. In general, the mixtures made with aggregate source V had similar trends, as shown in the figures in Appendix C.



Figure 6-84 Flow Numbers of Various Mixtures for Aggregate Source IV with RAP in Terms of Base Mixture Type at 59°C (138.2°F)

6.2.11 Effect of Mixture Type on Flow Number of Surface Mixtures (Types A and B) Made with Different Aggregate Types and Binder Source 2

Figure 6-85 shows the flow numbers of various mixtures made with aggregate source IV using PG 76-22 from asphalt source 2 (Axeon) and RAP in terms of Surface Course mixture type (Surface Types A and B) tested at 59°C (138.2°F). As shown in Figure 6-85, mixture IV AN had a much higher flow number than mixture IV BN. In general, the other mixtures tested exhibited similar trends, as shown in the figures in Appendix C. The only exception was aggregate source V with asphalt source 1. In that case the flow number values for Surface Type B (PG 64-22) were slightly higher than Surface Type A (PG 76-22). This seems to validate the utilization of a higher binder grade (PG 76-22 vs. PG 64-22) on higher volume routes.



Figure 6-85 Flow Numbers Various Mixtures for Aggregate Source IV with RAP using Asphalt Source 2 in Terms of Surface Mixture Type at 59°C (138.2°F)

6.2.12 Effect of Binder Source on Flow Number of Various Surface Mixtures Made with Different Aggregate Types

Figure 6-86 shows that there were differences in flow number values for Surface Type A and B mixtures containing RAP in terms of binder source. The flow number values of all mixtures using binder source 1 were higher than the corresponding mixtures using binder source 2. In addition, when aggregate source V was utilized, the flow number differences between binder source 1 and 2 were very large. For the binders and materials tested in this research project, it can be concluded that the binder source has a major impact on the flow number. However, binder grade had an even larger impact than binder source. As shown in the figures in Appendix C, the mixtures in this study containing PG 76-22 generally exhibited higher flow number values than the mixtures containing PG 64-22 binders. The only exception was aggregate source V with asphalt source 1. In that case, the flow number values for Surface Type B (PG 64-22) were slightly higher than Surface Type A (PG 76-22). This seems to validate the utilization of a higher binder grade (PG 76-22 vs. PG 64-22) on higher volume routes.



Figure 6-86 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Mixtures for Aggregate Source IV with RAP in Terms of Binder Source at 59°C (138.2°F)

6.2.13 Effect of WMA on Flow Number of Surface Type C Mixtures Made with Different Aggregate Types

Figure 6-87 shows the flow numbers of various Surface Type C mixtures made with aggregate source IV and RAP in terms of WMA technology type tested at 59°C (138.2°F). As shown in Figure 6-87, these mixtures had similar flow number values that were low and did not meet the recommendations from AASHTO TP 79. In general, the mixtures from aggregate source V had similar trends, as shown in the figures in Appendix C.

In addition, Figure 6-88 indicates that the flow numbers of various Surface Type C mixtures utilizing either WMA technology type (chemical additive or foaming) were generally lower than corresponding mixtures without WMA, although these differences were more pronounced with aggregate source IV than with aggregate source V. It should also be noted that even without WMA, the Surface Type C mixtures from aggregate V produced low flow number values that did not meet recommendations from AASHTO TP 79.



Figure 6-87 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type C Mixtures for Aggregate Source IV with RAP in Terms of WMA Technology Type at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 6-88 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type C Mixtures for Various Aggregate Sources with RAP in Terms of with/without WMA Technology Type at 59°C (138.2°F)

6.2.14 Effect of Liquid ASAs on Flow Number of Surface Type C Mixtures Made with Different Aggregate Types

Figure 6-89 shows the flow numbers of various Surface Type C mixtures made with aggregate source IV and RAP in terms of liquid ASA type tested at 59°C (138.2°F). As shown in Figure 6-89, these mixtures had similar flow numbers. Aggregate source V showed a slightly larger difference in flow number values, as shown in the figures in Appendix C.

Figure 6-90 shows the flow numbers of various Surface Type C mixtures made with two aggregate sources (IV and V) and containing RAP in terms of with and without liquid ASA tested at 59°C (138.2°F). It is important to note that these flow number results varied based on the aggregate type. For aggregate source IV, the flow numbers for mixtures containing either type of liquid ASA were only slightly lower than without liquid ASA. However, the flow numbers for aggregate source V mixtures containing either type of liquid ASA were significantly higher than those without liquid ASA.



Figure 6-89 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type C Mixtures for Aggregate Source IV with RAP in Terms of Liquid ASA Type at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 6-90 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type C Mixtures for Aggregate Source IV with RAP in Terms of with/without Liquid ASA at 59°C (138.2°F)

6.2.15 Effect of Aging on Flow Number of Surface Mixtures (Types A, B and C) Made with Different Aggregate Types

Figure 6-91 shows the flow numbers of various mixtures made with aggregate source IV and RAP after long-term aging in terms of Surface Course mixture type (Surface Types A, B, and C) tested at 59°C (138.2°F). As shown in Figure 6-91, mix IV AG exhibited much higher flow number values than the other two mixture types. In general, the mixtures made with aggregate source V had similar trends, as shown in the figures in Appendix C.

Figure 6-92 shows the flow numbers of various mixtures, both with and without longterm aging, made with two aggregate sources (IV and V) and RAP in terms of Surface Course mixture type (Surface Types A, B, and C) tested at 59°C (138.2°F). The flow number values varied based on both aggregate type and mixture type. For aggregate source IV, flow number values of all three types of Surface mixtures were either similar or slightly higher after aging. However, for aggregate source V, Surface Type A and B mixtures exhibited significantly lower flow number values after aging, while Surface Type C mixtures exhibited the opposite.



Figure 6-91 Flow Numbers of Various Mixtures for Aggregate Source IV with RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Surface Mixture Type at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 6-92 Flow Numbers of Various Mixtures for Aggregate Source IV and V with RAP after Long-Term Aging or Not in Terms of Surface Mixture Type at 59°C (138.2°F)

6.2.16 Effects of RAP on Flow Number of Various Mixtures Made with Different Aggregate Types

6.2.16.1 Effects of RAP on Flow Number of Various Surface Mixtures Made with Different Aggregate Types

For the various types of Surface mixtures tested in this study, the effect of RAP varied with Surface mixture type. Figure 6-93 indicates that the flow number values of Surface Type A mixtures made with RAP from three aggregate sources were much higher than the flow number values of the mixtures containing no RAP and made from the same aggregate sources. Figure 6-94 indicates that the flow number values of Surface Type B mixtures made with RAP from three aggregate sources were similar to the flow number values of the mixtures containing no RAP made from the same aggregate sources. Figure 6-94 indicates that Surface Type C, D, and E mixtures made with RAP from various aggregate sources generally exhibited higher flow number values than the corresponding mixtures containing no RAP. It should be noted that this was true even when the mixtures had relatively low flow number values. The only exception was Surface Type C made with aggregate source V, which exhibited higher flow number values without RAP when compared to mixtures with RAP.



Figure 6-93 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type A Mixtures with/without RAP at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 6-94 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type B Mixtures with/without RAP at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 6-95 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type C Mixtures with/without RAP at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 6-96 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type D Mixtures with/without RAP at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 6-97 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type E Mixtures with/without RAP at 59°C (138.2°F)

6.2.16.2 Effects of RAP on Flow Number of Various Intermediate Mixtures Made with Different Aggregate Types

Figure 6-98 indicates that flow number values of Intermediate Type A mixtures made with RAP from two aggregate sources were generally higher than the flow number values of the mixtures containing no RAP from the same aggregate sources. This was true even though all of these mixtures had relatively low flow number values. Figure 6-99 and Figure 6-100 indicate similar results for Intermediate Type B and C mixtures made with and without RAP. It should be noted that all Intermediate Type A and B mixtures tested in this project exhibited flow number values below AASHTO minimum recommendation of 190 for higher volume pavements. Although the utilization of RAP resulted in somewhat higher flow number values, they still did not reach the minimum recommended value. The scope of this study did not allow for further investigation into the cause of this result.



Figure 6-98 Flow Numbers of Various Intermediate Type A mixtures with/without RAP at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 6-99 Flow Numbers of Various Intermediate Type B mixtures with/without RAP at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 6-100 Flow Numbers of Various Intermediate Type C mixtures with/without RAP at 59°C (138.2°F)

6.2.16.3 Effects of RAP on Flow Number of Various Base Mixtures Made with Different Aggregate Types

Figure 6-101 shows the flow number values of Base Type A mixtures made with and without RAP and two aggregate sources. The results indicate that the flow number values of mixes containing RAP were generally higher than the flow number values of the mixtures without RAP even though these mixtures had relatively low flow number values. Figure 6-102 shows similar results for Base Type B mixtures.







Figure 6-102 Flow Numbers of Various Base Type B mixtures with/without RAP at 59°C (138.2°F)

6.2.16.4 Effects of RAP on Flow Number of Surface Mixtures (Types A and B) Made with Binder Source 2 and Different Aggregate Types

Figure 6-103 and Figure 6-104 indicate that the flow number values of Surface Type A and B mixtures with and without RAP made with binder source 2 were generally affected by the aggregate sources used in this study. In both the Surface Type A and Type B mixtures, the flow number values were higher without RAP for aggregate IV, but they were lower without RAP for aggregate V. These differences were more obvious in the Surface Type A mixtures made with aggregate IV.



Figure 6-103 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type A Mixtures from Binder Source 2 with/without RAP at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 6-104 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type B Mixtures from Binder Source 2 with/without RAP at 59°C (138.2°F)

6.2.16.5 Effects of RAP on Flow Number of Surface Type C Mixtures Made with WMA and Different Aggregate Types

Figure 6-105 and Figure 6-106 show the flow number values of Surface Type C mixtures from two aggregate sources utilizing WMA technologies, both with and without RAP The flow number values were all low, and the presence of RAP did not affect the results.



Figure 6-105 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type C Mixtures from Chemical Additive WMA Technology with/without RAP at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 6-106 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type C Mixtures from Foaming WMA Technology with/without RAP at 59°C (138.2°F)

6.2.16.6 Effects of RAP on Flow Number of Surface Type C Mixtures Made with Liquid ASA and Different Aggregate Types

Figure 6-107 indicates that the flow number values of Surface Type C mixtures from two aggregate sources containing liquid ASA 1 and RAP were generally higher than the flow number values of the corresponding mixtures without RAP. This was true even though these mixtures exhibited relatively low flow number values. Figure 6-108 shows similar results for liquid ASA 2.



Figure 6-107 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type C Mixtures with Liquid ASA 1 with/without RAP at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 6-108 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type C Mixtures with Liquid ASA 2 with/without RAP at 59°C (138.2°F)

6.2.16.7 Effects of RAP on Flow Number of Aged Surface Mixtures (Types A, B, and C) Made with Different Aggregate Types

Figure 6-109, Figure 6-110, and Figure 6-111 shows the flow number values of Surface Type A, Surface Type B, and Surface Type C mixtures made with two aggregate sources, containing RAP, and subjected to a long-term aging procedure. The results indicate that the flow number values of the mixtures containing RAP were generally higher than the flow number values of the corresponding mixtures made without RAP. The only

exception was Surface Type B made with aggregate source IV, which exhibited similar flow number values for the aged mixtures, both with and without RAP.



Figure 6-109 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type A Mixtures after A Long-Term Aging Procedure with/without RAP at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 6-110 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type B Mixtures after A Long-Term Aging Procedure with/without RAP at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 6-111 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type C Mixtures after A Long-Term Aging Procedure with/without RAP at 59°C (138.2°F)

6.3 Master Curves of Various Mixtures

6.3.1 Analysis Method

The master curve model adopted in the Mechanistic-Empirical Pavement Design Guide (MEPDG) has the form of a sigmoidal function as shown below:

$$\log|E^*| = \delta + \frac{(|E^*|_{max} - \delta)}{1 + e^{\beta + \gamma \{\log(f_r)\}}}$$
(Equation 6-1)

Where,

- $|E^*|$: The dynamic modulus, MPa;
- f_r : The reduced frequency, Hz;
- $|E^*|_{max}$: Limiting maximum modulus, MPa;
- δ , β , and γ : Fitting parameters.

The maximum limiting modulus is estimated from mixture volumetric properties using the Hirsch model and a limiting binder modulus is 1GPa (145,000 psi) in these equations:

$$|E^*|_{max} = P_c \left[4.2 \times 10^6 \left(1 - \frac{VMA}{100} \right) + 4.35 \times 10^5 \left(\frac{VFA \times VMA}{10000} \right) \right] + \frac{1 - P_c}{\left[\frac{\left(1 - \frac{VMA}{100} \right)}{4.2 \times 10^6} + \frac{VMA}{4.35 \times 10^5 VFA} \right]}$$

(Equation 6-2)

Where,

$$P_{c} = \frac{\left(20 + \frac{4.35 \times 10^{5} VFA}{VMA}\right)^{0.58}}{650 + \left(\frac{4.35 \times 10^{5} VFA}{VMA}\right)^{0.58}}$$
(Equation 6-3)

- VMA: Voids in mineral aggregates, %; and
- *VFA*: Voids filled with asphalt, %.

The reduced frequency is defined as follows:

$$f_r = f \times \alpha_T$$
 or $\log f_r = \log f + \log \alpha_T$ (Equation 6-4)

Where,

- *f*: The loading frequency, Hz; and
- α_T : The time-temperature shift factor;

The Williams-Landel-Ferry (WLF) and Arrhenius equations are the most common used models for α_T of asphalt concrete. In this report the Arrhenius equation was used as shown in the following equation:

$$\log \alpha_T = \frac{\Delta E_a}{19.14714} \left(\frac{1}{T} - \frac{1}{T_r}\right)$$
 (Equation 6-5)

Where:

- *T*: Test temperature,°K;
- T_r : Reference temperature, °K; and
- ΔE_a : Activation energy (treated as a fitting parameter)

The master curves of dynamic modulus and phase angle values can be generated following the steps shown below:

Step 1. Estimate the Limiting Maximum Modulus, $|E^*|_{max}$

Using the average %VMA and %VFA of each specimen to calculate the limiting maximum modulus value as shown in Equation 6-2.

Step 2. Select the Reference Temperature, T_r

In this report, 20°C (68F) (293.15°K) was used as the reference temperature.

Step 3. Perform Numerical Optimization

Substitute $|E^*|_{max}$ and T_r selected into (Equation 6-5. Using numerical optimization to determine the four model coefficients of Equation 6.1 (δ , β , γ , and ΔE_a). The initial estimates recommended are the following: $\delta = 3.0$, $\beta = -1.0$, $\gamma = -0.5$, and $\Delta E_a = 200000$.

Step 4. Compute the Time-Temperature Shift Factor, α_T

Using $\log \alpha_{\rm T}$ (Equation 6-4 to compute α_T under 4°C (39.2°F) (277.15°K), 40°C (104°F) (313.15°K), and 45°C (113°F) (318.15°K for Surface Type A). The values of α_T under reference temperature 20°C (68°F) (293.15°K) were 1.0. Table 6-2 summarizes the values of $\log \alpha_T$.

	Shift fact	ors		Shift fact	ors		Shift fact	ors
type	4°C (39.2°F)	45°C (113°F)	type	4°C (39.2°F)	45°C (113°F)	type	4°C (39.2°F)	45°C (113°F)
IA	2.10	-2.85	VA	2.41	-3.28	V AN	2.12	-2.89
II A1	2.01	-2.73	VIA	2.15	-2.92	IVAON	2.06	-2.81
II A2	2.01	-2.73	IVAO	1.98	-2.70	V AON	2.02	-2.75
IIIA1	2.06	-2.80	V AO	2.28	-3.10	IVAG	2.09	-2.84
III A2	2.08	-2.84	VIAO	2.02	-2.75	V AG	2.13	-2.90
IVA	2.05	-2.79	IVAN	1.99	-2.71	IVAOG	2.10	-2.86
						V AOG	1.98	-2.70
B1	1.83	-2.03	IVCM	2.09	-2.32	V CF	1.94	-2.15
B2	1.97	-2.18	IVCOA	2.17	-2.40	V CG	2.02	-2.23
I C	2.13	-2.35	IVCOE	2.19	-2.42	V CM	2.31	-2.55
l D	2.01	-2.22	IVCOF	1.97	-2.18	V COA	2.15	-2.38
ΙE	2.08	-2.30	IVCOG	2.02	-2.23	V COE	2.04	-2.25
I EO	1.98	-2.19	IVCOM	2.16	-2.39	V COF	1.95	-2.16
ll B	2.08	-2.30	IVDO	1.97	-2.17	V COG	2.11	-2.33
ll C	1.91	-2.11	IVD	2.27	-2.51	V COM	2.21	-2.45
ll D	2.01	-2.23	IVEO	2.22	-2.46	V DO	2.15	-2.38
ШЕ	2.05	-2.27	IVE	2.23	-2.47	VD	2.40	-2.65
IIIB1	2.04	-2.25	IVIA	2.30	-2.54	V EO	2.38	-2.63
IIIB2	2.09	-2.32	IVIAO	2.02	-2.23	VΕ	2.48	-2.75
IIIC	1.98	-2.19	IVIB	2.06	-2.28	VIA	2.49	-2.75

Table 6-2 Shift Factor Values of α_T under Various Testing Temperatures

Mixture	Shift fact	ors	Mixture	Shift fact	ors	Mixture	Shift facto	
type	4°C (39.2°F)	45°C (113°F)	type	4°C (39.2°F)	45°C (113°F)	type	4°C (39.2°F)	45°C (113°F)
IIICO	2.03	-2.24	IVIBO	1.99	-2.21	V IAO	2.03	-2.25
llID	2.01	-2.22	IVIC	1.97	-2.18	V IB	2.07	-2.29
IIIDO	2.12	-2.34	IVICO	2.03	-2.25	V IBO	2.06	-2.28
IIIE	2.12	-2.34	IVSA	2.02	-2.23	V IC	1.96	-2.17
IIIEO	2.10	-2.32	IVSAO	1.95	-2.16	V ICO	2.10	-2.32
IVBON	2.10	-2.32	IVSB	1.75	-1.93	V SA	2.02	-2.24
IVB	2.12	-2.35	IVSBO	1.92	-2.13	V SAO	2.13	-2.35
IVBG	2.22	-2.45	V BO	1.98	-2.19	V SB	1.96	-2.17
IVBN	2.05	-2.27	VВ	2.44	-2.69	V SBO	2.10	-2.32
IVBOG	2.12	-2.35	V BG	1.99	-2.20	VIB	2.02	-2.23
IVBO	2.12	-2.34	V BN	2.24	-2.47	VIBO	2.09	-2.31
IVCO	2.21	-2.45	V BOG	1.99	-2.20	VIC	2.04	-2.26
IVC	2.18	-2.41	V BON	2.15	-2.38	VICO	1.99	-2.20
IVCA	2.15	-2.37	VCO	1.94	-2.15	VID	1.96	-2.17
IVCE	2.03	-2.25	VC	2.25	-2.49	VIDO	2.00	-2.21
IVCF	2.03	-2.24	V CA	2.23	-2.47	VIE	2.01	-2.23
IIIB	1.97	-2.17	VIIIB	2.02	-2.23			

6.3.2 Sample Developed Master Curves

Figure 6-112 shows an example of a dynamic modulus master curve for Surface Type A using aggregate source I. It is important to note that the curve in red provides the data points for inputting into the MEPDG. As shown in Figure 6-112, these shifted curves can be used to determine the dynamic modulus values, which were not tested in the

laboratory, but should be employed at the MEPDG requiring higher and lower test temperatures.



Figure 6-112 Typical Master Curve of Dynamic Modulus for Surface A Mixture Made With Aggregate Source I

6.3.3 Results of Master Curve Development

The master curves of dynamic modulus values for various mixtures are shown in Appendix D. The following results were noted with respect to dynamic modulus:

- In general, the master dynamic modulus curves of different Surface Course types and different aggregate sources showed different trends. It can be noted that the dynamic modulus values of aggregate sources V and II and containing RAP were the highest and the lowest in most cases, respectively. However, it can also be noted that aggregate sources V and IV and containing no RAP showed the highest and the lowest values, respectively.
- As for Intermediate and Base Courses, the dynamic modulus values of the mixtures made with aggregate source V were mostly higher than those of the mixtures containing aggregate source IV. For Intermediate Type B Special mixtures, dynamic modulus values were similar, regardless of aggregate source.
- The dynamic modulus values of Surface Type C mixtures made with aggregate sources IV and V, containing RAP, and using WMA technologies were similar. However, Surface Type C mixtures using WMA technologies with those same two aggregate sources without RAP showed significant difference.

- The dynamic modulus values of Surface Type C mixtures containing aggregate source V were higher than those of aggregate source IV regardless of liquid ASA type when these mixtures both contained RAP. However, for those same mixtures without RAP, the dynamic modulus values for both aggregate sources (IV and V) were similar.
- For Surface Type A mixtures containing RAP and conditioned with a long-term aging procedure, the dynamic modulus values were similar for both aggregate sources. However, for those same mixtures without RAP, aggregate source V showed higher values than aggregate source IV. This effect was more pronounced at lower values of reduced frequency. Surface Type B and C aged mixtures showed a different trend than the Surface Type A aged mixtures. The aged mixtures without RAP exhibited similar dynamic modulus values for both aggregate sources, while aggregate source V exhibited higher values than aggregate source IV for those same mixtures containing RAP. Again, this effect was more pronounced at lower values of reduced frequency.

With respect to the phase angle, the following trends were observed:

- The master curves of phase angles from various Surface Course types and different aggregate sources showed different trends. The phase angle values of the mixtures from aggregate source V with or without RAP were the lowest in most cases under a reduced frequency.
- As for the Intermediate and Base courses, the aggregate source did not affect the phase angle values in terms of the mixtures made with aggregate sources IV and V. Intermediate Type B special mixtures made with aggregate sources II and IIV also showed similar trends.
- The phase angle values of Surface Type C mixtures using the WMA chemical additive technology were slightly higher than those values of Surface Type C mixes using WMA-foaming technology.

6.4 Model Development

6.4.1 Data summary and analysis

In order to develop and calibrate the models for predicting dynamic modulus and flow numbers for the materials tested for this project, a large amount of experimental data was acquired. The data, for the most part, included the dynamic modulus and flow number test data. The parameters used to calculate the dynamic modulus and flow numbers were divided into model parameters and non-model parameters. As for the Witczak model, as shown in previous chapters, the model parameters included test temperature, loading frequency, volumetric properties of asphalt mixture, complex shear modulus, and phase angle of binder. The non-model parameters consisted of the six Surface Course types, three Intermediate Course types, two Base Course types, two binder sources, two warm mix asphalt (WMA) technologies, two liquid anti-strip additives (ASAs), and the long-term aging affects.

The parameters considered in the Hirsch model were same as those in the Witczak model except that the phase angle of the used binder was not regarded as a model parameter. In addition, Kaloush (2001) flow number prediction model was used to simulate flow number in this study.

6.4.2 Data processing of Witczak model

All data points of each parameter were summarized from the dynamic modulus test data and job mix design sheets provide by SCDOT. The following steps were followed to develop the model.

Step 1: Obtain the measured dynamic modulus value.

At first, the measured values of dynamic modulus values were collected from the original data in terms of different temperatures and frequencies. There were some small differences in these dynamic modulus values for various Surface Course mixture types due to different binder grades used for this portion of the research study. For example, because the Surface Type A mixtures contained PG 76-22 binder, the test temperatures for those mixture sincluded 4°C (39.2°F), 20°C (68°F), and 45 °C. However, for all of the mixture types containing PG 64-22 binder (Surface Types B, C, D, and E; all Intermediate Course mixtures; and all Base Course mixtures), the test temperatures used consisted of 4°C (39.2°F), 20°C (68°F), and 40°C (104°F). All detailed information is shown in Table 6-3.

Witczak model	Surface Type A	Surface Types B, C, D, and E;
		Base mixes; Intermediate mixes
Temperature °C (°F)	4, 20, 45 (39.2, 68, 113)	4, 20, 40 (39.2, 68, 104)
Frequency (Hz)	0.1, 0.2, 0.5, 1, 2, 5, 10, 20, 25	0.01, 0.1 ,0.2, 0.5, 1, 2, 5, 10
Binder grade	PG 76-22	PG 64-22

Step 2: Acquire the volumetric properties of asphalt mixture.

Some parameters such as percent void content, the passing rate, and the accumulated screening rate were collected from the job mix designs directly. However, effective asphalt contents (by volume of the mixture) were calculated as the steps listed in Figure 6-113. In addition, the dynamic modulus and the flow number testing were conducted for each asphalt mixture at three target air void levels.



Where: γ_{se} : effective relative density of aggregates;

R_{sb}: bulk specific gravity; P_{ba}: asphalt content which was absorbed by aggregates; P_b: asphalt content (is not equal to the OAC); P_{be}: effective asphalt content, % by gravity; V_{beff}: effective asphalt content, % by volume.



Step 3: Determine the complex shear modulus and the phase angle of the binder.

The model also needed to consider the properties of binder at different temperatures and frequencies. In other words, the rheological behaviors of the binders at different temperatures and frequencies can also influence the dynamic modulus of asphalt mixtures. The fitting of formulas to calculate the complex shear modulus and phase angle at different frequencies and various temperatures was conducted according to the test results from dynamic shear rheometer. The conducted test results are summarized in Table 6-4 to Table 6-9.

Step 4: Determine the predicted values of dynamic modulus.

The Witczak model has been mentioned above, so the predicted values of dynamic modulus can be obtained after inputting the required parameters. Table 6-10 to Table 6-12 show the measured values of dynamic modulus of IA mixtures at 4, 20, and 45°C (39.2, 68, and 113°F).

	G*	δ								
Slope	0.36	-7.27								
Intercept	7.65	34.41								
Frequency(Hz)	0.01	0.1	0.2	0.5	1	2	5	10	20	25
Log (F)	-2.00	-1.00	-0.70	-0.30	0.00	0.30	0.70	1.00	1.30	1.40
Log (G*)	6.93	7.29	7.40	7.55	7.65	7.76	7.91	8.01	8.12	8.16
G* (Pa)	8.60E+06	1.97E+07	2.53E+07	3.52E+07	4.51E+07	5.79E+07	8.05E+07	1.03E+08	1.33E+08	1.44E+08
G* (Psi)	1.25E+03	2.86E+03	3.67E+03	5.10E+03	6.54E+03	8.40E+03	1.17E+04	1.49E+04	1.93E+04	2.09E+04
Phase Angle	48.96	41.69	39.50	36.60	34.41	32.22	29.33	27.14	24.95	24.24

Table 6-4 G* Values and Phase Angles of PG 76-22 at 4°C (39.2°F)

Table 6-5 G* Values and Phase Angles of PG 76-22 at 20°C (68°F)

	G*	δ								
Slope	0.60	-7.74								
Intercept	6.48	55.60								
Frequency(Hz)	0.01	0.1	0.2	0.5	1	2	5	10	20	25
Log (F)	-2.00	-1.00	-0.70	-0.30	0.00	0.30	0.70	1.00	1.30	1.40
Log (G*)	5.28	5.88	6.06	6.30	6.48	6.66	6.90	7.08	7.26	7.32
G* (Pa)	1.89E+05	7.53E+05	1.14E+06	1.98E+06	3.00E+06	4.54E+06	7.88E+06	1.19E+07	1.81E+07	2.07E+07
G* (Psi)	2.74E+01	1.09E+02	1.65E+02	2.87E+02	4.35E+02	6.58E+02	1.14E+03	1.73E+03	2.62E+03	3.00E+03
Phase Angle	71.07	63.33	61.00	57.93	55.60	53.27	50.19	47.86	45.53	44.78

	G*	δ								
Slope	0.74	2.45								
Intercept	4.46	66.21								
Frequency(Hz)	0.01	0.1	0.2	0.5	1	2	5	10	20	25
Log (F)	-2.00	-1.00	-0.70	-0.30	0.00	0.30	0.70	1.00	1.30	1.40
Log (G*)	2.98	3.72	3.94	4.24	4.46	4.68	4.98	5.20	5.42	5.49
G* (Pa)	9.51E+02	5.23E+03	8.74E+03	1.72E+04	2.88E+04	4.80E+04	9.47E+04	1.58E+05	2.64E+05	3.12E+05
G* (Psi)	1.38E-01	7.58E-01	1.27E+00	2.49E+00	4.18E+00	6.96E+00	1.37E+01	2.29E+01	3.83E+01	4.52E+01
Phase Angle	61.32	63.77	64.50	65.48	66.21	66.95	67.92	68.66	69.40	69.63

Table 6-6 G* Values and Phase Angles of PG 76-22 at 45°C (113°F)

Table 6-7 G* Values and Phase Angles of PG 64-22 at 4°C (39.2°F)

	G*	δ								
Slope	0.36	-8.58								
Intercept	7.77	35.38								
Frequency(Hz)	0.01	0.1	0.2	0.5	1	2	5	10	20	25
Log (F)	-2.00	-1.00	-0.70	-0.30	0.00	0.30	0.70	1.00	1.30	1.40
Log (G*)	7.05	7.41	7.52	7.66	7.77	7.87	8.01	8.12	8.23	8.26
G* (Pa)	1.13E+07	2.56E+07	3.28E+07	4.55E+07	5.82E+07	7.46E+07	1.03E+08	1.32E+08	1.70E+08	1.84E+08
G* (Psi)	1.64E+03	3.71E+03	4.76E+03	6.60E+03	8.44E+03	1.08E+04	1.49E+04	1.91E+04	2.47E+04	2.67E+04
Phase Angle	52.53	43.95	41.37	37.96	35.38	32.79	29.38	26.80	24.22	23.38

	G*	δ								
Slope	0.66	-10.38								
Intercept	6.47	62.02								
Frequency(Hz)	0.01	0.1	0.2	0.5	1	2	5	10	20	25
Log (F)	-2.00	-1.00	-0.70	-0.30	0.00	0.30	0.70	1.00	1.30	1.40
Log (G*)	5.15	5.81	6.01	6.27	6.47	6.67	6.93	7.13	7.32	7.39
G* (Pa)	1.42E+05	6.47E+05	1.02E+06	1.87E+06	2.94E+06	4.64E+06	8.48E+06	1.34E+07	2.11E+07	2.44E+07
G* (Psi)	2.06E+01	9.38E+01	1.48E+02	2.71E+02	4.26E+02	6.73E+02	1.23E+03	1.94E+03	3.06E+03	3.54E+03
Phase Angle	82.78	72.40	69.27	65.14	62.02	58.89	54.76	51.64	48.51	47.50

Table 6-8 G* Values and Phase Angles of PG 64-22 at 20°C (68°F)

Table 6-9 G* Values and Phase Angles of PG 64-22 at $40^{\circ}C$ ($104^{\circ}F$)

	G*	δ								
Slope	0.92	-4.32								
Intercept	4.48	83.28								
Frequency(Hz)	0.01	0.1	0.2	0.5	1	2	5	10	20	25
Log (F)	-2.00	-1.00	-0.70	-0.30	0.00	0.30	0.70	1.00	1.30	1.40
Log (G*)	2.64	3.56	3.84	4.20	4.48	4.75	5.12	5.39	5.67	5.76
G* (Pa)	4.38E+02	3.62E+03	6.85E+03	1.59E+04	3.00E+04	5.66E+04	1.31E+05	2.48E+05	4.68E+05	5.75E+05
G* (Psi)	6.35E-02	5.25E-01	9.93E-01	2.31E+00	4.35E+00	8.21E+00	1.90E+01	3.60E+01	6.79E+01	8.34E+01
Phase Angle	91.93	87.60	86.30	84.58	83.28	81.98	80.26	78.95	77.65	77.23

	Frequency (Hz)	Measured value of E* (MPa)	Measured value of E* (psi)	ρ200	ρ4	ρ38	ρ 34	Va	Vbeff	G _{b*} (psi)	δ	Predicted value of E* (log, psi)	Measured value of E* (log, psi)
		19074	2765730	4.85	39	11	0	6.32	11.55	20828.85	24.24	6.10	6.44
	25	18248	2645960	4.85	39	11	0	5.78	11.55	20828.85	24.24	6.11	6.42
		17371	2518795	4.85	39	11	0	6.44	11.55	20828.85	24.24	6.10	6.40
		18805	2726725	4.85	39	11	0	6.32	11.55	19221.79	24.95	6.09	6.44
	20	17906	2596370	4.85	39	11	0	5.78	11.55	19221.79	24.95	6.10	6.41
		17106	2480370	4.85	39	11	0	6.44	11.55	19221.79	24.95	6.09	6.39
		17783	2578535	4.85	39	11	0	6.32	11.55	14978.67	27.14	6.06	6.41
IA	10	17042	2471090	4.85	39	11	0	5.78	11.55	14978.67	27.14	6.07	6.39
		16242	2355090	4.85	39	11	0	6.44	11.55	14978.67	27.14	6.06	6.37
		16801	2436145	4.85	39	11	0	6.32	11.55	11672.19	29.33	6.03	6.39
	5	16137	2339865	4.85	39	11	0	5.78	11.55	11672.19	29.33	6.04	6.37
		15332	2223140	4.85	39	11	0	6.44	11.55	11672.19	29.33	6.03	6.35
		15543	2253735	4.85	39	11	0	6.32	11.55	8393.83	32.22	5.99	6.35
	2	14985	2172825	4.85	39	11	0	5.78	11.55	8393.83	32.22	6.00	6.34
		14165	2053925	4.85	39	11	0	6.44	11.55	8393.83	32.22	5.98	6.31

Table 6-10 Typical Measured and Predicted Values of Dynamic Modulus of IA at 4°C (39.2°F) based on Witczak model

	Frequency (Hz)	Measured value of E* (MPa)	Measured value of E* (psi)	ρ200	ρ4	ρ 38	ρ 34	Va	Vbeff	G _{b*} (psi)	δ	Predicted value of E* (log, psi)	Measured value of E* (log, psi)
		14566	2112070	4.85	39	11	0	6.32	11.55	6540.93	34.41	5.95	6.32
	1	14054	2037830	4.85	39	11	0	5.78	11.55	6540.93	34.41	5.97	6.31
		13235	1919075	4.85	39	11	0	6.44	11.55	6540.93	34.41	5.95	6.28
		13526	1961270	4.85	39	11	0	6.32	11.55	5097.05	36.60	5.92	6.29
	0.5	13191	1912695	4.85	39	11	0	5.78	11.55	5097.05	36.60	5.93	6.28
IA		12318	1786110	4.85	39	11	0	6.44	11.55	5097.05	36.60	5.91	6.25
		12153	1762185	4.85	39	11	0	6.32	11.55	3665.45	39.50	5.87	6.25
	0.2	11996	1739420	4.85	39	11	0	5.78	11.55	3665.45	39.50	5.88	6.24
		11128	1613560	4.85	39	11	0	6.44	11.55	3665.45	39.50	5.86	6.21
		11102	1609790	4.85	39	11	0	6.32	11.55	2856.32	41.69	5.82	6.21
	0.1	11067	1604715	4.85	39	11	0	5.78	11.55	2856.32	41.69	5.84	6.21
		10173	1475085	4.85	39	11	0	6.44	11.55	2856.32	41.69	5.82	6.17

	Frequency (Hz)	Measured value of E* (MPa)	Measured value of E* (psi)	ρ200	ρ4	ρ 38	ρ 34	Va	Vbeff	G _{b*} (psi)	δ	Predicted value of E* (log, psi)	Measured value of E* (log, psi)
		11105	1610225	4.85	39	11	0	6.32	11.55	3000.88	44.78	5.82	6.21
	25	11129	1613705	4.85	39	11	0	5.78	11.55	3000.88	44.78	5.83	6.21
		10342	1499590	4.85	39	11	0	6.44	11.55	3000.88	44.78	5.81	6.18
	20	10773	1562085	4.85	39	11	0	6.32	11.55	2624.73	45.53	5.80	6.19
		10803	1566435	4.85	39	11	0	5.78	11.55	2624.73	45.53	5.81	6.20
		9989	1448405	4.85	39	11	0	6.44	11.55	2624.73	45.53	5.79	6.16
	10	9626	1395770	4.85	39	11	0	6.32	11.55	1731.44	47.86	5.73	6.14
IA		9762	1415490	4.85	39	11	0	5.78	11.55	1731.44	47.86	5.74	6.15
		8982	1302390	4.85	39	11	0	6.44	11.55	1731.44	47.86	5.73	6.11
	5	8565	1241925	4.85	39	11	0	6.32	11.55	1142.17	50.19	5.66	6.09
		8737	1266865	4.85	39	11	0	5.78	11.55	1142.17	50.19	5.67	6.10
		8007	1161015	4.85	39	11	0	6.44	11.55	1142.17	50.19	5.66	6.06
	2	7246	1050670	4.85	39	11	0	6.32	11.55	659.01	53.27	5.56	6.02
		7484	1085180	4.85	39	11	0	5.78	11.55	659.01	53.27	5.58	6.04
		6809	987305	4.85	39	11	0	6.44	11.55	659.01	53.27	5.56	5.99

Table 6-11 Typical Measured and Predicted Values of Dynamic Modulus of IA at 20°C (68°F) based on Witczak model

	Frequency (Hz)	Measured value of E* (MPa)	Measured value of E* (psi)	ρ200	ρ4	ρ 38	ρ 34	Va	Vbeff	G _{b*} (psi)	δ	Predicted value of E* (log, psi)	Measured value of E* (log, psi)
	1	6329	917705	4.85	39	11	0	6.32	11.55	434.73	55.60	5.48	5.96
		6594	956130	4.85	39	11	0	5.78	11.55	434.73	55.60	5.50	5.98
		5974	866230	4.85	39	11	0	6.44	11.55	434.73	55.60	5.48	5.94
	0.5	5460	791700	4.85	39	11	0	6.32	11.55	286.77	57.93	5.40	5.90
		5756	834620	4.85	39	11	0	5.78	11.55	286.77	57.93	5.42	5.92
ΤΔ		5192	752840	4.85	39	11	0	6.44	11.55	286.77	57.93	5.40	5.88
IA	0.2	4428	642060	4.85	39	11	0	6.32	11.55	165.46	61.00	5.29	5.81
		4744	687880	4.85	39	11	0	5.78	11.55	165.46	61.00	5.30	5.84
		4252	616540	4.85	39	11	0	6.44	11.55	165.46	61.00	5.29	5.79
	0.1	3766	546070	4.85	39	11	0	6.32	11.55	109.15	63.33	5.20	5.74
		4089	592905	4.85	39	11	0	5.78	11.55	109.15	63.33	5.22	5.77
		3651	529395	4.85	39	11	0	6.44	11.55	109.15	63.33	5.20	5.72

	Frequency (Hz)	Measured value of E* (MPa)	Measured value of E* (psi)	ρ200	ρ4	ρ 38	ρ 34	Va	V _{beff}	G _{b*} (psi)	δ	Predicted value of E* (log, psi)	Measured value of E* (log, psi)
	10	2130	308850	4.85	39	11	0	6.32	11.55	22.93	68.66	4.88	5.49
		2310	334950	4.85	39	11	0	5.78	11.55	22.93	68.66	4.89	5.53
		2089	302905	4.85	39	11	0	6.44	11.55	22.93	68.66	4.87	5.48
	5	1713	248385	4.85	39	11	0	6.32	11.55	13.73	67.92	4.78	5.40
		1884	273180	4.85	39	11	0	5.78	11.55	13.73	67.92	4.80	5.44
		1691	245195	4.85	39	11	0	6.44	11.55	13.73	67.92	4.78	5.39
	2	1243	180235	4.85	39	11	0	6.32	11.55	6.97	66.95	4.66	5.26
IA		1400	203000	4.85	39	11	0	5.78	11.55	6.97	66.95	4.67	5.31
		1249	181105	4.85	39	11	0	6.44	11.55	6.97	66.95	4.65	5.26
		949	137649	4.85	39	11	0	6.32	11.55	4.17	66.21	4.57	5.14
	1	1081	156745	4.85	39	11	0	5.78	11.55	4.17	66.21	4.58	5.20
		956	138548	4.85	39	11	0	6.44	11.55	4.17	66.21	4.56	5.14
		746	108170	4.85	39	11	0	6.32	11.55	2.50	65.48	4.48	5.03
	0.5	864	125237	4.85	39	11	0	5.78	11.55	2.50	65.48	4.49	5.10
		765	110911	4.85	39	11	0	6.44	11.55	2.50	65.48	4.48	5.05

Table 6-12 Typical Measured and Predicted Values of Dynamic Modulus of IA at 45°C (113°F) Based on Witczak model

	Frequency (Hz)	Measured value of E* (MPa)	Measured value of E* (psi)	ρ200	ρ4	ρ 38	ρ 34	Va	V _{beff}	G _{b*} (psi)	δ	Predicted value of E* (log, psi)	Measured value of E* (log, psi)
	0.2	536	77706	4.85	39	11	0	6.32	11.55	1.27	64.50	4.37	4.89
		628	91046	4.85	39	11	0	5.78	11.55	1.27	64.50	4.38	4.96
		558	80910	4.85	39	11	0	6.44	11.55	1.27	64.50	4.36	4.91
	0.1	415	60161	4.85	39	11	0	6.32	11.55	0.76	63.77	4.29	4.78
IA		491	71253	4.85	39	11	0	5.78	11.55	0.76	63.77	4.30	4.85
		437	63365	4.85	39	11	0	6.44	11.55	0.76	63.77	4.28	4.80
		203	29493	4.85	39	11	0	6.32	11.55	0.14	61.32	4.06	4.47
	0.01	240	34815	4.85	39	11	0	5.78	11.55	0.14	61.32	4.07	4.54
		215	31132	4.85	39	11	0	6.44	11.55	0.14	61.32	4.06	4.49
6.4.3 Data processing of Hirsch model

The Hirsch model, as described previously, was also conducted to determine the predicted dynamic modulus as part of this research. In this process, similar methodology to the Witczak model was employed. However, some new parameters were involved in developing the Hirsch model.

Step 1: Collect the measured value of dynamic modulus.

This step was the same as Witczak model.

Step 2: Obtain the volumetric properties of asphalt mixtures.

Obtaining void content, the passing rate, and the accumulated screening rate was the same as the Witczak model. However, when calculating the effective asphalt content, the equations for VMA and VFA listed below were utilized.

$$V_{beff} = \frac{\gamma_f \times OAC}{\gamma_b}$$
 (Equation 6-6)

Where,

- γ_f : Bulk specific gravity of asphalt mixture;
- γ_b : Specific gravity of binder.

$$VMA = V_{beff} + VV$$
 (Equation 6-7)

Where,

- *VMA*: voids in the mineral aggregate
- *VV*: void content.

$$VFA = \frac{V_{beff} \times 100}{VMA}$$
 (Equation 6-8)

Where,

• VFA: voids filled with asphalt

Step 3: Determine the complex shear modulus of binder.

This model only needed the complex shear modulus of the binder, unlike the Witczak model, which also required phase angle.

Step 4: Determine the predicted value of dynamic modulus.

The predicted values of dynamic modulus from the Hirsch model were obtained after inputting several testing values and the required parameters. The typical obtained values are shown in Table 6-13 to Table 6-15.

	Frequency (Hz)	Measured value of E* (MPa)	Measured value of E* (psi)	Vbeff	VMA	VFA	Pc	VV	G _b * (psi)	Predicted value of E* (psi)
		19074	2765730	11.25	17.57	64.02	0.66	6.32	20828.85	2374500.61
	25	18248	2645960	11.25	17.03	66.05	0.67	5.78	20828.85	2420246.05
		17371	2518795	11.25	17.69	63.59	0.66	6.44	20828.85	2364474.96
		18805	2726725	11.25	17.57	64.02	0.65	6.32	19221.79	2334476.02
	20	17906	2596370	11.25	17.03	66.05	0.66	5.78	19221.79	2380330.76
		17106	2480370	11.25	17.69	63.59	0.65	6.44	19221.79	2324430.60
	10	17783	2578535	11.25	17.57	64.02	0.62	6.32	14978.67	2207842.68
IA		17042	2471090	11.25	17.03	66.05	0.63	5.78	14978.67	2253866.38
		16242	2355090	11.25	17.69	63.59	0.62	6.44	14978.67	2197773.61
		16801	2436145	11.25	17.57	64.02	0.58	6.32	11672.19	2078410.32
	5	16137	2339865	11.25	17.03	66.05	0.59	5.78	11672.19	2124324.22
		15332	2223140	11.25	17.69	63.59	0.58	6.44	11672.19	2068379.07
		15543	2253735	11.25	17.57	64.02	0.54	6.32	8393.83	1904742.18
	2	14985	2172825	11.25	17.03	66.05	0.55	5.78	8393.83	1950047.42
		14165	2053925	11.25	17.69	63.59	0.54	6.44	8393.83	1894862.50

Table 6-13 Typical Measured and Predicted Values of Dynamic Modulus of IA at 4°C (39.2°F) Based on Hirsch Model

	Frequency (Hz)	Measured value of E* (MPa)	Measured value of E* (psi)	Vbeff	VMA	VFA	Pc	VV	G _b * (psi)	Predicted value of E* (psi)
		14566	2112070	11.25	17.57	64.02	0.50	6.32	6540.93	1772879.69
	1	14054	2037830	11.25	17.03	66.05	0.51	5.78	6540.93	1817359.59
		13235	1919075	11.25	17.69	63.59	0.50	6.44	6540.93	1763194.11
	0.5	13526	1961270	11.25	17.57	64.02	0.47	6.32	5097.05	1641921.93
		13191	1912695	11.25	17.03	66.05	0.47	5.78	5097.05	1685263.55
ΤΔ		12318	1786110	11.25	17.69	63.59	0.46	6.44	5097.05	1632498.07
17.1		12153	1762185	11.25	17.57	64.02	0.42	6.32	3665.45	1472232.54
	0.2	11996	1739420	11.25	17.03	66.05	0.43	5.78	3665.45	1513615.73
		11128	1613560	11.25	17.69	63.59	0.42	6.44	3665.45	1463251.94
	0.1	11102	1609790	11.25	17.57	64.02	0.38	6.32	2856.32	1347926.42
		11067	1604715	11.25	17.03	66.05	0.39	5.78	2856.32	1387521.34
		10173	1475085	11.25	17.69	63.59	0.38	6.44	2856.32	1339346.27

	Frequency (Hz)	Measured value of E* (MPa)	Measured value of E* (psi)	Vbeff	VMA	VFA	Pc	VV	G _b * (psi)	Predicted value of E* (psi)
		11105	1610225	11.25	17.57	64.02	0.39	6.32	3000.88	1372195.86
	25	11129	1613705	11.25	17.03	66.05	0.40	5.78	3000.88	1412163.71
		10342	1499590	11.25	17.69	63.59	0.39	6.44	3000.88	1363532.45
		10773	1562085	11.25	17.57	64.02	0.37	6.32	2624.73	1306790.02
	20	10803	1566435	11.25	17.03	66.05	0.38	5.78	2624.73	1345726.32
		9989	1448405	11.25	17.69	63.59	0.37	6.44	2624.73	1298356.66
	10	9626	1395770	11.25	17.57	64.02	0.32	6.32	1731.44	1113314.34
IA		9762	1415490	11.25	17.03	66.05	0.33	5.78	1731.44	1148700.58
		8982	1302390	11.25	17.69	63.59	0.32	6.44	1731.44	1105667.40
		8565	1241925	11.25	17.57	64.02	0.27	6.32	1142.17	937049.60
	5	8737	1266865	11.25	17.03	66.05	0.28	5.78	1142.17	968541.95
		8007	1161015	11.25	17.69	63.59	0.27	6.44	1142.17	930258.49
	2	7246	1050670	11.25	17.57	64.02	0.21	6.32	659.01	733863.62
		7484	1085180	11.25	17.03	66.05	0.22	5.78	659.01	760070.74
		6809	987305	11.25	17.69	63.59	0.21	6.44	659.01	728226.19

Table 6-14 Typical Measured and Predicted Values of Dynamic Modulus of IA at 20°C (68°F) Based on Hirsch Model

	Frequency (Hz)	Measured value of E* (MPa)	Measured value of E* (psi)	Vbeff	VMA	VFA	Pc	VV	G _b * (psi)	Predicted value of E* (psi)
		6329	917705	11.25	17.57	64.02	0.17	6.32	434.73	603443.60
	1	6594	956130	11.25	17.03	66.05	0.18	5.78	434.73	625800.03
		5974	866230	11.25	17.69	63.59	0.17	6.44	434.73	598642.22
	0.5	5460	791700	11.25	17.57	64.02	0.14	6.32	286.77	492396.44
		5756	834620	11.25	17.03	66.05	0.15	5.78	286.77	511185.93
IA		5192	752840	11.25	17.69	63.59	0.14	6.44	286.77	488366.70
11 1		4428	642060	11.25	17.57	64.02	0.11	6.32	165.46	372820.64
	0.2	4744	687880	11.25	17.03	66.05	0.11	5.78	165.46	387465.08
		4252	616540	11.25	17.69	63.59	0.11	6.44	165.46	369684.64
	0.1	3766	546070	11.25	17.57	64.02	0.09	6.32	109.15	300503.82
		4089	592905	11.25	17.03	66.05	0.09	5.78	109.15	312482.28
		3651	529395	11.25	17.69	63.59	0.09	6.44	109.15	297941.13

	Frequency (Hz)	Measured value of E* (MPa)	Measured value of E* (psi)	Vbeff	VMA	VFA	Pc	VV	G _b * (psi)	Predicted value of E* (psi)
		11.25	1631.25	17.57	64.02	0.04	6.32	22.93	132409.93	912.93
	10	11.25	1631.25	17.03	66.05	0.04	5.78	22.93	137654.13	949.09
		11.25	1631.25	17.69	63.59	0.04	6.44	22.93	131290.78	905.22
	5	11.25	1631.25	17.57	64.02	0.03	6.32	13.73	102041.57	703.55
		11.25	1631.25	17.03	66.05	0.03	5.78	13.73	105954.35	730.53
		11.25	1631.25	17.69	63.59	0.03	6.44	13.73	101207.08	697.80
	2	11.25	1631.25	17.57	64.02	0.02	6.32	6.97	73933.23	509.75
IA		11.25	1631.25	17.03	66.05	0.02	5.78	6.97	76546.65	527.77
		11.25	1631.25	17.69	63.59	0.02	6.44	6.97	73376.28	505.91
		11.25	1631.25	17.57	64.02	0.02	6.32	4.17	59490.80	410.17
	1	11.25	1631.25	17.03	66.05	0.02	5.78	4.17	61391.59	423.28
		11.25	1631.25	17.69	63.59	0.02	6.44	4.17	59085.87	407.38
	0.5	11.25	1631.25	17.57	64.02	0.01	6.32	2.50	49376.73	340.44
		11.25	1631.25	17.03	66.05	0.01	5.78	2.50	50745.41	349.88
		11.25	1631.25	17.69	63.59	0.01	6.44	2.50	49085.11	338.43

Table 6-15 Typical Measured and Predicted Values of Dynamic Modulus of IA at 40°C (104°F) Based on Hirsch Model

	Frequency (Hz)	Measured value of E* (MPa)	Measured value of E* (psi)	Vbeff	VMA	VFA	Pc	VV	G _b * (psi)	Predicted value of E* (psi)
		11.25	1631.25	17.57	64.02	0.01	6.32	1.27	40800.41	281.31
	0.2	11.25	1631.25	17.03	66.05	0.01	5.78	1.27	41682.00	287.39
		11.25	1631.25	17.69	63.59	0.01	6.44	1.27	40612.24	280.01
		11.25	1631.25	17.57	64.02	0.01	6.32	0.76	36830.91	253.94
IA	0.1	11.25	1631.25	17.03	66.05	0.01	5.78	0.76	37469.76	258.34
		11.25	1631.25	17.69	63.59	0.01	6.44	0.76	36694.11	253.00
		11.25	1631.25	17.57	64.02	0.01	6.32	0.14	31514.66	217.29
	0.01	11.25	1631.25	17.03	66.05	0.01	5.78	0.14	31801.93	219.27
		11.25	1631.25	17.69	63.59	0.01	6.44	0.14	31451.95	216.85

6.4.4 Data Processing of Kaloush Model

In this portion of the study, the Kaloush model, as described previously, was used to conduct the predicted flow number of various mixtures.

Step 1: Collect measured value of flow number.

The measured value of flow number was summarized from the original data.

Step 2: Obtain the volumetric properties of asphalt mixture.

VV and V_{beff} were obtained in the same manner as for the Witczak model.

Step 3: Determine the viscosity of binders.

The viscosity values of two binders at the test temperatures of flow tests for various mixtures were obtained, as shown in Table 6-16.

	Viscosity (10 ⁶ p)
PG 76-22	0.89
PG 64-22	0.08

Table 6-16 Viscosity Values of Two Binders

Step 4: Determine the predicted flow number value.

The predicted flow number values (Figure 6-114) were obtained after inputting the required parameters to the model. Table 6-17 shows the typical measured and predicted values of flow numbers of AA and AB mixtures at 59°C (138.2F).

Table 6-17 Typical Measured and Predicted Flow Number Values of ID and IE at 59°C
(138.2°F) Based on Kaloush Model

	Measured value(circle)	T(°C)	Viscosity (10 ⁶ p)	VV	V _{beff}	Predicted value(circle)
ID	245	59	0.08	5.67	12.26	23.02
	286	59	0.08	6.14	12.26	22.74
	211	59	0.08	5.66	12.26	23.03
IE	228	59	0.08	6.45	12.26	22.57
	638	59	0.08	6.87	12.26	22.36
	217	59	0.08	7.23	12.26	22.18



Figure 6-114 Comparison between Predicted Values and Measured Values of Flow Number: (a) All Data Points; (b) Partial Points (less than 100)

6.5 Calibration of Predictive Dynamic Modulus Models

In this study, Se/Sy and R^2 were used to judge the accuracy of these two dynamic models based on the criteria shown in

Table 6-18. The formulas used to compute these values are shown below. Furthermore, the S_e/S_y and R^2 of the developed predictive models are listed in Table 6-19.

$$S_e = \sqrt{\frac{\sum_{1}^{n} (\hat{y}_i - y_i)^2}{n-k-1}}$$
 (Equation 6-9)
$$S_y = \sqrt{\frac{\sum_{1}^{n} (y_i - \bar{y})^2}{n-1}}$$
 (Equation 6-10)

$$R^{2} = 1 - \frac{(n-k-1)}{(n-1)} \left(\frac{S_{e}}{S_{y}}\right)^{2}$$
 (Equation 6-11)

Where:

- *R*²: correlation coefficient
- S_e : standard error of estimate
- S_y : standard deviation
- y_i : measured dynamic modulus
- \bar{y} : mean value of measured dynamic modulus
- *n*: sample size
- k: number of independent variables used in model
- \hat{y}_i : predicted dynamic modulus

Table 6-18 Criter	ria for Goodnes	s of Fit Statistical	Parameters
-------------------	-----------------	----------------------	-------------------

Criteria	R	Se/Sy
Excellent	>=0.9	<=0.35
Good	0.7-0.89	0.36-0.55
Fair	0.4-0.69	0.56-0.75
Poor	0.2-0.39	0.76-0.89
Very poor	<=0.19	>=0.90

Parameters	E* Predictive Models				
	Witczak model	Hirsch model			
Measured and predicted data points	8627	8553			
Goodness of Fit in I	Logarithmic Scale				
Se/Sy	0.65	0.34			
\mathbb{R}^2	0.58	0.89			

Table 6-19 Comparison of Dynamic Modulus Prediction Models

6.5.1 Modification of Witczak Model

After a very extensive trial and error process, the optimum coefficients were determined. The value of constant "-0.349" was adjusted into "-0.345," and the "0.754" was revised to "0.822." These changes caused the R^2 value of the predictive Witczak model to increase from 0.58 to 0.8635, which is shown in Table 6-20. Figure 6-115(a) and Figure 6-115(b) show the predicted and measured values based on the initial and modified Witczak models, respectively.

Table 6-20 Comparisons between the Initial and Modified Witczak Models

Parameters	E* Predictive Models		
	Initial Witczak model	Modified Witczak model	
Adjustment of coefficients	-0.349, 0.754	-0.345, 0.822	
Goodness of Fit in Logarithmic Scale			
Se/Sy	0.65	0.40	
\mathbb{R}^2	0.58	0.86	



(a)



(b)

Figure 6-115 Predicted and Measured Dynamic Modulus Values, (a) Witczak Model; (b) Modified Witczak Model

6.5.2 Modification of Hirsch Model

A similar process was used to modify the Hirsch model, and the optimum coefficients were determined. The constant value of "4,200,000" was changed to "3,960,000." These changes caused the R^2 value to increase from 0.89 to 0.90 as shown in Table 6-21. The measured and predicted dynamic modulus values of various mixtures are shown in Figure 6-116. In addition, it can be noted that both the initial and modified Hirsch models exhibited good R^2 values, which were 0.89 and 0.90, respectively. Thus, both of these models provided relatively accurate predictions for these dynamic modulus values.

_	E* Predictive Models		
Parameters			
	Hirsch model	Modifier of Hirsch model	
Adjustment of coefficients	4200000	3960000	
Goodness of Fit in Logarithmic Scale			
Se/Sy	0.34	0.32	
\mathbb{R}^2	0.89	0.90	

Table 6-21 Comparisons between the Initial and Modified Hirsch Models



Figure 6-116 Predicted and Measured Dynamic Modulus Values, (a) Hirsch Model; (b) Modified Hirsch Model

6.5.3 Modification of Kaloush Model

In this study, it can be noted that the predicted flow number values from the Kaloush model ranged from 16 to 84; however, the measured values ranged from 0 to 4354. Therefore, this model was not suitable for predicting flow number. Based on the literature, it was found that flow number values of various mixtures were generally difficult to predict. Meanwhile, no proper predicted models could be found effectively. Consequently, the modification was not performed.

7 Summary, Conclusions, and Recommendations

7.1 Summary

For this research project, the following tasks were completed, and the data was analyzed and reported in previous chapters. In addition, the conclusions are included in the following section. Recommendations are also being made for future research work needed to further the findings of this research project.

- 1. The dynamic modulus ($|E^*|$), phase angle (δ), and flow number (FN) were determined at various temperatures and frequencies for many mixtures used by SCDOT.
 - a) Mix types tested included the following: Surface Type A, Surface Type B, Surface Type C, Surface Type D, Surface Type E, Intermediate Type A, Intermediate Type B, Intermediate Type B Special, Intermediate Type C, Base Type A and Base Type B.
 - b) Variables included seven different aggregate sources from various regions around SC; two RAP percentages (0% RAP and the % RAP from each approved mix design); two binder sources typically used in SC; two binder grades (PG 76-22 and PG 64-22 as required per mix type per SCDOT specifications); two commonly-used warm mix asphalt (WMA) technologies (foaming and Evotherm® chemical additive); two commonly-used liquid anti-stripping agents (Adhere® and Morlife®); and a long-term aging procedure (AASHTO R30).
 - c) The optimum asphalt binder contents for each mixture as determined by Superpave mix design procedures were provided by SCDOT.
 - d) Various frequencies including 0.1, 0.2, 0.5, 1, 2, 5, 10, 20 and 25 Hz were used for the dynamic modulus testing. In addition, these tests were performed at various temperatures including 4, 20, 40, and 45°C (39.2, 68, 104, and 113°F).
 - e) The flow number tests were performed at 59°C (138.2 °F).
- 2. The performance of the various mixtures tested under the conditions stated above were evaluated with respect to multiple variables.
 - a) The impact of mixture type on |E*| and FN was studied for Surface Course mixture types, Intermediate Course mixture types, and Base Course mixture types.
 - b) The impact of binder source (two different grades and two different sources) on $|E^*|$ and FN of mixtures was evaluated.
 - c) The |E*| and FN values of mixtures containing typical warm mix asphalt technologies (chemical additive and foaming) were studied.

- d) Assessment of |E*| and FN values of mixtures containing various ASAs (lime and liquid ASAs) was also completed.
- e) The |E*| and FN values of mixtures after a long-term aging procedure (AASHTO R30) were also studied.
- 3. Master curves of the various mixtures included in this study were effectively constructed in predicting the dynamic modulus and phase angle values of various mixtures.
- 4. Calibration and development of dynamic modulus and flow number predictive models (including Witczak and Hirsch models) from the MEPDG based on the data obtained from this study were finalized.
- 5. Input tables for use by SCDOT engineers with the new MEPDG pavement design system were developed for all of the mix types and material types included in this study.
- 6. The evaluation of field cores using AMPT was not included in this project based on recommendations from the Steering Committee to include that testing in a different research project.

7.2 Conclusions

The researchers compiled the following conclusions from the results of this study:

- 1. Conclusions relating to dynamic modulus and phase angle values included:
 - a) For the temperatures tested, increasing frequency resulted in an increase of dynamic modulus values at various test temperatures and a reduction of phase angle values at 4°C (39.2°F) and 20°C (68°F) regardless of binder type, aggregate type, Surface Course mixture type, Intermediate Course mixture type, Base Course mixture type, binder source, WMA technology type, liquid ASA type, and aged state. In addition, it was observed that with the increase of temperature, the dynamic modulus values generally decreased and phase angle values generally increased regardless of other variables.
 - b) Aggregate source generally impacted the dynamic modulus values and phase angle values of various mixtures irrespective of Surface Course mixture type, Intermediate Course mixture type, Base Course mixture type, binder source, WMA technology type, liquid ASA type, and aged state.
 - i. Specifically, aggregate sources I and V generally produced mixtures with higher dynamic modulus and lower phase angle values compared to other aggregate sources. It is hypothesized that several aggregate-related properties, such as gradation and the physical characteristics of the aggregates, contributed to producing these differences. The scope of this study did not allow for further investigation of these differences. However, the tables and graphs shown in Appendix E could still be used to select the

proper materials for the best outcome of any pavement design in the near future.

- c) Surface Course mixture type significantly affected the dynamic modulus values and phase angle values of the mixtures. As expected, the Surface Type A and B mixtures, which were designed for higher-volume pavements, generally exhibited greater dynamic modulus values and lower phase angle values than Surface Type D and E mixtures for all aggregate sources.
- d) Intermediate mixture type (e.g., Type A vs. Type C) also had a significant influence on the dynamic modulus values and phase angle values of various mixtures regardless of aggregate type. As expected, Intermediate Type A mixtures generally exhibited greater dynamic modulus values and lower phase angle values, while Intermediate Type C mixtures generally exhibited lower dynamic modulus values and the higher phase angle values for all aggregate sources.
- e) Base mixture type only slightly affected the dynamic modulus values and phase angle values of various mixtures regardless of aggregate type. Base Type A mixtures generally produced slightly higher dynamic modulus values and slightly lower phase angle values than Base Type B mixtures, but overall the values were very similar for these two mixture types.
- f) Binder source only slightly affected the dynamic modulus values and phase angle values of various mixtures regardless of aggregate type. Binder source 2 exhibited slightly lower dynamic modulus values and slightly higher phase angle values than binder source 1 regardless of aggregate type, loading frequency and test temperature.
- g) WMA technology type had a slight influence on the dynamic modulus values and phase angle of various mixtures, but this effect varied with aggregate type and the use of RAP. For instance, for aggregate source IV with RAP, the WMA foaming technology produced slightly higher dynamic modulus and slightly lower phase angle values than the WMA chemical additive. However, these results were reversed for aggregate source V without RAP.
- h) Liquid ASA type generally had little influence on the dynamic modulus values and phase angle values of various mixtures regardless of aggregate type.
- i) The long-term aging procedure had no noticeable impact on the dynamic modulus values and phase angle values of various mixtures in terms of aggregate type.
- j) The inclusion of RAP did affect the dynamic modulus and phase angle values of various mixtures. Mixtures with RAP generally exhibited higher dynamic modulus values and lower phase angle values than corresponding mixtures without RAP. However, these trends were also influenced by aggregate source in a few cases when other variables were involved including binder source 2, WMA chemical additive, and aging. In those cases with certain aggregate sources, the

dynamic modulus and phase angle values were similar for corresponding mixtures both with and without RAP.

- 2. Conclusions relating to flow number values included:
 - a) Aggregate source generally impacted the flow number values of various mixtures irrespective of Surface Course mixture type, Intermediate Course mixture type, Base Course mixture type, binder source, WMA technology type, liquid ASA type, and aged state.
 - i. In addition, aggregate sources I and V generally produced mixtures with higher flow number values compared to other aggregate sources. It is hypothesized that several aggregate-related properties, such as gradation and the physical characteristics of the aggregates, contributed to producing these differences. The scope of this study did not allow for further investigation of these differences. However, the tables and graphs shown in Appendix E could still be used to select the proper materials for the best outcome of any pavement design in the near future.
 - b) Surface Course mixture type significantly affected the flow number values of the mixtures. As expected, the Surface Type A and B mixtures, which were designed for higher-volume pavements, generally exhibited greater flow number values than Surface Type D and E mixtures for all aggregate sources.
 - c) Intermediate mixture type also had a significant influence on the flow number values of various mixtures regardless of aggregate type. Generally, Intermediate Type A mixtures exhibited the highest flow number values, while Intermediate Type C mixtures generally exhibited the lowest flow number values for all aggregate sources.
 - i. In addition, the Intermediate Type B Special mixtures exhibited the highest flow number values compared to all of the other Intermediate mixture types; however, it is difficult to conclude whether this is due to mixture type because the Intermediate Type B Special mixtures were made with different aggregate sources than all of the other Intermediate mixtures. Testing of the Intermediate Type B Special mixtures was added towards the end of the project, and the aggregate sources were selected by the Steering Committee based on field pilot projects. The scope of this study did not allow for further investigation of the causes of these differences in flow number values.
 - ii. All Intermediate Type A and B mixtures tested in this project exhibited flow number values below AASHTO minimum recommendation of 190 for higher volume pavements. Although the utilization of RAP resulted in somewhat higher flow number values, they still did not reach the minimum recommended value. The scope of this study did not allow for further investigation into the cause of this result.

- d) Base mixture type only slightly affected the flow number values of various mixtures, and this effect varied based on aggregate type.
- e) Binder source significantly affected the flow number values of various mixtures; however, aggregate source/binder source interaction had an even greater effect. For example, although binder source 1 generated higher flow numbers than binder source 2 in every case, the flow number differences between binder source 1 and 2 were significantly greater for aggregate source V than for aggregate source IV.
 - In addition, binder grade also influenced flow number values more than binder source. In general, the mixtures in this study containing PG 76-22 exhibited higher flow number values than the mixtures containing PG 64-22 binders. The only exception was aggregate source V with asphalt source 1. This seems to validate the use of a higher binder grade (PG 76-22 vs. PG 64-22) on higher volume routes.
- f) Although WMA type did not affect flow number values when comparing WMA technology types to each other (chemical additive vs. foaming), inclusion of WMA technologies did affect flow number values when compared to corresponding mixtures that did not utilize WMA. Flow number values for mixtures without WMA were higher than the corresponding mixtures utilizing either WMA technology type in all cases. This effect was especially pronounced with aggregate source IV. In addition, the flow numbers of all mixtures made with either WMA technology type were very low and did not meet the recommendations from AASHTO TP 79.
- g) Although liquid ASA type generally had little influence on the flow number values of various mixtures, inclusion of liquid ASA did affect flow number values when compared to mixtures without liquid ASAs. In addition, these differences were affected by aggregate source. When liquid ASAs were utilized, regardless of liquid ASA type, aggregate source IV showed slightly lower flow number values while aggregate source V showed significantly higher flow number values when compared to mixtures without liquid ASAs.
- h) The long-term aging procedure had noticeable impact on the flow number values of various mixtures in terms of both aggregate type and mixture type. For aggregate source IV, flow number values of all three types of Surface mixtures were either similar or slightly higher after aging. However, for aggregate source V, Surface Type A and B mixtures exhibited significantly lower flow number values after aging, while Surface Type C mixtures exhibited the opposite. The scope of this study did not allow for further investigation of the causes of these differences.
- The inclusion of RAP affected the flow number values of some mixtures, but the effect of RAP seemed to be related to mixture type more than aggregate source. For example, regardless of aggregate source, Surface Type A, C, D and E mixtures containing RAP generally exhibited higher flow number values

compared to the corresponding mixtures without RAP; however, Surface Type B mixtures from all aggregate sources exhibited very similar flow number values when comparing mixtures with RAP to those without RAP. The scope of this study did not allow for further investigation of the causes of these differences.

- j) Although several mixtures in this study did not meet the minimum flow number values recommended by AASHTO, most notably the mixtures containing WMA technologies, the scope of this study did not allow for further investigation of these low flow numbers. However, the tables and graphs shown in Appendix E could still be used to select the proper materials for the best outcome of any pavement design in the near future.
- 3. Conclusions relating to the master curve development included:
 - a) In this research project, the master curves of various mixtures were effectively constructed in predicting the dynamic modulus and phase angle values of various mixtures. These curves could be used by SCDOT engineers to input the proper testing values in the MEPDG program for the future pavement design process. These curves were obtained by considering multiple frequencies and temperatures. These two parameters play a major role in the performance of any pavement.
- 4. Conclusions relating to the design models in $|E^*|$ prediction for local mixtures included:
 - a) The tables and inputs included in Appendix E may be used in the new MEPDG pavement design procedures. These tables contain all the necessary input data for the MEPDG software program. The numbers in these tables might have to be adjusted for future changes in variables (e.g., higher percentages of RAP use).
- 5. Conclusions relating to different parameters sensitive to variations in $|E^*|$ included:
 - a) Based on the literature review, the following parameters were found to be sensitive to variations in |E*|:
 - i. rutting (asphaltic concrete layers; unbound base, subbase, and subgrade layers; and total rut depth);
 - ii. fatigue cracking (surface-down longitudinal cracking and bottom-up alligator cracking);
 - iii. transverse (thermal) cracking; and
 - iv. IRI prediction.
 - b) Based on the literature review, the current MEPDG prediction model for surfacedown (longitudinal cracking) was found to be unreliable.
- 6. Conclusions relating to the prediction models included:

- a) The original Witczak model could not effectively predict the dynamic modulus values of the various mixtures and materials used in this research project. However, by adjusting some constants from the original model, the revised model could predict the dynamic modulus values effectively for the materials tested in this project.
- b) The Hirsch model could generally be used to predict the dynamic modulus values for SCDOT mixtures in terms of the model's coefficient and variation. The adjusted model also exhibited some slight improvements.
- c) It is recommended for SCDOT to use the following revised Witczak and Hirsch models in the future for predicting dynamic modulus values:

Revised Witczak model for SCDOT:

$$\begin{split} \log(|\mathsf{E}^*|) &= -0.345 + 0.822 \cdot \left| \left| \mathsf{G}_{\mathsf{b}^{-*}} \right|^{-0.0052} \right) \cdot \left(\begin{array}{c} 6.65 - 0.032 \rho_{200} + 0.0027 \rho_{200}^{-2} - 0.011 \rho_4 - 0.0001 \rho_4^{-2} \\ + 0.006 \rho_{38} - 0.00014 \rho_{38}^{-2} - 0.08 \mathsf{V}_{\mathsf{a}} - 1.06 \left(\frac{\mathsf{V}_{\mathsf{beff}}}{\mathsf{V}_{\mathsf{a}} + \mathsf{V}_{\mathsf{beff}}} \right) \right) \\ &+ \frac{2.558 + 0.032 \mathsf{V}_{\mathsf{a}} + 0.713 \left(\frac{\mathsf{V}_{\mathsf{beff}}}{\mathsf{V}_{\mathsf{a}} + \mathsf{V}_{\mathsf{beff}}} \right) + 0.0124 \rho_{38} + 0.0001 \rho_{38}^{-2} - 0.0098 \rho_{34}}{1 + e^{(-0.7814 - 0.6785 \log |\mathsf{G}_{\mathsf{b}^*}| + 0.8834 \log(\delta_{\mathsf{b}}))}} \end{split}$$

Revised Hirsch model for SCDOT:

$$|E^*| = Pc \left[3960000 \cdot \left(1 - \frac{VMA}{100} \right) + 3|G^*|_{binder} \left(\frac{VFA \cdot VMA}{10,000} \right) \right] + (1 - Pc) \left[\frac{1 - \frac{VMA}{100}}{4,200,000} + \frac{VMA}{VFA \cdot 3|G^*|_{binder}} \right]^{-1}$$

- d) Flow number values of the various mixtures included in this study could not be predicted effectively in terms of the current models considered in this study. Many other researchers around the country have indicated inconsistencies with the current models as well; however, more effective models might be developed in the future.
- 7. Additional conclusions included:
 - a) In the original proposal, one of the objectives was to test samples in the indirect tension (IDT) mode and compare the results to those from the axial test mode. However, the original proposal also assumed one testing temperature but allowed for input from the Steering Committee to choose additional testing temperatures. Near the beginning of the project, the Steering Committee selected two additional testing temperatures for dynamic modulus and phase angle. Due to the large

amount of time it takes to test samples at multiple temperatures, the IDT mode testing could not be completed to allow for the additional requested testing temperatures to be completed. Additionally, the literature review for this project revealed evidence of a strong correlation between $|E^*|$ values obtained by axial and IDT testing, so testing in both modes may not be necessary.

- b) For the mixtures in this study, the current SCDOT mix design procedures did not exhibit a need to be changed for the RAP percentages from 0% to 35%. However, it might be necessary to change the constants for the models for RAP percentages higher than 35% since higher RAP percentages were not examined in this study. This would require more in-depth testing to determine the appropriate values.
- c) The results of this study did not show a need for changes to the existing approved materials list for the selection of qualified materials for various asphalt mixtures in SC. Some of these values could be used as an input into the MEPDG program without any modifications to the mix design.
- d) Evaluation of field cores using AMPT was assigned by SCDOT to a different research project.

7.3 <u>Recommendations</u>

The researchers offered the following recommendations based on the results of this study:

- 1. Because only RAP percentages currently used by SCDOT were utilized in this study, it might be necessary in the future to change the constants for the models for higher RAP percentages than those currently allowed by SCDOT. This would require more in-depth testing to determine the appropriate values.
- 2. It is recommended that SCDOT engineers use the tables and inputs in Appendix E for use in the new MEPDG pavement design procedures. These tables contain all the necessary input data for the MEPDG software program. The numbers in these tables might have to be adjusted for future changes in variables (e.g., higher percentages of RAP use).
- 3. It is recommended that the SCDOT use the existing approved materials list for the selection of qualified materials for various mixtures around the state. Some of these values could be used as an input into the MEPDG program without any modifications to the mix design.
- 4. There is much more research needed to calibrate more models with respect to the AMPT system for use in the MEPDG program (e.g., base materials, subbase materials, open-graded friction course mixtures).
- 5. A comprehensive laboratory study of field mixtures should be completed to correlate the field mixture data to the laboratory mixture data from this study. These mixtures should

include all types of mixtures (e.g., Surface, Intermediate, and Base), RAP materials, liquid anti-stripping agents (ASAs), and warm mix asphalt (WMA) technologies.

8 References Cited or Reviewed

- 1. "AASHO Road Test, History and Description of Project", Highway Research Board (HRB) Special Report 61A, National Academy of Sciencs, Washington, D.C., 1961.
- 2. "AASHO Road Test", http://www.pavementinteractive.org/article/aasho-road-test/
- 3. "AASHTO Interim Guide for Design of Pavement Structures", American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials, Washington, D.C., 1972.
- "AASHTO Interim Guide for Design of Pavement Structures Chapter III Revised", American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials, Washington, D.C., 1981.
- 5. "AASHTO Guide for Design of Pavement Structures Volume 2", American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials, Washington, D.C., 1986.
- 6. "AASHTO Guide for Design of Pavement Structures 1993", American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials, Washington, D.C., 1993.
- "AASHTO Mechanisitic-Empirical Pavement Design Guide: A Manual of Practice, Interim Edition", American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials, Washington, D.C., 2008.
- 8. "AASHTO R30, Mixture Conditioning of Hot Mix Asphalt (HMA)", American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials, AASHTO
- 9. "AASHTO T 322-07, Standard Method of Test for Determining the Creep Compliance and Strength of Hot-Mix Asphalt (HMA) Using the Indirect Tensile Test Device", American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials, AASHTO
- "AASHTO T 342-11, Standard Method of Test for Determining Dynamic Modulus of Hot-Mix Asphalt", American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials, AASHTO
- 11. "AASHTO TP 79-13, Standard Method of Test for Determining Dynamic Modulus and Flow Number for Asphalt Mixtures Using the Asphalt Mixture Performance Tester (AMPT)", American Association of State Highway and Transportation Officials, AASHTO
- Abdo, A. Abu., F. Bayomy, R. Nielsen, T. Weaver, S.J. Jung, M.J. Santi (2009). Prediction of the dynamic modulus of Superpave mixes, proceedings of Bearing Capacity of Roads, Railways and Airfields, Taylor & Francis Group, London, ISBN 978-0-415-87199-0
- Amirkhanian S., Xiao F., and Herndon D., 2014, "The Evaluation and Specification Development of Alternate Modified Asphalt Binders in South Carolina", Report No. FHWA-SC-14-03, South Carolina Department of Transportation, 1406 Shop Road, Columbia, SC 29201.
- 14. Bari, J., and Witczak, M. W. (2006). "Development of a New Revised Version of the Witczak |E*| Predictive Model for Hot Mix Asphalt Mixtures." Journal of the Association of Asphalt Paving Technologists, Volume 75.
- Baus, R.L. and Stires, N.R., 2010, "Mechanistic-Empirical Pavement Design Guide Implementation", Report No. FHWA-SC-10-01, South Carolina Department of Transportation, 1406 Shop Road, Columbia, SC 29201.
- 16. Bhasin, A., Button, J.W., and Chowdhury, A., 2005, "Evaluation of Selected Laboratory Procedures and Development of Databases for HMA", Report No. 0-4203-3, Texas Transportation Institute, College Station, TX.

- 17. Bennert T., 2010, "Dynamic Modulus of Hot Mix Asphalt", Report No. FHWA-NJ-2009-011, New Jersey Department of Transportation.
- Birgisson, B. and Roque, R., 2005, "Evaluation of the Gradation Effect on the Dynamic Modulus", Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board, No. 1929, pp. 193 – 199.
- 19. Bonaquist, R., 2008, "Refining the Simple Performance Tester for Use in Routine Practice", NCHRP Report 614, National Cooperative Highway Research Program, Washington, D.C.
- 20. Bonaquist, R.F. (2008), NCHRP Report 629: Ruggedness Testing of the Dynamic Modulus and Flow Number Tests with the Simple Performance Tester, National Cooperative Highway Research Program, Washington, D.C.
- 21. Birgisson, B., Sholar, G. and Roque, R., 2005, "Evaluation of a Predicted Dynamic Modulus for Florida Mixtures," 84th Annual Meeting of the Transportation Research Board, Washington D.C..
- Bonaquist, R. and Christensen, D., 2005, "Practical Procedure for Developing Dynamic Modulus Master Curves for Pavement Structural Design", Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board, No. 1929, pp. 208 – 217.
- Christensen, D.W., Pellinen, T. and Bonaquist, R., 2003, "Hirsch Model for Estimating the Modulus of Asphalt Concrete", Asphalt Paving Technology, Association of Asphalt Paving Technologists, Vol. 72, pp. 97 – 121.
- Christensen, D. et al., 2009, "A Mix Design Manual for Hot-Mix Asphalt", NCHRP Report 9-33, Transportation Research Board, National Research Council, Washington, D.C.
- 25. Cross, S.A., Jakatimath, Y. and Sumesh, K.C., 2007, "Determination of Dynamic Modulus Master Curves for Oklahoma HMA Mixtures", Oklahoma Department of Transportation, Planning & Research Division, 200 N.E. 21st Street, Room 3A7, Oklahoma City, OK 73105.
- Dougan, E.C., Stephens, E.J., Mahoney, J., and Hansen, S., 2003, "Dynamic Modulus Test Protocol – Problems and Solutions", University of Connecticut, 179 Middle Turnpike, U-202, Storrs, CT 06269-5202.
- 27. Flintsch, G.W., Loulizi, A., Diefenderfer, S.D., Diefenderfer, B.K, and Galal, K. A., 2008, "Asphalt Materials Characterization in Support of the Mechanistic-Empirical Pavement Design Guide Implementation Efforts in Virginia", Transportation Research Record, Vol. 2057, pp. 114-125.
- 28. Huang, Y. H., *Pavement Analysis and Design*, Prentice-Hall, Inc., Englewood Cliffs, NJ, 1993.
- 29. Hall, K.D., Xiao, D.X. and Wang, K., 2011, "Calibration of the MEPDG for Flexible Pavement Design in Arkansas", 2011 Transportation Research Board CD-ROM, Transportation Research Board.
- 30. Harman, T., "Using the Dynamic Modulus Test to Assess the Mix Strength of HMA", Public Roads, May/June, Vol. 64 · No. 6, 2001.
- Kaloush, K.E., 2001, "Simple Performance Test for Permanent Deformation of Asphalt Mixtures", Doctoral Dissertation, Department of Civil and Environmental Engineering, Arizona State University, Tempe, AZ.

- 32. Kim, Y.R., King, M., and Mostafa, M., 2004, "Typical Dynamic Moduli Values of Hot Mix Asphalt in North Carolina and Their Prediction." Transportation Research Board Annual Meeting CD-ROM, Washington, D.C.
- 33. Kvanak et al.(2007), Statistical development of a flow number predictive equation for the Mechanistic-Empirical Pavement Design Guide TRB Annual Meeting Paper 07-1000,.
- 34. King, M., 2004, "Determination of Dynamic Moduli in Uniaxial Compression for North Carolina Hot Mix Asphalt Concrete", A Thesis Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Master of Science, North Carolina State University.
- Kvanak et al., 2007, "Statistical Development of a Flow Number Predictive Equation for the Mechanistic-Empirical Pavement Design Guide", TRB Annual Meeting, Paper 07-1000.
- 36. Mohammad, L., Kim, M., Raghavendra, A., and Obulareddy, S., 2014, "Characterization of Louisiana Asphalt Mixtures Using Simple Performance Tests and MEPDG", LTRC Project No. 04-6B, Louisiana Transportation Research Center, Baton Rouge, LA 70808.
- 37. "NCHRP Report 1-37A: Guide for Mechanistic-Empirical Design of New and Rehabilitated Pavement Structures", National Cooperative Highway Research Program, Transportation Research Board, National Research Council, Washington, D.C., 2004.
- 38. "SCDOT Pavement Design Guidelines", South Carolina Department of Transportaiton, Office of Materials and Research, Pavement Design Unit, July 2008.
- 39. Shah, A., McDaniel, R., and Gallivan, V., 2005, "Evaluation of Mixtures Using Dynamic Modulus Tester: Results and Practical Considerations", Electronic Journal of the Asphalt Paving Technology, Association of Asphalt Paving Technologists, Vol. 74E.
- 40. Shen, S. and Yu, H., 2012, "An Investigation of Dynamic Modulus and Flow Number Properties of Asphalt Mixtures in Washington State", Transportation Northwest (TransNow), University of Washington, 135 More Hall, Seattle, WA 98195-2700
- 41. Tran, N. and Hall, K., 2006, "Dynamic Modulus of Hot-Mix Asphalt", Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board, No. 1970, Transportation Research Board, Washington, D.C., pp. 126 – 132.
- 42. Von Quintus, Harold L. and Moulthrop, James S., 2007, "Mechanistic-Empirical Pavement Design Guide Flexible Pavement Performance Prediction Models, Volume III Field Guide – Calibration and User's Guide for the Mechanistic-Empirical Pavement Design Guide", Montana Department of Transportation.
- 43. Witczak, M.W., 2007, "NCHRP Report 580: Specification Criteria for Simple Performance Tests for Rutting", Transportation Research Board, National Research Council, Washington, DC.
- 44. Witczak, M.W., Kaloush, K.E., Pellien, T.K., El-Basyouny, M. and Von Quintus, H.L., 2002, "NCHRP Report 465: Simple Performance Test for Superpave Mix Design", Transportation Research Board, National Research Council, Washington, DC.
- 45. Witczak, M.W. and Fonseca, O.A., 1996, "Revised Predictive Model for Dynamic (Complex) Modulus of Asphalt Mixtures", Transportation Research Record 1540, pp. 15–23.
- 46. Yang, Enhui., Ping, W. V., Xiao, Y., and Qiu, Y., 2011, "A Simplified Predictive Model of Dynamic Modulus for Characterizing Florida Hot Mix Asphalt Mixtures", 2011 Transportation Research Board CD-ROM, TRB Paper No. 11-1565.
- 47. Yu, J., 2012, "Modification of Dynamic Modulus Predictive Models for Asphalt Mixtures Containing Recycled Asphalt Shingles", Dissertation, Iowa State University.

9 Appendix A - Dynamic Modulus and Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 9-1 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type A Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)



(c)

Figure 9-2 Phase Angle Values of Various Surface Type A Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)









Figure 9-3 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type B Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)







Figure 9-4 Phase Angle Values of Various Surface Type B Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)









Figure 9-5 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)



(a)





Figure 9-6 Phase Angle Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)





(b)



Figure 9-7 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type D Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)



(a)







Figure 9-8 Phase Angle Values of Various Surface Type D Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)





(b)



Figure 9-9 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type E Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)


Figure 9-10 Phase Angle Values of Various Surface Type E Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)









Figure 9-11 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type A Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F)



Figure 9-12 Phase Angle Values of Various Surface Type A Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F)



(c) Figure 9-13 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type B Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)

0.1 1 Frequency (Hz) 14500

1450

100

10

100

10

0.001

0.01



Figure 9-14 Phase Angle Values of Various Surface Type B Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)









Figure 9-15 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type C mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)



Figure 9-16 Phase Angle Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)





(b)



Figure 9-17 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type D Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)



Figure 9-18 Phase Angle Values of Various Surface Type D Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)





(b)



Figure 9-19 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type E Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)



(a)







Figure 9-20 Phase Angle Values of Various Surface Type E Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)







Figure 9-21 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Intermediate Type A Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)



Figure 9-22 Phase Angle Values of Various Intermediate Type A Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)









Figure 9-23 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Intermediate Type B Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)



Figure 9-24 Phase Angle Values of Various Intermediate Type B Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)





(b)



Figure 9-25 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Intermediate Type C Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)



Figure 9-26 Phase Angle Values of Various Intermediate Type C Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)









Figure 9-27 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Intermediate Type A Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)



Figure 9-28 Phase Angle Values of Various Intermediate Type A Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)











Figure 9-29 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Intermediate Type B Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)



Figure 9-30 Phase Angle Values of Various Intermediate Type B Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)





(b)



Figure 9-31 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Intermediate Type C Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)



Figure 9-32 Phase Angle Values of Various Intermediate Type C Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)





(b)



Figure 9-33 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Base Type A Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)



Figure 9-34 Phase Angle Values of Various Base Type A Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)





(b)



Figure 9-35 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Base Type B Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)



Figure 9-36 Phase Angle Values of Various Base Type B Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)





(b)



Figure 9-37 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Base Type A Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)



Figure 9-38 Phase Angle Values of Various Base Type A Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)





(b)



Figure 9-39 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Base Type B Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)





Figure 9-40 Phase Angle Values of Various Base Type B Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)









Figure 9-41 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type A Mixtures with RAP and Asphalt Source 2 in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)



Figure 9-42 Phase Angle Values of Various Surface Type A Mixtures with RAP and Asphalt Source 2 in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)





(b)



Figure 9-43 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type B Mixtures with RAP and Asphalt Source 2 in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)



(c)

Figure 9-44 Phase Angle Values of Various Surface Type B Mixtures with RAP and Asphalt Source 2 in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)





(b)



Figure 9-45 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type A Mixtures using Asphalt Source 2 without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F)


Figure 9-46 Phase Angle Values of Various Surface Type A Mixtures using Asphalt Source 2 without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F)





(b)



Figure 9-47 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type B Mixtures using Asphalt Source 2 without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)



Figure 9-48 Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Surface Type B using Asphalt Source 2 without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)



Figure 9-49 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Surface Type C with RAP and WMA-Chemical Additive in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)



Figure 9-50 Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Surface Type C with RAP and WMA-Chemical Additive in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)









Figure 9-51 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Surface Type C with RAP and WMA-Foaming in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)



Figure 9-52 Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Surface Type C with RAP and WMA-Foaming in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)





(b)



Figure 9-53 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Surface Type C using WMA-Chemical Additive without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)



Figure 9-54 Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Surface Type C using WMA-Chemical Additive without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)





(b)



Figure 9-55 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Surface Type C using WMA-Foaming without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)



(a)





Figure 9-56 Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Surface Type C using WMA-Foaming without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)



(a)





Figure 9-57 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Surface Type C with RAP and Liquid ASA1 in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)



Figure 9-58 Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Surface Type C with RAP and Liquid ASA1 in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)









Figure 9-59 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Surface Type C with RAP and Liquid ASA2 in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)





(b)



Figure 9-60 Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Surface Type C with RAP and Liquid ASA2 in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)









Figure 9-61 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Surface Type C using Liquid ASA1 without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)



Figure 9-62 Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Surface Type C using Liquid ASA1 without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)





(b)



Figure 9-63 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Surface Type C using Liquid ASA2 without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)



Figure 9-64 Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Surface Type C using Liquid ASA2 without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)





Figure 9-65 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Surface Type A with RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)



Figure 9-66 Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Surface Type A with RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)









Figure 9-67 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Surface Type B with RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)





1

Frequency (Hz)

10

100

0.1

Figure 9-68 Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Surface Type B with RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)

10

1 0.01









Figure 9-69 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Surface Type C with RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)



Figure 9-70 Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Surface Type C with RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)





(b)



Figure 9-71 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Surface Type A without RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F)



(c)

Figure 9-72 Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Surface Type A without RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F)





(b)



Figure 9-73 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Surface Type B without RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)



Figure 9-74 Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Surface Type B without RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)









Figure 9-75 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Surface Type C without RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)



(c)

Figure 9-76 Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Surface Type C without RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Aggregate Source, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)

10 Appendix B - Dynamic Modulus and Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures in Terms of Mixture Type and Other Variables



Figure 10-1 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate I with RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface B, C, D, and E)



Figure 10-2 Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate I with RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface B, C, D, and E)



Figure 10-3 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate II with RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface B, C, D, and E)



Figure 10-4 Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate II with RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface B, C, D, and E)



Figure 10-5 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate III with RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface B, C, D, and E)


Figure 10-6 Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate III with RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface B, C, D, and E)



* •

14500

 100^{-1}

10

₩D

IVΕ

0.1

100

10

0.01



1 Frequency (Hz)

Figure 10-7 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate IV with RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface B, C, D, and E)



Figure 10-8 Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate IV with RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface B, C, D, and E)



Figure 10-9 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate V with RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface B, C, D, and E)



Figure 10-10 Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate V with RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface B, C, D, and E)



Figure 10-11 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate VI with RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface B, C, D, and E)



Figure 10-12 Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate VI with RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface B, C, D, and E)



Figure 10-13 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate I without RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface B, C, D, and E)



Figure 10-14 Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate I without RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface B, C, D, and E)



Figure 10-15 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate III without RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface B, C, D, and E)



Figure 10-16 Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate III without RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface B, C, D, and E)



Figure 10-17 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate IV without RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface B, C, D, and E)



Figure 10-18 Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate IV without RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface B, C, D, and E)







Figure 10-19 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate V without RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface B, C, D, and E)



Figure 10-20 Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate V without RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface B, C, D, and E)



Figure 10-21 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate VI without RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface B, C, D, and E)



Figure 10-22 Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate VI without RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface B, C, D, and E)



Figure 10-23 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate II with RAP in Terms of Intermediate Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)



Figure 10-24 Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate II with RAP in Terms of Intermediate Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)



Figure 10-25 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate IV with RAP in Terms of Intermediate Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)



Figure 10-26 Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate IV with RAP in Terms of Intermediate Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)



Figure 10-27 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate V with RAP in Terms of Intermediate Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)



Figure 10-28 Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate V with RAP in Terms of Intermediate Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)



Figure 10-29 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate VII with RAP in Terms of Intermediate Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)



Figure 10-30 Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate VII with RAP in Terms of Intermediate Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)



Figure 10-31 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate IV without RAP in Terms of Intermediate Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)



Figure 10-32 Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate IV without RAP in Terms of Intermediate Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)



Figure 10-33 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate V without RAP in Terms of Intermediate Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)



Figure 10-34 Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate V without RAP in Terms of Intermediate Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)



(c)

Figure 10-35 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate IV with RAP in Terms of Base Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)



Figure 10-36 Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate IV with RAP in Terms of Base Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)



Figure 10-37 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate V with RAP in Terms of Base Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)



Figure 10-38 Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate V with RAP in Terms of Base Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)



Figure 10-39 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate IV without RAP in Terms of Base Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)



Figure 10-40 Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate IV without RAP in Terms of Base Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)



Figure 10-41 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate V without RAP in Terms of Base Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)


Figure 10-42 Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate V without RAP in Terms of Base Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)



Figure 10-43 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate IV with RAP and Asphalt Source 2 in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface A), 40C (104°F) (Surface B)



Figure 10-44 Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate IV with RAP and Asphalt Source 2 in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface B)



Figure 10-45 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate V with RAP and Asphalt Source 2 in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface A), 40C (104°F) (Surface B)



Figure 10-46 Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate V with RAP and Asphalt Source 2 in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface B)



Figure 10-47 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate IV using Asphalt Source 2 without RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113F) (Surface A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface B)



Figure 10-48 Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate IV using Asphalt Source 2 without RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface B)



Figure 10-49 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate V using Asphalt Source 2 without RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface B)



Figure 10-50 Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate V using Asphalt Source 2 without RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface B)



(c)

Figure 10-51 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate IV with RAP in Terms of WMA Technology Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)



Figure 10-52 Phase Angle Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate IV with RAP in Terms of WMA Technology Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)









Figure 10-53 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate V with RAP in Terms of WMA Technology Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)



Figure 10-54 Phase Angle Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate V with RAP in Terms of WMA Technology Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)



Figure 10-55 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate IV without RAP in Terms of WMA Technology Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)



Figure 10-56 Phase Angle Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate IV without RAP in Terms of WMA Technology Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)



Figure 10-57 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate V without RAP in Terms of WMA Technology Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)



Figure 10-58 Phase Angle Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate V without RAP in Terms of WMA Technology Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)



Figure 10-59 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate IV with RAP in Terms of Liquid ASA Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)



Figure 10-60 Phase Angle Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate IV with RAP in Terms of Liquid ASA Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)



Figure 10-61 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate V with RAP in Terms of Liquid ASA Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)



Figure 10-62 Phase Angle Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate V with RAP in Terms of Liquid ASA Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)



Figure 10-63 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate IV without RAP in Terms of Liquid ASA Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)



Figure 10-64 Phase Angle Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate IV without RAP in Terms of Liquid ASA Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)



(c)

Figure 10-65 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate V without RAP in Terms of Liquid ASA Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)



Figure 10-66 Phase Angle Values of Various Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate V without RAP in Terms of Liquid ASA Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 40°C (104°F)





(b)



Figure 10-67 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate IV with RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface B and C)



Figure 10-68 Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate IV with RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface B and C)



(c)

Figure 10-69 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate V with RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface B and C)



Figure 10-70 Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate V with RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface B and C)



Figure 10-71 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate IV without RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface B and C)



Figure 10-72 Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate IV without RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface B and C)



Figure 10-73 Dynamic Modulus Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate V without RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface B, C)



Figure 10-74 Phase Angle Values of Various Mixtures from Aggregate V without RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Surface Mixture Type, (a) at 4°C (39.2°F), (b) at 20°C (68°F), (c) at 45°C (113°F) (Surface A), 40°C (104°F) (Surface B and C)



11 Appendix C - Flow Numbers of Various Mixtures Tested

Figure 11-1 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type A Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-2 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type B Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-3 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type C Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-4 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type D Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-5 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type E Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-6 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type A Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-7 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type B Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-8 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type C Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)


Figure 11-9 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type D Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-10 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type E Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-11 Flow Numbers of Various Intermediate Type A Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-12 Flow Numbers of Various Intermediate Type B Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-13 Flow Numbers of Various Intermediate Type C Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-14 Flow Numbers of Various Intermediate Type A Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-15 Flow Numbers of Various Intermediate Type B Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-16 Flow Numbers of Various Intermediate Type C Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-17 Flow Numbers of Various Base Type A Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-18 Flow Numbers of Various Base Type B Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-19 Flow Numbers of Various Base Type A Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-20 Flow Numbers of Various Base Type B Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-21 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type A Mixtures with RAP and Asphalt Source 2 in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-22 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type B Mixtures with RAP and Asphalt Source 2 in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-23 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type A Mixtures using Asphalt Source 2 without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-24 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type B Mixtures using Asphalt Source 2 without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-25 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type C Mixtures with RAP and WMA-Chemical Additive in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-26 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type C Mixtures with RAP and WMA-Foaming in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-27 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type C Mixtures using WMA-Chemical Additive without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-28 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type C Mixtures using WMA-Foaming without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-29 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type C Mixtures with RAP and Liquid ASA1 in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-30 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type C Mixtures with RAP and Liquid ASA2 in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-31 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type C Mixtures using Liquid ASA1 without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-32 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type C Mixtures using Liquid ASA2 without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-33 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type A Mixtures with RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-34 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type B Mixtures with RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-35 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type C Mixtures with RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-36 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type A Mixtures without RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-37 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type B Mixtures without RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-38 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type C mixtures without RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Aggregate Source at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-39 Flow Numbers of Various Mixtures from Aggregate I with RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-40 Flow Numbers of Various Mixtures from Aggregate II with RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-41 Flow Numbers of Various Mixtures from Aggregate III with RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-42 Flow Numbers of Various Mixtures from Aggregate IV with RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-43 Flow Numbers of Various Mixtures from Aggregate V with RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-44 Flow Numbers of Various Mixtures from Aggregate VI with RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-45 Flow Numbers of Various Mixtures from Aggregate I without RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-46 Flow Numbers of Various Mixtures from Aggregate III without RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-47 Flow Numbers of Various Mixtures from Aggregate IV without RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-48 Flow Numbers of Various Mixtures from Aggregate V without RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-49 Flow Numbers of Various Mixtures from Aggregate VI without RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-50 Flow Numbers of Various Mixtures from Aggregate IV with RAP in Terms of Intermediate Mixture Type at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-51 Flow Numbers of Various Mixtures from Aggregate V with RAP in Terms of Intermediate Mixture Type at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-52 Flow Numbers of Various Mixtures from Aggregate IV without RAP in Terms of Intermediate Mixture Type at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-53 Flow Numbers of Various Mixtures from Aggregate V without RAP in Terms of Intermediate Mixture Type at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-54 Flow Numbers of Various Mixtures from Aggregate IV with RAP in Terms of Base Mixture Type at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-55 Flow Numbers of Various Mixtures from Aggregate V with RAP in Terms of Base Mixture Type at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-56 Flow Numbers of Various Mixtures from Aggregate IV without RAP in Terms of Base Mixture Type at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-57 Flow Numbers of Various Mixtures from Aggregate V without RAP in Terms of Base Mixture Type at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-58 Flow Numbers of Various Mixtures from Aggregate IV with RAP and Asphalt Source 2 in Terms of Surface Mixture Type at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-59 Flow Numbers of Various Mixtures from Aggregate V with RAP and Asphalt Source 2 in Terms of Surface Mixture Type at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-60 Flow Numbers of Various Mixtures from Aggregate IV using Asphalt Source 2 without RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-61 Flow Numbers of Various Mixtures from Aggregate V using Asphalt Source 2 without RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-62 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate IV with RAP in Terms of WMA Technology Type at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-63 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate V with RAP in Terms of WMA Technology Type at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-64 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate IV without RAP in Terms of WMA Technology Type at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-65 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate V without RAP in Terms of WMA Technology Type at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-66 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate IV with RAP in Terms of Liquid ASA Type at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-67 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate V with RAP in Terms of Liquid ASA Type at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-68 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate IV without RAP in Terms of Liquid ASA Type at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-69 Flow Numbers of Various Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate V without RAP in Terms of Liquid ASA Type at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-70 Flow Numbers of Various Mixtures from Aggregate IV with RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Surface Mixture Type at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-71 Flow Numbers of Various Mixtures from Aggregate V with RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Surface Mixture Type at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-72 Flow Numbers of Various Mixtures from Aggregate IV without RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Surface Mixture Type at 59°C (138.2°F)



Figure 11-73 Flow Numbers of Various Mixtures from Aggregate V without RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Surface Mixture Type at 59°C (138.2°F)





Figure 12-1 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves for Surface Type A Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-2 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves for Surface Type B Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-3 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves for Surface Type C Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-4 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves for Surface Type D Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-5 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves for Surface Type E Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-6 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves for Surface Type A Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-7 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves for Surface Type B Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-8 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves for Surface Type C Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-9 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves for Surface Type D Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-10 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves for Surface Type E Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-11 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Intermediate Type A Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-12 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Intermediate Type B Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-13 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Intermediate Type C Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-14 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Intermediate Type A Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-15 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Intermediate Type B Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-16 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Intermediate Type C Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-17 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Base Type A Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-18 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Base Type B Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-19 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Base Type A Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-20 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Base Type B Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-21 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Surface Type A Mixtures with RAP and Asphalt Source 2 in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-22 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Surface Type B Mixtures with RAP and Asphalt Source 2 in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-23 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Surface Type A Mixtures without RAP using Asphalt Source 2 in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-24 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Surface Type B Mixtures without RAP using Asphalt Source 2 in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-25 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Surface Type C Mixtures with RAP and WMA-Chemical Additive in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-26 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Surface Type C Mixtures with RAP and WMA-Foaming in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-27 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Surface Type C Mixtures without RAP using WMA-Chemical Additive in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-28 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Surface Type C Mixtures without RAP using WMA-Foaming in Terms of Aggregate Source


Figure 12-29 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Surface Type C Mixtures with RAP and Liquid ASA1 in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-30 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Surface Type C Mixtures with RAP and Liquid ASA2 in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-31 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Surface Type C Mixtures without RAP using Liquid ASA1 in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-32 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Surface Type C Mixtures without RAP using Liquid ASA2 in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-33 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Surface Type A Mixtures with RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-34 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Surface Type B Mixtures with RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-35 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Surface Type C Mixtures with RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-36 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Surface Type A Mixtures without RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-37 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Surface Type B mixtures without RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-38 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Surface Type C Mixtures without RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-39 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate I with RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type



Figure 12-40 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate II with RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type



Figure 12-41 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate III with RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type



Figure 12-42 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate IV with RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type



Figure 12-43 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate V with RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type



Figure 12-44 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate VI with RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type



Figure 12-45 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate I without RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type



Figure 12-46 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate III without RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type



Figure 12-47 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate IV without RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type



Figure 12-48 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate V without RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type



Figure 12-49 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate VI without RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type



Figure 12-50 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate II with RAP in Terms of Intermediate Mixture Type



Figure 12-51 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate IV with RAP in Terms of Intermediate Mixture Type



Figure 12-52 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate V with RAP in Terms of Intermediate Mixture Type



Figure 12-53 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate VII with RAP in Terms of Intermediate Mixture Type



Figure 12-54 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate IV without RAP in Terms of Intermediate Mixture Type



Figure 12-55 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate V without RAP in Terms of Intermediate Mixture Type



Figure 12-56 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate IV with RAP in Terms of Base Mixture Type



Figure 12-57 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate V with RAP in Terms of Base Mixture Type



Figure 12-58 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate IV without RAP in Terms of Base Type



Figure 12-59 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate V without RAP in Terms of Base Mixture Type



Figure 12-60 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate IV with RAP and Asphalt Source 2 in Terms of Surface Mixture Type



Figure 12-61 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate V with RAP and Asphalt Source 2 in Terms of Surface Mixture Type



Figure 12-62 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate IV without RAP using Asphalt Source 2 in Terms of Surface Mixture Type



Figure 12-63 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate V without RAP using Asphalt Source 2 in Terms of Surface Mixture Type



Figure 12-64 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate IV with RAP in Terms of WMA Technology Type



Figure 12-65 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate V with RAP in Terms of WMA Technology Type



Figure 12-66 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate IV without RAP in Terms of WMA Technology Type



Figure 12-67 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate V without RAP in Terms of WMA Technology Type



Figure 12-68 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate IV with RAP in Terms of Liquid ASA Type



Figure 12-69 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate V with RAP in Terms of Liquid ASA Type



Figure 12-70 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate IV without RAP in Terms of Liquid ASA Type



Figure 12-71 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate V without RAP in Terms of Liquid ASA Type



Figure 12-72 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate IV with RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Surface Mixture Type



Figure 12-73 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate V with RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Surface Mixture Type



Figure 12-74 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate IV without RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Surface Mixture Type



Figure 12-75 Master Dynamic Modulus Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate V without RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Surface Mixture Type



Figure 12-76 Master Phase Angle Curves for Surface Type A Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-77 Master Phase Angle Curves for Surface Type B Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-78 Master Phase Angle Curves for Surface Type C Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-79 Master Phase Angle Curves for Surface Type D Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-80 Master Phase Angle Curves for Surface Type E Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-81 Master Phase Angle Curves for Surface Type A Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-82 Master Phase Angle Curves for Surface Type B Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-83 Master Phase Angle Curves for Surface Type C Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-84 Master Phase Angle Curves for Surface Type D Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-85 Master Phase Angle Curves for Surface Type E Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-86 Master Phase Angle Curves for Intermediate Type A Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-87 Master Phase Angle Curves for Intermediate Type B Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-88 Master Phase Angle Curves for Intermediate Type C Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-89 Master Phase Angle Curves for Intermediate Type A Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-90 Master Phase Angle Curves for Intermediate Type B Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-91 Master Phase Angle Curves for Intermediate Type C Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-92 Master Phase Angle Curves for Base Type A Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-93 Master Phase Angle Curves for Base Type B Mixtures with RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-94 Master Phase Angle Curves for Base Type A Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-95 Master Phase Angle Curves for Base Type B Mixtures without RAP in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-96 Master Phase Angle Curves for Surface Type A Mixtures with RAP and Asphalt Source 2 in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-97 Master Phase Angle Curves for Surface Type B Mixtures with RAP and Asphalt Source 2 in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-98 Master Phase Angle Curves for Surface Type A Mixtures without RAP using Asphalt Source 2 in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-99 Master Phase Angle Curves for Surface Type B Mixtures without RAP using Asphalt Source 2 in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-100 Master Phase Angle Curves for Surface Type C Mixtures with RAP and WMA-Chemical Additive in Terms of Aggregate Source


Figure 12-101 Master Phase Angle Curves for Surface Type C Mixtures with RAP and WMA-Foaming in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-102 Master Phase Angle Curves for Surface Type C Mixtures without RAP using WMA-Chemical Additive in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-103 Master Phase Angle Curves for Surface Type C Mixtures without RAP using WMA-Foaming in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-104 Master Phase Angle Curves for Surface Type C Mixtures with RAP and Liquid ASA1 in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-105 Master Phase Angle Curves for Surface Type C Mixtures with RAP and Liquid ASA2 in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-106 Master Phase Angle Curves for Surface Type C Mixtures without RAP using Liquid ASA1 in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-107 Master Phase Angle Curves for Surface Type C Mixtures without RAP using Liquid ASA2 in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-108 Master Phase Angle Curves for Surface Type A Mixtures with RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-109 Master Phase Angle Curves for Surface Type B Mixtures with RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-110 Master Phase Angle Curves for Surface Type C Mixtures with RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-111 Master Phase Angle Curves for Surface Type A without RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-112 Master Phase Angle Curves for Surface Type B Mixtures without RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-113 Master Phase Angle Curves for Surface Type C Mixtures without RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Aggregate Source



Figure 12-114 Master Phase Angle Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate I with RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type



Figure 12-115 Master Phase Angle Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate II with RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type



Figure 12-116 Master Phase Angle Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate III with RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type



Figure 12-117 Master Phase Angle Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate IV with RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type



Figure 12-118 Master Phase Angle Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate V with RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type



Figure 12-119 Master Phase Angle Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate VI with RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type



Figure 12-120 Master Phase Angle Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate I without RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type



Figure 12-121 Master Phase Angle Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate III without RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type



Figure 12-122 Master Phase Angle Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate IV without RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type



Figure 12-123 Master Phase Angle Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate V without RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type



Figure 12-124 Master Phase Angle Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate VI without RAP in Terms of Surface Mixture Type



Figure 12-125 Master Phase Angle Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate II with RAP in Terms of Intermediate Mixture Type



Figure 12-126 Master Phase Angle Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate IV with RAP in Terms of Intermediate Mixture Type



Figure 12-127 Master Phase Angle Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate V with RAP in Terms of Intermediate Mixture Type



Figure 12-128 Master Phase Angle Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate VII with RAP in Terms of Intermediate Mixture Type



Figure 12-129 Master Phase Angle Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate IV without RAP in Terms of Intermediate Mixture Type



Figure 12-130 Master Phase Angle Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate V without RAP in Terms of Intermediate Mixture Type



Figure 12-131 Master Phase Angle Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate IV with RAP in Terms of Base Mixture Type



Figure 12-132 Master Phase Angle Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate V with RAP in Terms of Base Mixture Type



Figure 12-133 Master Phase Angle Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate IV without RAP in Terms of Base Mixture Type



Figure 12-134 Master Phase Angle Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate V without RAP in Terms of Base Mixture Type



Figure 12-135 Master Phase Angle Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate IV with RAP and Asphalt Source 2 in Terms of Surface Mixture Type



Figure 12-136 Master Phase Angle Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate V with RAP and Asphalt Source 2 in Terms of Surface Type



Figure 12-137 Master Phase Angle Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate IV without RAP using Asphalt Source 2 in Terms of Surface Mixture Type



Figure 12-138 Master Phase Angle Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate V without RAP using Asphalt Source 2 in Terms of Surface Mixture Type



Figure 12-139 Master Phase Angle Curves of Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate IV with RAP in Terms of WMA Technology Type



Figure 12-140 Master Phase Angle Curves of Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate V with RAP in Terms of WMA Technology Type



Figure 12-141 Master Phase Angle Curves of Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate IV without RAP in Terms of WMA Technology Type



Figure 12-142 Master Phase Angle Curves of Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate V without RAP in Terms of WMA Technology Type



Figure 12-143 Master Phase Angle Curves of Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate IV with RAP in Terms of Liquid ASA Type



Figure 12-144 Master Phase Angle Curves of Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate V with RAP in Terms of Liquid ASA Type



Figure 12-145 Master Phase Angle Curves of Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate IV without RAP in Terms of Liquid ASA Type



Figure 12-146 Master Phase Angle Curves of Surface Type C Mixtures from Aggregate V without RAP in Terms of Liquid ASA Type



Figure 12-147 Master Phase Angle Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate IV with RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Surface Mixture Type



Figure 12-148 Master Phase Angle Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate V with RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Surface Mixture Type



Figure 12-149 Master Phase Angle Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate IV without RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Surface Type



Figure 12-150 Master Phase Angle Curves of Mixtures from Aggregate V without RAP after Long-Term Aging in Terms of Surface Type

13 Appendix E - MEPEG Level 1, 2 and 3 Inputs for Mixtures

Figure 13-1: Mixture Type: I A (Augusta Surface Type A with RAP)

Level 1]	10000	00				14500
Asphalt Mix:	Dynamic	Modulus T	able									
Temperature	Mixture	E* (psi)				1000	00			XXXXX	14500
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz	Pa)					
14	2269976	2620315	2739011	2949458	3016469	3087685	$ \Xi_{100} $	00 -				14500
40	1281595	1792070	1998771	2414201	2560850	2724921	*		X			
70	405384	751564	942085	1441266	1662247	1942447						1/1500
100	104809	215942	294345	573482	738457	992494	10	00				- T A
130	36645	65322	86912	177415	242661	362909					v	TA 1450
Asphalt Bind	er: Superp	ave Binder	Test Data	7				10 —				1 A 1450
Temperature	Angular f	reg. = 10 ra	nd/sec					1.0E-7	7 1.0E-4	4 1.0E-1	1.0E+2 1.0)E+5
(°F)	G* (Pa)	Delta (d	egree)						Λ	euuceu me	equency (Hz)	
158.0	2995	63.7	-8)					Maste	r Dynami	c Modulus	Curves for Mi	xtures from
168.8	1501	61.9							Åugust	a Surface	Type A with RA	AP
179.6	750	60.0		-								
Asphalt Con	ral· Volur	netric Pron	erties as Bi	vilt			40					
Effective Bind	ler (%)	10.69	crues as De				35	_				
Air Voids (%)		7 59					0 20					
Total unit wei	ght	165.62							••			
10tul ullit () el	8	100.02					e 25	-				
Level 2							20 ge				•	
							us 15					
Asphalt Mix:	Aggregate	Gradation					CI ase	•	Δ			
Cumulative %	Retained	³ / ₄ " sieve	0				jų 10				~ ,	•••
Cumulative %	Retained	³ / ⁸ " sieve	11				5					
Cumulative %	Retained a	#4 sieve	39									
% Passing #20	00 sieve		4.85					0E-5	1.0E-3	3 1.0F	E-1 1.0 $E+1$	1.0E+3
Level 3										Reduced f	requency (Hz)	
Asphalt Bind	er: Superp	ave Binder	Grading	PG 76-	22			Maste	r Phase A S	ngle Curv Jurface Tv	es for Mixtures pe A with RAP	from August

Figure 13-2: Mixture Type: I B1 (Augusta Surface Type B, Mix Design 1 with RAP)

Level 1										
Asphalt Mix: Dynamic Modulus Table										
Temperature	Mixture	$ E^* $ (psi))							
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz				
14	2247433	2652087	2783518	3004878	3071152	3138599				
40	1237523	1822610	2058088	2515733	2669336	2834246				
70	392083	773906	992739	1569530	1819552	2126835				
100	115082	238131	329234	666866	869394	1178355				
130	49166	83400	110021	226518	313285	475437				

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data									
Temperature	Angular fre	Angular freq. = 10 rad/sec							
(°F)	G* (Pa)	Delta (degree)							
158.0	792.60	88.98							
168.8	299.28	89.22							
179.6	150.21	89.46							

Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built						
Effective Binder (%)	11.55					
Air Voids (%)	7.59					
Total unit weight (pcf)	165.63					

Level 2

. .

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation	
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	0
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	11
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	39
% Passing #200 sieve	4.85

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading | PG 64-22



Figure 13-3: Mixture Type: I B2 (Augusta Surface Type B, Mix Design 2 with RAP)

Level 1]	100000					14500000
Asphalt Mix:	Dynamic	Modulus T	able			J	10000	c c		.	****	1450000
Temperature	Mixture	E* (psi))				a)					1120000
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz				X		1 47000
14	1975436	2398321	2549029	2826506	2917918	3016922	$\left \stackrel{\mathfrak{L}}{\underline{\underline{\varepsilon}}} \right 1000$) <u> </u>	X			145000
40	1013545	1522236	1741930	2207493	2379791	2577834	E					<u>1</u>
70	296892	593058	765455	1242983	1465232	1756150	100	о <u>—</u>			I	B2 14500
100	72995	163787	230591	478992	631241	871643		/				
130	23388	46546	64807	145045	204870	317374	10				——————————————————————————————————————	B2 1450
Asphalt Bind	ler: Superp	ave Binder	Test Data					1.0E-7	1.0E-4	1.0E-1 1	.0E+2 1.0E-	+5
Temperature	Angular f	req. = 10 ra	ad/sec						Redu	ced freque	ncy (Hz)	
(°F)	G* (Pa)	Delta (d	egree)					lastan D	unomio M	adulua Cur	mag fon Mirt	nung fugu
158.0	792.60	88.98					IV.	Aug	ynanne M usta Surfa	co R Miv D	osign 2 with	RAP
168.8	299.28	89.22						Aug	usta Sulla		csign 2 with	
179.6	150.21	89.46										
Asphalt Gene	eral: Volur	netric Prop	erties as Bu	uilt			40					
Effective Bine	der (%)	12.30					35					
Air Voids (%))	7.59					1 30					
Total unit wei	ight	165.63					de 25			•		
Level 2							20 ·				•	
Asphalt Mix:	Aggregate	Gradation					Se a	•	32			
Cumulative %	6 Retained	³ ⁄ ₄ " sieve	0				u 10					
Cumulative %	6 Retained	3/8" sieve	11				5					
Cumulative %	6 Retained	#4 sieve	39				0					
% Passing #2	00 sieve		4.85				1.0	DE-5	1.0E-3	1.0E-1	1.0E+1	1.0E+3
Level 3									Re	educed freq	uency (Hz)	
Asphalt Bind	ler: Supern	ave Binder	Grading	PG 64-22				Maste Aug	r Phase A usta Surfa	ngle Curve ice B Mix D	s for Mixture Design 2 with 1	es from RAP



Level 1							100000 14500000					
Asphalt Mix:	Dynamic	Modulus T	able		10000							
Temperature	Mixture	$ E^* $ (psi))									
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz						
14	2078150	2479854	2615069	2850844	2924164	3000657	È 1000 → 145000 È					
40	1041541	1584469	1812856	2277694	2441509	2623119						
70	267847	565059	745241	1253668	1489922	1794893	100 - 100					
100	61488	136898	195584	430103	582359	830492						
130	22024	39248	52970	115948	165608	264058	× IC 1450					
Asphalt Bind	or. Suparp	ava Din dar	Tost Data	7			10					
Temperature	Angular f	$r_{POR} = 10 r_{C}$	Iest Data	_			1.0E-7 $1.0E-4$ $1.0E-1$ $1.0E+2$ $1.0E+5$					
(°F)	G* (Pa)	$\frac{1012}{\text{Delta}}$	egree)	-			Reduced frequency (Hz)					
158.0	792 60	88.98	cgicc)				Master Dynamic Modulus Curves for Mixtures from					
168.8	299.28	89.22		-			Augusta Surface Type C with RAP					
179.6	150.21	89.46										
							40					
Asphalt Gene	e ral: Volur	netric Prop	erties as Bu	uilt			25					
Effective Bind	der (%)	13.33										
Air Voids (%))	7.51										
Total unit wei	ght (pcf)	166.13										
]							
Level 2												
Asphalt Mix:	Aggregate	Gradation										
Cumulative %	Retained ³	³ / ₄ " sieve	0									
Cumulative %	Retained	%" sieve	3				5					
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve 29												
% Passing #20	00 sieve		5.64				1.0E-5 1.0E-3 1.0E-1 1.0E+1 1.0E+3					
							Reduced frequency (Hz)					
Level 3	Level 3						Master Phase Angle Curves for Mixtures from					
Asphalt Bind	er: Superp	ave Binder	Grading	PG 64-22	Augusta Surface Type C with RAP							



Figure 13-5: Mixture Type: I D (Augusta Surface Type D with RAP)

Figure 13-6: Mixture Type: I E Augusta Surface Type E with RAP)

Level 1							100000						145000	00
Asphalt Mix:	Dynamic	Modulus T	able				10000				AND		1.45000	0
Temperature	Mixture	E* (psi))							. X			145000	0
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz	Pa			X				
14	1951357	2294890	2416204	2639252	2712931	2793050	E 1000	о 📥	X	~ `			145000	e
40	1101468	1546803	1732797	2119603	2261229	2423634								* נו
70	383489	683970	847461	1277291	1470099	1718257					_	те	14500	-
100	113884	224609	299328	554095	700198	922174	100) 🔲				I B	1.000	
130	42146	75427	99635	195995	262091	379366						× IE	1450	
Asphalt Bind	er: Superp	ave Binder	Test Data				10) ↓ 1 0E-7	1 0E-4	1 0E-1	1 0E+2	1 0E+5	1430	
Temperature	Angular f	req. = 10 ra	ad/sec					1.01 /	Red	uced freq	uency (Hz)	1.0115		
(°F)	G* (Pa)	Delta (d	egree)								~ ^			
158.0	792.60	88.98						Mast	er Dynam	ic Modulu	is Curves f	or Mixtui	es	
168.8	299.28	89.22						Ir	om Augus	ta Suriac	е гуре Е м	ith KAP		
179.6	150.21	89.46												
Asphalt Gene	eral: Volur	netric Prop	erties as Bu	uilt			40							
Effective Bind	ler (%) 1	2.26					35 -							
Air Voids (%)	6	.85)) 3)			•				
Total unit wei	ght 1	67.31												
										•				
Level 2							1 a 20				•••			
							e 15 -							
Asphalt Mix:	Aggregate	e Gradation					seq 10 -	• I	Е			•		
Cumulative %	Retained	³ ⁄4" sieve	0				A							
Cumulative %	Retained	3/8" sieve	2				5 -							
Cumulative %	Retained	#4 sieve	18				0 +						1	
% Passing #20	00 sieve		6				1.01	E-5	1.0E-3 R	1.0E-1 educed fro	1 1.0E equency (H	+1 1.([z))E+3	
Level 3	Level 3							Mas	ster Phase Augusta	Angle Cu	irves for M Type E wit	lixtures fr	om	

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder GradingPG 64-22



Figure 13-8: Mixture Type: II A1 (Blacksburg Surface Type A, Mix Design 1 with RAP)

Level 1						
Asphalt Mix:	Dynamic N	Aodulus Tal	ole			
Temperature	Mixture	E* (psi)				
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz
14	1900562	2299005	2445689	2725506	2821412	2928150
40	984581.2	1442258	1642706	2079166	2246421	2443944
70	303138.3	571154.2	723701.9	1145749	1344943	1610720
100	78137.64	165169.7	226219.1	444538.1	575739.9	782594
130	24903.69	48323.92	65968.36	139295	191642.1	287633.3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data								
Temperature	Angular freq. = 10 rad/sec							
(°F)	G* (Pa)	Delta (degree)						
158.0	2995.00	63.70						
168.8	1501.00	61.90						
179.6	750.50 60.00							

Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built						
Effective Binder (%)	10.69					
Air Voids (%)	6.33					
Total unit weight	164.31					

Level 2							
	Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation						
	Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	0					
	Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	18					
	Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	49					
	% Passing #200 sieve	5					

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading PG 76-22



1.0E-1

Reduced frequency (Hz)

Master Phase Angle Curves for Mixtures from Blacksburg Surface A Mix Design 1 with RAP

1.0E+1

1.0E+3

0 ==== 1.0E-5

1.0E-3

Figure 13-9: Mixture Type: II A2 (Blacksburg Surface Type A, Mix Design 2 with RAP)

Asphalt Mix: Dynamic Modulus Table							
Temperature	Mixture	$ E^* $ (psi)					
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz	
14	1769583	2189057	2345684	2646993	2750853	2866670	
40	856675	1306068	1509038	1961206	2137583	2347686	
70	241523	476056	615446	1017587	1214160	1481884	
100	59738	128684	178717	365930	483282	674010	
130	19381	37146	50711	108643	151298	231755	

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data			
Temperature	Angular freq. = 10 rad/sec		
(°F)	G* (Pa)	Delta (degree)	
158.0	2995.00	63.70	
168.8	1501.00	61.90	
179.6	750.50	60.00	

Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built			
Effective Binder (%)	11.26		
Air Voids (%)	6.33		
Total unit weight (pcf)	164.31		

Level 2

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation	
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	0
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	13
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	39
% Passing #200 sieve	5.97

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading PG 76-22





Master Phase Angle Curves for Mixtures from Blacksburg Surface Type A Mix Design 2 with RAP

Level 1

Figure 13-10: Mixture Type: II B (Blacksburg Surface Type B with RAP)

Level 1]	100000 145000
	D		1.1			, 1	
Asphalt Mix: Dynamic Modulus Table				10000 145000			
1 emperature	Mixture	$ E^* $ (psi))	5 11-	10 H-	25 11-	R
(F) 14	0.1 HZ	0.5 HZ	1 HZ	3 HZ	10 HZ	25 HZ	
14	944506	2100111	2519030	2013000	2/15501	2823210	
40	044300	1298511	1301300	1930017	12125205	2328300	
/0	48076	404070	000821	1010884	1215050	1484197	
100	48270	114/38	104/30	<u>330142</u>	4//184	0/3/09	
130	13014	28221	40551	90401	139152	221391	
Asphalt Bind	Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data				1.0E-7 1.0E-4 1.0E-1 1.0E+2 1.0E+5		
Temperature	Angular f	req. = 10 ra	ad/sec				Reduced frequency (Hz)
(°F)	G* (Pa)	Delta (c	degree)				Mastar Dynamia Madulus Curves for Mixtures from
158.0	792.60	88.98					Result Results Surface Type R with RAP
168.8	299.28	89.22					Diacksburg Surface Type D with KAT
179.6	150.21	89.46					40
Asphalt Gene	eral: Volur	netric Prop	erties as Bu	uilt			35
Effective Bind	ler (%)	10.37					
Air Voids (%)		6.88					
Total unit wei	ght	165.94					
Lovel 2							the second seco
Level 2							
Asphalt Mix:	Aggregate	Gradation					
Cumulative %	Retained ³	³ / ₄ " sieve	0				
Cumulative %	Retained ³	%" sieve	13				
Cumulative %	Retained a	#4 sieve	12				
% Passing #20	00 sieve		6.21				1.0E-5 1.0E-3 1.0E-1 1.0E+1 1.0E+3 Reduced frequency (Hz)
Level 3	Level 3				Master Phase Angle Curves for Mixtures from Blacksburg Surface Type B with RAP		

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading PG 64-22
Figure 13-11: Mixture Type: II C (Blacksburg Surface Type C with RAP)

Level 1						
Asphalt Mix:	Dynamic I	Modulus Ta	able			
Temperature	Mixture	$ E^* $ (psi))			
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz
14	1671366	2088693	2244696	2544472	2647557	2762253
40	824714	1269475	1469629	1912799	2084417	2287766
70	241885	486158	630297	1039882	1236609	1500956
100	59921	136653	192795	401075	529290	733654
130	18225	38401	54353	124029	175548	271845

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data				
Temperature	Angular freq. = 10 rad/sec			
(°F)	G* (Pa) Delta (degree)			
158.0	792.60	88.98		
168.8	299.28	89.22		
179.6	150.21	89.46		

Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built				
Effective Binder (%)	10.67			
Air Voids (%)	7.13			
Total unit weight	167.06			

Level 2

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation	
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	0
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	10
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	31
% Passing #200 sieve	6.59

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading PG 64-22



Level 1

Figure 13-12: Mixture Type: II D (Blacksburg Surface Type D with RAP)

Level 1							
Asphalt Mix: Dynamic Modulus Table							
Temperature	Mixture	$ E^* $ (psi))				
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz	
14	1795242	2171876	2306853	2557224	2640456	2731196	
40	927952	1381327	1576813	1992274	2146907	2325596	
70	273102	541034	695529	1121068	1318807	1578055	
100	65333	148141	208673	431713	567452	781082	
130	19719	40470	56888	128921	182409	282574	

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data				
Temperature	Angular fre	q. = 10 rad/sec		
(°F)	G* (Pa) Delta (degree)			
158.0	792.60	88.98		
168.8	299.28	89.22		
179.6	150.21	89.46		

Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built				
Effective Binder (%)	11.34			
Air Voids (%)	7.33			
Total unit weight	167.56			

Level 2

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation				
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	0			
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	0			
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	17			
% Passing #200 sieve	7.27			

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading PG 64-22







Blacksburg Surface Type D with RAP

Figure 13-13: Mixture Type: II E (Blacksburg Surface Type E with RAP)

Asphalt Mix:	Dynamic I	Modulus Ta	able			
Temperature	Mixture	E* (psi))			
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz
14	1421402	1788449	1932865	2226106	2333188	2457360
40	695188	1051908	1216737	1597702	1753164	1944979
70	210551	403026	514591	833573	990413	1207131
100	52661	116072	160506	319604	415946	569778
130	14756	31932	45084	99959	139018	210390

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data				
Temperature	Angular freq. = 10 rad/sec			
(°F)	G* (Pa) Delta (degree)			
158.0	792.60	88.98		
168.8	299.28	89.22		
179.6	150.21	89.46		

Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built				
Effective Binder (%)	11.34			
Air Voids (%)	10.97			
Total unit weight	167.56			

Level 2

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation	
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	0
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	0
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	1
% Passing #200 sieve	8.72

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading PG 64-22



Master Phase Angle Curves for Mixtures from Blacksburg Surface Type E with RAP

Level 1

Figure 13-14: Mixture Type: II IB (Blacksburg Intermediate Type B Special with RAP)

Level 1							
Asphalt Mix: Dynamic Modulus Table							
Temperature	Mixture	$ E^* $ (psi))				
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz	
14	2262615	2529447	2627009	2815943	2882590	2958764	
40	1263119	1643264	1801927	2142441	2273740	2431402	
70	362247	606619	736417	1082074	1243350	1460486	
100	68808	134982	178753	328905	417812	559146	
130	15451	28307	37439	73356	98226	143637	

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data				
Temperature	Angular freq. $= 10$ rad/sec			
(°F)	G* (Pa) Delta (degree)			
158.0	792.60	88.98		
168.8	299.28	89.22		
179.6	150.21	89.46		

Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built				
Effective Binder (%)	12.48			
Air Voids (%)	7.72			
Total unit weight	165.00			

Level 2

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation	
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	1
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	17
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	49
% Passing #200 sieve	5.15

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading PG 64-22



Master Phase Angle Curves for Mixtures from Blacksburg Intermediate Type B Special with RAP

Figure 13-15: Mixture Type: III A1 (Columbia Surface Type A, Mix Design 1 with RAP)

Level 1							
Asphalt Mix: Dynamic Modulus Table							
Temperature	Mixture	E* (psi)					
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz	
14	2061881	2447035	2585509	2844532	2931668	3027562	
40	1108476	1586278	1790051	2222995	2385070	2573712	
70	349752	647227	813280	1262350	1469540	1741589	
100	90668	188879	257161	498246	641150	863817	
130	29316	55625	75318	156588	214242	319384	

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data				
Temperature	Angular freq. = 10 rad/sec			
(°F)	G* (Pa) Delta (degree)			
158.0	792.60	88.98		
168.8	299.28	89.22		
179.6	150.21	89.46		

Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built				
Effective Binder (%)	9.97			
Air Voids (%)	6.57			
Total unit weight	164.81			

Level 2

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation	
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	0
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	20
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	50
% Passing #200 sieve	3.77

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading PG 76-22



Master Dynamic Modulus Curves for Mixtures from Columbia Surface Type A, Mix Design 1 with RAP



Master Phase Angle Curves for Mixtures from Columbia Surface Type A, Mix Design 1 with RAP

Figure 13-16: Mixture Type: III A2 (Columbia Surface Type A, Mix Design 2 with RAP)

Level 1							
Asphalt Mix: Dynamic Modulus Table							
Temperature	Mixture	$ E^* $ (psi))				
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz	
14	2162927	2549917	2684023	2925906	3004156	3088067	
40	1144951	1661510	1878008	2325610	2487673	2671640	
70	331448	643562	822375	1310242	1534258	1824922	
100	79800	171139	237673	484340	635764	875578	
130	26546	48853	66005	140120	195160	299190	

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data				
Temperature	Angular freq. = 10 rad/sec			
(°F)	G* (Pa) Delta (degree)			
158.0	792.60 88.98			
168.8	299.28	89.22		
179.6	150.21	89.46		

Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built				
Effective Binder (%)	11.72			
Air Voids (%)	6.57			
Total unit weight	165.25			

Level 2

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation	
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	0
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	10
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	37
% Passing #200 sieve	4.85

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading PG 76-22







Master Phase Angle Curves for Mixtures from Columbia Surface Type A, Mix Design 2 with RAP

Figure 13-17: Mixture Type: III B1 (Columbia Surface Type B, Mix Design 1 with RAP)

Level 1							
Asphalt Mix:	Asphalt Mix: Dynamic Modulus Table						
Temperature	Mixture	$ E^* $ (psi))				
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz	
14	2076797	2469520	2608378	2863590	2947795	3039252	
40	1123893	1624162	1834896	2274877	2436251	2621301	
70	351580	671076	849780	1328170	1545191	1825740	
100	87868	193255	268238	535799	694099	938443	
130	27088	54511	75809	166822	232746	353763	

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data				
Temperature	Angular fre	q. = 10 rad/sec		
(°F)	G* (Pa)	Delta (degree)		
158.0	792.60	88.98		
168.8	299.28	89.22		
179.6	150.21	89.46		

Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built				
Effective Binder (%)	10.81			
Air Voids (%)	6.21			
Total unit weight	164.81			

Level 2

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation	
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	0
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	10
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	37
% Passing #200 sieve	4

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading PG 64-22



Surface Type B, Mix Design 1 with RAP

Figure 13-18: Mixture Type: III B2 (Columbia Surface Type B, Mix Design 2 with RAP)

Asphalt Mix:	Dynamic I	Modulus Ta	able			
Temperature	Mixture	$ E^* $ (psi))			
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz
14	1924350	2358932	2515986	2808563	2906051	3012365
40	938570	1437613	1658320	2136168	2316575	2526441
70	254876	518958	677302	1131353	1349768	1642046
100	60133	133895	189044	400661	534992	753435
130	19473	37471	51581	114003	161338	252322

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data				
Temperature	Angular freq. = 10 rad/sec			
(°F)	G* (Pa)	Delta (degree)		
158.0	792.60	88.98		
168.8	299.28	89.22		
179.6	150.21	89.46		

Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built			
Effective Binder (%)	11.53		
Air Voids (%)	7.24		
Total unit weight	164.81		

Level 2

Lovol 1

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation	
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	0
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	10
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	37
% Passing #200 sieve	4

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading PG 64-22



Figure 13-19: Mixture Type: III C (Columbia Surface Type C with RAP)

Level 1						
Asphalt Mix: Dynamic Modulus Table						
Temperature	Mixture	$ E^* $ (psi))			
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz
14	1800240	2214545	2367631	2659552	2759344	2870076
40	908338	1369597	1573818	2020430	2191683	2393590
70	268848	530806	683014	1109316	1311660	1581717
100	65661	148164	207939	427236	560979	772874
130	19597	40929	57683	130293	183650	282979

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data				
Temperature	Angular freq. = 10 rad/sec			
(°F)	G* (Pa) Delta (degree)			
158.0	792.60	88.98		
168.8	299.28	89.22		
179.6	150.21	89.46		

Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built			
Effective Binder (%)	11.79		
Air Voids (%)	7.13		
Total unit weight	165.00		

Level 2

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation		
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	0	
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	8	
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	30	
% Passing #200 sieve	5.46	

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading PG 64-22



0

1.0E-5 1.0E-3 1.0E-1 1.0E+1 1.0E+3 **Reduced frequency (Hz)** [E* ((Psi)

Master Phase Angle Curves for Mixtures from Columbia Surface Type C with RAP

Figure 13-20: Mixture Type: III CO (Columbia Surface Type C, no RAP)

Asphalt Mix: Dynamic Modulus Table									
Temperature	Mixture	$ E^* $ (psi)	$ E^* $ (psi)						
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz			
14	1518561	2004136	2192005	2560826	2689602	2833757			
40	616020	1055207	1269071	1772054	1976289	2224128			
70	135003	310443	426929	799213	996408	1277384			
100	27365	67291	99591	236915	332681	499944			
130	8002	16664	23836	58135	86138	143464			

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data						
Temperature	Angular freq. = 10 rad/sec					
(°F)	G* (Pa) Delta (degree)					
158.0	792.60	88.98				
168.8	299.28	89.22				
179.6	150.21	89.46				

Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built					
Effective Binder (%)	11.53				
Air Voids (%)	7.60				
Total unit weight	165.00				

Level 2

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation						
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve 0						
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve 8						
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve 30						
% Passing #200 sieve 5.46						

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading PG 64-22



Surface Type C, no RAP

Level 1

Figure 13-21: Mixture Type: III D (Columbia Surface Type D with RAP)

Level 1]	100000 1450000
Asphalt Mix:	Dynamic	Modulus T	able				10000
Temperature	Mixture	$ \mathbf{E}^{\star} $ (psi))	6 11	10.11	05.11	
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	I HZ	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz	145000
14	1/08/8/	2104078	2250141	2528438	2623439	2728727	
40	857542	1295248	1489730	1915997	2079656	2272644	
70	254270	499157	642087	1044702	1236793	1493937	
100	64143	141008	196496	400429	525355	724169	
130	20333	40664	56393	123824	173159	265030	
Asphalt Bind	ler: Superp	ave Binder	• Test Data				1.0E-7 1.0E-4 1.0E-1 1.0E+2 1.0E+5
Temperature	Angular f	req. = 10 ra	ad/sec				Reduced frequency (Hz)
(°F)	G* (Pa)	Delta (o	degree)				Master Dynamic Modulus Curves for Mixtures from
158.0	792.60	88.98					Columbia Surface Type D with RAP
168.8	299.28	89.22					
179.6	150.21	89.46					40
Asphalt Gene Effective Bine Air Voids (%)	e ral: Volur der (%))	netric Prop 11.94 5.10	erties as Bu	uilt			35
Total unit we	ight	165.06					
Level 2							
Asphalt Mix:	Aggregate	Gradation	L				
Cumulative %	6 Retained	³ / ₄ " sieve	0				5
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve 7							
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve 14					$1.0E_{-5}$ $1.0E_{-3}$ $1.0E_{-1}$ $1.0E_{+1}$ $1.0E_{+3}$		
% Passing #200 sieve 6.25						Reduced frequency (Hz)	
Level 3 Asphalt Bind	Level 3 Asphalt Binder: Superpaye Binder Grading PG 64-22					Master Phase Angle Curves for Mixtures from Columbia Surface Type D with RAP	

Figure 13-22: Mixture Type: III DO (Columbia Surface Type D, no RAP)

Asphalt Mix: Dynamic Modulus Table									
Temperature	Mixture	$ E^* $ (psi)	$ E^* $ (psi)						
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz 1 Hz 5 Hz 10 Hz 25 Hz							
14	1628170	2093170	2270424	2615457	2735281	2869201			
40	696829	1144845	1357190	1847026	2043156	2279675			
70	162098	354889	478536	861352	1059288	1337634			
100	34046	80293	116520	264948	365455	537678			
130	10122	20439	28760	67203	97676	158693			

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data						
Temperature	Angular freq. $= 10$ rad/sec					
(°F)	G* (Pa) Delta (degree)					
158.0	792.60	88.98				
168.8	299.28	89.22				
179.6	150.21	89.46				

Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built						
Effective Binder (%)	11.53					
Air Voids (%)	7.98					
Total unit weight	165.06					

Level 2						
Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation]				
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	0					
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	7					
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	14					
% Passing #200 sieve 6.25						
Level 3						
Asphalt Binder: Superpaye Binder Grading PG 64-22						



Master Phase Angle Curves for Mixtures from Columbia Surface Type D, no RAP

Reduced frequency (Hz)

1.0E-1

1.0E+1

1.0E+3

1.0E-5

1.0E-3

Level 1

Figure 13-23: Mixture Type: III E (Columbia Surface Type E with RAP)

Level 1								
Asphalt Mix: Dynamic Modulus Table								
Temperature	Mixture	E* (psi))				Pa)	
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz	Ξ_{1000}	
14	1638399	2016277	2159551	2440385	2539316	2651370	$\frac{1}{8}$	
40	823997	1225627	1406093	1810075	1969406	2161307		
70	250672	475311	604523	968363	1143739	1381828	100	
100	63977	136877	187985	371210	482001	658107		
130	19546	39256	54148	116006	160104	240942	10	

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data						
Temperature	Angular freq. = 10 rad/sec					
(°F)	G* (Pa)	Delta (degree)				
158.0	792.60	88.98				
168.8	299.28	89.22				
179.6	150.21	89.46				

Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built						
Effective Binder (%)	11.94					
Air Voids (%)	7.91					
Total unit weight	165.06					

Level 2

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation	
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	0
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	0
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	5
% Passing #200 sieve	7.8
% Passing #200 sieve	7.8

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading PG 64-22



Figure 13-24: Mixture Type: III EO (Columbia Surface Type E, no RAP)

Level 1						
Asphalt Mix: Dynamic Modulus Table						
Temperature	Mixture	$ E^* $ (psi))			
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz
14	1384803	1824068	2001382	2366739	2501318	2657689
40	586840	961878	1145710	1590165	1777870	2013365
70	147400	308289	409781	725337	891723	1131467
100	33544	76426	108598	234926	318264	459911
130	9830	20324	28551	64833	92373	145769

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data					
Temperature	Angular freq. $= 10 \text{ rad/sec}$				
(°F)	G* (Pa) Delta (degree)				
158.0	792.60	88.98			
168.8	299.28	89.22			
179.6	150.21	89.46			

Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built				
Effective Binder (%)	12.34			
Air Voids (%)	9.40			
Total unit weight	165.06			

Level 2

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation	
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	0
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	0
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	5
% Passing #200 sieve	7.8

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading PG 64-22



Figure 13-25: Mixture Type: IV A (Jefferson Surface Type A with RAP)

Level 1						
Asphalt Mix: Dynamic Modulus Table						
Temperature	Mixture	E* (psi))			
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz
14	2481673	2834189	2944498	3125745	3178872	3232362
40	1385279	1984186	2215768	2651869	2794259	2944903
70	386081	783240	1011634	1611178	1869096	2183965
100	92771	198627	279997	596041	793428	1102572
130	36295	60439	79539	166488	234438	367561

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data					
Temperature	Angular fre	eq. = 10 rad/sec			
(°F)	G* (Pa)	Delta (degree)			
158.0	2995.00	63.70			
168.8	1501.00	61.90			
179.6	750.50	60.00			

Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built				
Effective Binder (%)	10.90			
Air Voids (%)	5.91			
Total unit weight	165.31			

Level 2

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation	
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	3
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	14
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	48
% Passing #200 sieve	4.26

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading PG 76-22



Surface Type A with RAP

Figure 13-26: Mixture Type: IV AG (Jefferson Surface Type A with Long-Term Aging and RAP)

Level 1						
Asphalt Mix: Dynamic Modulus Table						
Temperature	Mixture	E* (psi)				
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz
14	2405905	2757871	2872529	3068445	3128411	3190526
40	1349326	1907837	2128441	2557529	2703335	2862126
70	391891	767900	979223	1532847	1774410	2075141
100	91596	198850	278599	576856	758623	1041333
130	31608	56384	75800	162042	227551	352880

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data					
Temperature	Angular fr	req. = 10 rad/sec			
(°F)	G* (Pa)	Delta (degree)			
158.0	2995.00	63.70			
168.8	1501.00	61.90			
179.6	750.50 60.00				
Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built					
Effective Binder (%) 10.90					
Air Voids (%) 6.47					
Total unit weight 165.31					

Level 2

L _

- -

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation	
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	3
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	14
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	48
% Passing #200 sieve	4.26

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading PG 76-22





Master Phase Angle Curves for Mixtures from Jefferson Surface Type A with Long-Term Aging and RAP

Figure 13-27: Mixture Type: IV AN (Jefferson Surface Type A with Asphalt Source 2 and RAP)

Level 1						
Asphalt Mix: Dynamic Modulus Table						
Temperature	Mixture	$ E^* $ (psi))			
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz
14	2178293	2626389	2773194	3021276	3095632	3171265
40	1027534	1637923	1896920	2418011	2597429	2792184
70	234841	531549	722714	1285559	1552472	1897104
100	53626	118975	172607	403319	562510	831519
130	21533	35863	47451	102770	148521	243432

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data				
Temperature	Angular freq. = 10 rad/sec			
(°F)	G* (Pa) Delta (degree)			
158.0	2995.00	63.70		
168.8	1501.00	61.90		
179.6	750.50	60.00		

Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built					
Effective Binder (%)	11.39				
Air Voids (%)	5.46				
Total unit weight	165.31				

Level 2

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation	
Cumulative % Retained 3/4" sieve	0
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	12
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	42
% Passing #200 sieve	4.44

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading PG 76-22



Master Dynamic Modulus Curves for Mixtures from Jefferson Surface Type A with Asphalt Source 2 and RAP



Master Phase Angle Curves for Mixtures from Jefferson Surface Type A with Asphalt Source 2 and RAP Figure 13-28: Mixture Type: IV AO (Jefferson Surface Type A, no RAP)

						_	100000
Level 1							
Asphalt Mix:	Asphalt Mix: Dynamic Modulus Table						10000 1450000
Temperature	Mixture	E* (psi)					La
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz	
14	1727731	2219492	2400263	2737948	2849912	2971099	
40	725268	1220983	1454748	1981844	2185959	2425230	
70	163062	366586	501460	927319	1148189	1455907	
100	37185	83541	120655	278430	388638	580781	
130	13478	24197	32725	72289	104179	169361	
Asphalt Bind	ler: Superp	ave Binder	Test Data				1.0E-7 1.0E-4 1.0E-1 1.0E+2 1.0E+5 Reduced frequency (Hz)
Temperature	Angular f	req. = 10 ra	ud/sec				
(°F)	G* (Pa)	Delta (c	legree)				Master Dynamic Modulus Curves for Mixtures from
158.0	2995.00	63.70					Jefferson Surface Type A, no RAP
168.8	1501.00	61.90					
179.6	750.50	60.00					
Asphalt Gen	eral: Volur	netric Prop	erties as Bu	uilt			35
Effective Bine	der (%)	11.39					
Air Voids (%))	5.46					
Total unit wei	ight	164.06					
Level 2							
Asphalt Mix:	: Aggregate	e Gradation					
Cumulative %	6 Retained	³ ⁄4" sieve	0				5
Cumulative %	6 Retained	3/8" sieve	12				
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve 42				1.0E-5 1.0E-3 1.0E-1 1.0E+1 1.0E+3			
% Passing #200 sieve 44.4					Reduced frequency (Hz)		
Level 3 Asphalt Bind	Level 3 Asphalt Binder: Superpaye Binder Grading PG 76-22						Master Phase Angle Curves for Mixtures from Jefferson Surface Type A, no RAP

Figure 13-29: Mixture Type: IV AOG (Jefferson Surface Type A with Long-Term Aging, no RAP)

Level 1						
Asphalt Mix:	Dynamic I	Modulus Ta	able			
Temperature	Mixture	E* (psi)				
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz
14	2212665	2628198	2766481	3005222	3078716	3154910
40	1089909	1667752	1910097	2400527	2572104	2761287
70	261520	564997	752356	1288487	1539789	1865102
100	56648	126913	182752	412694	566057	820683
130	20338	35442	47529	103886	149265	241215

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data				
Temperature	Angular freq. $= 10$ rad/sec			
(°F)	G* (Pa) Delta (degree)			
158.0	2995.00	63.70		
168.8	1501.00	61.90		
179.6	750.50	60.00		

Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built				
Effective Binder (%)	11.39			
Air Voids (%)	7.26			
Total unit weight	164.06			

Level 2

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation					
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	0				
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	12				
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	42				
% Passing #200 sieve	44.4				

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading PG 76-22





Master Phase Angle Curves for Mixtures from Jefferson Surface Type A with Long-Term Aging, no RAP

Figure 13-30: Mixture Type: IV AON (Jefferson Surface Type A with Asphalt Source 2, no RAP)

Level 1						
Asphalt Mix: Dynamic Modulus Table						
Temperature	Mixture	E* (psi))			
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz
14	2409944	2783250	2901791	3098833	3157256	3216482
40	1286418	1889614	2128114	2585555	2737494	2899852
70	328281	696808	915204	1505591	1766333	2089908
100	70887	160415	231428	517670	702316	998294
130	25444	44362	59697	131942	190201	307293

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data				
Temperature	Angular freq. = 10 rad/sec			
(°F)	G* (Pa)	Delta (degree)		
158.0	2995.00	63.70		
168.8	1501.00	61.90		
179.6	750.50	60.00		

Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built				
Effective Binder (%)	11.39			
Air Voids (%)	5.70			
Total unit weight	164.06			

Level 2

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation	
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	0
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	12
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	42
% Passing #200 sieve	44.4

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading PG 76-22



Master phase Angle Curves for Mixtures from Jefferson Surface Type A with Asphalt Source 2, no RAP

Figure 13-31: Mixture Type: IV B (Jefferson Surface Type B with RAP)

Level 1							
Asphalt Mix:	Asphalt Mix: Dynamic Modulus Table						
Temperature	Mixture	E* (psi))				
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz	
14	2146965	2547658	2682245	2916927	2989991	3066322	
40	1093618	1646082	1876354	2342494	2506242	2687647	
70	283642	596282	783508	1305211	1545187	1853339	
100	62921	143037	205308	452183	610891	867447	
130	21321	39211	53593	120006	172420	276029	

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data				
Temperature	Angular freq. = 10 rad/sec			
(°F)	G* (Pa)	Delta (degree)		
158.0	792.60	88.98		
168.8	299.28	89.22		
179.6	150.21	89.46		

Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built			
Effective Binder (%)	11.73		
Air Voids (%)	5.89		
Total unit weight	164.69		

Level 2

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation	
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	0
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	7
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	32
% Passing #200 sieve	5.88

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder GradingPG 64-22



Surface Type B with RAP

Figure 13-32: Mixture Type: IV BG (Jefferson Surface Type B with Long-Term Aging and RAP)

Level 1						
Asphalt Mix:	Asphalt Mix: Dynamic Modulus Table					
Temperature	Mixture	$ E^* $ (psi)				
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz
14	2302663	2668739	2787638	2989643	3050996	3114179
40	1215022	1783440	2011636	2458304	2610268	2775429
70	305060	645728	847254	1396590	1642973	1953368
100	61807	143523	208095	467376	634808	904842
130	20092	36731	50284	114246	165787	269334

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data				
Temperature	Angular freq. = 10 rad/sec			
(°F)	G* (Pa)	Delta (degree)		
158.0	792.60	88.98		
168.8	299.28	89.22		
179.6	150.21	89.46		

Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built			
Effective Binder (%)	11.73		
Air Voids (%)	6.47		
Total unit weight	165.63		

Level 2

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation	
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	0
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	7
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	32
% Passing #200 sieve	5.88

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading PG 64-22



Master Dynamic Modulus Curves for Mixtures from Jefferson Surface Type B with Long-Term Aging and RAP



Master Phase Angle Curves for Mixtures from Jefferson Surface Type B with Long-Term Aging and RAP

Figure 13-33: Mixture Type: IV BN (Jefferson Surface Type B with Asphalt Source 2 and RAP)

Level 1						
Asphalt Mix:	Dynamic	Modulus Ta	able			
Temperature	Mixture	E* (psi))			
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz
14	1914517	2362047	2519853	2805770	2898076	2996567
40	893696	1419079	1651561	2147939	2331220	2540402
70	216815	474830	636482	1112280	1343240	1651079
100	46981	110073	160076	364652	500756	727548
130	15342	29409	40858	94591	137672	224140

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data				
Temperature	Angular freq. = 10 rad/sec			
(°F)	G* (Pa)	Delta (degree)		
158.0	792.60	88.98		
168.8	299.28	89.22		
179.6	150.21	89.46		

Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built				
Effective Binder (%)	11.73			
Air Voids (%)	6.91			
Total unit weight	164.69			

Level 2

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation				
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	0			
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	7			
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	32			
% Passing #200 sieve	5.88			

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading PG 64-22



Master Dynamic Modulus Curves for Mixtures from Jefferson Surface Type B with Asphalt Source 2 and RAP



Master Phase Angle Curves for Mixtures from Jefferson Surface Type B with Asphalt Source 2 and RAP

Figure 13-34: Mixture Type: IV BO (Jefferson Surface Type B, no RAP)

Level 1]	100000				14500000
Asphalt Mix:	Dynamic	Modulus T	able				10000			A CONTRACTOR OF THE OWNER OWNER OF THE OWNER OWNE	1450000
Temperature	Mixture	E* (psi))				a)		× `		
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz			X		145000
14	1858233	2309965	2471368	2767345	2864087	2968125			X		143000
40	836405	1347214	1577088	2076236	2263662	2479907	Ê	×	`		
70	190676	426048	576239	1028361	1252777	1556703	100			W	BO 14500
100	38744	92511	135721	316329	439176	647792					
130	12061	23446	32777	77136	113229	186776	10			——————————————————————————————————————	BO-1450
Asphalt Bind	er: Superp	ave Binder	Test Data]			10	0E-7 1.0E-4	1.0E-1 1	.0E+2 1.0E+	-5
Temperature	Angular f	req. = 10 ra	ad/sec					Red	uced freque	ncy (Hz)	
(°F)	G* (Pa)	Delta (o	degree)				М		Madalaa Ca		6
158.0	792.60	88.98					IVI	aster Dynamic	n Surface Tx	me B no RAI	ures from
168.8	299.28	89.22						JUIUS	in Surface Ty	pc D, 110 KAI	
179.6	150.21	89.46									
Asphalt Gene	e ral: Volur	netric Prop	erties as Bi	uilt							
Effective Bind	der (%)	11.51							• • •		
Air Voids (%))	7.04					j je 30 –	•	•		
Total unit wei	ght	164.69						•		•	
	0						e <u>e</u>				
Level 2							a ²⁰				
							B 15				
Asphalt Mix:	Aggregate	Gradation					se 10	• IVBO			•
Cumulative %	Retained	³ /4" sieve	0								
Cumulative %	Retained	3/8" sieve	9				5				
Cumulative %	Retained a	#4 sieve	40				0				
% Passing #20	00 sieve		4.53				1.0E-	-5 1.0E-3	1.0E-1	1.0E+1	1.0E+3
Level 3								Re	educed frequ	iency (Hz)	
Asphalt Bind	er: Superp	ave Binder	Grading	PG 64-22			Mast	ter Phase Angle Surf	Curves for I face Type B,	Mixtures fron no RAP	n Jefferson

|E*|(Psi)

Figure 13-35: Mixture Type: IV BOG (Jefferson Surface Type B with Long-Term Aging, no RAP)

Asphalt Mix:	Dynamic 1	Modulus Ta	able			
Temperature	Mixture	$ E^* $ (psi))			
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz
14	1973618	2407805	2559525	2832776	2920568	3014025
40	935475	1463728	1694747	2183605	2362798	2566548
70	227359	491676	655821	1134990	1366039	1672813
100	48934	113040	163525	368965	505193	731853
130	16062	30199	41604	94690	137050	221938

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data					
Temperature	Angular freq. = 10 rad/sec				
(°F)	G* (Pa) Delta (degree)				
158.0	792.60	88.98			
168.8	299.28	89.22			
179.6	150.21	89.46			

Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built						
Effective Binder (%)	11.51					
Air Voids (%)	6.91					
Total unit weight	164.69					

Level 2

L orrel 1

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation	
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	0
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	9
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	40
% Passing #200 sieve	4.53

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder GradingPG 64-22



Master Dynamic Modulus Curves for Mixtures from Jefferson Surface Type B with Long-Term Aging, no RAP



Master Phase Angle Curves for Mixtures from Jefferson Surface Type B with Long-Term Aging, no RAP

Figure 13-36: Mixture Type: IV BON (Jefferson Surface Type B with Asphalt Source 2, no RAP)

Level 1							
Asphalt Mix:	Asphalt Mix: Dynamic Modulus Table						
Temperature	Mixture	E* (psi))				
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz	
14	1879053	2320018	2477953	2768583	2863983	2966890	
40	885878	1389197	1613693	2099444	2281704	2492188	
70	227663	477639	631981	1084960	1305997	1603045	
100	53727	118925	168849	366996	496552	711288	
130	18645	34305	46612	101907	144733	228785	

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data					
Temperature	Angular freq. = 10 rad/sec				
(°F)	G* (Pa)	Delta (degree)			
158.0	792.60	88.98			
168.8	299.28	89.22			
179.6	150.21	89.46			

Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built					
Effective Binder (%) 11.73					
Air Voids (%)	6.91				
Total unit weight	164.69				

Level 2

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation	
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	0
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	9
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	40
% Passing #200 sieve	4.53

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading PG 64-22



Master Phase Angle Curves for Mixtures from Jefferson Surface Type B with Asphalt Source 2, no RAP

Figure 13-37: Mixture Type: IV C (Jefferson Surface Type C with RAP)

Level 1							
Asphalt Mix: Dynamic Modulus Table							
Temperature	Mixture	$ E^* $ (psi))				
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz	
14	1900729	2298917	2442411	2709947	2799350	2897140	
40	955922	1427131	1632985	2076040	2242943	2437233	
70	271399	532331	685251	1116308	1321411	1594772	
100	66378	142458	197845	404745	533534	740764	
130	21939	41066	55707	118598	165139	253128	

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data					
Temperature	Angular freq. = 10 rad/sec				
(°F)	G* (Pa) Delta (degree)				
158.0	792.60	88.98			
168.8	299.28	89.22			
179.6	150.21	89.46			

Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built				
Effective Binder (%)	12.52			
Air Voids (%)	8.37			
Total unit weight	165.81			

Level 2

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation			
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	0		
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	7		
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	30		
% Passing #200 sieve	5.09		

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading PG 64-22





Figure 13-38: Mixture Type: IV CO (Jefferson Surface Type C, no RAP)

Level 1						
Asphalt Mix:	Asphalt Mix: Dynamic Modulus Table					
Temperature	Mixture	E* (psi))			
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz
14	1622894	2052953	2216433	2535440	2646849	2772037
40	715337	1143527	1343350	1800816	1983562	2204299
70	169377	362091	482833	849210	1036110	1297534
100	34229	81074	117245	262460	359095	522868
130	9405	19539	27710	65175	94571	152868

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data				
Temperature	Angular freq. = 10 rad/sec			
(°F)	G* (Pa)	Delta (degree)		
158.0	792.60	88.98		
168.8	299.28	89.22		
179.6	150.21	89.46		

Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built				
Effective Binder (%)	12.70			
Air Voids (%)	7.15			
Total unit weight	164.44			

Level 2

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation			
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	0		
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	6		
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	27		
% Passing #200 sieve	5.91		

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading PG 64-22



Figure 13-39: Mixture Type: IV CA (Jefferson Surface Type C with LASA 2 (Adhere®) and RAP)

Level 1						
Asphalt Mix: Dynamia Modulus Tabla						
Temperature	Mixture	$ E^* $ (psi))			
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz
14	1851218	2271235	2422409	2702884	2795936	2897122
40	882154	1366289	1580941	2045656	2220860	2424341
70	224360	470471	620541	1056534	1268143	1552449
100	48913	112512	161249	353476	478228	683977
130	15067	29506	41044	93516	134341	214450

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data				
Temperature	Angular freq. = 10 rad/sec			
(°F)	G* (Pa)	Delta (degree)		
158.0	792.60	88.98		
168.8	299.28	89.22		
179.6	150.21	89.46		

Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built				
Effective Binder (%)	12.52			
Air Voids (%)	8.17			
Total unit weight	165.81			

Level 2

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation	
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	0
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	7
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	30
% Passing #200 sieve	5.09

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder GradingPG 64-22



Surface Type C with Adhere® and RAP

Figure 13-40: Mixture Type: IV CE (Jefferson Surface Type C with Evotherm® WMA Chemical Additive and RAP)

Level 1						
Asphalt Mix:	Dynamic I	Modulus Ta	able			
Temperature	Mixture	$ E^* $ (psi))			
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz
14	1644237	2148556	2331424	2666788	2775560	2891470
40	632734	1134864	1375491	1917357	2124955	2365416
70	115048	294968	422803	847047	1073047	1389979
100	20968	53783	82647	218776	321297	507922
130	6678	12979	18384	46274	70948	125102

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data				
Temperature	Angular freq. = 10 rad/sec			
(°F)	G* (Pa)	Delta (degree)		
158.0	792.60	88.98		
168.8	299.28	89.22		
179.6	150.21	89.46		

Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built					
Effective Binder (%)	12.52				
Air Voids (%)	8.17				
Total unit weight	165.81				

Level 2

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation					
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	0				
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	7				
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	30				
% Passing #200 sieve	5.09				

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder GradingPG 64-22







Master Phase Angle Modulus Curves for Mixtures from Jefferson Surface Type C with Evotherm® and RAP

Figure 13-41: Mixture Type: IV CF (Jefferson Surface Type C with WMA Foaming Technology and RAP)

Level 1						
Asphalt Mix: Dynamic Modulus Table						
Temperature	Mixture	$ E^* $ (psi)				
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz
14	1517072	2011347	2197654	2552346	2671957	2802650
40	583920	1039788	1262854	1781351	1987433	2232629
70	113692	279494	394986	777094	982853	1276197
100	21804	54780	82813	209947	303274	471432
130	6760	13467	19122	47350	71506	123087

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data					
Temperature	Angular fre	eq. = 10 rad/sec			
(°F)	G* (Pa)	Delta (degree)			
158.0	792.60	88.98			
168.8	299.28	89.22			
179.6	150.21	89.46			

Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built				
Effective Binder (%)	12.52			
Air Voids (%)	8.17			
Total unit weight	165.81			

Level 2

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation				
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	0			
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	7			
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	30			
% Passing #200 sieve	5.09			

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder GradingPG 64-22



Jefferson Surface Type C with Foaming WMA and RAP



Master Phase Angle Curves for Mixtures from Jefferson Surface Type C with Foaming WMA and RAP

Figure 13-42: Mixture Type: IV CG (Jefferson Surface Type C with Long-Term Aging and RAP)

]			
Asphalt Mix:	Dynamic I	Modulus Ta	able				10000 -		
Temperature	Mixture	$ E^* $ (psi))				a		×
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz			X
14	1963546	2346450	2483273	2737193	2821809	2914300	$\frac{\bigcirc}{\frac{1}{8}}$ 1000	X	
40	1041175	1515674	1718006	2145698	2304549	2488213	<u>E</u>		
70	316642	608291	773199	1220940	1427101	1696506	100 -		
100	77294	170311	236841	476790	620582	845080			
130	23452	47150	65546	144410	201887	308220	10		
Asphalt Rind	er. Supern	ave Rinder	Test Data				1.01	E-7 1.0E-4	1.0E
Temperature	Angular f	rea = 10 rs	I CSI Data					Redu	iced f
(°F)	$G^*(Pa)$	Delta(c	legree)				Mas	ster Dynamic N	Aodul
158.0	792.60	88.98					Jeffers	on Surface Typ	be C v
168.8	299.28	89.22							
179.6	150.21	89.46					40		
							35		
Asphalt Gene	e ral: Volun	netric Prop	erties as Bi	uilt			(e)		• • •
Effective Bind	ler (%)	12.52						•	
Air Voids (%)		9.81					e 25		
Total unit wei	ght	165.81					20 -		
Level 2								●IVCG	
	1	Cuadation							
Aspnalt MIX:	Aggregate	Gradation	0				5		
Cumulative %	Retained -	² /4 sieve	0				0		
Cumulative %	Detained	78 Sleve	/ 20				1.0E-:	5 1.0E-3	1.
$\frac{\text{cumulative }\%}{\text{cumulative }\%}$	Ketained 7	+4 sieve	5.00					Re	duced
1000000000000000000000000000000000000			3.09				Maet	ar Phasa Anala	
Level 3							S	urface Type C	with]
Asphalt Bind	er: Superp	ave Binder	Grading	PG 64-22	2		L		



Figure 13-43: Mixture Type: IV CM (Jefferson Surface Type C with LASA 1 (Morlife®) and RAP)

Level 1							100000 14500000
Asphalt Mix:	Dynamic	Modulus T	able				10000 1450000
Temperature	Mixture	E* (psi)			-	
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz	
14	1822984	2231066	2380208	2661580	2756687	2861438	
40	889692	1351380	1556440	2004588	2175889	2377128	
70	242983	487098	632406	1048942	1250322	1521692	100 - V CM 14500
100	56848	125509	176216	368705	490263	687993	
130	17870	34586	47574	104314	146896	228244	10 × IVCM 1450
Asphalt Bind	ler: Superp	ave Binder	• Test Data				1.0E-7 $1.0E-4$ $1.0E-1$ $1.0E+2$ $1.0E+5$
Temperature	Angular f	req. = 10 ra	ad/sec				Reduced frequency (Hz)
(°F)	G* (Pa)	Delta (degree)				Master Demonia Madulus Comus for Mintures from
158.0	792.60	88.98					Master Dynamic Modulus Curves for Mixtures from Jaffarson Surface Type C with Marlife® and BAP
168.8	299.28	89.22					Selferson Surface Type C with Mornie and KAT
179.6	150.21	89.46					
Asphalt Gene	eral: Volur	metric Prop	erties as Bi				
Effective Bind	der (%)	12.52	erries us D	<i></i>			35
Air Voids (%))	9.10					3 30
Total unit wei	, oht	165.81					
Total and we		100.01					
Level 2							
Asphalt Mix:	Aggregate	Gradation					
Cumulative %	Retained	³ ⁄4" sieve	0				
Cumulative %	6 Retained	3/8" sieve	7				5
Cumulative %	Retained	#4 sieve	30				
% Passing #20	00 sieve		5.09				1.0E-5 1.0E-3 1.0E-1 1.0E+1 1.0E+3
Level 3							Reduced frequency (Hz)
Asphalt Rind	er. Supern	ave Binder	Grading	PG 64-22]		

Master Phase Angle Curves for Mixtures from Jefferson Surface Type C with Morlife® and RAP

Figure 13-44: Mixture Type: IV COA (Jefferson Surface Type C with LASA 2 (Adhere®), no RAP)

Level 1							
Asphalt Mix: Dynamic Modulus Table							
Temperature	Mixture	$ E^* $ (psi))				
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz	
14	1611046	2074920	2248990	2582021	2695500	2820693	
40	655385	1107504	1322778	1817059	2013018	2247090	
70	133536	311163	429635	807622	1006612	1288083	
100	24793	61330	91381	221965	314662	478366	
130	7096	14360	20391	49646	73983	124762	

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data						
Temperature	Angular fre	q. = 10 rad/sec				
(°F)	G* (Pa)	Delta (degree)				
158.0	792.60	88.98				
168.8	299.28	89.22				
179.6	150.21	89.46				

Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built					
Effective Binder (%)	12.70				
Air Voids (%)	8.16				
Total unit weight	164.44				

Level 2

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation				
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	0			
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	6			
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	27			
% Passing #200 sieve	5.91			

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder GradingPG 64-22



Master Phase Angle Curves for Mixtures from Jefferson Surface Type C with Adhere®, no RAP

Figure 13-45: Mixture Type: IV COE (Jefferson Surface Type C using Evotherm® WMA Chemical Additive, no RAP)

Level 1						
Asphalt Mix: Dynamic Modulus Table						
Temperature	Mixture	E* (psi)				
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz
14	1178282	1724487	1945350	2384281	2536725	2705106
40	364629	746115	957176	1499287	1732034	2019707
70	63301	164897	243857	543633	725644	1005979
100	14242	32760	48868	127725	191121	315236
130	5676	9849	13249	29998	44560	76810

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data			
Temperature	Angular fre	$q_{1} = 10 \text{ rad/sec}$	
(°F)	G* (Pa)	Delta (degree)	
158.0	2995	63.7	
168.8	1501	61.9	
179.6	750	60.0	

Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built				
Effective Binder (%)	12.70			
Air Voids (%)	8.16			
Total unit weight	164.44			

Level 2

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation	
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	0
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	6
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	27
% Passing #200 sieve	5.91

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading PG 64-22



Master Dynamic Modulus Curves for Mixtures from Jefferson Surface Type C using Evotherm®, no RAP



Master Phase Angle Curves for Mixtures from Jefferson Surface Type C using Evotherm®, no RAP

Figure 13-46: Mixture Type: IV COF (Jefferson Surface Type C using WMA Foaming Technology, no RAP)

5 0 1.0E-5

Level 1						
Asphalt Mix: Dynamic Modulus Table						
Temperature	Mixture	$ E^* $ (psi))			
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz
14	1303133	1838716	2049091	2459360	2599900	2754243
40	426610	838878	1057726	1599957	1826175	2101661
70	72782	190536	279858	606594	798182	1086264
100	14702	35573	53872	142893	213376	348909
130	5265	9631	13259	31479	47469	82912

Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built				
Effective Binder (%)	12.7			
Air Voids (%)	8.16			
Total unit weight	164.44			

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data				
Temperature	Angular freq. $= 10$ rad/sec			
(°F)	G* (Pa)	Delta (degree)		
158.0	792.60	88.98		
168.8	299.28	89.22		
179.6	150.21	89.46		

Level 2

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation			
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	0		
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	6		
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	27		
% Passing #200 sieve	5.91		

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder GradingPG 64-22



Master Phase Angle Curves for Mixtures from Jefferson Surface Type C using Foaming WMA, no RAP

1.0E-1

Reduced frequency (Hz)

1.0E-3

1.0E+3

1.0E+1
Figure 13-47: Mixture Type: IV COG (Jefferson Surface Type C with Long-Term Aging, no RAP)

Level 1						
Asphalt Mix:	Dynamic I	Modulus Ta	able			
Temperature	Mixture	$ E^* $ (psi))			
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz
14	1587945	1993208	2149951	2462548	2574529	2702696
40	744702	1147428	1333399	1760170	1932435	2142968
70	200471	403069	524008	877165	1052982	1296806
100	43694	101316	143612	302842	403196	567395
130	11346	24896	35651	82957	118343	185559

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data				
Temperature	Angular freq. = 10 rad/sec			
(°F)	G* (Pa)	Delta (degree)		
158.0	792.60	88.98		
168.8	299.28	89.22		
179.6	150.21	89.46		

Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built			
Effective Binder (%)	12.7		
Air Voids (%)	8.16		
Total unit weight	164.44		

Level 2

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation			
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	0		
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	6		
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	27		
% Passing #200 sieve	5.91		

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading PG 64-22



Surface Type C with Long-Term Aging no RAP

Lovol 1

Figure 13-48: Mixture Type: IV COM (Jefferson Surface Type C with LASA 1 (Morlife®), no RAP)

Level 1							
Asphalt Mix: Dynamic Modulus Table							
Temperature	Mixture	E* (psi))				
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz	
14	1360467	1793883	1967474	2322109	2451544	2600997	
40	589718	969702	1154211	1594876	1778547	2006835	
70	151061	321822	429085	758392	929295	1172286	
100	33761	80648	116268	256224	347801	501614	
130	9345	20713	29904	71456	103351	165197	

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data				
Temperature	Angular freq. = 10 rad/sec			
(°F)	G* (Pa) Delta (degree)			
158.0	792.60	88.98		
168.8	299.28	89.22		
179.6	150.21	89.46		

Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built			
Effective Binder (%)	12.7		
Air Voids (%)	8.92		
Total unit weight	164.44		

Level 2

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation			
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	0		
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	6		
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	27		
% Passing #200 sieve	5.91		

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder GradingPG 64-22



Master Phase Angle Curves for Mixtures from Jefferson Surface Type C with Morlife®, no RAP

Figure 13-49: Mixture Type: IV DO (Jefferson Surface Type D, no RAP)

Level 1						
Asphalt Mix: Dynamic Modulus Table						
Temperature	Mixture	E* (psi))			
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz
14	1581858	1955723	2096409	2369402	2464414	2571074
40	752222	1145952	1325146	1728421	1887543	2078681
70	205887	404128	522549	867835	1038828	1274251
100	49710	105809	146437	299175	395808	554526
130	15977	30094	40770	86076	119411	182549

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data				
Temperature	Angular freq. = 10 rad/sec			
(°F)	G* (Pa) Delta (degree)			
158.0	792.60	88.98		
168.8	299.28	89.22		
179.6	150.21	89.46		

Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built			
Effective Binder (%)	12.34		
Air Voids (%)	9.23		
Total unit weight	166.50		

Level 2

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation	
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	0
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	5
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	19
% Passing #200 sieve	5.83

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading PG 64-22



Master Phase Angle Curves for Mixtures from Jefferson Surface Type D, no RAP

Figure 13-50: Mixture Type: IV D (Jefferson Surface Type D with RAP)

Level 1]	10000	⁾⁰					14	50000	0
Asphalt Mix	: Dynamic	Modulus T	able				1000	00				HAR BELLEVILLE	14	50000	
Temperature	Mixture	E* (psi))				Pa								_
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz	2 100)0 ⊨		X	×		14	5000	
14	1754197	2133212	2269797	2524138	2608964	2701592				\boldsymbol{X}			14.	5000	\subseteq
40	852628	1295575	1490828	1913269	2072898	2258870		n上				r	VD .		Ľ
70	224879	456081	594751	993574	1186281	1445216			/				14:	500	
100	51073	112930	159190	337611	451748	638820						× r	٧D		
130	16250	30773	42091	92055	130042	203503	1	10 + -			0E 1		14	50	
				· 		<u> </u>		1.0E-7	/ 1.0E	Reduc	.0E-1 ed freat	1.0E+2 1.0E 1encv (Hz)	+5		
Asphalt Bind	ler: Superp	ave Binder	Test Data								1				
Temperature	Angular f	freq. $= 10$ ra	ad/sec				N	laster	Dynami	ic Mod	lulus Cu	irves for Mixtu	res from	1	
(°F)	G* (Pa)	Delta (d	egree)						Jeffers	on Sur	face Ty	pe D with RAP	,		
158.0	792.60	88.98													
168.8	299.28	89.22					40								
179.6	150.21	89.46					35								
	1 1 7 1			.1			a a				•				
Asphalt Gen	eral: volui	netric Prop	erties as Bi	111t			a 30								
Effective Bind	$\frac{\text{der}(\%)}{}$	11.46					25 g	=			•	•			
Air Voids (%)	<u>)</u> • 17	3.30) e 20					•			
Total unit we	ight	166.50													
T . 10							3 15								
Level 2							Pha 10		D				'°• • • •		
Asphalt Mix	: Aggregate	e Gradation	L				5								
Cumulative %	6 Retained	³ ⁄ ₄ " sieve	0												
Cumulative %	6 Retained	³ / ₈ " sieve	4					0F-5	1 05	-3	1 OF. 1	1 0F±1	1 0F	 ⊥3	
Cumulative %	6 Retained	#4 sieve	16				1.	56-5	1.01	-J Redi	nced fre	auency (Hz)	1.017	-9	
% Passing #2	00 sieve		5.19							ncu					
Level 3								Mas	ster Pha Jeffer	ise Ang son Su	gle Curv rface T	ves for Mixture ype D with RA	s from P		

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder GradingPG 64-22

Figure 13-51: Mixture Type: IV EO (Jefferson Surface Type E, no RAP)

Level 1								
Asphalt Mix: Dynamic Modulus Table								
Temperature	Mixture E* (psi)							
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz		
14	1414896	1801663	1951713	2250549	2357166	2478680		
40	623160	991868	1165917	1571087	1736103	1938324		
70	153028	319235	422437	735554	896311	1123145		
100	32345	74734	106755	232662	315383	454958		
130	8971	18580	26191	60225	86348	137353		

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data						
Temperature	Angular freq. = 10 rad/sec					
(°F)	G* (Pa)	Delta (degree)				
158.0	792.60	88.98				
168.8	299.28	89.22				
179.6	150.21	89.46				

Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built					
Effective Binder (%)	12.34				
Air Voids (%)	9.86				
Total unit weight	166.50				

Level 2

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation					
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	0				
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	0				
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	2				
% Passing #200 sieve	7				

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading PG 64-22



Jefferson Surface Type E, no RAP

Figure 13-52: Mixture Type: IV E (Jefferson Surface Type E with RAP)

Level 1								
Asphalt Mix: Dynamic Modulus Table								
Temperature	Mixture E* (psi)							
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz		
14	2018377	2352182	2466441	2670448	2735792	2805444		
40	1100996	1566060	1758282	2150894	2291403	2449753		
70	337192	629866	794871	1238973	1440521	1700075		
100	89685	179618	243418	474740	614602	834235		
130	33681	57211	74673	147349	199863	297524		

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data						
Temperature	Angular freq. = 10 rad/sec					
(°F)	G* (Pa)	Delta (degree)				
158.0	792.60	88.98				
168.8	299.28	89.22				
179.6	150.21	89.46				

Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built					
Effective Binder (%)	11.46				
Air Voids (%)	9.73				
Total unit weight	166.50				

Level 2

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation					
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	0				
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	0				
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	3				
% Passing #200 sieve	8				

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading PG 64-22



Figure 13-53: Mixture Type: IV IAO (Jefferson Intermediate Type A, no RAP)

Level 1]	100000 1450000				
Asphalt Mix:	Asphalt Mix: Dynamic Modulus Table						10000 1450000				
Temperature	Mixture	E* (psi))								
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz	₹ 1000 145000				
14	1887434	2368222	2539209	2850451	2951234	3058872					
40	824639	1362928	1606798	2135902	2333589	2560424					
70	176107	413418	568808	1044404	1282276	1604536	100				
100	33413	84068	126284	309400	437125	656759	× NIAO				
130	9990	20108	28670	71145	106942	181713	10 + 1450				
Asphalt Bind	ler: Superp	ave Binder	Test Data				1.0E-7 1.0E-4 1.0E-1 1.0E+2 1.0E+5 Reduced frequency (Hz)				
Temperature	Angular f	req. = 10 ra	ad/sec				Master Demonia Madulus Curres for Mintures from				
(°F)	G* (Pa)	Delta (o	degree)				Master Dynamic Modulus Curves for Mixtures from				
158.0	792.60	88.98					Jenerson intermediate Type A, no KAI				
168.8	299.28	89.22									
179.6	150.21	89.46									
Asphalt Gen	eral: Volur	netric Prop	erties as Bi	uilt			35				
Effective Bind	der (%)	10.74					2 30				
Air Voids (%))	6.82									
Total unit wei	ight	165.69									
Level 2											
Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation											
Cumulative %	6 Retained	³ / ₄ " sieve	2				5				
Cumulative %	6 Retained	%" sieve	30								
Cumulative %	6 Retained	#4 sieve	53				1 OF 5 1 OF 3 1 OF 1 1 OF 1 1 OF 2				
% Passing #2	00 sieve		3.73				Reduced frequency (Hz)				
Level 3											

Master Phase Angle Curves for Mixtures from Jefferson Intermediate Type A, no RAP

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading PG 64-22

Figure 13-54: Mixture Type: IV IA (Jefferson Intermediate Type A with RAP)

Level 1										
Asphalt Mix: Dynamic Modulus Table										
Temperature	Mixture E* (psi)									
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz	l li			
14	2055469	2496207	2648749	2921477	3008521	3100840				
40	998605	1553459	1791761	2287925	2467153	2669260	Ë			
70	242619	537650	718406	1233768	1476190	1792581				
100	47193	119254	177234	413312	567709	819936				
130	13204	27939	40463	101565	151499	251983				

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data						
Temperature	Angular freq. = 10 rad/sec					
(°F)	G* (Pa)	Delta (degree)				
158.0	792.60	88.98				
168.8	299.28	89.22				
179.6	150.21	89.46				

Asphalt General: Volum	Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built				
Effective Binder (%)	10.54				
Air Voids (%)	6.78				
Total unit weight	165.69				

Level 2

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation	
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	2
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	27
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	53
% Passing #200 sieve	3.73

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading PG 64-22



Figure 13-55: Mixture Type: IV IBO (Jefferson Intermediate Type B, no RAP)

Level 1						
Asphalt Mix:	Dynamic	Modulus Ta	able			
Temperature	Mixture	$ E^* $ (psi))			
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz
14	1737827	2248527	2431608	2764450	2871556	2985191
40	697492	1228768	1478172	2029652	2237562	2476190
70	132641	337848	480677	941533	1180558	1509701
100	23958	63145	97592	257559	375434	585410
130	7299	14791	21325	55430	85618	151325

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data							
Temperature	Angular fre	Angular freq. $= 10$ rad/sec					
(°F)	G* (Pa)	Delta (degree)					
158.0	792.60	88.98					
168.8	299.28	89.22					
179.6	150.21	89.46					

Asphalt General: Volume	tric Properties as Built
Effective Binder (%)	11.43
Air Voids (%)	6.64
Total unit weight	165.50

Level 2

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation	1
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	1
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	16
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	42
% Passing #200 sieve	4.57

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading PG 64-22



Jefferson Intermediate Type B, no RAP



Master Phase Angle Curves for Mixtures from Jefferson Intermediate Type B, no RAP Figure 13-56: Mixture Type: IV IB (Jefferson Intermediate Type B with RAP)

Level 1]	100	000						14500000)
						J									
Asphalt Mix:	Dynamic	Modulus Ta	able				100	000 🛓						1450000	
Temperature	Mixture	E* (psi))				Pa)				X				_
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz		000		×				1/15000	Ps:
14	2238597	2641514	2776257	3010767	3083725	3159962				\boldsymbol{X}				143000	$\frac{\Box}{*}$
40	1186388	1756454	1989531	2454935	2616718	2795106	≞	100	X				π710	1 4 5 0 0	Щ
70	324290	677626	882773	1435008	1681377	1992095		100					IVIB	14500	
100	69277	166812	242257	533130	713627	996700						× :	IV IB		
130	20731	42185	59990	143674	209525	337527		10 +					1	1450	
Asphalt Bind	er: Supern	ave Binder	Test Data					1.0E	-7 1.01	E-4 1 Reduce	.0E-1 e d freau	1.0E+2 1.01 ency (Hz)	E+5		
Temperature	Angular f	req. = 10 ration	d/sec	_								(110)			
(°F)	G* (Pa)	Delta (d	egree)					Ma	ster Dyr	namic N	Iodulus	Curves for M	lixture	s	
158.0	792.60	88.98	- 8 /					fro	om Jeffer	son Int	ermedia	ate Type B wi	th RAI	P	
168.8	299.28	89.22					l								
179.6	150.21	89.46					40)		1 1					
Asphalt Con	ral. Volur	netric Dron	artias as Bi	uilt			35	;							
Effective Bin	der (%)	9.89	ernes as Di						•		••				
Air Voids (%)		7 74					0 50 10								
Total unit wei	oht	166.13					25 ge	;							
Total and we	- <u>5</u> -11	100.15					20 a) 📃				•			
Level 2							un 15								
		~ 1 1					ase	· •	W IB			•			
Asphalt Mix:	Aggregate	Gradation					4 10)					••••		
Cumulative %	Retained	³ /4 ⁷⁷ sieve	17				5	;							
Cumulative %	• Retained	% ² \$1eve	17				0								
Cumulative %	Retained	#4 sieve	43				1	0E-5	1 0F	-3	1 0E-1	1.0E+1	1.0	' E+3	
% Passing #20	JU sieve		4.8						1.02	Redu	ced freq	[uency (Hz)	1.0		
Level 3	lane Sumarra	ovo Dindar	Gradina	DC 64 22				M	aster Ph Jefferso	ase Ang n Inter	gle Curv mediate	yes for Mixtur Type B with	res froi RAP	n	
Asphan Bind	er: Superp	ave Dinder	Grading	ru 04-22				1							

Figure 13-57: Mixture Type: IV ICO (Jefferson Intermediate Type C, no RAP)

Level 1						
Asphalt Mix:	Dvnamic]	Modulus T	able			-
Temperature	Mixture	E* (psi))			
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz
14	1403597	1858112	2038080	2400478	2530564	2678978
40	582275	980652	1175450	1640101	1832526	2069923
70	136369	302548	410227	749300	928156	1183997
100	28634	69662	101892	234035	323646	477714
130	8031	17332	24954	60480	88677	144993

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data				
Temperature	Angular fre	eq. = 10 rad/sec		
(°F)	G* (Pa)	Delta (degree)		
158.0	792.60	88.98		
168.8	299.28	89.22		
179.6	150.21	89.46		

Asphalt General: Volum	netric Properties as Built
Effective Binder (%)	12.09
Air Voids (%)	7.60
Total unit weight	165.13

Level 2

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation	l
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	2
Cumulative % Retained 3/8" sieve	23
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	45
% Passing #200 sieve	3.84

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading PG 64-22



Master Phase Angle Curves for Mixtures from Jefferson Intermediate Type C, no RAP

Figure 13-58: Mixture Type: IV IC (Jefferson Intermediate Type C with RAP)

Dynamic	Modulus T	able			
Mixture	$ E^* $ (psi))			
0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz
1711266	2196608	2373090	2699918	2807442	2923326
703089	1206595	1441840	1965893	2166370	2399606
137758	340072	477175	911972	1136278	1446333
23887	63671	97949	252567	364009	560291
6571	13993	20469	53875	82961	145275
	Dynamic Mixture 0.1 Hz 1711266 703089 137758 23887 6571	Dynamic Modulus Ta Mixture E* (psi) 0.1 Hz 0.5 Hz 1711266 1711266 219608 703089 1206595 137758 340072 23887 63671 6571 6571 13993	Dynamic Modulus TableMixture $ E^* $ (psi)0.1 Hz0.5 Hz1 Hz1711266219 \in 082373090703089120 \in 5951441840137758340 \circ 724771752388763671979496571139 \circ 320469	Dynamic Modulus TableMixture $ E^* $ (psi)0.1 Hz0.5 Hz1 Hz5 Hz1711266219608237309026999187030891206595144184019658931377583400724771759119722388763671979492525676571139932046953875	Dynamic Modulus TableMixture $ E^* $ (psi)0.1 Hz0.5 Hz1 Hz5 Hz10 Hz1711266219608237309026999182807442703089120659514418401965893216637013775834072477175911972113627823887636719794925256736400965711393204695387582961

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data				
Temperature	Angular fre	q. = 10 rad/sec		
(°F)	G* (Pa)	Delta (degree)		
158.0	792.60	88.98		
168.8	299.28	89.22		
179.6	150.21	89.46		

Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built				
Effective Binder (%)	11.10			
Air Voids (%)	5.87			
Total unit weight	166.38			

Level 2

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation	
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	1
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	21
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	44
% Passing #200 sieve	3.83

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading PG 64-22



Figure 13-59: Mixture Type: IV SAO (Jefferson Base Type A, no RAP)

Level 1								
Asphalt Mix: Dynamic Modulus Table								
Temperature	Mixture	E* (psi))					
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz		
14	1869324	2246506	2377647	2613676	2689630	2770671		
40	983738	1465038	1668139	2087771	2238978	2409694		
70	291988	586031	755509	1215842	1425028	1693640		
100	71647	162839	230374	480921	632968	869910		
130	23111	46196	64620	146541	207968	323377		

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data				
Temperature	Angular fre	q. = 10 rad/sec		
(°F)	G* (Pa)	Delta (degree)		
158.0	792.60	88.98		
168.8	299.28	89.22		
179.6	150.21	89.46		

Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built				
Effective Binder (%)	10.47			
Air Voids (%)	5.56			
Total unit weight	167.19			

Level 2

_

- -

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation				
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	3			
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	37			
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	54			
% Passing #200 sieve	4.01			

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading PG 64-22



Master Phase Angle Curves for Mixtures from Jefferson Base Type A, no RAP

Figure 13-60: Mixture Type: IV SA (Jefferson Base Type A with RAP)

								<u> </u>
Level 1]	100000 14500	000
Asphalt Mix	: Dynamic	Modulus T	able				14500	00
Temperature	Mixture	E* (psi))				$\widehat{\mathbf{s}}$	_
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz	15_{1000}	0 j
14	2027104	2387033	2506378	2712284	2775720	2841575		° ⊊
40	1093015	1608994	1818342	2232560	2375058	2531034		[T]
70	313705	642839	832149	1336223	1558491	1836351		
100	73255	169328	242433	519511	688901	951554	X IVSA	
130	24139	46855	65331	150141	215596	340962		
Asphalt Bind	ler: Superp	ave Binder	Test Data				1.0E-7 1.0E-4 1.0E-1 1.0E+2 1.0E+5 Reduced frequency (Hz)	
	Angular I	req. = 10 ra	ad/sec				Master Dynamic Modulus Curves for Mixtures	
(°F)	G^* (Pa)	Delta (d	egree)				from Jefferson Base Type A with RAP	
158.0	792.60	88.98						
108.8	299.28	89.22						
1/9.6	150.21	89.40						-
Asphalt Gen	eral: Volur	netric Prop	erties as Bu	uilt			35	-
Effective Bin	der (%)	11.46					₽ 30	-
Air Voids (%)	5.22						-
Total unit we	ight	165.69						-
								-
Level 2								-
								-
Asphalt Mix	: Aggregate	e Gradation						-
Cumulative %	6 Retained	³ ⁄4" sieve	3				5	-
Cumulative %	6 Retained	³ / ⁸ " sieve	37					-
Cumulative %	6 Retained	#4 sieve	50				0 + 10E 2 + 10E 1 + 10E 1 + 10E 2	1
% Passing #2	00 sieve		4.86				1.0E-3 1.0E-3 1.0E-1 1.0E+1 1.0E+3 Reduced frequency (Hz)	
T								
Level 3								

Master Phase Angle Curves for Mixtures from Jefferson Base Type A with RAP

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading PG 64-22

Figure 13-61: Mixture Type: IV SBO (Jefferson Base Type B, no RAP)

Asphalt Mix: Dynamic Modulus Table							
Temperature	Mixture	E* (psi))				
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz	
14	1736930	2141727	2284542	2543546	2627267	2716684	
40	829787	1307609	1517550	1963577	2127674	2314679	
70	210357	456737	608680	1048233	1258426	1536096	
100	46224	110020	160193	361712	493055	708235	
130	14628	29153	41079	97082	141624	229876	

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data				
Temperature	Angular fre	eq. = 10 rad/sec		
(°F)	G* (Pa)	Delta (degree)		
158.0	792.60	88.98		
168.8	299.28	89.22		
179.6	150.21	89.46		

Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built				
Effective Binder (%)	12.34			
Air Voids (%)	6.00			
Total unit weight	165.50			

Level 2

Lovol 1

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation				
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	3			
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	37			
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	56			
% Passing #200 sieve	5.25			

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder GradingPG 64-22



Jefferson Base Type B, no RAP

Figure 13-62: Mixture Type: IV SB (Jefferson Base Type B with RAP)

Level 1]	100000				14500000
Asphalt Mix:	Dynamic	Modulus T	able				10000 -			*****	1450000
Temperature	Mixture	E* (psi))				a)				
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz			X		145000
14	1869324	2246506	2377647	2613676	2689630	2770671	$\left \frac{\bigcirc}{\ast}\right $	X	X.		143000
40	983738	1465038	1668139	2087771	2238978	2409694	E				<u> </u>
70	291988	586031	755509	1215842	1425028	1693640	100 -				VSB 14500
100	71647	162839	230374	480921	632968	869910				~ 7	VCD
130	23111	46196	64620	146541	207968	323377	10 -			<u> </u>	VSB 1450
Asphalt Bind	er: Superp	ave Binder	Test Data				1.0E	E-7 1.0E-4 Red	1.0E-1	1.0E+2 1.01 ency (Hz)	E+5
Temperature	Angular f	req. = 10 ra	ad/sec								
(°F)	G* (Pa)	Delta (d	egree)				Maste	r Dynamic M	odulus Cur	ves for Mixt	ures from
158.0	792.60	88.98						Jefferson	Base Type	B with RAP	
168.8	299.28	89.22				-					
1/9.6	150.21	89.46					40				
Asphalt Gene	eral: Volur	netric Prop	erties as B	uilt			35				
Effective Bind	der (%)	11.46							• • •		
Air Voids (%))	6.51					a 30				
Total unit wei	ght	166.13					25 -				
	0						<u>e</u> 20				
Level 2							Surg 15				
Asphalt Mix:	Aggregate	e Gradation						W SB		•	
Cumulative %	Retained ²	³ /4" sieve	3								
Cumulative %	6 Retained	3/8" sieve	37				5				
Cumulative %	Retained	#4 sieve	51				0		1		
% Passing #20	00 sieve		3.87				1.0E-5	1.0E-3	1.0E-1	1.0E+1	1.0E+3
Level 3							Mact	er Phase Ang	luced frequ	ency (Hz)	from

Jefferson Base Type B with RAP

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder GradingPG 64-22

Figure 13-63: Mixture Type: V A (Liberty Surface Type A with RAP)

Level 1													
Asphalt Mix: Dynamic Modulus Table													
Temperature	Mixture	$ E^* $ (psi)											
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz							
14	1952642	2263926	2382891	2621653	2708671	2810042							
40	1151091	1513142	1668846	2012660	2148915	2315394							
70	463619	719578	850656	1190384	1345865	1553306							
100	156934	270386	338227	547222	659903	828135							
130	57111	97456	123630	214654	270477	362931							

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data							
Temperature	Angular freq. = 10 rad/sec						
(°F)	G* (Pa)	Delta (degree)					
158.0	2995.00	63.70					
168.8	1501.00	61.90					
179.6	750.50	60.00					

Asphalt General: Volume	etric Properties as Built
Effective Binder (%)	11.21
Air Voids (%)	4.55
Total unit weight	167.06

Level 2

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation	
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	0
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	15
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	54
% Passing #200 sieve	4.06

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder GradingPG 76-22



Liberty Si

Figure 13-64: Mixture Type: V AO (Liberty Surface Type A, no RAP)

 $|\mathbf{E}^*|$ (Psi)

Level 1							100	0000						145000(
Asphalt Mix:	Dynamic	Modulus T	able				10	0000				*****		145000
Temperature	Mixture	E* (psi))		-		a				X			1150000
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz	Ĥ.			, X	×			1 45000
14	2443975	2749563	2850432	3025823	3080680	3138391		1000		X				145000
40	1469562	1968215	2163148	2544060	2675167	2819752	E*			*				
70	505494	880564	1079594	1584145	1801157	2071502		100					-VAO	14500
100	145602	274260	361523	661076	833250	1093870								
130	58234	93586	119003	220434	290907	417926		10				X	VAO	1450
Asphalt Bind	ler: Superp	ave Binder	Test Data					10)E-7	1.0E-4	1.0E-1	1.0E+2 1	.0E+5	
Temperature	Angular f	req. = 10 ra	ad/sec							Red	uced freq	uency (Hz)		
(°F)	G* (Pa)	Delta (c	legree)				1			. .		~ ^ ^		
158.0	2995.00	63.70						M	aster	Dynamic	Modulus	Curves for N	Mixture	S
168.8	1501.00	61.90							Irol	n Liberty	Surface	Гуре А, по в	XAP	
179.6	750.50	60.00												
Asphalt Gen	eral: Volur	netric Prop	erties as B	uilt			4	•0						
Effective Bin	der (%)	11.28					3	5						
Air Voids (%))	5.25					e 3	0						
Total unit wei	ight	167.31					egr	5	••					
	0	•						.5 📃						
Level 2							5 2	20 =			•			
Asphalt Mix:	Aggregate	Gradation					1 ge 1	5						
Cumulative %	6 Retained ³	³ / ₄ " sieve	0				has 1	0	$\bullet \mathbf{V} A$.0				
Cumulative %	6 Retained	%" sieve	14											900
Cumulative %	6 Retained	#4 sieve	52					5						
% Passing #2	00 sieve		3.48					0 =						
								1.0E-	5	1.0E-3	1.0E-	1 1.0E+	1 1.	.0E+3
Level 3										R	eauced fr	equency (Hz)	
Asphalt Rind	er. Supern	ave Binder	Grading	PG 76-22					Mast	er Phase	Angle Cu	rves for Mix	tures fr	om
	er ouperp		Siuding	10/0/22						Liberty	Surrace	туре А, по в	Ar	

Figure 13-65: Mixture Type: V AG (Liberty Surface Type A with Long-Term Aging and RAP)

Level 1												
And all Mine Demands Madeles Table												
Asphalt Mix: Dynamic Modulus Table												
Temperature	Mixture	$ E^* $ (psi))									
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz						
14	2288393	2645573	2766283	2979520	3047104	3118682						
40	1281333	1799724	2010512	2434638	2584236	2751328						
70	404944	747735	938166	1441733	1666247	1951837						
100	109909	218775	295458	570065	733762	987670						
130	41828	70718	92129	180850	244554	362154						

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data								
Temperature	Angular freq. = 10 rad/sec							
(°F)	G* (Pa)	Delta (degree)						
158.0	2995.00	63.70						
168.8	1501.00	61.90						
179.6	750.50	60.00						

Asphalt General: Volun	netric Properties as Built
Effective Binder (%)	11.21
Air Voids (%)	4.55
Total unit weight	167.06

Level 2

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation	
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	0
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	15
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	54
% Passing #200 sieve	4.06

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading PG 76-22



Figure 13-66: Mixture Type: V AN (Liberty Surface Type A with Asphalt Source 2 and RAP)

Level 1							100000					14500000
Asphalt Mix:	Dynamic	Modulus T	able				10000			<u>عن</u> ل .	WHAT I	1450000
Temperature	Mixture	E* (psi))				a)			X		
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz						145000
14	1745403	2172679	2333478	2644573	2752309	2872730			X	*		143000
40	816996	1258643	1461572	1920526	2101920	2319598	Ē		X			<u><u><u> </u></u></u>
70	224338	439347	569427	953819	1146208	1412498	100		× _			N 14500
100	57897	118626	162530	328629	434696	610329						
130	20743	36736	48614	98353	134760	203765	10				× V /	AN 1450
Acabalt Bind	or: Supern	ava Bindar	Test Data]			10	.0E-7	1.0E-4	1.0E-1 1	.0E+2 1.0E+	-5
Temperature	Angular f	$r_{PO} = 10 r_{S}$	I CSI Data	-					Redu	ced freque	ncy (Hz)	
(°F)	G* (Pa)	$\frac{104 1010}{104 1010}$	lu/sec				N	lastan F		Indulua Cur	www.ag fan Mint	mag from
158.0	2995.00	63 70		_				laster L	rface Tvn	e A with As	rves for Mixu sphalt Source	2 and RAP
168.8	1501.00	61.90		-				erty su	indee Typ		spilait Source	
179.6	750.50	60.00		-			40					
				_			40 -					
Asphalt Gene	eral: Volur	netric Prop	erties as Bi	uilt			35 -					
Effective Bind	der (%)	11.28					30 -					
Air Voids (%))	6.39								•		
Total unit wei	ght	167.06						•			•	
T 10												
Level 2							a 15 -					
Asphalt Mix.	Aggregate	Gradation					seq 10 -	• V A	N			•••
Cumulative %	Retained ³	" sieve	0									
Cumulative %	Retained	%" sieve	14									
Cumulative %	Retained	#4 sieve	52				0 -					
% Passing #20	00 sieve		3.48				1.0)E-5	1.0E-3 R (1.0E-1 educed freq	1.0E+1 [uency (Hz)	1.0E+3
Level 3 Master Phase Angle Curves for Mixtures from Liberty Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading PG 76-22						m Liberty d RAP						

Figure 13-67: Mixture Type: V AOG (Liberty Surface Type A with Long-Term Aging, no RAP)

Level 1													
Asphalt Mix: Dynamic Modulus Table													
Temperature	Mixture	$ E^* $ (psi))										
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz							
14	2166760	2529564	2655842	2885131	2959936	3040656							
40	1233106	1723353	1925370	2339781	2489407	2659431							
70	422591	759798	942731	1419981	1631920	1902457							
100	120863	242392	325189	609192	772307	1019661							
130	43503	78637	104508	208977	281452	410906							

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data					
Temperature	Angular freq. = 10 rad/sec				
(°F)	G* (Pa)	Delta (degree)			
158.0	2995.00	63.70			
168.8	1501.00	61.90			
179.6	750.50	60.00			

Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built					
Effective Binder (%)	11.28				
Air Voids (%)	6.21				
Total unit weight	167.31				

Level 2

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation	
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	0
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	14
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	52
% Passing #200 sieve	3.48

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading PG 76-22



Master Dynamic Modulus Curves for Mixtures from Liberty Surface Type A with Long-Term Aging, no RAP



Master Phase Angle Curves for Mixtures from Liberty Surface Type A with Long-Term Aging, no RAP

Figure 13-68: Mixture Type: V AON (Liberty Surface Type A with Asphalt Source 2, no RAP)

Level 1]	100000 14500000
Asphalt Mix:	Dynamic	Modulus T	able				10000
Temperature	Mixture	E* (psi))				
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz	
14	1867974	2338692	2505075	2805556	2901924	3004135	≤ 1000 145000
40	819447	1346990	1586802	2107014	2300773	2522218	
70	186008	415855	566181	1029116	1262184	1579004	$100 \longrightarrow V_{AON} 14500$
100	42502	94422	136103	313074	435864	647658	
130	15948	27770	37174	80921	116300	188739	\times VAON 1450
Asphalt Binde	er: Superpa	ve Binder 7	Fest Data	7			1.0E-7 1.0E-4 1.0E-1 1.0E+2 1.0E+5
Temperature	Angular f	req. = 10 ra	ad/sec				Reduced frequency (Hz)
(°F)	G* (Pa)	Delta (c	degree)				Mastar Dunamia Madulus Curras for Mirturas from Liberty
158.0	2995.00	63.70					Surface Type A with Asphalt Source 2 no RAP
168.8	1501.00	61.90					Surface Type A with Asphan Source 2, no KAT
179.6	750.50	60.00					
Asphalt Gene	eral: Volur	netric Prop	erties as B	uilt			
Effective Bind	der (%)	11.28					
Air Voids (%))	6.21					
Total unit wei	ght	167.31					
Level 2							
Asphalt Mix:	Aggregate	Gradation					
Cumulative %	Retained ³	³ / ₄ " sieve	0				
Cumulative %	Retained	3/8" sieve	14				
Cumulative %	Retained	#4 sieve	52				
% Passing #20	00 sieve		3.48				0 + 10E - 10E - 10E - 10E + 10E + 2
Level 3					Reduced frequency (Hz)		
Asphalt Bind	Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading PG 76-22					Master Phase Angle Curves for Mixtures from Liberty Surface Type A with Asphalt Source 2, no RAP	

Figure 13-69: Mixture Type: V BG (Liberty Surface Type B with Long-Term Aging and RAP)

Level 1							
Asphalt Mix:	Asphalt Mix: Dynamic Modulus Table						
Temperature	Mixture	E* (psi)					
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz	
14	2388388	2721503	2829898	3014876	3071404	3129890	
40	1391536	1922279	2131016	2536065	2673430	2822845	
70	461929	837174	1042734	1573041	1802247	2086445	
100	137223	260401	346655	652836	833014	1108348	
130	59406	93481	118444	220794	293721	427502	

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data					
Temperature	Angular freq. = 10 rad/sec				
(°F)	G* (Pa)	Delta (degree)			
158.0	792.60	88.98			
168.8	299.28	89.22			
179.6	150.21	89.46			

Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built				
Effective Binder (%) 11.61				
Air Voids (%)	3.61			
Total unit weight 167.00				

Level 2

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation	
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	0
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	7
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	39
% Passing #200 sieve	4.57

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading PG 64-22



Master Phase Angle Curves for Mixtures from Liberty Surface Type B with Long-Term Aging and RAP

Figure 13-70: Mixture Type: V BO (Liberty Surface Type B, no RAP)

Level 1]	100000		1450000
Asphalt Mix:	Dynamic	Modulus T	able			-	10000		1450000
Temperature	Mixture	E* (psi))				a)		
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz	E 1000		145000
14	1770175	2069349	2187390	2431431	2523028	2631773	$\left \frac{\bigcirc}{\ast}\right ^{1000}$		145000
40	1083647	1402353	1542336	1859262	1988288	2148964	E		
70	511083	739034	854103	1151853	1288993	1473652	100	—— V B	O 14500
100	226628	344929	411677	607940	710427	861234		X VD	0
130	110402	164141	196244	298920	357717	450993	10 -	× • • •	1450
Asphalt Bind	er: Supern	ave Binder	Test Data				1.0	E-7 1.0E-3 1.0E+1 1.0E+1 Reduced frequency (Hz)	5
Temperature	Angular f	reg. = 10 ra	nd/sec					Reduced frequency (IIZ)	
(°F)	G* (Pa)	Delta (d	egree)				Mas	ter Dynamic Modulus Curves for Mixtu	res from
158.070	2995	63.7	. 8 /					Liberty Surface Type B, no RAP	
168.876	1501	61.9							
179.682	750	60.0					40		
Asphalt Gen	eral: Volur	netric Prop	erties as Bi	uilt			35		
Effective Bind	der (%)	11.93		****			2 20		
Air Voids (%))	11.50					1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1		
Total unit wei	ght	167.12					පු 25 🛑		
	6						<u>ස</u> 20 –		
Level 2							R 15		
		~ 1 1						VBO	
Asphalt Mix:	Aggregate	e Gradation					ä 10		
Cumulative %	Retained	³ /4 ^{''} sieve	0				5		
Cumulative %	• Retained	% ^{''} sieve	6						
Cumulative %	Retained	#4 sieve	8				1 0F-5	1.0E-3 $1.0E-1$ $1.0E+1$	1.0E+3
% Passing #20	00 sieve		3.97				1.01-5	Reduced frequency (Hz)	1.0115
Level 3								Joston Dhase Angle Curwes for Minteres	from
Asphalt Bind	er. Supern	ave Rinder	Grading	PG 64-22	>			Liberty Surface Type B, no RAP	

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading | PG 64-22 |

Figure 13-71: Mixture Type: V BN (Liberty Surface Type B with Asphalt Source 2 and RAP)

Level 1								
Asphalt Mix:	Asphalt Mix: Dynamic Modulus Table							
Temperature	Mixture	$ E^* $ (psi))					
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz		
14	2091271	2508227	2648455	2891937	2967161	3045225		
40	1076419	1629865	1862569	2334437	2499707	2681937		
70	310425	627483	816616	1342357	1583237	1891070		
100	85447	177206	246214	511896	679073	945541		
130	35428	59623	78321	160612	223038	342928		

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data					
Temperature	Angular freq. = 10 rad/sec				
(°F)	G* (Pa)	Delta (degree)			
158.0	792.60	88.98			
168.8	299.28	89.22			
179.6	150.21	89.46			

Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built					
Effective Binder (%)	11.93				
Air Voids (%)	5.33				
Total unit weight	165.63				

Level 2

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation	
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	0
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	6
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	8
% Passing #200 sieve	3.97

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder GradingPG 64-22



Liberty Surface Type B with Asphalt Source 2 and RAP



Master Phase Angle Curves for Mixtures from Liberty Surface Type B with Asphalt Source 2 and RAP

Figure 13-72: Mixture Type: V BOG (Liberty Surface Type B with Long-Term Aging, no RAP)

Level 1								
						·		
Asphalt Mix: Dynamic Modulus Table								
Temperature	Mixture	$ E^* $ (psi))					
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz		
14	1951155	2364225	2510038	2776035	2862812	2956196		
40	958565	1462184	1680935	2144920	2316309	2512750		
70	250684	519655	681476	1143029	1362687	1653471		
100	55947	127086	181302	393082	528933	750482		
130	17805	34169	47187	106087	151680	240659		

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data					
Temperature	Angular freq. = 10 rad/sec				
(°F)	G* (Pa)	Delta (degree)			
158.0	792.60	88.98			
168.8	299.28	89.22			
179.6	150.21	89.46			

Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built						
Effective Binder (%)	11.93					
Air Voids (%)	6.96					
Total unit weight	167.12					

Level 2

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation	
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	0
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	6
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	8
% Passing #200 sieve	3.97

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading PG 64-22



Master Dynamic Modulus Curves for Mixtures from Liberty Surface Type B with Long-Term Aging, no RAP



Master Phase Angle Curves for Mixtures from Liberty Surface Type B with Long-Term Aging, no RAP

Figure 13-73: Mixture Type: V BON (Liberty Surface Type B with Asphalt Source 2, no RAP)

Level 1						7	100000 1450000	0
Asphalt Mix:	Dynamic	Modulus T	able				10000 1450000	i
Temperature	Mixture	E* (psi))					
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz		Si)
14	1667708	2169659	2352023	2686851	2795515	2911310		Ē
40	691200	1197019	1436396	1971252	2174992	2410299		Ē
70	154057	359494	498642	941981	1171211	1487439	100 - VBON 14500	
100	35950	82559	120884	288100	406555	613469		
130	13574	24463	33321	75661	110623	183140		
Asphalt Bind	ler: Superp	ave Binder	Test Data				1.0E-7 $1.0E-4$ $1.0E-1$ $1.0E+2$ $1.0E+5$	
Temperature	Angular f	req. = 10 ra	ad/sec				Reduced frequency (Hz)	
(°F)	G* (Pa)	Delta (d	egree)				Magter Dynamia Madulus Curves for Mintures from	1
158.0	792.60	88.98					Liberty Surface Type R with Asphalt Source 2 no RAP	
168.8	299.28	89.22					Liberty Surface Type D with Asphant Source 2, no KAT	
179.6	150.21	89.46						
Asphalt Gen	eral: Volur	netric Prop	erties as Bi	uilt				
Effective Bin	der (%)	11.93	entres us B				35	
Air Voids (%))	6.96					₿ 30	
Total unit wei	, ight	167.12						
	8							
Level 2								
Acabalt Mixe	Aggragate	Gradation						
Cumulative %	Retained	3/1" sieve	0					
Cumulative %	Retained	$\frac{74}{3}$, sieve	6					
Cumulative %	Retained	#4 sieve	38					
% Passing #2	00 sieve	1 1 51070	3.97					
70 T usbing #2	00 51070		5.57				1.0E-5 $1.0E-3$ $1.0E-1$ $1.0E+1$ $1.0E+3$	
Level 3							Keaucea Irequency (Hz)	
L	Master Phase Angle Curves for Mixtures from Liberty							
Asphalt Bind	Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading PG 64-22 Surface Type B with Asphalt Source 2, no RAP							

Figure 13-74: Mixture Type: V B (Liberty Surface Type B with RAP)

Level 1							10	0000				145000	00
Asphalt Mix:	Dynamic	Modulus T	able				10	0000 -				145000	0
Temperature	Mixture	E* (psi)				Pa)	-		A CONTRACT OF CONTRACT.			° ⊂
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz	IN	1000 -	X			145000	Psi
14	2012538	2347075	2470742	2709732	2793197	2887520		1000				143000	<u> </u>
40	1245205	1653244	1824203	2188234	2326422	2489843	E	100					<u> </u>
70	548784	864563	1024016	1424756	1600869	1827824		100 -				V B 14500	
100	208666	366122	460347	745569	894756	1110495		-			×	VB	
130	85257	148239	189723	334343	422045	564388		10 -				1450	
A anh alt Din d		orro Dindon	Test Data	7				1.0I	E-7 1.0E	-3 1.0E-	+1 1.0E-	+5	
Asphalt Bind	A newlow f	ave Binder	Test Data	-					Neu	uceu mequei			
(°F)	Angular I C^* (Da)	req. = 10 ra	au/sec					Mas	ter Dynamic	Modulus Cu	rves for Mix	tures	
158.0	792 60		egice)	-				f	from Liberty	Surface Typ	e B with RA	P	
158.0	299.28	89.22		-									
179.6	150 21	89.46				[4(0					
177.0	150.21	07.10											
Asphalt Gen	eral: Volur	netric Prop	erties as Bi	uilt			3:						
Effective Bine	der (%)	11.61					્ર શે 3(0	•				=
Air Voids (%))	11.50						5					
Total unit wei	ight	167.00					e (d			•			
Level 2							fgue 14	5		•			
Asphalt Mix:	Aggregate	e Gradation					Thase		VB				
Cumulative %	6 Retained	³ /4" sieve	0					5 📃				••••	
Cumulative %	6 Retained	³ / ₈ " sieve	7				-						
Cumulative %	6 Retained	#4 sieve	39				() +	1 00 2		1 0 2 1	1 0E 2	_
% Passing #2	00 sieve		4.67					1.0E-5	1.0E-3 R	1.0E-1 educed frequ	1.0E+1 ency (Hz)	1.0E+3	
Level 3 Asphalt Bind	Level 3 Master Phase Angle Curves for Mixtures from Liberty Surface Type B with RAP												

Figure 13-75: Mixture Type: V CA (Liberty Surface Type C with LASA 2 (Adhere®) and RAP)

Level 1									
Asphalt Mix: Dynamic Modulus Table									
Temperature	Mixture E* (psi)								
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz			
14	1853743	2237164	2379807	2654604	2749728	2856260			
40	981707	1412162	1601960	2019341	2181077	2373580			
70	332793	588252	731510	1126646	1313836	1565100			
100	103268	194376	255236	464999	588459	781798			
130	40553	69064	89115	166727	219312	312873			

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data					
Temperature	Angular freq. = 10 rad/sec				
(°F)	G* (Pa) Delta (degree)				
158.0	792.60	88.98			
168.8	299.28	89.22			
179.6	150.21	89.46			

Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built					
Effective Binder (%)	12.28				
Air Voids (%)	5.74				
Total unit weight	167.50				

Level 2

. .

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation	
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	0
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	6
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	33
% Passing #200 sieve	5.66

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading PG 64-22



Surface Type C with Adhere® and RAP

553

Figure 13-76: Mixture Type: V CE (Liberty Surface Type C with Evotherm® WMA Chemical Additive and RAP)

Level 1									
Asphalt Mix: Dynamic Modulus Table									
Temperature	Mixture	$ E^* $ (psi))						
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz			
14	1142661	1633363	1836677	2256392	2409112	2583716			
40	401421	756216	945773	1429781	1640450	1906313			
70	83231	198984	281618	571066	737859	989542			
100	18946	44375	65259	158323	227000	353323			
130	6595	12645	17535	40705	59784	99660			

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data						
Temperature	Angular freq. = 10 rad/sec					
(°F)	G* (Pa)	G* (Pa) Delta (degree)				
158.0	792.60	88.98				
168.8	299.28	89.22				
179.6	150.21	89.46				

Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built			
Effective Binder (%)	12.28		
Air Voids (%)	5.73		
Total unit weight	167.50		

Level 2

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation	1
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	0
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	6
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	33
% Passing #200 sieve	5.66

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder GradingPG 64-22



Surface Type C with Evotherm® and RAP

Figure 13-77: Mixture Type: V CF (Liberty Surface Type C with WMA Foaming Technology and RAP)

Level 1						
Ambalt Min Dynamia Madulus Tabla						
Temperature	Mixture	$ E^* $ (psi)				
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz
14	1436009	1871895	2044072	2391447	2516699	2660222
40	627971	1022642	1212225	1659832	1844249	2071660
70	160088	338690	450469	791837	967929	1217004
100	35780	84145	120810	264826	359069	517315
130	10157	21801	31135	73126	105328	167846

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data					
Temperature	Angular freq. = 10 rad/sec				
(°F)	G* (Pa) Delta (degree)				
158.0	792.60	88.98			
168.8	299.28	89.22			
179.6	150.21	89.46			

Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built		
Effective Binder (%)	12.28	
Air Voids (%)	5.73	
Total unit weight	167.50	

Level 2

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation	
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	0
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	6
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	33
% Passing #200 sieve	5.66

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading PG 64-22



Master Dynamic Modulus Curves for Mixtures from Liberty Surface Type C with Foaming Technology and RAP



Master Phase Angle Curves for Mixtures from Liberty Surface Type C with Foaming Technology and RAP

Figure 13-78: Mixture Type: V CG (Liberty Surface Type C with Long-Term Aging and RAP)

Asphalt Mix: Dynamic Modulus Table								
Temperature	Mixture	$ E^* $ (psi))					
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz		
14	2199769	2525788	2640709	2852788	2923337	3000537		
40	1318060	1762588	1945160	2322608	2460813	2619830		
70	513967	839042	1008847	1443911	1636301	1883107		
100	177336	310563	394906	667184	817677	1042534		
130	75963	120914	151330	263307	335585	459227		

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data					
Temperature	Angular freq. = 10 rad/sec				
(°F)	G* (Pa) Delta (degree)				
158.0	792.60	88.98			
168.8	299.28	89.22			
179.6	150.21	89.46			

Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Bui		
Effective Binder (%)	12.28	
Air Voids (%)	5.68	
Total unit weight	167.50	

Level 2

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation	
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	0
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	6
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	33
% Passing #200 sieve	5.66

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading PG 64-22



Master Dynamic Modulus Curves for Mixtures from Liberty Surface Type C with Long-Term Aging and RAP



Master Phase Angle Curves for Mixtures from Liberty Surface Type C with Long-Term Aging and RAP

Level 1

Figure 13-79: Mixture Type: V CM (Liberty Surface Type C with LASA 1 (Morlife®) and RAP)

Level 1							100000
Asphalt Mix:	Dynamic I	Modulus Ta	able				10000
Temperature	Mixture	$ E^* $ (psi))				Pa)
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz	Ξ_{1000}
14	1793823	2205866	2359015	2651981	2752287	2863586	
40	898259	1343668	1544068	1988715	2161318	2366103	
70	281887	522576	663275	1065022	1260048	1524615	100
100	85092	163367	217723	413974	534193	727325	
130	34570	58023	74868	142339	189698	276452	10

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data					
Temperature	Angular freq. = 10 rad/sec				
(°F)	G* (Pa) Delta (degree)				
158.0	792.60	88.98			
168.8	299.28	89.22			
179.6	150.21	89.46			

Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built		
Effective Binder (%)	12.28	
Air Voids (%)	5.56	
Total unit weight	167.50	

Level 2

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation	
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	0
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	6
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	33
% Passing #200 sieve	5.66

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading PG 64-22



Master Phase Angle Curves for Mixtures from Liberty Surface Type C with Morlife® and RAP

Figure 13-80: Mixture Type: V CO (Liberty Surface Type C, no RAP)

Level 1						
Asphalt Mix:	Dvnamic	Modulus Ta	able			
Temperature	Mixture	E* (psi))			
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz
14	1818384	2197922	2337453	2603107	2693937	2794836
40	925749	1360086	1551465	1969969	2130817	2320974
70	278393	522265	662727	1056900	1245393	1498950
100	73316	149338	202675	395504	513159	701202
130	25247	45777	60934	123210	167644	249682

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data				
Temperature	Angular freq. = 10 rad/sec			
(°F)	G* (Pa) Delta (degree)			
158.0	792.60 88.98			
168.8	299.28 89.22			
179.6	150.21	89.46		

Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built		
Effective Binder (%) 12.70		
Air Voids (%)	6.29	
Total unit weight	167.69	

Level 2

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation	
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	0
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	6
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	27
% Passing #200 sieve	5.91

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading PG 64-22



Figure 13-81: Mixture Type: V COA (Liberty Surface Type C with LASA 2 (Adhere®), no RAP)

Level 1						
Asphalt Mix:	Dynamic	Modulus Ta	able			
Temperature	Mixture	E* (psi))			
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz
14	1612799	2069410	2238489	2557497	2664563	2781484
40	688772	1151128	1367555	1854906	2044203	2267155
70	154054	352478	482202	884868	1090905	1376128
100	31485	76893	113736	269824	377514	562789
130	9594	19384	27498	66484	98427	163821

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data					
Temperature	Angular freq. = 10 rad/sec				
(°F)	G* (Pa) Delta (degree)				
158.0	792.60 88.98				
168.8	299.28	89.22			
179.6	150.21	89.46			

Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built			
Effective Binder (%) 13.06			
Air Voids (%)	6.78		
Total unit weight	167.69		

Level 2

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation	
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	0
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	5
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	33
% Passing #200 sieve	5.21

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading PG 64-22



Master Phase Angle Curves for Mixtures from Liberty Surface Type C with Adhere®, no RAP

Figure 13-82: Mixture Type: V COE (Liberty Surface Type C using Evotherm® WMA Chemical Additive, no RAP)

Level 1						
Asphalt Mix:	Dynamic	Modulus Ta	able			
Temperature	Mixture	$ E^* $ (psi))			
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz
14	1430919	1871710	2043473	2384070	2504426	2640337
40	624297	1029618	1224079	1678884	1863576	2088434
70	159651	341988	457480	812026	994579	1251184
100	37448	86812	124595	274847	373997	540905
130	11701	23981	33786	78043	112198	178887

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data			
Temperature	Angular freq. = 10 rad/sec		
(°F)	G* (Pa)	Delta (degree)	
158.0	792.60	88.98	
168.8	299.28	89.22	
179.6	150.21	89.46	

Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built			
Effective Binder (%)	13.06		
Air Voids (%)	6.78		
Total unit weight	167.69		

Level 2

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation		
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	0	
Cumulative % Retained 3/8" sieve	5	
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	33	
% Passing #200 sieve	5.21	

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading PG 64-22


Figure 13-83: Mixture Type: V COF (Liberty Surface Type C using WMA Foaming Technology, no RAP)

Level 1							
Asphalt Mix: Dynamia Madulus Tabla							
Temperature	Mixture	$ E^* $ (psi))				
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz	
14	1315991	1802527	1994266	2372850	2504849	2651863	
40	476554	868123	1069773	1563965	1770408	2023725	
70	97539	226792	318034	632394	810098	1073643	
100	22841	50149	72281	170262	242434	375073	
130	8745	15209	20279	43667	62668	102255	

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data						
Temperature	Angular freq. = 10 rad/sec					
(°F)	G* (Pa) Delta (degree)					
158.0	792.60 88.98					
168.8	299.28	89.22				
179.6	150.21 89.46					

Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built					
Effective Binder (%)	13.06				
Air Voids (%)	6.78				
Total unit weight	167.69				

Level 2

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation					
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	0				
Cumulative % Retained 3/8" sieve	5				
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	33				
% Passing #200 sieve	5.21				

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading PG 64-22



Master Dynamic Modulus Curves for Mixtures from Liberty Surface Type C using WMA Foaming Technology, no RAP



Master Phase Angle Curves for Mixtures from Liberty Surface Type C using WMA Foaming Technology, no RAP

Figure 13-84: Mixture Type: V COG (Liberty Surface Type C with Long-Term Aging, no RAP)

Level 1								
Asphalt Mix: Dynamic Modulus Table								
Temperature	Mixture	$ E^* $ (psi))					
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz		
14	1734967	2128341	2274521	2555209	2651934	2759879		
40	843906	1275937	1469367	1897799	2064309	2262448		
70	231442	459216	593923	980279	1168223	1423572		
100	52983	117738	165103	343063	454770	636336		
130	15637	31252	43380	96044	135271	209765		

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data						
Temperature	Angular freq. $= 10$ rad/sec					
(°F)	G* (Pa) Delta (degree)					
158.0	792.60	88.98				
168.8	299.28	89.22				
179.6	150.21	89.46				

Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built					
Effective Binder (%)	13.06				
Air Voids (%)	6.63				
Total unit weight	167.69				

Level 2

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation					
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	0				
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	5				
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	33				
% Passing #200 sieve	5.21				

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading PG 64-22



Master Phase Angle Curves for Mixtures from Liberty Surface Type C with Long-Term Aging, no RAP

Figure 13-85: Mixture Type: V COM (Liberty Surface Type C with LASA 1 (Morlife®), no RAP)

14500000

1450000

145000

1450

— VCOM 14500

 $|\mathbf{E}^*|$ (Psi)

								10000	0 =						145
Level 1															145
Asphalt Mix:	Dvnamic	Modulus T	able				1	1000	0					WWWW	145
Temperature	Mixture	E* (psi)				,	a)					X		145
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz						X	×		145
14	1608812	2077259	2249872	2573087	2680538	2797053		는 100 -	0			X			145
40	645165	1110075	1331440	1834274	2030230	2260798		Υ. Υ				X			
70	128920	306162	426884	817298	1023539	1313988		10	0		\checkmark	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		v	COM 145
100	25276	60885	90546	222301	317574	487591									
130	8159	15468	21485	50721	75263	127059		1		-				× v	COM 145
Agnhalt Dind	om Cunom	ovo Dindor	Test Data					1	0 + 1 0F	-7 1	0E-4	1 0E	-1 1	0E+2 10)E+5
Asphalt Bind	Angular f	ave Binder	Test Data						1.01	, , 1	Ree	duced fi	reque	ncy (Hz)	
(°F)	Angular I C^* (Da)	req. = 10 ra	ad/sec						π	D	• 1		C	e . M.	
158.0	$\frac{0}{702} \frac{(Fa)}{60}$		legiee)					N	ast T it	er Dyn	amic I	Modulu o Typo (ls Cur C with	ves for Mill h Marlifa®	tures from
158.0	200 28	80.20							LI	berty b	urraci	e rype v		n womes,	, IIU NAI
179.6	150.21	89.46						40							
177.0	130.21	07.40						40 -							
Asphalt Gen	e ral: Volur	netric Prop	erties as B	uilt				35 -							
Effective Bind	der (%)	13.06						30 -		•	•		••		
Air Voids (%))	5.95					100	5 25						••	
Total unit wei	ght	169.67					19	23 -							
								20 -							
Level 2							100	15 -							•
	A (0000	10		V CO					
Asphalt Mix	Aggregate	Gradation						- 10 -		M					
Cumulative %	Retained	<u>% sieve</u>	0					5 -							
Cumulative %	• Retained	$\frac{3}{8}$ sieve	5					0 -							
Cumulative %	Retained	#4 sieve	5.01					1.0	E-5	1.	0E-3	1.0	E-1	1.0E+1	1.0E+3
% Passing #2	JU sieve		5.21								R	educed	frequ	ency (Hz)	
Level 3										.			a		
										laster	Phase	Angle (Curve	es for Mixtu	res from
Asphalt Bind	ler: Superp	ave Binder	Grading	PG 64-22	2				LI	berty	Suria	е туре	C WI	III INIOLIII6®	', 110 KAF
								-							
.															

Figure 13-86: Mixture Type: V C (Liberty Surface Type C with RAP)

Asphalt Mix: Dynamic Modulus Table							
Temperature	Mixture	$ E^* $ (psi)					
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz	
14	1097938	1439694	1586032	1909777	2038907	2197852	
40	491443	760251	892905	1225106	1372896	1567118	
70	143891	269960	344507	567861	684534	854611	
100	36283	76856	104643	203807	264805	364822	
130	9875	21140	29467	62969	86298	128700	

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data						
Temperature	Angular freq. = 10 rad/sec					
(°F)	G* (Pa) Delta (degree)					
158.0	792.60	88.98				
168.8	299.28	89.22				
179.6	150.21 89.46					

Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built					
Effective Binder (%)	12.28				
Air Voids (%)	14.56				
Total unit weight	167.50				

Level 2

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation	
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	0
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	6
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	33
% Passing #200 sieve	5.66

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading PG 64-22



Liberty Surface Type C with RAP

Level 1

Figure 13-87: Mixture Type: V DO (Liberty Surface Type D, no RAP)

Level 1										
Asphalt Mix: Dynamic Modulus Table										
Temperature	Mixture	$ E^* $ (psi))							
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz				
14	1481741	1789537	1911616	2164178	2258797	2370824				
40	796082	1106777	1246976	1569867	1702797	1869016				
70	289060	478200	580182	858212	991433	1174558				
100	90144	165434	212577	365273	451441	584274				
130	30645	55673	72569	134074	173381	240493				

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data									
Temperature	Angular freq. $= 10$ rad/sec								
(°F)	G* (Pa)	Delta (degree)							
158.0	792.60	88.98							
168.8	299.28	89.22							
179.6	150.21	89.46							

Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built							
Effective Binder (%)	12.07						
Air Voids (%)	10.73						
Total unit weight	167.50						

Level 2

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation								
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	0							
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	3							
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	22							
% Passing #200 sieve	5.82							

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading PG 64-22



Master Phase Angle Curves for Mixtures from Liberty Surface Type D, no RAP

Figure 13-88: Mixture Type: V D (Liberty Surface Type D with RAP)

Level 1										
Asphalt Mix: Dynamic Modulus Table										
Temperature	Mixture	Mixture E* (psi)								
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz				
14	1633822	1969746	2099004	2357574	2450922	2558590				
40	865988	1223254	1382901	1743256	1887714	2064416				
70	299355	511583	628450	950023	1103943	1313863				
100	91402	169812	220566	390573	488942	642421				
130	33064	57903	74992	139149	181439	255343				

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data									
Temperature	Angular fre	Angular freq. = 10 rad/sec							
(°F)	G* (Pa)	Delta (degree)							
158.0	792.60	88.98							
168.8	299.28	89.22							
179.6	150.21	89.46							

Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built							
Effective Binder (%)	12.02						
Air Voids (%)	6.73						
Total unit weight	168.06						

Level 2

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation	
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	0
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	4
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	23
% Passing #200 sieve	6.7

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder GradingPG 64-22



Figure 13-89: Mixture Type: V EO (Liberty Surface Type E, no RAP)

Level 1]	100000 1450000
Asphalt Mix:	Dynamic	Modulus T	able				145000
Temperature	Mixture	E* (psi))				
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz	
14	1295464	1572495	1686695	1933255	2030010	2148415	
40	699473	958380	1077156	1358388	1478235	1632352	
70	266747	425204	509157	737167	847201	1000379	$100 \longrightarrow VEO 14500$
100	86552	154432	195378	323618	394347	502390	X WEO
130	28318	52403	68189	123429	157483	214214	10 10 1450
Asphalt Rind	er. Supern	ave Binder	· Test Data		1		1.0E-7 1.0E-3 1.0E+1 1.0E+5 Bodycod frequency (Hz)
Temperature	Angular f	rea = 10 rs	ad/sec				
(°F)	G^* (Pa)	Delta (d	egree)				Master Dynamic Modulus Curves for Mixtures
158.0	792.60	88.98					from Liberty Surface Type E, no RAP
168.8	299.28	89.22					
179.6	150.21	89.46					40
Asphalt Gen	eral: Volur	netric Prop	erties as Bi	uilt			35
Effective Bind	der (%)	12.07					
Air Voids (%))	15.20					
Total unit wei	ight	167.50					
	0				1		
Level 2							
Agnholt Miw	Accesso	Cradation					
Cumulative 0/	Aggregate	34" sieve					
Cumulative %	Retained	$\frac{74}{3}$	0				5
Cumulative %	Retained	$\frac{78}{44}$ sieve	1				
% Passing #2	00 sieve		7 18				1.0E-5 1.0E-3 1.0E-1 1.0E+1 1.0E+3
			/.10		1		Reduced frequency (Hz)
Level 3 Asphalt Bind	ler: Superp	ave Binder	Grading	PG 64-22			Master Phase Angle Curves for Mixtures from Liberty Surface Type E, no RAP

Figure 13-90: Mixture Type: V E (Liberty Surface Type E with RAP)

Level 1							100000				14500000
Asphalt Mix:	Dynamic	Modulus T	able				10000 -				1450000
Temperature	Mixture	$ E^* $ (psi))				Pa)				
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz	₹ 1000 —	X			145000
14	1779466	2082672	2197997	2427427	2510070	2605443		$\boldsymbol{\times}$			143000
40	1030125	1377033	1527460	1860120	1991556	2151351					
70	411730	646631	769295	1092094	1241318	1441069	100			— v	E ¹⁴⁵⁰⁰
100	146759	248112	309567	502298	607911	767194				× v	F
130	60097	97012	120878	204223	255764	341852	10 +				1450
Asphalt Bind	er: Superp	ave Binder	Test Data	7			1.0E-7	1.0E-3 Redu	1.0E+ ced frequen	1 1.0E cy (Hz)	+5
Temperature	Angular f	rea = 10 rs	nd/sec	_					-		
(°F)	G^* (Pa)	Delta (d	egree)	-			Mast	er Dynamic	Modulus Cu	urves for M	ixtures
158.0	792.60	88.98		-			fr	rom Liberty	Surface Ty	pe E with R.	AP
168.8	299.28	89.22									
179.6	150.21	89.46					40				
Asphalt Gene	eral· Volur	netric Pron	erties as Bi	- 1ilt			35				
Effective Bind	der $(\%)$	12.02		4110			9 30				
Air Voids (%))	9.52									
Total unit wei	, ght	168.06					e 25		•		
	0						and 20				
Level 2							15			•	
Asphalt Mix:	Aggregate	Gradation						E			
Cumulative %	Retained ³	4" sieve	0				<u>ــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــــ</u>				
Cumulative %	Retained	%" sieve	0				3				
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve 2						0					
% Passing #200 sieve 7.69						1.0E-5	1.0E-3	1.0E-1	1.0E+1	1.0E+3	
Level 3						l	Mast	er Phase An	gle Curves	for Mixture	s from

Liberty Surface Type E with RAP

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder GradingPG 64-22

Figure 13-91: Mixture Type: V IAO (Liberty Intermediate Type A, no RAP)

145000 [E*]

]	1	0000	0 —			1 1 1 1 1 1			1 4 7 4
Level 1]		-							1450
Asphalt Mix:	Dvnamic	Modulus Ta	able					1000	0				NAME OF THE OWNER		1450
Temperature	Mixture	E* (psi))				(6	9				×	<u>,</u>		1-50
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz		100			X	<u> </u>			1 1 5 (
14	1836525	2290020	2455016	2763312	2866167	2978308		- 1000			X				1450
40	844010	1343485	1568819	2062903	2251056	2470682	Ē	1			K				
70	203900	445131	595668	1041710	1261473	1559172		100	0	×				1	1450
100	41894	101401	148285	338318	464132	674092				/			V1	AO	
130	12135	25050	35684	85742	125733	205577		10	0 🖵				× VI	AO	1450
Asphalt Rind	er. Superp	ave Binder	Test Data						1.0E-7	7 1.0E-	4 1.0E	E-1 1	.0E+2 1.0F	E+5	
Temperature	Angular f	rea = 10 rs	ad/sec							K	educed	reque	ncy (HZ)		
(°F)	G* (Pa)	Delta (d	egree)					N	laster	Dvnami	c Modul	us Cur	rves for Mix	tures fr	·om
158.0	792.60	88.98							- aster	Liberty 1	Interme	diate T	ype A, no R	AP	•
168.8	299.28	89.22								v					
179.6	150.21	89.46				[40 -							
	1 77 1														
Asphalt Gene	eral: Volur	netric Prop	erties as Bi	uilt				35 -							
Effective Bind	der (%)	10.47					ree	30 -	•			••			
Air Voids (%))	/.04					leg	25 -					•		
Total unit wei	gnt	167.19					e (c)	20							
Lovel 2							lgu	20 -							
							e a	15 -							
Asphalt Mix:	Aggregate	Gradation					has	10 -	• V	IAO				*• •,	
Cumulative %	Retained ³	³ / ₄ " sieve	2												
Cumulative %	6 Retained	³ / ₈ " sieve	30					5 -							
Cumulative %	Retained	#4 sieve	53					0 -				1			
% Passing #20	00 sieve		3.73					1.0I	E-5	1.0E-3	<u> </u>	0E-1	1.0E+1	1.0I	E+3
						l					Reduce	d frequ	iency (Hz)		
Level 3									Ma	aster Pha	se Angle	Curv	es for Mixtu	res from	m
	~ ~		~	2011					1,1,	Liberty	Interm	ediate '	Type A, no J	RAP	
Asphalt Bind	ler: Superp	ave Binder	Grading	PG 64-22						· J			~ 1		

Figure 13-92: Mixture Type: V IA (Liberty Intermediate Type A with RAP)

Level 1										
Asphalt Mix: Dynamic Modulus Table										
Asphant Mix: Dynamic Modulus Table Temperature Mixture E* (psi)										
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz				
14	1807771	2247695	2409924	2717691	2822141	2937377				
40	863639	1343222	1558784	2033603	2216120	2431063	Ē			
70	229828	478090	628064	1062071	1273035	1557839				
100	51247	120136	172266	373695	502040	711273				
130	14935	31187	44281	103539	149021	236821				

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data						
Temperature	Angular freq. = 10 rad/sec					
(°F)	G* (Pa)	Delta (degree)				
158.0	792.60	88.98				
168.8	299.28	89.22				
179.6	150.21	89.46				

Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built						
Effective Binder (%)	10.48					
Air Voids (%)	7.13					
Total unit weight	165.44					

Level 2

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation					
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	2				
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	30				
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	53				
% Passing #200 sieve	3.73				

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading PG 64-22



Liberty Intermediate Type A with RAP

Figure 13-93: Mixture Type: V IBO (Liberty Intermediate Type B, no RAP)

Land 1]	100000	14500000
Level 1								
Asphalt Mix:	Asphalt Mix: Dynamic Modulus Table							1450000
Temperature	Mixture	E* (psi))				a)	
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz		145000
14	1545104	1988279	2160330	2502087	2623455	2761209	$\left \frac{\Box}{*}\right $ 1000	
40	706651	1130098	1329158	1789105	1974702	2200501	Ë	<u>Щ</u>
70	190410	396484	522828	898856	1087937	1350490	100	\sim VIBO ¹⁴⁵⁰⁰
100	44228	103541	147987	318993	428382	608471		
130	12773	27566	39410	92268	132305	208941	10	× VIBO 1450
Asphalt Bind	ler: Superp	ave Binder	Test Data				1.	0E-7 1.0E-3 1.0E+1 1.0E+5
Temperature	Angular f	rea. = 10 ration	nd/sec					Reduced frequency (Hz)
(°F)	G* (Pa)	Delta (d	egree)				M	aster Dynamic Modulus Curves for Mixtures from
158.0	792.60	88.98	. 8 /					Liberty Intermediate Type B, no RAP
168.8	299.28	89.22						
179.6	150.21	89.46				Г	40	
Asphalt Gene	eral: Volur	netric Prop	erties as Bi	uilt			25	
Effective Bind	der (%)	11.43					$\hat{\mathbf{x}}$	
Air Voids (%))	6.61					2 30	
Total unit wei	ight	166.94					25 -	
L aval 2							و هو هو ال	
Level 2							ue 15	
Asphalt Mix:	Aggregate	Gradation						
Cumulative %	Retained	³ / ₄ " sieve	0					
Cumulative %	6 Retained	3/8" sieve	20				5	
Cumulative %	Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve 50			0				
% Passing #20	b Passing #200 sieve 3.37			1.0E-5	5 1.0E-3 1.0E-1 1.0E+1 1.0E+3 Reduced frequency (Hz)			
Level 3	Level 3 Master Phase Angle Curves for Mixtures from Liberty							
Asphalt Bind	Agnhalt Dindon Supernova Dinder Grading DG 64 22							Intermediate Type B, no RAP

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder GradingPG 64-22

Figure 13-94: Mixture Type: V IB (Liberty Intermediate Type B with RAP)

Level 1	Level 1						1000	00				1450000	0
Asphalt Mix:	Dynamic	Modulus Ta	able				100	00 📥				1450000	
Temperature	e Mixture E* (psi)				Pa)					1.00000			
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz	$ \Xi_{10} $	00 🗕		X		145000	si)
14	1821218	2258581	2419394	2723783	2826877	2940487	$\left \frac{\bullet}{\ast}\right $		X			143000	<u>–</u>
40	867431	1348069	1563725	2037926	2219900	2433979	E						<u>=</u>
70	227089	474187	623781	1057400	1268403	1553387		00			— v II	3 14500	
100	49540	116616	167602	365717	492568	700065					× 17.11		
130	14258	29742	42248	99125	143018	228173		10 -				1450	
Asphalt Bind	er: Superp	ave Binder	Test Data					1.0E-	7 1.0E-3 Reduc	ed frequen	$\frac{1}{cy}$ (Hz) $\frac{1.0E}{1.0E}$	5	
Temperature	Angular f	req. = 10 ra	nd/sec									6	
(°F)	$G^{*}(Pa)$	Delta (d	egree)					Master	' Dynamic M Liborty Intor	odulus Cur modioto Tr	ves for Mixtu	res from	
158.0	792.60	88.98							Liberty Inter	mediate Ty	pe B with RA		
168.8	299.28	89.22											
179.6	150.21	89.46					40						
Asphalt Gene	eral: Volur	netric Prop	erties as Bu	uilt			35						
Effective Bind	der (%)	10.85					a 30		•••				
Air Voids (%))	6.24					are of the second secon						
Total unit wei	ght	167.00					e b 25						
							<mark>ප</mark> 20	-			•••		
Level 2							uB 15						
		~					ase	•V	7 I		•		
Asphalt Mix:	Aggregate	Gradation					ୟ 10						
Cumulative %	Retained	³ /4" sieve	0				5	-					
Cumulative %	Retained	%" sieve	18				Δ						
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve 55					1	0F-5	1 0F-3	1 0F-1	1 0F+1	1.0F+3			
% Passing #20	00 sieve		3.89				1.	о ц - <i>у</i>	Red	luced fream	encv (Hz)	1.0115	
Level 3						I	[Ma	ster Phase A	ngle Curves	for Mixtures	from	

PG 64-22

Liberty Intermediate Type B with RAP

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading

Figure 13-95: Mixture Type: V ICO (Liberty Intermediate Type C, no RAP)

Level 1								
A such ald Misse Development's Markeles Table								
Asphalt Mix:	Dynamic	viodulus 1a	able					
Temperature	Mixture	$ E^* $ (psi))					
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz		
14	1536385	1947010	2100001	2391806	2491136	2600778		
40	694115	1118696	1314236	1752377	1922910	2124849		
70	170840	371643	497464	874212	1062378	1320279		
100	36316	87573	127628	288839	395270	573096		
130	10543	22113	31601	75839	110830	180142		

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data						
Temperature	Angular freq. = 10 rad/sec					
(°F)	G* (Pa)	Delta (degree)				
158.0	792.60	88.98				
168.8	299.28	89.22				
179.6	150.21	89.46				

Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built					
Effective Binder (%)	11.24				
Air Voids (%)	6.31				
Total unit weight	166.69				

Level 2

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation	
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	1
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	21
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	47
% Passing #200 sieve	3.97

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading PG 64-22



Figure 13-96: Mixture Type: V IC (Liberty Intermediate Type C with RAP)

Level 1								
Asphalt Mix: Dynamic Modulus Table								
Temperature	Mixture	xture $ E^* $ (psi)						
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz		
14	1567890	1975603	2135032	2456273	2572538	2706482		
40	750796	1147511	1331448	1756351	1929205	2141695		
70	218392	424386	545624	896714	1070862	1312364		
100	53571	117884	163628	330749	433799	600353		
130	15478	32420	45409	100196	139776	213131		

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data						
Temperature	Angular freq. = 10 rad/sec					
(°F)	G* (Pa)	Delta (degree)				
158.0	792.60	88.98				
168.8	299.28	89.22				
179.6	150.21	89.46				

Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built					
Effective Binder (%)	11.24				
Air Voids (%)	7.29				
Total unit weight	166.69				

Level 2

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation	
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	1
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	21
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	47
% Passing #200 sieve	3.97

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading PG 64-22



Master Phase Angle Curves for Mixtures from Liberty Intermediate Type C with RAP

Level 1

Figure 13-97: Mixture Type: V SAO (Liberty Base Type A, no RAP)

					J P + - 2		, 2000 2						
Level 1							10000	00				145000	000
Asphalt Mix	: Dynamic	Modulus T	able				1000	00 -			A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A	14500	00
Temperature	Mixture	E* (psi)				a)					115000	,0
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz		00 -		X		14500	
14	1721171	2123334	2266206	2527247	2612333	2703722	$\frac{\bullet}{\ast}$	00	X			145000	<u>ן פ</u>
40	830507	1301395	1508261	1949155	2112209	2298868							ř.
70	215265	463477	614981	1049892	1257014	1530497	10	- 00			VSAO	14500	
100	47165	113462	165197	370255	502297	716917					N TRANO		
130	14335	29517	42036	100660	146944	237838		10 -			× V SAO	1450	
Asphalt Bind	ler: Superp	ave Binder	Test Data					1.0	E-7 1.0E-3	3 1.0E+	-1 1.0E+	5	
Temperature	Angular f	req. = 10 ratio	ad/sec						Keuu	ced frequen			
(°F)	G* (Pa)	Delta (d	legree)					Mas	ster Dynamic N	Iodulus Cui	rves for Mixt	ures from	
158.0	792.60	88.98	0 /						Liberty	Base Type	A, no RAP		
168.8	299.28	89.22											
179.6	150.21	89.46					40	1					
Asphalt Gen	eral· Volu	metric Pror	erties as Bi	nilt			35						_
Effective Bin	$\frac{der(\%)}{der(\%)}$	12.07					2 0						=
Air Voids (%)	5 52							•	•••			3
Total unit we) ight	167 19					e 25				•••		-
Total ant we	15111	107.17					20				•		=
Level 2							us 15						_
							CI ase		• VSAO		•	•	=
Asphalt Mix:	Aggregate	Gradation					jų 10					- . .	=
Cumulative %	6 Retained	³ / ₄ " sieve	7				5						_
Cumulative %	6 Retained	³ / ₈ " sieve	37										=
Cumulative %	6 Retained	#4 sieve	52					+	5 1 0 5 2	1 05 1	1 00 1	1 00 2	_
% Passing #2	00 sieve		6.01				1.	UE-3	5 1.0E-3 Re	1.0E-1 duced frequ	1.0E+1 iency (Hz)	1.0E+3	
Level 3 Asphalt Bind	ler: Superp	oave Binder	Grading	PG 64-22				N	Master Phase A Liberty	ngle Curves Base Type	for Mixture A, no RAP	s from	

Figure 13-98: Mixture Type: V SA (Liberty Base Type A with RAP)

Asphalt Mix:	Asphalt Mix: Dynamic Modulus Table								
Temperature	Mixture	E* (psi))						
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz			
14	1680612	2038828	2173531	2436040	2528075	2632064			
40	887712	1282794	1457416	1843494	1994238	2174827			
70	296206	533605	666224	1030439	1202536	1433529			
100	85084	170091	227359	424652	540212	720253			
130	29114	54613	73082	146149	196164	285262			

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data						
Temperature	Angular fre	eq. = 10 rad/sec				
(°F)	G* (Pa)	Delta (degree)				
158.0	792.60	88.98				
168.8	299.28	89.22				
179.6	150.21	89.46				

Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built					
Effective Binder (%)	12.02				
Air Voids (%)	5.94				
Total unit weight	166.69				

Level 2

L ovol 1

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation	
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	4
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	38
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	52
% Passing #200 sieve	5.49

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading PG 64-22





Reduced frequency (Hz)

1.0E-1

1.0E+1

1.0E+3

• V SA

1.0E-3

5 0

1.0E-5

Figure 13-99: Mixture Type: V SBO (Liberty Base Type B, no RAP)

Level 1							1	00000				1450	0000
Asphalt Mix:	Dynamic	Modulus Ta	able					10000 -			Att the second s	1450	000
Temperature	Mixture	E* (psi))				a)						
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz		. 1000 -	,	X		1450	00 z
14	1649769	2028097	2167681	2433263	2523793	2624031		- 1000	X			1430	00 <u>E</u>
40	832015	1252699	1439324	1847782	2004377	2188855							<u> </u>
70	249634	486352	624153	1011553	1196094	1442887		100 +			- VSBO	1450	0
100	64377	139507	193443	390788	511325	702854					X VSBO		
130	20980	41200	56715	122682	170665	259715		10 +				1450	
Asphalt Bind	ler: Superp	ave Binder	Test Data					1.0E	E-7 1.0E- Redu	3 1.0E	+1 1.0E+ ncy (Hz)	-5	
Temperature	Angular f	req. = 10 ra	id/sec	_				Mast	er Dynamic N	Aodulus Cu	rves for Mixt	ures from	
(°F)	G* (Pa)	Delta (d	egree)	_				11200	Liberty	y Base Type	B, no RAP		-
158.0	792.60	88.98		_							,		
168.8	299.28	89.22		_		Г		40					
1/9.6	150.21	89.46					2	+0					
Asphalt Gen	eral: Volur	netric Prop	erties as Bi	uilt				35					
Effective Bind	der (%)	12.07					ee)	30	•••				_
Air Voids (%))	5.18					egr			•			
Total unit wei	ight	166.94					Ď,	25			•		
	0						gle	20			•		
Level 2							an	15					
Asphalt Mix:	Aggregate	Gradation					Phase	10	7 SBO		•	•••••	
Cumulative %	Retained	³ ⁄4" sieve	4					5					
Cumulative %	6 Retained	3/8" sieve	37										
Cumulative %	Retained	#4 sieve	52					0 +	1 OF 2	1 0E 1	1 00 1		 `
% Passing #2	00 sieve		6.01					1.0E-3	1.0E-3 Re	ו-UE-1 duced frequ	1.0E+1 iency (Hz)	1.0E+3)
Level 3						L		Mas	ster Phase An	gle Curves	for Mixtures	from	

Liberty Base Type B, no RAP

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder GradingPG 64-22

Figure 13-100: Mixture Type: V SB (Liberty Base Type B with RAP)

Level 1									
Asphalt Mix: Dynamic Modulus Table									
Temperature	Mixture	$ E^* $ (psi))						
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz			
14	1724646	2059361	2185480	2433041	2520768	2620776			
40	969499	1350585	1515722	1877355	2018122	2187085			
70	357540	612760	749021	1109251	1274698	1493763			
100	108696	212787	279751	498137	620023	804041			
130	35896	69592	93484	184257	243714	345791			

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data					
Temperature	Angular fre	eq. = 10 rad/sec			
(°F)	G* (Pa)	Delta (degree)			
158.0	792.60	88.98			
168.8	299.28	89.22			
179.6	150.21	89.46			

Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built						
Effective Binder (%)	12.02					
Air Voids (%)	5.48					
Total unit weight	167.00					

Level 2

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation	
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	4
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	38
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	52
% Passing #200 sieve	5.49

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading PG 64-22



578

Figure 13-101: Mixture Type: VI A (Rockingham Surface Type A with RAP)

Level 1						
Asphalt Mix: Dynamic Modulus Table						-
Temperature	Mixture	$ E^* $ (psi))			
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz
14	2263236	2636970	2764266	2990686	3062958	3139844
40	1217592	1746732	1964554	2407407	2565161	2742442
70	347116	675754	862945	1368467	1597825	1892668
100	80160	173451	241921	497203	654230	902647
130	26134	47912	64769	138375	193585	298722

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data			
Temperature	Angular freq. = 10 rad/sec		
(°F)	G* (Pa)	Delta (degree)	
158.0	2995.00	63.70	
168.8	1501.00	61.90	
179.6	750.50	60.00	

Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built			
Effective Binder (%) 11.26			
Air Voids (%)	6.44		
Total unit weight	169.31		

Level 2

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation	
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	0
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	17
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	44
% Passing #200 sieve	4.66

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading PG 76-22



Master Dynamic Modulus Curves for Mixtures from Rockingham Surface Type A with RAP



Rockingham Surface Type A with RAP

Figure 13-102: Mixture Type: VI AO (Rockingham Surface Type A, no RAP)

Level 1

Asphalt Mix: Dynamic Modulus Table						
Temperature	Mixture	$ E^* $ (psi))			
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz
14	1727195	2175261	2342965	2664355	2774298	2896038
40	791505	1250481	1462680	1941575	2129504	2353308
70	210260	427672	562035	964168	1166318	1445540
100	53186	112684	156902	328742	440459	626869
130	19063	34417	46104	96569	134461	207498

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data				
Temperature	Angular freq. $= 10$ rad/sec			
(°F)	G* (Pa) Delta (degree)			
158.0	2995.00	63.70		
168.8	1501.00	61.90		
179.6	750.50	60.00		

Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built			
Effective Binder (%)	11.45		
Air Voids (%)	7.00		
Total unit weight	169.31		

Level 2

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation	
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	0
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	16
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	42
% Passing #200 sieve	5.04

Level 3		

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading PG 76-22



Figure 13-103: Mixture Type: VI BO (Rockingham Surface Type B, no RAP)

Asphalt Mix:	Dynamic I	Modulus Ta	able			
Temperature	Mixture	$ E^* $ (psi))			
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz
14	1609991	2066390	2239971	2577172	2694043	2824500
40	704904	1150266	1359908	1840508	2031863	2261850
70	170814	370603	497284	884316	1081997	1357710
100	36936	87246	126365	284447	389924	568436
130	11006	22554	31886	74840	108624	175610

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data			
Temperature	Angular freq. $= 10$ rad/sec		
(°F)	G* (Pa) Delta (degree)		
158.0	792.60	88.98	
168.8	299.28	89.22	
179.6	150.21	89.46	

Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built		
Effective Binder (%) 11.76		
Air Voids (%)	7.92	
Total unit weight	169.31	

Level 2

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation	
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	0
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	6
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	31
% Passing #200 sieve	6.02

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading PG 64-22



Master Phase Angle Curves for Mixtures from Rockingham Surface Type B, no RAP

Level 1

Figure 13-104: Mixture Type: VI B (Rockingham Surface Type B with RAP)

Level 1						
Asphalt Mix:	Dynamic 1	Modulus Ta	able			
Temperature	Mixture	$ E^* $ (psi))			
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz
14	1744741	2161606	2318274	2621798	2727243	2845463
40	853126	1296245	1496293	1942938	2117849	2326973
70	245261	481987	621454	1020722	1214879	1478825
100	60171	131928	183756	375659	494637	686442
130	18569	37120	51404	112512	157318	241244

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data						
Temperature	Angular freq. = 10 rad/sec					
(°F)	G* (Pa)	Delta (degree)				
158.0	792.60	88.98				
168.8	299.28	89.22				
179.6	150.21	89.46				

Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built						
Effective Binder (%)	11.90					
Air Voids (%)	8.33					
Total unit weight	168.25					

Level 2

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation	
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	0
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	7
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	31
% Passing #200 sieve	5.37

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading PG 64-22



Master Phase Angle Curves for Mixtures from **Rockingham Surface Type B with RAP**

Figure 13-105: Mixture Type: VI CO (Rockingham Surface Type C, no RAP)

Level 1							100					14500
Asphalt Mix:	Dynamic	Modulus Ta	able				10	000			with the second	
Temperature	Mixture	$ E^* $ (psi))				a)			X	X	14500
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz	HJ 1					
14	1395572	1861919	2043952	2403368	2529381	2670684		000		X		14500
40	566258	977427	1179540	1658557	1854236	2092395	E			\boldsymbol{X}		
70	129113	294186	403886	755479	942269	1208937		100 -				14500
100	28162	67605	99204	232393	324746	485513					X III a	
130	8807	17925	25382	60521	88865	146368		10	-		× vice)1450
Asphalt Bind	er: Superp	ave Binder	Test Data					1.0E-	7 1.0 Pa)E-3 1.0	E+1 1.0E	1450 ,+5
Temperature	Angular f	req. = 10 ra	nd/sec						Kt	eaucea frequ	ency (HZ)	
(°F)	G* (Pa)	Delta (d	egree)					Maste	er Dynami	c Modulus C	Curves for Mix	tures from
158.0	792.60	88.98							Rocking	ham Surface	e Type C, no R	AP
168.8	299.28	89.22										
179.6	150.21	89.46					40)				
			. –	-			25					
Asphalt Gene	eral: Volur	netric Prop	erties as Bi	uilt								
Effective Bind	ler (%)	13.85					e 30				•••	
Air Voids (%)		6.27					Bel 25					
Total unit wei	ght	167.50					e					
Level 2							four 15				•	
Asphalt Mix:	Aggregate	Gradation					lu l		ИСО			••••
Cumulative %	Retained ³	³ / ₄ " sieve	0				<u>н</u> -					
Cumulative %	Retained	³ / ₈ " sieve	4				J					
Cumulative %	Retained	#4 sieve	30				C)				
% Passing #20	00 sieve		4.86				1	.0E-5	1.0E-3	1.0E-1 Reduced fre	1.0E+1 auency (Hz)	1.0E+3
Level 3						l					e	

PG 64-22

Master Phase Angle Curves for Mixtures from **Rockingham Surface Type C, no RAP**

14500000

1450000

145000

14500

 $|\mathbf{E}^*|(\mathbf{Psi})$

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading

Figure 13-106: Mixture Type: VI C (Rockingham Surface Type C with RAP)

Asphalt Mix:	Dynamic I	Modulus Ta	able					
Temperature	Mixture	$ E^* $ (psi)						
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz		
14	1609358	2047352	2212766	2532284	2642447	2765037		
40	739470	1180432	1384803	1847263	2029324	2246709		
70	196376	410264	542290	935028	1131105	1400687		
100	46786	106412	151435	326928	440335	627844		
130	14904	29822	41625	94265	134422	211995		

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data						
Temperature	Angular freq. $= 10$ rad/sec					
(°F)	G* (Pa)	Delta (degree)				
158.0	792.60	88.98				
168.8	299.28	89.22				
179.6	150.21	89.46				

Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built						
Effective Binder (%) 13.74						
Air Voids (%)	5.64					
Total unit weight 165.63						

Level 2

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation					
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	0				
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	5				
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	33				
% Passing #200 sieve	5.21				

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading PG 64-22



Taster Phase Angle Curves for Mixtures from Rockingham Surface Type C with RAP

Level 1

Figure 13-107: Mixture Type: VI D (Rockingham Surface Type D with RAP)

Level 1]		
Asphalt Mix: Dynamic Modulus Table								
Temperature	Mixture	E* (psi))					
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz		
14	1743325	2152025	2297088	2561490	2647368	2739347		
40	836022	1310873	1520751	1969644	2135916	2326205		
70	220729	465154	615196	1050158	1259236	1536800		
100	53061	119047	169726	369917	499459	711587		
130	18492	34621	47434	105484	150519	238539		

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data						
Temperature	Angular freq. $= 10$ rad/sec					
(°F)	G* (Pa) Delta (degree)					
158.0	792.60	88.98				
168.8	299.28	89.22				
179.6	150.21	89.46				

Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built			
Effective Binder (%)	13.27		
Air Voids (%)	7.37		
Total unit weight	167.94		

Level 2

т

1 4

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation	
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	0
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	3
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	14
% Passing #200 sieve	7.38

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading PG 64-22



Rockingham Surface Type D with RAP



Master Phase Angle Curves for Mixtures from Rockingham Surface Type D with RAP

Figure 13-108: Mixture Type: VII IB (Sandy Flats Intermediate B Special with RAP)

						1
Asphalt Mix: Dynamic Modulus Table						
Temperature	Mixture	$ E^* $ (psi))			
(°F)	0.1 Hz	0.5 Hz	1 Hz	5 Hz	10 Hz	25 Hz
14	2111234	2372891	2472532	2673633	2747782	2835147
40	1183599	1517667	1659961	1974425	2100032	2255024
70	370686	589481	702669	1000813	1140097	1329328
100	76236	144599	187579	327511	407063	530741
130	15402	29807	39836	77765	102936	147307

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Test Data				
Temperature	Angular fre	q. = 10 rad/sec		
(°F)	G* (Pa)	Delta (degree)		
158.0	792.60	88.98		
168.8	299.28	89.22		
179.6	150.21	89.46		

Asphalt General: Volumetric Properties as Built			
Effective Binder (%)	11.11		
Air Voids (%)	7.43		
Total unit weight	166.94		

Level 2

Asphalt Mix: Aggregate Gradation	
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₄ " sieve	0
Cumulative % Retained ³ / ₈ " sieve	16
Cumulative % Retained #4 sieve	50
% Passing #200 sieve	4.38

Level 3

Asphalt Binder: Superpave Binder Grading PG 64-22



Master Dynamic Modulus Curves for Mixtures from Sandy Flats Intermediate Type B Special with RAP



Master Phase Angle Curves for Mixtures from Sandy Flats Intermediate Type B Special with RAP

Level 1